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American Depositary Shares, each representing NASDAQ Global Select Market
four ordinary shares, par value US$0.0001 per



share
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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405edB#turities Act.
Yes O No

If this report is an annual or transition repantjicate by check mark if the registrant is not iegglito file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15
(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
O Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant €l filed all reports required to be filed by Sewti8 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for sstobrter period that the registrant was requirdilésuch reports), and (2) has been subjec
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ldsmstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥ab site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaRite 405 of Regulation S-T during the precedigrbnths (or for such shorter period that
the registrant was required to submit and post §iles).

Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, noa-accelerated filer. See definition of
“accelerated filer and large accelerated filerRnle 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filex] Accelerated fileld Non-accelerated file[d
Indicate by check mark which basis of accountirgrégistrant has used to prepare the financiarsitts included in this filing:

U.S. GAAPKX] International Financial Reporting Standards asadsu OtherOd
by the International Accounting Standards Bc

If “Other” has been checked in response to theipusvquestion, indicate by check mark which finahstatement item the registrant has
elected to follow.
O Item17 O Item 1¢

If this is an annual report, indicate by check mahether the registrant is a shell company (asddfin Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).
O Yes No

(APPLICABLE ONLY TO ISSUERS INVOLVED IN BANKRUPTCYROCEEDINGS DURING THE PAST FIVE YEARS)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant Hed &ll documents and reports required to be filgcBection 12, 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 subsequent to the distributiosecurities under a plan confirmed by a court.
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CERTAIN CONVENTIONS

Unless otherwise indicated, all translations frors \tollars to RMB in this annual report were matla rate of US$1.00 to RMB6.0537,
the exchange rate as set forth in the H.10 stistelease of the U.S. Federal Reserve Board @emleer 3 1, 201 3 . No representation is
made that the RMB amounts referred to herein chaleé been or could be converted into U.S. dollaasg particular rate or at all. On
April 11 , 2014, the exchange rate was US$1.00MBR.2111. Any discrepancies in any table betwe¢aidand sums of the amounts listed
are due to rounding.

Unless otherwise indicated, in this annual report,

e “ ADRs” are to the American depositary receipts that enagence our ADSs;

e« “ ADSs" are to our American depositary shares, each semiting four ordinary shares;

e “China” or the “PRC" are to the People’s Republic of China, excludifog,purposes of this annual report, Hong Kong, 8Maand

Taiwan;
*  “ Ordinary shares are to our ordinary shares, par value US$0.0G&1spare;
« “RMB” and “Renminbi’ are to the legal currency of China;

e« “US$”and“U.S. dollars’ are to the legal currency of the United Statest a

e “We,”" us,” " our company” “ our,” and “China Lodging’ are to China Lodging Group, Limited, a Cayman Id&anompany, ar
its predecessor entities and subsidiaries.
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PART |
ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS
Not applicable.
ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE

Not applicable.
ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION
3.A. Selected Financial Data

The selected consolidated statements of compraleimgiome data and selected consolidated cashd&afor the years ended
December 31, 20 11, 2012 and 2013 and the selectexblidated balance sheet data as of Decemb@032,and 2013 are derived from our
audited consolidated financial statements incluga@in, which were prepared in accordance with aaiiog principles generally accepted in
the United States, or U.S. GAAP. The selected dafeted statements of comprehensive income dataeledted consolidated cash flow data
for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 201¢harsklected consolidated balance sheet datalzaceimber 31, 2009, 2010 and 20 11 are
derived from our audited consolidated financiatestzents that have not been included herein and prepared in accordance with U.S. GA
The selected financial data set forth below shbeldead in conjunction with “ltem 5. Operating d&idancial Review and Prospects” and the
consolidated financial statements and the notésoge statements included herein. The historicallte presented below are not necessarily
indicative of financial results to be achievedutufe periods.

Year Ended December 31
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(In thousands, except per share and per ADS dati

Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income Data:

Net revenue 1,260,19 1,738,49. 2,249,59 3,224,52 4,168,62! 688,60!
Operating costs and expenses 1,186,22. 1,486,62 2,150,03. 3,011,51 3,815,83! 630,33:
Income from operation 76,41¢ 256,30¢ 107,14¢ 219,73: 380,54 62,86:
Income before income tax 69,43¢ 279,05¢ 142,95¢ 233,67: 388,51! 64,17¢
Net income 51,44¢ 221,79 118,13¢ 179,50: 283,69! 46,86
Less: net income attributable to

noncontrolling interes 8,90: 6,04: 3,30¢ 4,617 3,831 634
Net income attributable to Chi

Lodging Group, Limitec 42,54t 215,75! 114,83. 174,88 279,85¢ 46,22¢
Earnings per shar

Basic 0.2¢ 1.0t 0.47 0.7z 1.14 0.1¢

Diluted 0.2 0.9z 0.47 0.71 1.12 0.1¢
Earnings per ADS(2]

Basic 0.9t 4.1¢ 1.9C 2.8¢ 4.57 0.7t

Diluted 0.9: 3.6¢ 1.87 2.8 4.4¢ 0.7¢

Weighted average number of share
used in computatior
Basic 57,56: 198,51 241,92¢ 243,28 245,18 245,18
Diluted 183,63: 234,48: 246,18: 246,98: 249,48t 249,48!

Note: (1) Includes sha-based compensation expenses as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(In thousands)
Share-based compensation expen 7,95¢ 13,11 15,48: 20,83’ 30,46¢ 5,03:

(2) Each ADS represents four ordinary shares.
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The following table presents a summary of our cbdated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2@0£0, 20 11, 2012 and 2013:

As of December 31
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Date

Cash and cash equivalel 270,58 1,060,06 781,60 449,84« 397,43! 65,65:
Restricted cas 50C 1,27¢ 1,50( 1,79( 3,317 54¢
Prepaid ren 69,61¢ 152,26 228,08° 321,30! 363,58: 60,05¢
Property and equipment, r 1,028,26 1,422,43. 2,095,79 2,951,50! 3,634,03! 600,30:
Total asset 1,581,13 3,044,08! 3,524,95! 4,330,18 5,185,05: 856,51(
Accounts payabl 141,57( 283,20: 417,60! 624,82: 677,30! 111,88:
Long-term debi 80,00( — — — — —
Deferred ren— long-term 174,77" 237,42 329,77 470,43t 653,83: 108,00!
Deferred revenu 74,76 117,04 209,84t 300,31! 416,10: 68,73t
Total liabilities 678,87! 918,77( 1,269,06! 1,839,62; 2,357,26. 389,39:
Mezzanine equit 796,80: — — — — —
Total equity 105,45: 2,125,311 2,255,88 2,490,56! 2,827,79. 467,11

The following table presents a summary of our cbdated statements of cash flow for the years emdecember 31, 2009, 2010, 20 11 ,
2012 and 2013:

Year Ended December 31
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(In thousands)

Consolidated Statement of Cas|

Flow Data:
Net cash provided by operati

activities 296,34: 469,12t 458,74( 715,72 1,070,16! 176,77¢
Net cash used in investing activiti (256,02 (515,31() (734,57) (1,068,13i) (1,152,24) (190,339
Net cash provided by financir

activities 47,06 845,83 13,83« 19,89¢ 30,64¢ 5,06:

Exchange Rate Information

This annual report contains translations of RMB anis into U.S. dollars at specific rates solelytfa¥ convenience of the reader. For
January 1, 2009 and all later dates and periods:thhange rate refers to the exchange rate &wrtein the H.10 statistical release of the
Federal Reserve Board. Unless otherwise indicataujersions of RMB into U.S. dollars in this anntegort are based on the exchange ra
December 31, 201 3 . We make no representatairatty RMB or U.S. dollar amounts could have beerould be, converted into U.S.
dollars or RMB, as the case may be, at any padiaale, or at all. The PRC government imposesrabaver its foreign currency reserves in
part through direct regulation of the conversioiRMB into foreign exchange and through restrictiondoreign trade. On April 11, 2014, the
daily exchange rate reported by the Federal Reddraed was RMB6.2111 to US$1.00.

The following table sets forth information concermiexchange rates between the RMB and the U.Srdoll the periods indicated. These
rates are provided solely for your convenienceanedot necessarily the exchange rates that weinigeid annual report or will use in the
preparation of our periodic reports or any othéorimation to be provided to you.

3
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Noon Buying Rate

Period Period End Average® Low High
(RMB per US$1.00)
2009 6.825¢ 6.830" 6.847( 6.817¢
2010 6.600( 6.769¢ 6.833( 6.600(
2011 6.293¢ 6.447¢ 6.636¢ 6.293¢
2012 6.230: 6.299( 6.387¢ 6.222:
2013 6.053° 6.141: 6.243¢ 6.053’
October 6.094! 6.103: 6.120¢ 6.081¢
Novembel 6.092: 6.092¢ 6.099: 6.090:
Decembe 6.053° 6.073¢ 6.0927 6.053"
2014
January 6.059( 6.050¢ 6.060( 6.040:
February 6.144¢ 6.081¢ 6.144¢ 6.059:
March 6.216¢ 6.172¢ 6.227: 6.118:
April (throughApril 11, 2014) 6.211: 6.207: 6.212: 6.196¢

(1) Averages for a period are calculated by using tezamge of the exchange rates at the end of eacthrdaning the period. Monthly
averages are calculated by using the average afaherates during the relevant period.

3.B. Capitalization and Indebtedness
Not applicable.
3.C. Reason for the Offer and Use of Proceeds
Not applicable.
3.D. Risk Factors
Risks Related to Our Business
Our operating results are subject to conditions efting the lodging industry in general.
Our operating results are subject to conditiong&glfy affecting the lodging industry, which incled
» changes and volatility in national, regional anchllceconomic conditions in China;

»  competition from other hotels, the attractiveneissuv hotels to customers, and our ability to maimiand increase sales to existing
customers and attract new customers;

« adverse weather conditions, natural disasterswelers’ fears of exposure to contagious diseasgsacial unrest;

e changes in travel patterns or in the desirabilftparticular locations;

* increases in operating costs and expenses dufiatian and other factors;

» local market conditions such as an oversupply 0§ eduction in demand for, hotel rooms;

» the quality and performance of managers and otinpiayees of our hotels;

» the availability and cost of capital to fund constion and renovation of, and make other investmantour hotels;

e seasonality of the lodging business and nationatgional special events;

» the possibility that leased properties may be sltgechallenges as to their compliance with thevant government regulations; and

* maintenance and infringement of our intellectualparty.
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Changes in any of these conditions could adves#dgt our occupancy rates, average daily ratesevehues generated per available
room, or RevPAR, or otherwise adversely affectresults of operations and financial condition.

Our business is sensitive to Chinese and globalresuic conditions. A severe or prolonged downturnthre Chinese or global economy
could materially and adversely affect our revenusrsd results of operations.

Our business and operations are primarily bas€hina and we depend on domestic business andédiswueler customers for a
significant majority of our revenues. Accordingbyr financial results have been, and we expectasititinue to be, affected by developments
in the Chinese economy and travel industry. Adtriéneel industry is highly sensitive to business padsonal discretionary spending levels, it
tends to decline during general economic downtum2008, China was affected by the disruptionntancial markets described below, and,
although the Chinese economy recovered in 201Gemdined relatively stable in 2011, the growth @t€hina’s GDP decreased in 2012 anc
2013, and it is uncertain whether this economiwdimwvn will continue into 2014 and beyond. A proledgslowdown in the Chinese economy
could erode consumer confidence which could résuhanges to consumer spending patterns for tanetlodging-related products and
services.

There is a possibility that China’s economic grovate may materially decline in the near futureiohhmay have adverse effects on our
financial condition and results of operations. Ri$la material slowdown in China’s economic growdte is based on several current or
emerging factors including: (i) overinvestment hg government and businesses and excessive cffedédby banks; (ii) a rudimentary
monetary policy; (iii) excessive privileges to statwned enterprises at the expense of privateides; (iv) the dwindling supply of surplus
labor; (v) a decrease in exports due to weakerseasrdemand; and (vi) failure to boost domestiswaption.

The global financial markets experienced signiftadiaruptions in 2008 and the United States, Euaypkother economies went into
recession. The recovery from the lows of 2008 @@P2Avas uneven and it is facing new challengedydtg the escalation of the European
sovereign debt crisis since 2011. It is uncleartiwiethe European sovereign debt crisis will beta@ioed and what effects it may have. The
considerable uncertainty over the long-term effefthe expansionary monetary and fiscal policheg have been adopted by the central bank
and financial authorities of some of the world’ading economies, including China’s. There have b&mn concerns over unrest in the Middle
East and Africa, which have resulted in highempoites and significant market volatility, and otlee possibility of a war involving Iran or
North Korea. In addition, there have been conceahwut the economic effect of the earthquake, tsuaachnuclear crisis in Japan and
tensions between Japan and its neighbouring cesntEiconomic conditions in China are sensitivelaba economic conditions.

Any prolonged slowdown in the Chinese or globalreroy may have a negative impact on our businessltseof operations and financial
condition, and continued turbulence in the intéore! markets may adversely affect our ability toess the capital markets to meet liquidity
needs.

The lodging industry in China is competitive, anflwe are unable to compete successfully, our finaecondition and results of
operations may be harmed.

The lodging industry in China is highly fragmentéd. a multi-brand hotel group we believe that wempete primarily based on location,
room rates, brand recognition, quality of accomntiotda, geographic coverage, service quality, rasfgeervices, guest amenities and
convenience of the central reservation system. kveapily compete with other hotel groups as wellvagous stand-alone lodging facilities in
each of the markets in which we operate. Our HagnHotels mainly compete with Home Inns, Jinjiang, | Days Inn, various regional hotel
group s and stand-alone hotels, and certain inierra brands such as Super 8. HanTing Hotels@sapete with two- and threstar hotels, a
they offer rooms with amenities comparable to mafhose hotels. Our JI Hotels and Starway Hotate fcompetition from existing three-star
and certain four-star hotels, boutique hotels whmas could be comparable and a few hotel chaioh as Vienna Hotels and Holiday Inn
Express. Our Hi Inns compete mainly with stand-algoest houses, low-price hotels and budget hbtehs such as Pod Inns, 99 Inns and 10
Inns. Our Joya Hotels and Manxin Hotels & Resooisgete with existing four-star and five-star hat&lew and existing competitors may
offer more competitive rates, greater conveniesepjices or amenities or superior facilities, whidld attract customers away from our
hotels and result in a decrease in occupancy amh@e daily rates for our hotels. Competitors mag autbid us for new leased hotel
conversion sites, negotiate better terms for p@kemanachis ed or franchised hotels or offer bé#Ems to our existing manachised or
franchised hotel owners, thereby slowing our apéited pace of expansion. Furthermore, our typigasts may change their travel, spending
and consumption patterns and choose to stay im kihes of hotels, especially given the increaseunhotel room rates to keep pace with
inflation. Any of these factors may have an advef§ect on our competitive position, results of @i®ns and financial condition.

5
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Our financial and operating performance may be adsely affected by epidemics, adverse weather céomit natural disasters and other
catastrophes.

Our financial and operating performance may be emblg affected by epidemics, adverse weather ciomgdit natural disasters and other
catastrophes, particularly in locations where werafe a large number of hotels.

Our business could be materially and adverselyctdteby the outbreak of swine influenza, avianuefiza, severe acute respiratory
syndrome or other epidemics. In 2011, 2013 and 2ibfe were reports on the occurrences of aviffueinza in various parts of China,
including dozens of confirmed human cases and deAthy prolonged recurrence of such contagiousadis@r other adverse public health
developments in China may have a material and adwaffect on our business operations. For exaniay of our employees or customers is
suspected of having contracted any contagious sksehile he or she has worked or stayed in oul$iot& may under certain circumstances
be required to quarantine our employees that deetefl and the affected areas of our premises.

Losses caused by epidemics, adverse weather amgJitiatural disasters and other catastrophesding earthquakes or typhoons, are
either uninsurable or too expensive to justify nrsgi against in China. In the event an uninsured lar a loss in excess of insured limits occ
we could lose all or a portion of the capital wedivested in a hotel, as well as the anticiphiéwre revenues from the hotel. In that event,
we might nevertheless remain obligated for anyrfaia commitments related to the hotel.

Similarly, war (including the potential of war) rterist activity (including threats of terroristtaaty), social unrest and heightened travel
security measures instituted in response, travete® accidents, as well as geopolitical uncenaamd international conflict, will affect travel
and may in turn have a material adverse effectusrbasiness and results of operations. In additienmay not be adequately prepared in
contingency planning or recovery capability in tigla to a major incident or crisis, and as a result operational continuity may be adversely
and materially affected and our reputation may dened.

Seasonality of our business and national or regidrspecial events may cause fluctuations in our raues, cause our ADS price to
decline, and adversely affect our profitability

The lodging industry is subject to fluctuationg@venues due to seasonality and national or rebspeaial events. The seasonality of our
business may cause fluctuations in our quarterratpng results. Generally, the first quarter, imah both the New Year and Spring Festival
holidays fall, accounts for a lower percentagewfannual revenues than other quarters of the Yéartypically have a lower RevPAR in the
fourth quarter, as compared to the second and djiadters, due to reduced travel activities invtirger. In addition, national or regional s
pecial events that attract large numbers of petaplevel may also cause fluctuations in our ofegatesultsn particular for the hotel locatio
where those events are held . For example, Exp6 3banghai China, or the Shanghai Expo, drove gtlemand and led to increased
occupancy rates and average daily rates for o@l$ot Shanghai from May 1 to October 31, 2010 @nttributed to our revenue increase fi
2009 to 2010. However, after the Shanghai Expaisin on October 31, 2010, the demand for our ateShanghai for the period from
November 2010 to February 2011 was lower than tineparable periods of prior years. Therefore, yauihnot rely on our operating
financial results for prior periods as an indicataf our results in any future period. As our ravesmay vary from quarter to quarter, our
business is difficult to predict and our quartedgults could fall below investor expectations, ethtould cause our ADS price to decline.
Furthermore, the ramp-up process of our new hoteisbe delayed during the low season, which magthady affect our revenues and
profitability.
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Our limited operating history makes it difficult tevaluate our future prospects and results of opteras.

Our operations commenced, through Powerhill Holglibignited, or Powerhill, with mid-scale limited s@e hotels and commercial
property development and management in 2005, arlgegan migrating to our current business of opegaaind managing a multi-brand hotel
group in 2007. See “ltem 4. Information on the Camp— A. History and Development of the Companyctardingly, you should consider
our future prospects in light of the risks and tdrajes encountered by a company with a limited atpey history. These risks and challenges
include:

» continu ing our growth while trying to achieve amdintain our profitability;
e preserving and enhancing our competitive positiothe lodging industry in China;
« offering innovative products to attract recurrimglanew customers;

» implementing our strategy and modifying it from &ro time to respond effectively to competition @hdnges in customer preferences
and needs;

* increasing awareness of our brand s and produdts@itinuing to develop customer loyalty;
*  attracting, training, retaining and motivating dfiedl personnel ; and
* renew ing leases for our leased hotels on comnigreiable terms after the initial lease terms egpi
If we are unsuccessful in addressing any of thisks pr challenges, our business may be mateaallyadversely affected.

Our new leased hotels typically incur significantggopening expenses during their development staged generate relatively low
revenues during their ramp-up stages, which may bawvsignificant negative impact on our financial fermance.

The operation of each of our leased hotel goesitiirdhree stages: development, ramp-up and maperations. During the development
stage, leased hotels generally incur pre-openipgreses ranging from approximately RMB 0.5 to RM8 million per hotel. During the ramp-
up stage, when the occupancy rate is relatively tewenues generated by these hotels may be icisuffito cover their operating costs, which
are relatively fixed in nature. As a result, thesa/ly opened leased hotels may not achieve prdfttaturing the ramp-up stage. As we
continue to expand our leased hotel portfolio,digmificant pre-opening expenses incurred durimgdivelopment stage and the relatively low
revenues during the ramp-up stage of our newly egpdeased hotels may have a significant negatipa@inon our financial performance.

A significant portion of our costs and expenses maynain constant or increase even if our revenuexiine, which would adversely
affect our net margins and results of operations.

A significant portion of our operating costs, indiing rent and depreciation and amortization, isdixAccordingly, a decrease in revenues
could result in a disproportionately higher decesisour earnings because our operating costsxgrehees are unlikely to decrease
proportionately. For example, the New Year and i&pFRestival holiday periods generally account feaveer portion of our annual revenues
than other periods, but our expenses do not vasjgagicantly with changes in occupancy and rexenas we need to continue to pay rent an
salary and to make regular repairs , maintenandeemrovations and invest in other capital improveta¢hroughout the year to maintain the
attractiveness of our hotels. Our property develapinand renovation costs may increase as a rdgultreasing costs of materials. However,
we have a limited ability to pass increased castaistomers through room rate increases. Therafarezosts and expenses may remain
constant or increase even if our revenues deahish would adversely affect our net margins arsliits of operations.

We may not be able to manage our planned growthjolitlcould adversely affect our operating results.

Our hotel group has been growing rapidly since egam migrating to our current business of operadimymanaging a multi-brand hotel
group. In 2007, we launched our economy hotel pehddanTing Express Hotel, which was subsequeetlyanded as HanTing Hotel, and our
mid-scale limited service hotel product, HanTingélpwhich was subsequently rebranded first as itap$easons Hotel and then as JI Hotel
In May 2012, we completed the acquisition of a 5ddaity interest in Starway Hotels (Hong Kong) Liedf or Starway HK, and in
December 2013, we acquired the remaining 49% edntityest of Starway HK from C-Travel. Wiave retained the Starway brand. In addit
we launched Manxin Hotels & Resorts in October 2848 Joya Hotel, a new hotel brand targeting ttseale market, in December 2013.
Through this organic and acquired growth, we inseelathe number of our hotels in operation in Cifiam 26 hotels as of January 1, 2007 to
1,425 hotels as of December 31, 201 3, and wedrtie continue to develop and operate additiontdllhdan different geographic locations in
China. This expansion has placed, and will contilauglace, substantial demands on our managepetational, technological and other
resources. Our planned expansion will also requsreo maintain the consistency of our productsthadjuality of our services to ensure that
our business does not suffer as a result of aniatiens, whether actual or perceived , in our quaiandards . In order to manage and suppol
our growth, we must continue to improve our exgtiperational, administrative and technologicatays and our financial and management
controls, and recruit, train and retain qualifieddh management personnel as well as other admaitiist and sales and marketing personnel,
particularly as we expand into new markets. We oaassure you that we will be able to effectivatg @fficiently manage the growth of our
operations, recruit and retain qualified persoramel integrate new hotels into our operations. Axilufe to effectively and efficiently manage
our expansion may materially and adversely affectability to capitalize on new business opportesitwhich in turn may have a material
adverse effect on our results of operatic
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Expansion into new geographic markets and adddfarew hotel products for which we have limited gimg experience and brand
recognition may present operating and marketing/etiges that are different from those we curreatigounter in our existing markets. Our
expansion within existing markets may cannibaligeexisting hotels in those markets and, as atigsedatively affect our overall results of
operations. Our inability to anticipate the chaggitemands that expanding operations will imposewmmanagement and information and
operational systems, or our failure to quickly adayr systems and procedures to the new markeait] cesult in declines of revenues and
increases in expenses or otherwise harm our regfubiserations and financial condition. Expansiorough the introduction of new hotel
products or brands may also present operating amkleting challenges. There can be no assurancarlatew hotel products or brands we
introduce will be well received by our customers &ecome profitable, and if it becomes profitafileill be achieved in a timely fashion. If a
new product or brand is not well received by owstomers, we may not be able to generate sufficerm@nue to offset related costs and
expenses, and our overall financial performancecandition may be adversely affected.

Our multi-brand business strategy exposes us to potenti&isrand its execution may divert management attentand resources from ou
established brand, and if any of the new hotel bdmnare not well received by the market, we mayb®able to generate sufficient rever
to offset related costs and expenses, and our dVérencial performance and condition may be adwesly affected.

We rebranded ouflanTing Express HotelsHanTing Hotel, ourHanTing Seasons HotakJl Hoteland ourHanTing Hi InnasHi Inn in
2012. In the same year we also acquired the Stadesés! brand. In addition, we launched Manxin Hst&IResorts in October 2013 and Joya
Hotel, a new hotel brand targeting the upscale ptaik December 2013. We are still in the procdsieveloping the Joya Hotel, Manxin
Hotels & Resorts, JI Hotel, Starway Hotel and Hi brands on top of our established brand of HanHatgl:

» Joya Hotel is our upscale brand concept targefifhgeat travelers and corporate events. Joya hate@sypically located in central
business districts. We have limited operating eigpee in developing and operating hotels in thecalesmarket. The introduction of the
Joya Hotel brand exposes us to potential riské,dlireg risks associated with high capital expenditevel and with entering a highly
competitive new market.

*  Manxin Hotels & Resorts is our mid-to-upscale brandcept targeting leisure travelers, families amall-scale corporate events. Man:
Hotels & Resorts targets popular vacation destinatiWe have limited operating experience in deyiefpand operating hotels in the
midscale and upscale market. The introduction efMlanxin Hotels & Resorts brand exposes us to piatetsks, including risks
associated with high capital expenditure level aittl entering a highly competitive new market.

» Jl Hotel is our organically developed mid-scalenoaAs of December 31, 2013, we had 68 JI Hotetspieration and an additional 52 JI
Hotels under development. We plan to further exghedll Hotel network through both the lease madel the manachise model.
However, we may not be able to successfully idgnsécure and develop in a timely fashion additidh&otels under the lease model or
to successfully compete for franchise agreememtadditional JI Hotels. The accelerated developméidt Hotels exposes us to potential
risks, including risks associated with high capiapenditures and uncertain financial outcome.
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»  Before our acquisition, Starway operated undeffrdwgchise model, without direct management involeatrin the franchised hotels. Afi
the acquisition of Starway, we introduced the lesastt manachise models to the Starway Hotels braddjdually converted the
franchised hotels Starway had before our acquisttomanachised or leased hotels where appropWéealso selectively terminated the
franchise arrangements with certain Starway Hatelsdid not meet the new Starway brand standardglaot accept certain changes we
made to the franchise agreements. We integratetd ah&arway Hotels’ support functions into ourstiig corporate platform and
significantly reduced the personnel and other dpegaosts for Starway. The acquisition of Starneaposes us to potential risks, includ
risks associated with unsuccessful transformatfdsusiness models and failure in growing the braetivork.

*  Hilnns target practical and price-conscious traxgelWe plan to strengthen the cost control oveHdlnns to remain competitive in their
target market and improve the RevPAR of Hi Innstigh effective site selection. However, we maylb®able to successfully execute
growth strategy and achieve the desired profitghiivel for Hi Inns.

In addition, we cannot guarantee the size andtphifity of the various market segments that eamh hrand is targeting. The business
models of these five new brands are not provennandannot guarantee that they can generate retonparable to the established HanTing
Hotel brand. The process of developing new branalg divert management attention and resources framestablished HanTing Hotel brand.
We may not be able to find competent managemefittatiead and manage the execution of the mubindrbusiness strategy. If we are unabls
to successfully execute our multi-brand strategiatget various market segments, we may be unalgenerate revenues from these market
segments in the amounts and by the times we aat&ipr at all, and our business, competitive msifinancial condition and prospects may
be adversely affected.

We may not be able to successfully identify, secame develop in a timely fashion additional hotelgperties under the lease model.

We plan to open more hotels to further grow ouiiness. Under our lease model, we may not be sucté@ssdentifying and leasing
additional hotel properties at desirable locatiand on commercially reasonable terms or at allnEfee are able to successfully identify and
acquire new hotel properties, new hotels may noegse the returns we expect. We may also incus édog€onnection with evaluating hotel
properties and negotiating with property ownersluding properties that we are subsequently unabiease. In addition, we may not be able
to develop additional hotel properties in a timigghion due to construction or regulatory delafyaud fail to successfully identify, secure or
develop in a timely fashion additional hotel prdjesy, our ability to execute our growth strategulddoe impaired and our business and
prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

We may not be able to successfully compete for élzine agreements and, as a result, we may not e abachieve our planned growth.

Our growth strategy includes expanding through rohising and franchising, both through entering finémchise agreements with our
franchisees. We believe that our ability to comgetdranchise agreements primarily depends orboaind recognition and reputation, the
results of our overall operations in general ardsihccess of the hotels that we currently manaemddranchise Other competitive factors f
franchise agreements include marketing supporgaigpof the central reservation channel and thityato operate hotels cosffectively. The
terms of any new franchise agreements that wermbtao depend on the terms that our competitoes &f those agreements. In addition, if
the availability of suitable locations for new pesfles decreases, or governmental planning or ¢dlat regulations change, the supply of
suitable properties for our manachise and franamisdel s could be diminished. If the hotels thatmana chise or franchise perform less
successfully than those of our competitors or ifase unable to offer terms as favorable as thdeeasf by our competitors, we may not be i
to compete effectively for new franchise agreemehssa result, we may not be able to achieve cammed growth and our business and resul
of operations may be materially and adversely &éfi:c
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Future acquisitions or strategic investment may leasan adverse effect on our ability to manage ouislmess and harm our results of
operations and financial condition.

If we are presented with appropriate opportunitiessmay acquire businesses or assets. Future ammsesvould expose us to potential
risks, including risks associated with unforeseehidden liabilities, risks that acquired hoteldlwbt achieve anticipated performance levels,
diversion of management attention and resources &ar existing business, difficulty in integratitige acquired businesses with our existing
operational infrastructure, and inability to gertersufficient revenues to offset the costs and es@e of acquisitions. In addition, following
completion of an acquisition, our management asdueces may be diverted from their core businesgitées due to the integration process,
which diversion may harm the effective manageméouo business. Furthermore, it may not be possbchieve the expected level of
benefits after integration and the actual costadivdring such benefits may exceed the anticipated. Any difficulties encountered in the
acquisition and integration process may have aeraéweffect on our ability to manage our businesshearm our results of operations and
financial condition. If a strategic investment issuccessful, then in addition to the diversion ahagement attention and resources from our
existing business we may lose the value of ourstment, which could have a material adverse etfeaiur financial condition and results of
operations.

Our legal right to lease certain properties coul@ lhallenged by property owners or other third pgag or subject to government
regulation.

We do not hold any land use rights with respeth#éoland on which our hotels are located nor dewe any of the hotel properties we
operate. Instead, a substantial part of our busimexlel relies on leases with third parties whioegzibwn or lease the properties from the
ultimate property owners. We also grant franchisdsotel operators who may or may not own theiehptoperties. We cannot assure you tha
the land use rights and other property rights wagpect to properties we currently lease , manadrigranchise for our existing hotels will not
be challenged. For example, as of December 3132Qur lessors failed to provide the property omship certificates and/or the land use
rights certificates for 62 properties that we lefseur hotel operations. While we have performaddue diligence to verify the rights of our
lessors to lease such properties, including ingpgdocumentation issued by competent governmethbaities evidencing these lessors’ land
use rights and other property rights with respec¢hése properties that these lessors providedthswe cannot assure you that our rights
under those leases will not be challenged by qiheres including government authorities.

Under PRC law, all lease agreements are requirbd tegistered with the local housing bureau. Witiéemajority of our standard lease
agreements require the lessors to make such sty some of our leases have not been registereelquired, which may expose both our
lessors and us to potential monetary fines. Sonmiofights under the unregistered leases mayssubordinated to the rights of other
interested third parties. In addition, in sevenstances where our immediate lessors are not tingat owners of hotel properties, no consent:
or permits were obtained from the owners, the prynhease holders or competent government authsyitie applicable, for the subleases of the
hotel properties to us, which could potentiallyatigate our leases or result in the renegotiatiosuoh leases that leads to terms less favorabl
to us. Some of the properties we lease from thamtigs were also subject to mortgages at the tiradeases were signed. Where consent to th
lease was not obtained from the mortgage holdsuéh circumstances, the lease may not be bindirgeotransferee of the property if the
mortgage holder forecloses on the mortgage andfeesthe property. Moreover, we cannot assurelyaithe property ownership or leaset
in connection with our manachis ed and franchisadll will not be subject to similar third-partyatkenges.

Any challenge to our legal rights to the propertised for our hotel operations, if successful, danlpair the development or operations
our hotels in such properties. We are also sultjeitte risk of potential disputes with property @rsor third parties who otherwise have rig
to or interests in our hotel properties. Such dispuwhether resolved in our favor or not, may dimeanagement’s attention, harm our
reputation or otherwise disrupt our business.

Any failure to comply with land- and propertselated PRC laws and regulations may negativelyeatfour ability to operate our hotels ar
we may suffer significant losses as a result.

Our lessors are required to comply with variougleand property-related laws and regulations tdkntihem to lease effective titles of
their properties for our hotel use. For examplepprties used for hotel operations and the undeyliand should be approved for commercial
use purposes by competent government authoritieddition, before any properties located on stateed land with allocated or leased land
use rights or on land owned by collective orgamiret may be leased to third parties, lessors shahtigin appropriate approvals from the
competent government authorities. As of DecembeRB13, the lessors of approximately a quartenunfexecuted lease agreements subject t
this approval requirement did not obtain the regpiigovernmental approvals. Such failure may sublectessors or us to monetary fines or
other penalties and may lead to the invalidatioreomination of our leases by competent governraatitorities, and therefore may adversely
affect our ability to operate our leased hotelsil@&/fmany of our lessors have agreed to indemnifggesnst our losses resulting from their
failure to obtain the required approvals, we carassure you that we will be able to successfulfpree such indemnification obligations
against our lessors. As a result, we may suffenifstgnt losses resulting from our lessors’ failtweobtain required approvals to the extent tha
we could not be fully indemnified by our lessors.

10




Table of Contents

Our success could be adversely affected by theguarénce of our manachis ed and franchised hotelsdagefaults or wrongdoings of our
franchisees may affect our reputation, which wouddiversely affect the results of our operations .

Our success could be adversely affected by the@maance of our manachis ed and franchised hote¢s,which we have lesser control
compared to our leased hotels. As of December@13,2ve manachis ed and franchised approximatefy &0of our hotels, and we plan to
further increase the number of manachis ed andlfiaed hotels to increase our national presen@hina. Our fran chisees for both our
manachised and franchised hotels may not be alllev®lop hotel properties on a timely basis, witishld adversely affect our growth strat
and may impact our ability to collect fees fromrthen a timely basis. Furthermore, given that canéhisees are typically responsible for the
costs of developing and operating the hotels, dioly renovating the hotels to our standards, anof &he operating expenses, the quality of
our manachis ed and franchised hotel operationshaaliminished by factors beyond our control andfranchisees may not successfully
operate hotels in a manner consistent with oudstals and requirements. Our manachised and fratthistels are also operated under our
brand names. If our brands are misused by anyofranchisees, there may be an adverse impact obusiness reputation and brand image.
In addition, like any operators in serviogented industries, we are subject to customerptaims and we may face complaints from unsatis
customers who are unhappy with the standard ofcse=offered by our franchisees. Any complaintsardtess of their nature and validity, may
affect our reputation, thereby adversely affectimgresults of our operations. We may also hawvedar additional costs in placating any
customers or salvaging our reputation. If any affoanchisees defaults or commits wrongdoings.gleeuld be situations where the franchises
is not in a position to sufficiently compensatgarslosses which we may have suffered as a re$siich defaults or wrongdoings . While we
ultimately can take action to terminate our fraselis that do not comply with the terms of our frése agreements or commit wrongdoings,
we may not be able to identify problems and makely responses and, as a result, our image antatepumay suffer, which may have a
material adverse effect on our results of operation

If we are unable to access funds to maintain ourthts’ condition and appearance, or if our franchiss fail to make investments
necessary to maintain or improve their properti¢ise attractiveness of our hotels and our reputatioauld suffer and our hotel occupanc
rates may decline.

In order to maintain our hotels’ condition and ama@&ce, ongoing renovations and other leaseholtwements, including periodic
replacement of furniture, fixtures and equipmenrd,r@quired. In particular, we manachise and fresechroperties leased or owned by
franchisees under the terms of franctageeements, substantially all of which require foanchisees to comply with standards that are ¢is
to maintaining the relevant product integrity and ceputation. We depend on our franchisees to §owmith these requirements by
maintaining and improving properties through inwestts, including investments in furniture, fixturamenities and personnel.

Such investments and expenditures require ongeindifig and, to the extent we or our franchiseesafund these expenditures from
existing cash or cash flow generated from operatiom or our franchisees must borrow or raise abgitough financing. We or our
franchisees may not be able to access capital anfilamchisees may be unwilling to spend availaalgital when necessary, even if require
the terms of our franchise agreements. If we orfianchisees fail to make investments necessanmyaiatain or improve the properties, our
hotel’s attractiveness and reputation could suffer, widclmse market share to our competitors and otel lezcupancy rates and RevPAR r
decline.
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We have incurred losses in the past and may inasdes in the future.

We incurred net losses attributable to our compeEiyMB111.6 million and RMB136.2 million in 2007 @200 8, respectivelyAlthough
we had net income attributable to our company of82EL5 million, RMB215.8 , RMB114.8 million, RMB 17 million and RMB 279.9
million in 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013 redpebt, as we expect our costs to increase as wentento expand our business and
operations, we may incur losses in the future. Afeot assure you that we will achieve or sustaifitability in the future.

Our leases could be terminated early, we may noabke to renew our existing leases on commerciaigsonable terms and our rents
could increase substantially in the future, whictoald materially and adversely affect our operatians

The lease agreements between our lessors andicalityprovide, among other things, that the leasmdd be terminated under certain
legal or factual conditions. If our leases wereni@ated early, our operation of such properties trajnterrupted or discontinued and we may
incur costs in relocating our operations to otleations. Furthermore, we may have to pay losséslamages and incur other liabilities to our
customers and other vendors due to our defaultrumdecontracts. As a result, our business, resdiltgperations and financial condition could
be materially and adversely affected.

We plan to retain the operation of our leased baipbn lease expiration through (i) renewal of taxgslease or (ii) execution offeanchist
agreement with the lessor. We cannot assure yauever, that we will be able to retain our hotel gen on satisfactory terms, or at all. In
particular, we may experience an increase in aurpayments and cost of revenues in connection meitegotiating our leases. If we fail to
retain our hotel operation on satisfactory termsrulgase expiration, our costs may increase angrofit generated from the hotel operation
may decrease in the future. If we are unable ts ffasincreased costs on to our customers thraa@h rate increases, our operating margins
and earnings could decrease and our results ohtipes could be materially and adversely affected.

Interruption or failure of our information systemgould impair our ability to effectively provide owservices, which could damage our
reputation.

Our ability to provide consistent and high-quabgrvices and to monitor our operations on a read-thasis throughout our hotel group
depends on the continued operation of our inforomatiéchnology systems, including our web properanagement, central reservation and
customer relationship management systems. Ceréarade to or failure of our systems could interauptinventory management, affect the
manner of our services in terms of efficiency, éstemcy and quality, and reduce our customer satisin.

Our technology platform plays a central role in management of inventory, revenues, loyalty progaawh franchisees. We also rely on
our website, call center and mobile applicatiofetmlitate customer reservations. Our systems remalnerable to damage or interruption as a
result of power loss, telecommunications failusnputer viruses, fires, floods, earthquakes, inp#ions in access to our toll-free numbers,
hacking or other attempts to harm our systems oéimer similar events. Our servers, which are maiethin Shanghai, may also be vulnerable
to break-ins, sabotage and vandalism. Some ofy@terss are not fully redundant, and our disastwery planning does not account for all
possible scenarios. Furthermore, our systems ahaidéogies, including our website and databasddomntain undetected errors or “bugs”
that could adversely affect their performance,arld become outdated and we may not be able tacemr introduce upgraded systems as
quickly as our competitors or within budgeted cdstssuch upgrades. If we experience frequent,gogéd or persistent system failures, our
quality of services, customer satisfaction, andafpenal efficiency could be severely harmed, whiclild also adversely affect our reputation.
Steps we take to increase the reliability and rddany of our systems may be costly, which couldicecour operating margin, and there can
be no assurance that whatever increased reliahibity be achievable in practice or would justify tosts incurred.

Failure to maintain the integrity of internal or catomer data could result in harm to our reputati@r subject us to costs, liabilities, fines
or lawsuits.

Our business involves collecting and retainingéarglumes of internal and customer data, includireglit card numbers and other
personal information as our various informatiorhtemlogy systems enter, process, summarize andtreydr data. We also maintain
information about various aspects of our businggsations as well as our employees. The integrity@otection of our customer, employee
and company data is critical to our business. @stamers and employees expect that we will adetyuatetect their personal information .
We are required by applicable laws to keep strictigfidential of the personal information that vadlect, and to take adequate security
measures to safeguard such information. Our cuserity measures and those of our third-partyidess may not be adequate for the
protection of our customer, employee or compang.dabr instance, we have been involved in a latwslaére a customer alleged that we
disclosed his personal information. We may facedlamitigations in the future. In addition, computhackers, foreign governments or cyber
terrorists may attempt to penetrate our networkisgcand our website. Unauthorized access to ooprietary internal and customer data may
be obtained through break-ins, sabotage, breaohragecure network by an unauthorized party, coerputuses, computer denial-of-service
attacks, employee theft or misuse, breach of thergg of the networks of our third-party provideos other misconduct. Because the
techniques used by computer programmers who mempttto penetrate and sabotage our proprietargniatend customer data change
frequently and may not be recognized until launchgainst a target, we may be unable to anticipegteet techniques. It is also possible that
unauthorized access to our proprietary internal@rsiomer data may be obtained through inadeqsatefusecurity controls. T he laws and
regulations applicable to security and privacytseoming increasingly important in China. Any thédss, fraudulent , unlawful use or
disclosure of customer, employee or company datéddmarm our reputation or result in remedial atiteocosts, liabilities, fines or lawsuits.
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If the value of our brand or image diminishes, ibald have a material and adverse effect on our lmess and results of operations.

We offer multiple hotel products that are desigtwethrget distinct segments of customers. Our naetl success in maintaining and
enhancing our brand s and image depends, to adatget, on our ability to satisfy customer neeg$usther developing and maintaining our
innovative and distinctive products and maintainiogsistent quality of services across our hoteligr, as well as our ability to respond to
competitive pressures. If we are unable to do sBopocupancy rates may decline, which could in awersely affect our results of operations.
Our business may also be adversely affected ipabtic image or reputation were to be diminishedh®yoperations of any of our hotels,
whether due to unsatisfactory service, accidentgteerwise. If the value of our products or imagdiminished or if our products do not
continue to be attractive to customers, our busia@sl results of operations may be materially aivésely affected.

Failure to protect our trademarks and other intettual property rights could have a negative impaxct our brand s and adversely affect
our business.

The success of our business depends in part upacoatinued ability to use our brands, trade naamestrademarks to increase brand
awareness and to further develop our productsuhnibethorized reproduction of our trademarks cotrdamsh the value of our brand s and
their market acceptance, competitive advantaggsadwill. In addition, we consider our proprietéamjormation systems and operational
system to be key components of our competitive aidgge and our growth strategy. We have receivegragiy registration certificates for 11
of our major proprietary information systems anddor operational system. However, none of ourmogieprietary information system have
been patented, copyrighted or otherwise registasealir intellectual property.

Monitoring and preventing the unauthorized usewfintellectual property is difficult. The measuree take to protect our brands, trade
names, trademarks and other intellectual propéhts may not be adequate to prevent their unaizéebiuse by third parties. Furthermore, the
application of laws governing intellectual properigghts in China and abroad is evolving and coniglve substantial risks to us. In particular,
the laws and enforcement procedures in the PR@raertain and do not protect intellectual propegiits to the same extent as do the laws
and enforcement procedures in the United Stateotm developed countries. If we are unable taadiely protect our brands, trade names,
trademarks and other intellectual property rights,may lose these rights and our business mayrsuterially.

We may also be subject to claims for infringementalidity, or indemnification relating to third pées’ intellectual property rights. Such
claims may be timeonsuming and costly to defend, divert managemiggtton and resources, or require us to enterlicémsing agreemen
which may not be available on commercially reas@tdrms, or at all.
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If we are not able to retain, hire and train qualéd managerial and other employees, our businesyha materially and adversely
affected.

Our managerial and other employees manage ourstentel interact with our customers on a daily bagisy are critical to maintaining tl
quality and consistency of our services as wetliasestablished brands and reputation. In genemgbloyee turnover, especially those in lowel
level positions, is relatively high in the lodgimglustry. As a result, it is important for us tdaia as well as attract qualified managerial and
other employees who are experienced in lodgingleeracconsumer-service industries. There is a liandt@pply of such qualified individuals in
some of the cities in China where we have operatéod other cities into which we intend to expdndaddition, we need to hire qualified
managerial and other employees on a timely badiedp pace with our rapid growth while maintaingogsistent quality of services across ou
hotels in various geographic locations. We musi plevide continuous training to our managerial atiekr employees so that they have up-tc
date knowledge of various aspects of our hotelatpars and can meet our demand for high-qualityises. If we fail to do so, the quality of
our services may decrease, which in turn, may hawvaterial and adverse effect on our products asthbss.

Our current employment practices may be adverseipacted under the labor contract law of the PRC.

The PRC National People’s Congress promulgatethtber ¢ ontract | aw in 2008, and amended it onddeber 28, 2012. The labor
contract law imposes requirements concerning, anotimgrs, the execution of written contracts betwemployers and employees, the time
limits for probationary periods, and the lengtHigéd-term employment contracts. Considering tRECRyovernmental authorities have
continued to introduce various new labor-relataglilgtions since the effectiveness of the | abontcagt | aw , and the interpretation and
implementation of these regulations are still eir@lyw e cannot assure you that our employmenttigecdo not, or will not, violate th e labor
contract law and related regulations or that wé mdgt be subject to related penalties, fines oaléges . If we are subject to severe penalties o
incur significant legal fees in connection withdallaw disputes or investigations, our businessrftial condition and results of operations
may be adversely affected. In addition, a signiftaaumber of our employees are dispatched frond4party human resources compan ies ,
which are responsible for managing, among otheng,gils, social insurance contributions and loeaidency permits of these employees.
According to a new regulation on labor dispatchiolr was promulgated in December 2013 to implerttenprovisions of the labor contract
law in this regard, a company is permitted to uspatched employees for up to 10% of its labordand the companies currently using
dispatched employees are given a two-year gradedor comply with this limit. We may not be abtedontinue our current practice undeeth
labor contract law and the new regulatiomhich would increase our human resources admiatigh expenses. Even if we continue this pra
within the limit , we may be held jointly liable der th e labor contract law for any damages to sueployees caused by these human
resources companies including lost wages, if trednuresources company fails to pay such employe@swages and other benefits. If we are
subject to large penalties or fees related todberl contract law, our business, financial conditiad results of operations may be materially
and adversely affected.

Failure to retain our management team could harm obusiness.

We place substantial reliance on the experiencdtanahstitutional knowledge of members of our entrmanagement team. Mr. Qi Ji, our
founder, executive chairman and chief executivieeff and other members of the management teajpaatieularly important to our future
success due to their substantial experiences girigcand other consumer-service industries. Findintable replacements for Mr. Qi Ji and
other members of our management team could beuiffiand competition for such personnel of simdaperience is intense. The loss of the
services of one or more members of our manageraant tue to their departures or otherwise coulddrindr ability to effectively manage ¢
business and implement our growth strategies.

We are subject to various franchise, hotel industopnstruction, hygiene, health and safety and ewvimental laws and regulations that
may subject us to liability.

Our business is subject to various compliance gdational requirements under PRC laws. For exam@eare required to obtain the
approval from, and file initial and annual reposith, the PRC Ministry of Commerce, or the MOCgetagage in the hotel franchising business
In addition, each of our hotels is required to abtaspecial industry license and a fire contrgirapal issued by the local public security
bureau, to have hotel operations included in thgriass scope of its business license, to obtaiirehggermits and environmental impact
assessment approvals, and to comply with licerggnements and laws and regulations with respecbistruction permit, zoning, fire
prevention, public area hygiene, food safety , jpurfety and environmental protection. See “ltermfbrmation on the Company — B.
Business Overview — Regulation — Regulations oneHOperation.” If we fail to comply with any appdible construction, hygiene, health
and safety, and environmental laws and regulatieladed to our business, we may be subject to fiatgrsignificant monetary damages and
fines or the suspension of our operations or dgveént activities. Furthermore, new regulations dalo require us to retrofit or modify our
hotels or incur other significant expenses. Ii$® aossible that new zoning plans or regulatig@ieable to a specific location may cause
relocate our hotel(s) in that location, or requidelitional approvals and licenses that may notrbatgd to us promptly or at all, which may
adversely affect our operating results. Any failbyeus to control the use of, or to adequatelyricshe discharge of, hazardous substances in
our development activities, or to otherwise openatgompliance with environmental laws could alabjsct us to potentially significant
monetary damages and fines or the suspension dfatel development activities or hotel operatiamsich could materially adversely affect
our financial condition and results of operatidBeme of our hotels are not in full compliance véthof the applicable requirements. Such
failure to comply with applicable construction pésrenvironmental, health and safety laws and rafiuhs related to our business and hotel
operation may subject us to potentially significam@netary damages and fines or the suspensioneshtipns and development activities of
company or related hotels. We cannot guaranteenhatill not be subject to any challenges or otietions with respect to such
noncompliance.
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Owners of our manachised and franchised hotelsubgct to these same permit and safety requiremAfihough our franchise
agreements require these owners to obtain and amaiglt required permits or licenses, we have ahitontrol over these owners. Any failure
to obtain and maintain the required permits omgzs by any owner of a manachised or franchiseal hwty require us to delay opening of the
manachised or franchised hotel or to forgo or teata our franchise agreement, which could harnboamd, result in lost revenues and subjec
us to potential indirect liability.

Our limited insurance coverage may expose us tsiss which may have a material adverse effect onreputation, business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We carry all mandatory and certain optional comma¢rsurance, including property, business intgtian, money, fidelity guarantee,
construction, third- party liability , public liality , product’s liability and employer’s liabilitfnsurance for our leased hotel operations. We als
require our lessors and franchisees to purchaderoasy insurance policies. Although we are ableetpuire our franchisees to obtain the
requisite insurance coverage through our franchisegnagement, we cannot guarantee that our lesgbasihere to such requirements. In
particular, there are inherent risks of accidentsjaries in hotels. One or more accidents orrigjsiat any of our hotels could adversely affect
our safety reputation among customers and potesuiibmers, decrease our overall occupancy ratesarease our costs by requiring us to
take additional measures to make our safety prisceueven more visible and effective. In the fufuve may be unable to renew our insuranc
policies or obtain new insurance policies withaudreases in cost or decreases in coverage levelsn&y also encounter disputes with
insurance providers regarding payments of clairas e believe are covered under our policies. Feuntiore, if we are held liable for amounts
and claims exceeding the limits of our insurancescage or outside the scope of our insurance cgeerur reputation, business, financial
condition and results of operations may be matgraald adversely affected.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteal control over financial reporting, we may not kable to accurately report our financial
results or prevent fraud.

We are subject to reporting obligations under th®.decurities laws. The Securities and Exchangen@ission, or the SEC, as required
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002herSarbanes-Oxley Act, adopted rules requiringyepeblic company to include in its
annual report a management report on such comparigimal control over financial reporting contaigimanagement’s assessment of the
effectiveness of its internal control over finarcigporting. In addition, an independent registgrallic accounting firm must attest to and
report on the effectiveness of such company’s fir@iecontrol over financial reporting except whdre tompany is a non-accelerated filer. We
currently are a large accelerated filer.

Our management has concluded that our internat@amier financial reporting was effective as ofdember 31, 201 3 . See “Item 15.
Controls and Procedures.” Our independent regidtendlic accounting firm has issued an attestatmort as of December 31, 201 3 . See
“ltem 15. Controls and Procedures—Attestation Repbthe Registered Public Accounting Firm.” Howguéwe fail to maintain effective
internal control over financial reporting in thedte, our management and our independent regispergiet accounting firm may not be able to
conclude that we have effective internal contrardinancial reporting. This could in turn resultthe loss of investor confidence in the
reliability of our financial statements and negalyvimpact the trading price of our ADSs. Furthermyave have incurred and anticipate that we
will continue to incur considerable costs, manag&niene and other resources in an effort to comtittucomply with Section 404 and other
requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
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We may not be able to develop hotel properties dimely or cost-efficient basis, which may adversaffect our growth strategy and
business.

We develop all of our leased hotels directly. Gwolvement in the development of properties presantumber of risks, including
construction delays or cost overruns, which mayltés increased project costs or forgone revefde.may be unable to recover developmen
costs we incur for projects that do not reach cetiquh. Properties that we develop could becomedtgactive due to market saturation or
oversupply, and as a result we may not be abledover development costs at the expected rate adr &urthermore, we may not have
available cash to complete projects that we hawenoenced, or we may be unable to obtain financinghfe development of future properties
on favorable terms, if at all. If we are unablestmcessfully manage our hotel development to miz@rthese risks, our growth strategy and
business prospects may be adversely affected.

We, our directors, management and employees maguigect to certain risks related to legal proceegtfiled by or against us, and
adverse results may harm our business.

We cannot predict with certainty the cost of deérike cost of prosecution or the ultimate outcoféigation and other proceedings fil
by or against us, our directors, management or@mepk, including remedies or damage awards, anerselvesults in such litigation and other
proceedings may harm our business or reputatioch #tigation and other proceedings may includd,dre not limited to, actions relating to
intellectual property, commercial arrangements, legrpent, non-competition and labor law, fiduciantids, personal injury, death, property
damage or other harm resulting from acts or omisshy individuals or entities outside of our cohtiacluding franchisees and third-party
property owners. In the case of intellectual prophtigation and proceedings, adverse outcomesdcimglude the cancellation, invalidation or
other loss of material intellectual property righted in our business and injunctions prohibitinguse of business processes or technology
that is subject to third- party patents or othéndtparty intellectual property rights.

We generally are not liable for the willful actiooour franchisees and property owners; howeberetis no assurance that we would be
insulated from liability in all cases.

Risks Related to Doing Business in China

Adverse changes in economic and political policadghe PRC government could have a material advesffect on the overall economic
growth of China, which could adversely affect ouu$iness.

We conduct substantially all of our business openatin China. As the lodging industry is highlysiive to business and personal
discretionary spending levels, it tends to dectingng general economic downturns. Accordingly, msults of operations, financial condition
and prospects are subject to a significant degreedanomic developments in China. China’s econoiffigrd from the economies of most
developed countries in many respects, including waspect to the amount and degree of governmeolviement and influence on the level of
development, growth rate, control of foreign exaand allocation of resources. While the PRC eagnioas experienced significant growth
in the past 30 years, growth has been uneven adiffessent regions and among various economic seabChina. The PRC government has
implemented various measures to encourage ecordeuaopment and guide the allocation of resouMésle some of these measures ber
the overall PRC economy, they may also have a ivegeffect on us. For example, our results of ofi@na and financial condition may be
adversely affected by government control over edjgitvestments or changes in environmental, helabar or tax regulations that are
applicable to us.
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As the PRC economy is increasingly intricately &dko the global economy, it is affected in varioespects by downturns and recession:
of major economies around the world, such as tbkajlfinancial crisis and sovereign debt crisiE€urope . Stimulus measures designed to
help China weather the global financial crisis mamptribute to higher inflation, which could advdysaffect our results of operations and
financial condition. For example, certain operatingts and expenses, such as employee compenaatidrotel operating expenses, may
increase as a result of higher inflation. Meastwesontrol the pace of economic growth may caudecaease in the level of economic activity
in China, which in turn could adversely affect oasults of operations and financial condition. FiRC economy has been transitioning from &
planned economy to a more market-oriented econdifyough the PRC government has implemented messimee the late 1970s
emphasizing the utilization of market forces foomamic reform, the reduction of state ownershipraiductive assets and the establishment o
improved corporate governance in business enteyrissubstantial portion of productive assetshim&is still owned by the PRC governm
In addition, the PRC government continues to plaigaificant role in regulating industry developréyg imposing industrial policies.

The PRC government also exercises significant cbatrer China’s economic growth through the allamabf resources, controlling
payment of foreign currency-denominated obligati@esdting monetary policy and providing preferdrti@atment to particular industries or
companies. Certain measures adopted by the PRCrgogat, such as changes of the People’s Bank afa®hstatutory deposit reserve ratio
and lending guideline imposed on commercial bamies; restrict loans to certain industries. Thesmast as well as future actions and polic
of the PRC government, could materially affect liquidity and access to capital and our abilityofmerate our business.

Inflation in China may disrupt our business and havan adverse effect on our financial condition amesults of operations.

The Chinese economy has experienced rapid expattgjether with rising rates of inflation and incseey salary. The salary increase
could potentially increase discretionary spendindravel, but general inflation may also erode désble incomes and consumer spending.
Furthermore, certain components of our operatirggscancluding personnel, food, laundry, consunmshbled property development and
renovation costs, may increase as a result of@ease in the cost of materials and labor resuftimgp general inflation. However, we cannot
guarantee that we can pass increased costs taverstthrough room rate increases. This could adleisipact our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Uncertainties with respect to the Chinese legalteys could limit the legal protections available s and our investors and have a
material adverse effect on our business and resolft®perations.

The PRC legal system is a civil law system basedritten statutes. Unlike in common law system#mpeourt decisions may be cited for
reference but have limited precedential value. &the PRC legal system continues to rapidly evahejnterpretations of many laws,
regulations and rules are not always uniform arfdreament of these laws, regulations and rulesliguncertainties, which may limit legal
protections available to us. For example, we masetia resort to administrative and court proceesliogenforce the legal protection that we
enjoy either by law or contract. However, since PRIhinistrative and court authorities have sigaificdiscretion in interpreting and
implementing statutory and contractual terms, iy in@ more difficult than in more developed legatsyns to evaluate the outcome of
administrative and court proceedings and the lef/klgal protection we enjoy. These uncertaintiesy impede our ability to enforce the
contracts we have entered into. In addition, suatertainties, including the inability to enforcer@antracts, could materially and adversely
affect our business and operations. Accordinglycamnot predict the effect of future developmentthe PRC legal system, including the
promulgation of new laws, changes to existing lawthe interpretation or enforcement thereof, ergheemption of local regulations by
national laws. These uncertainties could limitlggal protections available to us and other for@iyestors, including you. In addition, any
litigation in China may be protracted and resulsubstantial costs and diversion of our resourndsn@anagement attention.

Rapid urbanization and changes in zoning and urbatanning in China may cause our leased hotels todmmolished, removed or
otherwise affected and our franchise agreement¢e¢mminate.

China is undergoing a rapid urbanization process,zoning requirements and other governmental ntasdeith respect to urban planni
of a particular area may change from time to tiltéen there is a change in zoning requirementst@ar@overnmental mandates with respect
to the areas where our hotels are located, thetatfehotels may need to be demolished or removedh&Ve experienced such demolition and
relocation in the past and we may encounter additidemolition and relocation cases in the futt@. example, in 2013 we were obligated to
demolish three leased hotels due to local goverhamring requirements. As a result, we wrote offgarty and equipment of RMB7.3 million
associated with these hotels and recognized aof@&MB10.7 million, which is net of RMB15.0 milliooash received and RMB3.0 million
been recorded as a receivable in other currentssasef December 31, 2013. In addition, as of b 31, 2013, we were notified by local
government authorities that we may have to demahshadditional leased hotels due to local zoneguirements. Our franchise agreements
typically provide that if the manachised or frarsgid hotels are demolished, the franchise agreemdhtsrminate. In 2013, we were obligat
to demolish one manachised hotel due to local gwwent zoning requirements. We cannot assure ydsiédar demolitions, termination of
franchise agreements or interruptions of our hopelrations due to zoning or other local regulatieilisnot occur in the future. Any such
further demolition and relocation could cause ul$e primary locations for our hotels and we mat/b®e able to achieve comparable oper:
results following the relocations. While we mayrbanbursed for such demolition and relocation, wenot assure you that the reimbursen
as determined by the relevant government authsyitwdl be sufficient to cover our direct and iretit losses. Accordingly, our business, result
of operations and financial condition could be adeby affected.
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Governmental control of currency conversion may linour ability to pay dividends in foreign currenes to our shareholders and
therefore adversely affect the value of your invesnt.

The PRC government imposes controls on the coméstiof RMB into foreign currencies and, in carta&ases, the remittance of curre
out of China. See “ltem 4. Information on the Compa— B. Business Overview — Regulation — Regulation Foreign Currency Exchange’
for discussions of the principal regulations anésigoverning foreign currency exchange in China.fdteive substantially all of our revenues
in RMB. For most capital account items, approvahirappropriate government authorities is requirbéne RMB is to be converted into
foreign currency and remitted out of China to papital expenses such as the repayment of bank tem@minated in foreign currencies. The
PRC government may also at its discretion restigcess in the future to foreign currencies foreniraccount transactions. If the foreign
exchange control system prevents us from obtaisirfficient foreign currency to satisfy our currerdgmands, we may not be able to pay
dividends in foreign currencies to our shareholdiexduding holders of our ADSs, which would adwaysaffect the value of your investment.

Fluctuation in the value of the Renminbi may haveraaterial adverse effect on your investment.

The value of the Renminbi against the U.S. doHamo and other currencies is affected by, amongrdtiings, changes in Chisgpolitical
and economic conditions and China’s foreign exckapgicies.

Our revenues and costs are mostly denominateciRé&mminbi, and a significant portion of our fineExi@ssets are also denominated ir
Renminbi. We rely substantially on dividends paidis by our operating subsidiaries in China. Amyniicant depreciation of the Renminbi
against the U.S. dollar may have a material adveffeet on our revenues, and the value of, anddarigends payable on, our ADSs and
ordinary shares. If we decide to convert our Reimimto U.S. dollars for the purpose of making pays for dividends on our ordinary sha
or for other business purposes, depreciation oRémr@minbi against the U.S. dollar would reduceldtf®. dollar amount available to us. On the
other hand, to the extent that we need to convest tbllars into Renminbi for our operations, apgaton of the Renminbi against the U.S.
dollar would have an adverse effect on the Renrmanimunt we receive from the conversion. See “ltdmQuantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Market Risk — Foreign Exchange&Rfior discussions of our exposure to foreign enay risks. In summary, fluctuation in
the value of the Renminbi in either direction cohftve a material adverse effect on the value otompany and the value of your investment

Our failure to obtain the prior approval of the Cha Securities Regulatory Commission, or the CSR@, dur initial public offering and
the listing and trading of our ADSs of the NASDAQI@bal Select Market could have a material adver$teet on our business, operating
results, reputation and trading price of our ADSeecent regulations also establish more complex grdares for acquisitions conducted
by foreign investors which could make it more ddfilt to pursue growth through acquisitions.

On August 8, 2006, six PRC regulatory agenciegljoadopted thé&kegulations on Mergers and Acquisitions of Doméstiterprises by
Foreign Investors, or the New M&A Rule , which became effective cep&mber 8, 2006 and amended on June 22, 2009't&wet.
Information on the Company — B. Business OvervievwRegulation — Regulations on Overseas Listing.” M/khe application of the New
M&A Rule remains unclear, we believe, based ordiiheice of our PRC counsel, that CSRC approval isemuired in the context of our initial
public offering because we established our PRCidiatsies by means of direct investment other thamlerger or acquisition of domestic
companies, and we started to operate our busingbs PRC through foreign invested enterprisesrbe®eptember 8, 2006, the effective date
of the New M&A Rule. However, we cannot assure ffwat the relevant PRC government agency, inclutiegCSRC, would reach the same
conclusion as our PRC counsel. If the CSRC or dBfR€ regulatory body subsequently determines tB&RCs approval was required for our
initial public offering, we may face sanctions I tCSRC or other PRC regulatory agencies, whicldduave a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operatjaeputation and prospects, as well as the trgulicg of our ADSs.
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Certain recently enacted PRC laws and regulatmuns) as the New M&A Rule and tRailes of Ministry of Commerce on Implementation
of Security Review System of Mergers and Acquisitid Domestic Enterprises by Foreign Investasthe MOC Security Review Rule, wh
was promulgated by the MOC in August 2011 and beceffective on September 1, 2011, also establiadddional procedures and
requirements that could make mergers and acquisitiy foreign investors more time-consuming andpem

The New M&A Rule requires, among other things, thetMOC be notified prior to any change-of-contrahsaction in which a foreign
investor acquires control of a PRC domestic entsepr a foreign company with substantial PRC ajpeans, if certain thresholds under the
Provisions on Thresholds for Prior Notification @bncentrations of Undertaking, issued by the State Council on August 3, 2008ewe
triggered. The MOC Security Review Rule requirespag other things, that any acquisition by fordigrestors of PRC companies engaging
in military related or certain other industriestthee crucial to national security be subject twusiy review before consummation of such
acquisition.

In the future, we may grow our business in parabguiring complementary businesses. Complying thighrequirements of these
regulations to complete such transactions coultine-consuming, and any required approval processesding obtaining approval from the
MOC, may delay or inhibit our ability to completech transactions, which could affect our abilityetgpand our business or maintain our
market share.

Recent PRC regulations relating to the establishmehoffshore special purpose companies by PRCaests may subject our PRC
resident shareholders to personal liability and linour ability to inject capital into our PRC subdiaries, limit our PRC subsidiaries’
ability to distribute profits to us, or otherwisadaersely affect us.

In October 2005, the State Administration of Fonelitxchange, or the SAFE, promulgated Ktagice on Relevant Issues Concerning
Foreign Exchange Control on Domestic Resid Corporate Financing and Roundtrip Investment Tugb Offshore Special Purpose
Vehicles, or Circular 75. SAFE later issued a series oflem@ntation guidance, including the most redéatice of the State Administration of
Foreign Exchange on Further Improving and Adjustifageign Exchange Administration Policies for Ditdavestmen, or Circular 59 which
came into effect on December 17 , 201 2 . The gelations require PRC residents who use asseiguitlyaénterests in their PRC entities as
capital contributions to establish offshore comparur inject assets or equity interests in thei€RRtities into offshore companies to register
with local SAFE branches. See “Item 4. Informationthe Company — B. Business Overview — RegulatioRegulations on Offshore
Financing” for discussions of the registration rieggnents and the relevant penalties.

We attempt to comply, and attempt to ensure thasbareholders and beneficial owners of our shatesare subject to these
rules comply, with the relevant requirements. Wence provide any assurance that our shareholderbameficial owners of our shares who
are PRC residents have complied or will comply wlith requirements imposed by Circular 75 or oth&ted rules either. Any failure by any
of our shareholders and beneficial owners of oareshwho are PRC domestic residents to comply iitvant requirements under this
regulation could subject such shareholders, baaébeners and us to fines or sanctions imposeth€yPRC government, includitignitations
on our relevant subsidiary’s ability to pay divideror make distributions to us and our abilityrtorease our investment in China, or other
penalties that may adversely affect our businessations .

We rely principally on dividends and other distribans on equity paid by our subsidiaries to fundynash and financing requirements
we may have, and any limitation on the ability ofilosubsidiaries to make payments to us could havaaterial adverse effect on our
ability to conduct our business.

We are a holding company, and we rely principatiydovidends from our subsidiaries in China for oash requirements, including any
debt we may incur. Current PRC regulations permnitsubsidiaries to pay dividends to us only outhefr accumulated profits, if any,
determined in accordance with PRC accounting stasdend regulations. In addition, each of our slibsies in China are required to set aside
a certain amount of its aftéax profits each year, if any, to fund certainstaty reserves. These reserves are not distriteitsbtash dividenc
As of December 31, 201 3, a total of RMB 65.0 imillwas not distributable in the form of divideridsus due to these PRC regulations.
Furthermore, if our subsidiaries in China incurtdet their own behalf in the future, the instrunsegbverning the debt may restrict their ab
to pay dividends or make other payments to us.ifidtaility of our subsidiaries to distribute divid#shor other payments to us could materially
and adversely limit our ability to grow, make intrasnts or acquisitions that could be beneficiaduobusinesses, pay dividends, or otherwise
fund and conduct our business.
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We may be subject to fines and legal sanctions isgmbby SAFE or other Chinese government authoritée® our ability to further grant
shares or share options to, and to adopt additioshare incentive plans for, our directors and empées may be restricted if we or the
participants of our share incentive plans fail tmmply with PRC regulations relating to employee sba or share options granted by
offshore special purpose companies or offshoredsitompanies to PRC participants.

In February 2012, the SAFE issued Nhatice on Relevant Issues Concerning Foreign Exgaaontrol on Domestic Individuals
Participating in the Stock Incentive Plan of An ®eas Listed Compatr, or Circular 7, which requires PRC individual pepants of stock
incentive plans to register with the SAFE and tmptly with a series of other requirements. See “lferinformation on the Company — B.
Business Overview — Regulation — Regulations orelgpr Currency ExchangeWe are an offshore listed company and as a resuéingd th
participants of our share incentive plans who &€ Ritizens or foreigners having lived within tleeritory of the PRC successively for at least
one year, or, collectively, the PRC participants, subject to Circular 7. While we completed theefgn exchange registration procedures and
complied with other requirements according to dac’ in June 2012, we cannot provide any assurdrateve or the PRC individual
participants of our share incentive plans have dmdpr will comply with the requirements imposeg @ircular 7. If we or the PRC
participants of our share incentive plans fail t¢onply with Circular 7, we or the PRC participantar share incentive plans may be subje:
fines or other legal sanctions imposed by SAFEtbeioPRC government authorities and our abilitjutther grant shares or share options
under our share incentive plans to, and to adagitiadal share incentive plans for, our directans mployees may be restricted. Such event:
could adversely affect our business operations.

It is unclear whether we will be considered as a@Resident enterprise” under the EIT law, and depéing on the determination of our
PRC “resident enterprise” status, dividends paidus by our PRC subsidiaries may be subject to PRtbhwolding tax, we may be subject
to 25% PRC income tax on our worldwide income, damalders of our ADSs or ordinary shares may be sudtji PRC withholding tax on
dividends paid by us and gains realized on thearisfer of our ADSs or ordinary shares.

In 2007, the PRC National People’s Congress passdthterprise Income Tax Laypand the PRC State Council subsequently issued the
Implementation Regulations of the Enterprise Incdiae Law. The Enterprise Income Tax Law and its ImpleméntaRegulations, or the El
Law, provides that enterprises established outsidghina whose e factomanagement bodies” are located in China are comsideesident
enterprises.” Currently, there are no detailedsroleprecedents governing the procedures and &pexteria for determining te facto
management body” and it is still unclear if the PR authorities would determine that we shoulalassified as a PRC “resident enterprise.”

Under the EIT Law, dividends paid to us by our &dibsies in China may be subject to a 10% withhaidiax if we are considered a “non-
resident enterprise.” If we are treated as a PRSident enterprise,” we will be subject to PRC medax on our worldwide income at the 25%
uniform tax rate, which could have an impact on effective tax rate and an adverse effect on otimeeme and results of operations,
although dividends distributed from our PRC sulasids to us could be exempt from the PRC divideitbdhelding tax, since such income is
exempted under the EIT Law to a PRC resident reotpif we are required under the EIT Law to pagoime tax on any dividends we receive
from our subsidiaries, our income tax expensesinéiease and the amount of dividends, if any, vag pay to our shareholders and ADS
holders may be materially and adversely affectecddition, dividends we pay with respect to oursr ordinary shares and the gains
realized from the transfer of our ADSs or ordingimqares may be considered as income derived frones®within the PRC and be subject to
PRC withholding tax. See “ltem 10. Additional Infeation — E. Taxation — PRC Taxation.”
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We face uncertainty from PRC value-added tax refgrwhich could result in unfavorable tax consequersct® us.

On October 26, 2011 the State Council of China@pgut a new tax rule to launch the value-addeddotm pilot program in Shanghai on
January 1, 2012. On November 16, 2011, the Minstfyinance of China and the State Administratibaxation of China jointly issued the
Circular on the Pilot Program for the Collection Whlue Added-Tax Instead of Business ;TaxCircular 110, and th@ircular on the Pilot
Program for the Collection of Value AdcTax Instead of Business Tax in Transportation @ediain Modern Service Sectors in Shanghai
Circular 111, to provide specific implementatiotesifor the pilot program, which became effectimeJanuary 1, 2012. As part of a tax
replacement policy, Circular 110 and Circular 1lléve companies in the traffic and transport seetod certain modern service sectors in
Shanghai to switch from being a business tax paybeing a value-added tax payer. Starting fronrudgnl, 2012, a 17% value-added tax rate
will apply to the movable property leasing sector,11% rate to the traffic and transport sectorafélo rate to sectors related to research anc
development, technological services, culture, kiggsand consultation. Value-added tax payers ealuct expenses incurred in providing the
relevant services from the taxable income. On Au@u2012, the pilot program started to extendrotlaer eight provinces and cities, includ
Jiangsu Province. HanTing Technology (Suzhou) Cid., one of our major subsidiaries located in genProvince, has been subject to this
new value-added tax reform pilot program since Bet®012. Commencing August 1, 2013, the pilot paogexpanded to all regions in the
PRC. Our other subsidiaries may also be subjettetilot program as a result. As the pilot progiia still in a trial phase, its impact on our
future operation is uncertain.

The audit report included in this annual report wagepared by auditors who are not inspected by Bublic Company Accounting
Oversight Board and, as such, you are deprivedha benefits of such inspection.

Our independent registered public accounting finat {ssues the audit reports included in our anregarts filed with the SEC, as auditors
of companies that are traded publicly in the Uniates and a firm registered with the United St&eblic Company Accounting Oversight
Board, or the PCAOB, is required by the laws oflthited States to undergo regular inspections byPtEAOB to assess its compliance with
the laws and professional standards of the UnitateS Because our auditors are located in the BREisdiction where the PCAOB is
currently unable to conduct inspections withoutdbgroval of the Chinese authorities, our audiémesnot currently inspected by the PCAOB.

Inspections of other firms that the PCAOB has catelt outside China have identified deficienciethmse firms’ audit procedures and
quality control procedures, which may be addressepart of the inspection process to improve fuaurdit quality. The lack of PCAOB
inspections in China prevents the PCAOB from redykevaluating our auditor’s audits and its quatityntrol procedures. As a result, investors
may be deprived of the benefits of PCAOB inspedtion

The inability of the PCAOB to conduct inspectiorisaaditors in China makes it more difficult to ewate the effectiveness of our auditor’s
audit procedures and quality control proceduresoagpared to auditors outside of China that areesilhp PCAOB inspections. As a result,
investors may lose confidence in our reported fim@rinformation and procedures and the qualitpwf financial statements.

Proceedings instituted by the SEC against five PB&ed accounting firms, including our independerggistered public accounting firm,
could result in financial statements being deterneith to not be in compliance with the requirementstbé Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act.

In December 2012, the SEC commenced administrptiveeedings under Rule 102(e)(1)(iii) of its Rudé#ractice and also under the
Sarbane®©xley Act of 2002 against Chinese affiliates of &r& Young LLP, KPMG LLP PricewaterhouseCoopers |.BRd Deloitte LLP (th
“Big Four Accounting Firms”) , including our indepéent registered public accounting firm, and algaisst BDO China Dahua CPA Co., Ltd.
(the former BDO affiliate in China). The Rule 10¢@4(iii) proceedings initiated by the SEC reladetiese accounting firms’ failure to produce
documents, including audit work papers, in respaaghe request of the SEC pursuant to Sectionof@ie Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as
these accounting firms stated that they are natposition to lawfully produce documents directitiie SEC pursuant to PRC laws and spe
directives issued by the CSRC. We were not anahatrgubject to any SEC investigations, nor arerwelived in the proceedings brought by
the SEC against these accounting firms.
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In January 2014, an administrative law judge issaredhitial decision sanctioning the Chinese aifiis of the Big Four Accounting Firms
from practicing before the SEC for six months. &leeounting firms involved have filed a petitiom feview appealing the initial decision to
the SEC and the sanctions will not take effectidinéd SEC issues an order of finality. The accmgntirms may seek judicial review through a
further appeal to a U.S. court of appeals, ancffext of the order of finality could be furtherspended pending the outcome of that appeal.

While we cannot predict the outcome of the SEC&pedings, if the accounting firms, including castépendent registered public
accounting firm, were denied, temporarily or perevaty, the ability to practice before the SEC, aredare unable to timely find another
registered public accounting firm which can audi &ssue a report on our financial statements, Wlenat be able to meet the reporting
requirements under the Securities Exchange Ac®8#1las amended, or the Exchange Act, which mayatiely result in our deregistration by
the SEC and delisting from the NASDAQ, or our macdagpitalization could decline sharply and the eabfi your investment in our ADSs
could be materially and adversely affected. Morepapy negative publicity about the SEC’s procegsliagainst these accounting firms may
erode investor confidence in China-based, UnitedieStlisted companies in general and the tradiicg pf our ADSs may be adversely
affected.

Risks Relating to Our ADSs and Our Trading Market
The market price for our ADSs has been and may ¢oué to be volatile.

The market price for our ADSs has been volatile laaslranged from a low of US$ 14.75 to a high 0$133.29 on the NASDAQ Global
Select Market in 201 3 . The market price is sutdieevide fluctuations in response to various festincluding the following:

e actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quartemberating results;

» changes in financial estimates by securities rebeamalysts;

» conditions in the travel and lodging industries;

» changes in the economic performance or market tiahsof other lodging companies;

e announcements by us or our competitors of new mtsgdacquisitions, strategic partnerships, joimtuees or capital commitments;

e addition or departure of key personnel;

« fluctuations of exchange rates between the RMBWusd dollar or other foreign currencies;

*  potential litigation or administrative investigats

» release of lock-up or other transfer restrictionsar outstanding ADSs or ordinary shares or safiesiditional ADSs; and

» general economic or political conditions in China.

In addition, the market prices for companies wipem@tions in China in particular have experienceldtility that might have been
unrelated to the operating performance of such eomes. The securities of some China-based comp#raehave listed their securities in the
United States have experienced significant votgtilince their initial public offerings, includin@ some cases, substantial declines in the
market prices of their securities. The performaicthe securities of these China-based companiestakir offerings may affect the attitudes
of investors toward Chinese companies listed irLthited States, which consequently may impact #réopmance of our ADSs, regardless of
our actual operating performance. In addition, aegative news or perceptions about inadequate @ggovernance practices or fraudulent

accounting, corporate structure or other mattecgttodr China-based companies may also negatividgtahe attitudes of investors towards
China-based companies in general, including usrdigss of whether we have engaged in any inapiptegactivities.
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The global financial crisis and the ensuing ecomomcessions in many countries have contributechadcontinue to contribute to
extreme volatility in the global stock markets, Isas the large declines in share prices in theedritates, China and other jurisdictions at
various times since 2008. These broad market ahgbstry fluctuations may adversely affect the pa€eur ADSs, regardless of our operating
performance.

We may need additional capital, and the sale of gidcial ADSs or other equity securities could resirh additional dilution to our
shareholders and the incurrence of additional indebiness could increase our debt service obligations

We believe that our current cash and cash equitslanticipated cash flow from operations and ttee@eds from our past capital markets
fundraising activities, and from undrawn bank créalilities available to us will be sufficient toeet our anticipated cash needs for at least tf
next 12 months. We may, however, require additicaah resources due to changed business condgiategic acquisitions or other future
developments, including expansion through leas¢el©iand any investments or acquisitions we majddeo pursue. If these resources are
insufficient to satisfy our cash requirements, wayrseek to sell additional equity or debt secwgitieobtain a credit facility. The sale of
additional equity and equity-linked securities abrgsult in additional dilution to our shareholdérke incurrence of indebtedness would resul
in increased debt service obligations and couldlt@s operating and financing covenants that waoelstrict our operations. We cannot assure
you that financing will be available in amountsoorterms acceptable to us, if at

Future sales or issuances, or perceived future sade issuances, of substantial amounts of our ordig shares or ADSs could adversely
affect the price of our ADSs.

If our existing shareholders sell, or are percei@sdhtending to sell, substantial amounts of adimary shares or ADSSs, including those
issued upon the exercise of our outstanding stptikius, the market price of our ADSs could fallcBsales, or perceived potential sales, by
our existing shareholders might make it more difiéor us to issue new equity or equity-relatedwsiies in the future at a time and place we
deem appropriate. Shares held by our existing Bblders may be sold in the public market in thefeitsubject to the restrictions contained in
Rule 144 and Rule 701 under the Securities Actthadpplicable lock-up agreements. If any existihgreholder or shareholders sell a
substantial amount of ordinary shares after thératipn of the lock-up period, the prevailing markece for our ADSs could be adversely
affected.

In addition, certain of our shareholders or theinsferees and assignees will have the right teecas to register the sale of their shares
under the Securities Act upon the occurrence déizecircumstances. Registration of these sharderihe Securities Act would result in these
shares becoming freely tradable without restrictioder the Securities Act immediately upon thedtifeness of the registration. Sales of tt
registered shares in the public market could cthuserice of our ADSs to decline.

As our founder and co-founders collectively holccantrolling interest in us, they have significanbfluence over our management and
their interests may not be aligned with our inteter the interests of our other shareholders.

As of March 31, 201 4, our founder, Mr. Qi Ji,avls also our executive chairman and chief exeeutificer, and our co-founders,
Ms. Tong Tong Zhao and Mr. John Jiong Wu, in tberieficially own approximately 47.2% of our outstsry ordinary shares on an as-
converted basis. See “ltem 7. Major Shareholddiise’ interests of these shareholders may conflitt thie interests of our other shareholders.
Our founder and co-founders have significant infleceeover us, including on matters relating to mesgeonsolidations and the sale of all or
substantially all of our assets, election of dioestand other significant corporate actions. Thiscentration of ownership may discourage,
delay or prevent a change in control of us, whighld deprive our shareholders of an opportunitset®ive a premium for their shares as part
of a sale of us or of our assets and might reduegtice of our ADSs. These actions may be taken @they are opposed by our other
shareholders, including holders of our ADSs.

ADS holders may not have the same voting rightdtes holders of our ordinary shares and may not raaevoting materials in time to be
able to exercise their right to vote.

Except as described in the deposit agreement, tsotde@ur ADSs may not be able to exercise votigbts attaching to the shares
evidenced by our ADSs on an individual basis. Hdae our ADSs appoint the depositary or its noraiase their representative to exercise the
voting rights attaching to the shares represenyatidd ADSs. ADS holders may not receive voting malgin time to instruct the depositary to
vote, and it is possible that they may not haveoghortunity to exercise a right to vote.
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ADS holders may not be able to participate in rightfferings and may experience dilution of his, her its holdings as a result.

We may from time to time distribute rights to ohaseholders, including rights to acquire our samgi Under the deposit agreement for
the ADSs, the depositary will not offer those rigtd ADS holders unless both the rights and thetiyithg securities to be distributed to ADS
holders are either registered under the SecuAiigsor exempt from registration under the Secesithct with respect to all holders of ADSs.
We are under no obligation to file a registratitatesment with respect to any such rights or undeglgecurities or to endeavor to cause such
registration statement to be declared effectivaddition, we may not be able to take advantagmgfexemptions from registration under the
Securities Act. Accordingly, holders of our ADSsynze unable to participate in our rights offeriraggl may experience dilution in their
holdings as a result.

ADS holders may be subject to limitations on traesbf their ADSs.

Our ADSs are transferable on the books of the degpgsHowever, the depositary may close its transboks at any time or from time to
time when it deems expedient in connection withgagormance of its duties. In addition, the defaogimay refuse to deliver, transfer or
register transfers of ADSs generally when our bawkihie books of the depositary are closed, ongatiane if we or the depositary deem it
advisable to do so because of any requirementobteof any government or governmental body, oraurahy provision of the deposit
agreement, or for any other reason.

As a foreign private issuer, we are permitted todave will, rely on exemptions from certain NASDA®rporate governance standards
applicable to U.S. issuers, including the requirenteegarding the implementation of a nominations mwwnittee. This may afford less
protection to holders of our ordinary shares and &B.

The NASDAQ Marketplace Rules in general requirkeiscompanies to have, among other things, a ndimirsacommittee consisting
solely of independent directors. As a foreign piéviasuer, we are permitted to, and we will, follbeme country corporate governance
practices instead of certain requirements of th6sRAQ Marketplace Rules, including, among others,ithplementation of a nominations
committee. The corporate governance practice irhoare country, the Cayman Islands, does not rethérénplementation of a nominations
committee. We currently intend to rely upon thevaht home country exemption in lieu of the nomora committee. As a result, the level of
independent oversight over management of our coynpeay afford less protection to holders of our padly shares and ADSs.

Our articles of association contain anti-takeoverqvisions that could have a material adverse effeatthe rights of holders of our
ordinary shares and ADSs.

Our amended and restated articles of associatiotaicoprovisions limiting the ability of others &@quire control of our company or cause
us to enter into change-of-control transactiongsehprovisions could have the effect of deprivingshareholders of opportunities to sell their
shares at a premium over prevailing market prigediscouraging third parties from seeking to obtantrol of our company in a tender offer
or similar transaction.

For example, our board of directors has the authasithout further action by our shareholdersisgue preferred shares in one or more
series and to fix their designations, powers, pegfees, privileges, and relative participatingjaqml or special rights and the qualifications,
limitations or restrictions, including dividend hitg, conversion rights, voting rights, terms ofeexbtion and liquidation preferences, any or all
of which may be greater than the rights associadtour ordinary shares, in the form of ADSs dunariwvise. Preferred shares could be issued
quickly with terms calculated to delay or prevemhange in control of our company or make remo¥ahanagement more difficult. If our
board of directors decides to issue preferred shéne price of our ADSs may decline and the voéing other rights of the holders of our
ordinary shares and ADSs may be materially andradiyeaffected.
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You may face difficulties in protecting your intest¢s, and your ability to protect your rights throbghe U.S. federal courts may be limite
because we are incorporated under Cayman Islands,laonduct substantially all of our operations inhtha and the majority of our
officers reside outside the United States.

We are incorporated in the Cayman Islands, andwuirsiibstantially all of our operations in Chineotigh our subsidiaries in China. Most
of our officers reside outside the United States some or all of the assets of those persons eateld outside of the United States. As a resul
it may be difficult or impossible for you to briragn action against us or against these individuaié Cayman Islands or in China in the event
that you believe that your rights have been infshgnder the securities laws or otherwise. Evgoufare successful in bringing an action of
this kind outside the Cayman Islands or Chinajdles of the Cayman Islands and of China may repderunable to effect service of process
upon, or to enforce a judgment against our assdtseeassets of our directors and officers. Themoi statutory recognition in the Cayman
Islands of judgments obtained in the United StaltBpugh the courts of the Cayman Islands willegally recognize and enforce a non-penal
judgment of a foreign court of competent jurisdiatiwithout retrial on the merits. A judgment of@ud of another jurisdiction may t
reciprocally recognized or enforced if the jurigatio has a treaty with China or if judgments of BfRC courts have been recognized before in
that jurisdiction, subject to the satisfaction tier requirements. However, China does not haeti&eproviding for the reciprocal
enforcement of judgments of courts with Japan|thiéed Kingdom, the United States and most othestéfa countries.

Our corporate affairs are governed by our memonanad articles of association and by the Compdraes(201 3 Revision) and the
common law of the Cayman Islands. The rights ofedfialders to take legal action against our direcémd us, actions by minority shareholc
and the fiduciary responsibilities of our directtwsus under Cayman Islands law are to a largeneg@verned by the common law of the
Cayman Islands. The common law of the Cayman Islanderived in part from comparatively limited icidl precedent in the Cayman Islands
as well as from English common law, which has pesaie, but not binding, authority on a court in @&yman Islands. The rights of our
shareholders and the fiduciary responsibilitieswfdirectors under Cayman Islands law are notesslg established as they would be under
statutes or judicial precedents in the United Stdteparticular, the Cayman Islands has a lessldped body of securities laws as compared t
the United States, and provides significantly f@sdection to investors. In addition, Cayman Iskodmpanies may not have standing to
initiate a shareholder derivative action beforeféteral courts of the United States.

As a result of all of the above, our public shatdas may have more difficulty in protecting thigiterests through actions against our
management, directors or major shareholders thahdvwatareholders of a corporation incorporatedjuriadiction in the United States.

ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY
4.A. History and Development of the Company

Powerhill was incorporated in accordance with #vwed of the British Virgin Islands in December 2088¢d commenced operation with
mid-scale limited service hotels and commerciapprty development and management in 2005. Limiggdicee hotels do not contain
restaurants and all amenities are provided bytdféat the front desk or housekeeping. Powerloiiducted its operations through three wholly
owned subsidiaries in the PRC, namely Shanghai grflotel Management Group, Ltd., or Shanghai HagTHanTing Xingkong
(Shanghai) Hotel Management Co., Ltd., or HanTirmggKong, and Lishan Property (Suzhou) Co., LtdSorhou Property. In August 2006,
Suzhou Property transferred its equity interesthiiee leased hotels to Shanghai HanTing in exah&rgShanghai HanTing's equity interest
in Shanghai Shuyu Co., Ltd., which was primarilgaged in the business of sub-leasing and managaigstate properties in technology
parks.

China Lodging Group, Limited, or China Lodging, wasorporated in the Cayman Islands in January 200February 2007, Powerhill
transferred all of its ownership interests in HaigrKingkong and Shanghai HanTing to China Lodgmexchange for preferred shares of
China Lodging. After such exchange, each of HanMirggkong and Shanghai HanTing became a wholly aswbsidiary of China Lodging.
In addition, in February 2007, Powerhill and itbsidiary, Suzhou Property, were spun off in theffaf a dividend distribution to the
shareholders.

In 2007, China Lodging began our current businésgperating and managing a multi-brand hotel groimp2007, we first launched our
economy hotel productanTing Express Hotelwhich was subsequently rebrandeddas Ting Hotel, target ing knowledge workers and
value- and quality- conscious travelers. In theegear, we introduced our mid-scale limited sertiotel productHanTing Hotel, which was
subsequently rebranded firsttdanTing Seasons Hotahd then adl Hotel. In 2008, we launched our budget hotel proddenTing Hi Inn ,
which was subsequently rebrandedHagnn . In April 2007, China Lodging acquired Yiju (Shdrag) Hotel Management Co., Ltd. from Crys
Water Investment Holdings Limited, a British Virgslands company wholly owned by Mr. John Jiong Wuap-founder of our company. In
January 2008, China Lodging incorporated HanTingrjin) Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. in Chinadan October 2008, established China
Lodging Holdings (HK) Limited, or China Lodging Hiy Hong Kong, under which HanTing Technology (SmzhCo., Ltd. was subsequently
established in China in December 2008 .
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In March 2010, we completed our initial public affey. We issued and sold 10,350,000 ADSs, reprasgdil, 400,000 of our ordinary
shares at a public offering price of US$12.25 pBISAOur ADSs have been listed on the NASDAQ Gl@glect Market since March 26,
2010. Our ordinary shares are not listed or puptidlded on any trading markets.

In May 2012, we acquired a 51% equity interesttamBay HK, a mid-scale hotel chain and increasadotel brands to four brands. In
December 2013, we acquired the remaining 49% edntityest of Starway HK from C-Travel. In additiame launched Manxin Hotels &
Resorts in OctobeP013 and Joya Hotel, a new hotel brand targetiagifiscale market, in December 2013. In Novembe? 20& changed tt
Chinese trade name of our Company from “HanTingeHGroup” to “HuaZhu Hotel Group”.

Our principal executive offices are located at R®66 Honggiao Road, Changning District, Shangh@B26, People’s Republic of China.
Our telephone number at this address is +86 (2a%@D11. Our registered office in the Cayman Istaisdocated at the offices of Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayriafi-1111, Cayman Islands. Our agent for service ofgeedn the United States is !
Corporation System, located at 111 Eighth Aven@éh Eloor, New York, New York 10011.

Investors should contact us for any inquiries tigtothe address and telephone number of our prinekegcutive offices. Our website is
http://www.huazhu.com. The information containedooin website is not a part of this annual report.

4.B. Business Overview

We are a leading and fast-growing multi-brand hgtelp in China with leased , manachis ed and figed models. Under the lease
model, we directly operate hotels typically locatedleased properties. Under the manachise modéemanage manachise d hotels through th
on-site hotel managers we appoint and collectfie®s franchisees . Under the franchise model, vexige training, reservation and support
services to the franchised hotels and collect fiess franchisees but do not appoint on-site hot@hagers. We apply a consistent standard an
platform across all of our hotels. As of DecembEr2013, we had 565 leased hotels, 835 manachistets and 25 franchised hotels in
operation and 63 leased hotels and 350 manacthistets under development.

As of the date of this annual report, we offertsitel brand s that are designed to target distiegiment s of customers:

« Joya Hotel, our upscale brand concept targeting affluenteieré and corporate events. Joya hotels are tyyploahted in central
business districts ;

*  Manxin Hotels & Resortgur mid-to-upscale brand concept targeting leistareelers, families and small-scale corporate escent
Manxin Hotels & Resorts targets popular vacatiostidations;

» Jl Hotel, our standardized mid-scale limited service hptetluct which targets mature and experienced teavelho seek a quality
experience in hotel stays , previously marketest finder the name of HanTing Hotel and then HanBegsons Hotel ;

»  Starway Hotel our midscale limited service hotel product with varietydiesign and consistency in quality which targetddia clas:
travelers who seek a spacious room, reasonable @nid guaranteed quality;

e HanTing Hotel, our economy product which targets knowledge warkaed value- and quality-conscious travelers,iaity
marketed under the name of HanTing Express Hated;

* Hilnn, our budget hotel product which targets pracical price-conscious travelers, originally marketader the name of HanTing
Hi Inn.
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As a result of our customer-oriented approach, @lieete that we have developed strong brand redograind a loyal customer base. In
2013, more than 80 % of our room nights were swliddividual and corporate members of HuaZhu Cbuly,loyalty program.

Our operations commenced with mid-scale limitediserhotels and commercial property developmentraadagement in 2005. We
began our current business of operating and magagmulti-brand hotel group in 2007. Our total rewes grew from RMB2,385.6 million in
20 11 to RMB4,420.8 million in 201 3 . We had metdme attributable to our company of RMB114.8 miilliRMB 174.9 million and
RMB279.9 million in 20 11, 201 2 and 2013, respedy. We had net cash provided by operating aitisiof RMB458.7 million, RMB715.7
million and RMB1,070.2 million in 20 11, 201 2 aR@13, respectively.

We have received many awards for our business ipeafuce, including the “China’s Outstanding Mid-ScHlotel brand of 2013” award
for our JI Hotel fromHotel Modernizatioomagazine in 2013, the “Chinese Hotel Industry’su@ftial Brand"award from China Brand Leade
Alliance, the “Hotel Chain Brand with the Most Valof Investment and Development in 2013” and thet&dHChain Brand with the Highest
Consumer Satisfaction in 2013" awards frtima Global Timesthe “Top One Enterprise in the Sixth High Growhterprises Selection”
organized byhe EntrepreneuMagazine in 2013, the “Brand with the Most Spac&tow” award from Shanghai Morning Post in 2012, th
“Best Budget Hotel” award from China Tourism Goligtlby Traveler magazine in 2011, the “Best Econdioyel Brand of China” award at
the sixth China Hotel Starlight Awards in 2011, tMost Competitive Franchisor Brand in China in 208ward” from the Twelfth China
Commercial Real Estate Investment Promotion Confarén 2011.

Our Hotel Network
As of December 31, 2013, we operated 1,425 hateBhina. We have adopted a disciplined return-drideevelopment model aimed at
achieving high growth and profitability. As of Deunber 31, 2013, our hotel network covers 249 citi31 provinces and municipalities across

China. As of December 31, 2013, we had an additiéh® leased and manachised hotels under develdpmen

The following table sets forth a summary of albof hotels as of December 31, 2013.

Leased Hotels Manachis ed
Manachis ed Franchis ed Under Hotels Under
Leased Hotels Hotels Hotels Development(1) Development(1)
Shanghai, Beijing, Guangzhou, Shenzh:
and Hangzhol 16¢ 22t 7 18 86
Other cities 39¢ 61C 18 45 264
Tl 56E 83t 25 63 35C

(1) Include hotels for which we have entered into bigdeases or franchise agreements but that hawehobmmenced operations. The
inactive projects are excluded from this list adiog to management judgment.

The following table sets forth the status of outet®under development as of December 31, 2013.

Pre-conversion Conversion
Period(1) Period(2) Total
Leased hotels 28 35 63
Manachis ed hotels 84 26€ 35(
Total 112 301 418

(1) Includes hotels for which we have entered into ligdeases or franchise agreements but of whiclptbperty has not been delivered by
the respective lessors or property owners, asabe may be. The inactive projects are excluded fhigrist according to management
judgment.

(2) Includes hotels for which we have commenced coimweiactivities but that have not yet commenced aij@ns. The inactive projects are
excluded from this list according to managementgjjodnt.
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Leased hotels

As of December 31, 201 3, we had 5 65 leasedyaetounting for approximately 39.6% of our hoitelsperation . We manage and
operate each aspect of these hotels and bearthl @ccompanying expenses. We are responsibtednriting, training and supervising the
hotel managers and employees, paying for leasesaats associated with construction and renovatidhese hotels, and purchasing all
supplies and other required equipment.

Our leased hotels are located on leased propeftiesterms of our leases typically range from teBQyears. We generally enjoy an init
two- to six-month rent-free period. Rent is gerlgrphid on a quarterly or biannual basis and isdifor the first three to five year s of the leas
term. We are thereafter typically subject to a 8%% increase every three to five years. Our leasaally allow for extensions by mutual
agreement. In addition, our lessors are typicatyired to notify us in advance if they intend étl er dispose of their properties, in which cas
we have a right of first refusal to purchase thapprties on equivalent terms and conditions. Thfemur leases expired in 2013 and two were
renewed prior to their expiration and one hoteseth As of December 31, 201 3, four of our leagm® expected to expire in 201 4 . One of
these four leases has been renewed and the otberdie subject to negotiation as of April 17140

The following table sets forth the number of owrdes for hotels in operation and under develophemto expire in the periods indicated
as of December 31, 201 3.

Number of

Leases
2014 4
2015 14
2016 11
2017 24
2018 21
2019-2021 122
2022 -2024 188
2025 and onwar 244
Total 628

Manachised hotels

As of December 31, 2013, we had 835 manachisedshatzounting for approximately 58.6% of our hetel operation. The franchisees
of our manachised hotels either lease or own tiwgl properties and are required to invest inrim®vation of their properties according to
product standards. We manage our manachised laoélsnpose the same standards on all manachisels hoensure product quality and
consistency across our hotel network. We appoidtteain hotel managers who are responsible fongpinotel staff and managing daily
operation. We also provide our franchisees withises such as central reservation, sales and niggk®ipport, quality assurance inspections
and other operational support and information. fbanichisees are responsible for the costs of dpiredcand operating the hotels, including
renovating the hotels to our standards, and ali@bperating expenses. We believe the manachidelrhas enabled us to quickly and
effectively expand our geographical coverage anketahare in a less capital-intensive manner gjindaveraging the local knowledge and
relationships of our franchisees.

We collect fees from the franchisees of our marsszhhotels and do not bear any loss or share afiy ipcurred or realized by our
franchisees. They are also responsible for allscaistl expenses related to hotel construction datbishing. Our franchise and management
agreements for our manachised hotels typicallyfoumn initial term of eight to ten years. Ouarichisees are generally required to pay us a
one-time franchise fee typically ranging betweenB0,000 and RMB300,000. In general, we charge iatintpfranchise fee of
approximately 5% of the gross revenues generatethbly manachised hotel. We also collect from freseels a reservation fee for using our
central reservation system and a membership ratji@trfee to service customers who join our HuaZhub loyalty program at the manachised
hotels. Furthermore, we employ, appoint and traitelhmanagers for our manachised hotels and cliaegeanchisees a monthly fee for
services we provide.

28




Table of Contents
Franchised hotels

As of December 31, 2013, we had 25 franchised siaéelcounting for approximately 1.8% of our hoteleperation. We collect fees from
the franchisees of our franchised hotels and ddeat any loss or share any profit incurred orizedlby our franchisees. Services we provide
to our franchised hotels generally include trainicentral reservation, sales and marketing supquodtjty assurance inspections and other
operational support and information. We do not apipmotel managers for our franchised hotels. Athefdate of this annual report, the
franchise model is only applicable to our Starwapiets.

Our hotel chain has grown rapidly since we begagrating to our current business of operating andagang a multi-brand hotel group in
2007. The following table sets forth the numbehaotiels we operated as of the dates indicated.

As of December 31

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
Leased hotel 5 24 62 14E 17z 242 344 46E 56&
Manachisechotels — 2 5 22 63 19t 29t 51¢ 83t
Franchisechotels — — — — — — — 54 25
Total 5 26 67 167 23€ 43€ 63¢ 1,03¢ 1,42t

Our Products

We began our current business of operating and giagma multi-brand hotel group in 2007. As of theedof this annual report, we offer
six hotel brand s that are designed to targetraissegments of customers:

» Joya Hotel, our upscale brand concept targeting affluenteieré and corporate events. Joya hotels are tyyploahted in central
business districts ;

«  Manxin Hotels & Resortgur mid-to-upscale brand concept targeting leistareclers, families and small-scale corporate eent
Manxin Hotels & Resorts targets popular vacatiostidations;

» Jl Hotel, our standardized mid-scale limited service hptetluct which targets mature and experienced teavelho seek a quality
experience in hotel stays , previously marketest finder the name of HanTing Hotel and then HanBegsons Hotel ;

»  Starway Hotel our midscale limited service hotel product with varietydiesign and consistency in quality which targetddia clas:
travelers who seek a spacious room, reasonable @nid guaranteed quality;

e HanTing Hotel, our economy product which targets knowledge warked value- and quality-conscious travelers,iaity
marketed under the name of HanTing Express Hatedl;

* Hilnn, our budget hotel product which targets practcal price-conscious travelers, originally marketader the name of HanTing
HiInn .

We believe that our multi-brand strategy providesvith a competitive advantage by (i) enablingaisgen a larger number of hotels in
attractive markets, (ii) capturing a greater studrine spending of customers whose lodging neegsamange from occasion to occasion or
evolve over time, and (iii) providing us a greatenefit of economy of scale through shared platform

Joya Hotel

In December 2013, we launch&aolya Hotel. These hotels are typically located in areas doseajor business and commercial districts ir
first and second tier cities, and typically hawaek price between RMB500 and RMB1,000 per roonhtnighe Joya Hotel targets affluent
travelers and corporate events. Joya Hotel is dedifor guests to enjoy an all-inclusive servioeluding complimentary breakfast, afternoon
tea, health y snack, mini bar free drinks, gympenétic massage cabins and other premium servitesrobms are equipped with high-speed
fiber access, full wireless coverage and Bluetapimkers. As of December 31, 2013, we hadloga Hotelin operation and an additional one
Joya Hotelunder development.
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Manxin Hotels & Resorts

In October 2013, we launch&danxin Hotels & ResortsThese hotels are typically located in holidayoreareas, and typically have a ri
price between RMB400 and RMB1,500 per room nighe Manxin Hotels & Resortis our mid-to-upscale brand concept targeting teisu
travelers, families and small-scale corporate exéviinxin Hotels & Resorts targets popular vacatiestinationsManxin Hotels & Resorts
offers high quality rooms, rich breakfast buffdteenoon tea and Chinese style housekeeping ssrvsof December 31, 2013, we had one
Manxin Hotels & Resortin operation.

JI Hotel

JI Hotel, which w as previously marketed first under thmaafHanTing Hoteland therHanTing Seasons Hotelss typically located in
city centers or central business districts. Typycaticed between RMB250 and RMB500 per room nitfitse hotels target travelers who seek
a quality experience in hotel stay$ Hotelsoffer rooms with a quality comparable to threefdor-star hotels, but are priced at competitive
rates. In addition, these hotels offer complimgntaireless Internet access throughout the premsgessious lobbies with laser printers,
computers, free drinks, and a cafe serving bretifad simple meals. As of December 31, 201 3 , age@8JI Hotelsin operation and an
additional 52]1 Hotelsunder development.

Starway Hotel

Typically priced between RMB 250 and RMB 600 pesrmonight,Starway Hotelwvary in their designs and target middle class tege
who seek a spacious room, reasonable price andmfead qualityStarway Hotel®ffer rooms with a quality comparable to threefdor-star
hotels, but are priced at competitive rates. Iritaag these hotels typically offer complimentantdrnet access throughout the premises,
spacious lobbies and meeting areas with complimngiea and coffee. As of December 31, 2013, wedtdStarway Hotelsn operation and a
additional 18 leased and manachiS¢arway Hotelsinder development .

HanTing Hotel

Launched in 2007 and originally marketed undemtme ofHanTing Express Hotel , HanTing Hotslour economy hotel product with
the value proposition of “Quality, Convenience &falue.” These hotels are typically located in arglase to major business and commercial
districts, and are priced between RMB1 5 0 and RNIEBper room night. ThdanTing Hoteltargets knowledge workers and value- and
quality-conscious travelers. These hotels haveiésblith complimentary wireless Internet accesslasdr printers, and a cafe serving
breakfast and simple meals. Rooms are equippedandtimfortable mattress, plush buckwheat and cqiftows, shower facilities, an outlet
for free broadband Internet access, a working deskchair, and universal and uninterruptable p@eekets. As of December 31, 201 3 , we
had 1,226HanTing Hotelsn operation and an additional 3Bl&nTing Hotelaunder development.

Hi Inn

Launched in late 2008 and originally marketed urtdemame oHanTing Hi Inn , Hi Innsare typically priced between RMB 100 and
RMB 20 0 per room night and target rational andgconscious travelers. These hotels offer compachsowith comfortable beds and shou
facilities and complimentary wireless Internet ascthroughout the premises. These hotels provisie bad clean accommodations. As of
December 31, 2013, we had B8Innsin operation and an additional 8% Innsunder development.

Hotel Development

We mainly use the manachise and franchise modeésgand our network in a less capital-intensivemea. We also lease the properties
of the hotels we operate. We typically do not argproperties ourselves, as owning propertiesneigy much more capital intensive. We
have adopted a systematic process with respeleétplénning and execution of new development ptej&aur development department
analyzes economic data by city, field visit repantsl market intelligence information to identifygat locations in each city and develop a
three-year development plan for new hotels on aleedasis. The plan is subsequently reviewed apdoaed by our investment committee.
Once a property is identified in the targeted lmggtstaff in our development department analyheshusiness terms and formulates a propos
for the project. In the case of a lease opportytiity investment committee evaluates each propmsgelct based on several factors, including
the length of the investment payback period, the oareturn on the investment, the amount of ashdlow projected during the operating
period and the impact on our existing hotels invieity. When evaluating potential manach isimgldranchising opportunities, the
investment committee considers the attractivenedsedocation as well as additional factors sustyaality of the prospective franchisee and
product consistency with our standards. Our investrcommittee weighs each investment proposal uidyeb ensure that we can effectively
expand our coverage while concurrently improving profitability.
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The following is a description of our hotel develognt process.
Manachised and franchised hotels

We open manachised and franchised hotels to expangeographical coverage or to deepen penetrafieristing markets. Manachised
and franchised hotels provide us valuable operatifaymation in assessing the attractiveness of markets, and supplement our coverage in
areas where the potential franchisezan have access to attractive locations by Iguggaheir own assets and local network. As iscihse witl
leased hotels, we generally look to establish mfaisad and franchised hotels near popular commeanidloffice districts that tend to generate
stronger demand for hotel accommodations. Manadtaed franchised hotels must also meet certainfgbcriteria in connection with the
infrastructure of the building, such as adequatemelectricity and sewage systems.

We typically source potential franchisees througitdsof-mouth referrals, applications submitted via our sieband industry conferenci
Some of our franchisees operate several of our osmad and franchised hotels. In general, we Baekhisees who share our values and
management philosophies.

We typically supervise the fran chisees in desigrind renovating their properties pursuant to #messtandards required for our leased
hotels, and provide assistance as required. Wepatside technical expertise and require the fraezhs to follow a pre-selected list of
qualified suppliers. In addition, we appoint oliiriotel managers and help train other hotel $taifbur manachised hotels to ensure that high
quality and consistent service is provided througtadl our hotels.

Leased hotels

We seek properties that are in central or highbeasible locations in economically more develoggescin order to maximize the room
rates that we can charge. In addition, we typicsdigk properties that will accommodate hotels aio8D80 rooms.

After identifying a proposed site, we conduct thagb due diligence and typically negotiate leasegxooently with the lessors. All leases
and development plans are subject to the final@a@brof our investment committee. Once a leaseesgent has been executed, we then er
independent design firms and construction companibggin work on leasehold improvement. Our cartstbn management team works
closely with these firms on planning and architemitdesign. Our contracts with construction companypically contain warranties for quality
and requirements for timely completion of constiarct Contractors or suppliers are typically reqdite compensate us in the event of dela
poor work quality. A majority of the constructioraterials and supplies used in the constructioruohew hotels are purchased by us throt
centralized procurement system.

Hotel Management

Our management team has accumulated significamriexme with respect to the operation of hotelsldiwg on this experience, our
management team has developed a robust operatilatiirm for our nationwide operations, implemengéedgorous budgeting process, and
utilized our information systems to monitor ourdigierformance. We believe the system is critisahaximizing our revenues and
profitability. The following are some of the keyraponents of our hotel management system:
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Budgeting. Our budget and analysis team prepares a detailedal cost and revenue budget for each of ouedelstels, and an
annual revenue budget for each of our manachisédranchised hotels. The hotel budget is prephesgd on, among other things, the
historical operating performance of each hotel pbdormance of comparable hotels and local maretitions. We may adjust the
budget upon the occurrence of unexpected everttsitirdficantly affect a specific hotel’'s operatipgrformance. In addition, our
compensation scheme for managers in each hotekistlgt linked to its performance against the anrtualget.

Pricing . Our room rates are determined using a centrafigettm and are based on the historical opera#rignmance of each of o
leased and manachis ed hotels, our competitoosh rates and local market conditions. We adjostr rates regularly based on seasor
and market demand. We also adjust room rates ftainesvents, such as the China Import and Expairtield twice a year in Guangzhou
and the World Expo in Shanghai in 2010. We beli@wecentralized pricing system enhances our ahiitgdjust room rates in a timely
fashion with a goal of optimizing average dailyesaind occupancy levels across our network. Rotes far our franchised hotels are
determined by the franchisees based on local madsstition.

Monitoring . Through the use of our web-based property managesystem, we are able to monitor each hotel'sjpaecy status,
average daily rates, RevPAR and other operating alat real-time basis. Real-time hotel operatifigrimation allows us to adjust our
sales efforts and other resources to rapidly cligstan changes in the market and to maximize dpeyafficiency.

Centralized cash managemer®ur leased hotels deposit cash into our cent@unt several times a week. We also generally
centralize all payments for expenditures. Our mhisaed and franchised hotels manage their cashiatepa

Centralized procurement syster®ur centralized procurement system has enabléal efficiently manage our operating costs,
especially with respect to supplies used in lamggntjties. Given the scale of our hotel network andcentralized procurement system,
have the purchasing power to secure favorable téonssuppliers for all of our hotels.

Quality assurance We have developed an operating manual to whiclsw@df closely adhere to ensure the consistendyqaiality of
our customer experience. We conduct periodic iategoality checks of our hotels to ensure thataperating policies and procedures are
followed. We also engage “mystery guests” from timéime to ensure that we are providing consisterality services. Furthermore, we
actively solicit customer feedbacks by conductintpound e-mail surveys and monitor customer messiaften hotel guestbooks as well
as comments posted on our website and third-paghsites.

Training . We view the quality and skill sets of our empleyeas essential to our business and thus haveengueyee training one
our top priorities. Our HuaZhu University, previbuknown as HanTing College, together with our cegil management teams, offers
structured training programs for our hotel managettser hotel-based staff and corporate staff. latel managers are required to attend ¢
three-week intensive training program, coveringdsguch as our corporate culture, team manageisaes and marketing, customer
service, hotel operation standards and financidlrarman resource management. Approximatel9688f our hotel managers have recei
training completion certificates. Our HuaZhu Unsigyr also rolled out a new-hire training packag®©ictober 2009 to standardize the
training for hotel-based staff across our hoteligroln addition, we provide our corporate staffiwiarious training programs, such as
managerial skills, office software skills and cagie cultureAfter our acquisition of a 51% equity interest itaSvay HK in May 2012, w
extended the coverage of our training programdl tetarway employees. In 201 3, our hotel-basaif ahd corporate staff on average
have received approximately 6 0 and 40 hours afitrg, respectively.

Hotel Information Platform and Operational Systems

We have successfully developed and implementedieanaed operating platform capable of supportingnationwide operations. This
operating platform enables us to increase theiefiay of our operations and make timely decisidie following is a description of our key
information and management systems.

Web property management system (Web-PNIs)y Web-PMS is a web-based, centralized apptinatiat integrates all the critical
operational information in our hotel network. Thisstem enables us to manage our room inventorgrvasons and pricing for all of our hot:
on a real-time basis. The system is designed tblens to enhance our profitability and competearadfectively by integrating with our
central reservation system and customer relatipnslainagement system. We believe our Web-PMS enabtesanagement to more
effectively assess the performance of our hotela tmely basis and to efficiently allocate resasrand effectively identify specific market
sales targets.
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Central reservation systenWe have a real-time central reservation systeailae 24 hours a day, seven days a week. Ouratent
reservation system allows reservations throughiplelchannels including our website, call centeirdeparty travel agents and online
reservation partners. The real-time inventory managnt capability of the system improves the efficieof reservations, enhances customer
satisfaction and maximizes our profitability.

Customer relationship management (CRM) syst@ur integrated CRM system maintains informatiébow HuaZhu Club members,
including reservation and consumption history aatlgun, points accumulated and redeemed, and prepayand balance. By closely tracking
and monitoring member information and behaviorangeable to better serve the members of our loyatigram and offer targeted promotions
to enhance customer loyalty. The CRM system alsavalus to monitor the performance of our corpodditnt sales representatives.

Internet service systenOur Internet service system consists of our wel{giww.huazhu.com), our mobile website (m.huaztm)cand
our mobile apps for smart phones running iOS, Aitbloo other systems. The system provides our HuaZlhb members and the general
public with convenient, friendly and updated seegicincluding information and search services fortmtels, such as location, amenities and
pricing, reservation services, online payment amthe room selection functions, membership regigtnraand management and member
community services. Our members can reload thdividual account balance through the system as @eif mobile apps also provide
location-based services, including search senfimesur nearby hotels.

Multi-functional Huazhu Club Membership Car@the HuaZhu Club membership card is a multi-fuorai card that is available to our
Huazhu Club members. The Huazhu Club membershgsaapresent the membership identity and offer@tyaof functions for our Huazhu
Club members to utilize hotel facilities. For exdemur Huazhu Club members can use it as a pbgaad for in-hotel purchases and are
entitled to free beverage and Internet access whigny it in the business areas. It also enablesm&leand room access, easy check-in and
express check-out. We also roll out HuaZhu Club bvenship cards in innovative formats, such as thbranded card with Voice of China, a
popular televised singing competition in Chinattsat our Huazhu Club members can enjoy benefiered by third parties, and cards in the
form of cell phone covers which combine membershifls and cell phone covers in one.

Sales and Marketing

Our marketing strategy is designed to enhance r@ndarecognition and customer loyalty. Building atiiflerentiating the brand image of
each of our hotel products is critical to incregsimir brand recognition. We focus on targetingdiséinct guest segments that each of our hote
products serves and adopting effective marketingsmess based on thorough analysis and applicatidata and analytics. In 2013, 94 % of
our room nights were sold through our own salefgias and the remaining 6% of our room nights tigto intermediaries.

We use our Web-PMS system to conduct pricing mamagéfor all of our hotels except for our franchkismtels. We review our hotel
pricing regularly and adjust room rates as needagéd on local market conditions and the specifiation of each hotel, focusing mainly on
three factors: (i) optimum occupancy rate of theehand our other hotels nearby , (ii) seasonalatehfor the hotel and (iii) event-driven
demand for the hotel .

A key component of our marketing efforts is the Bina Club, our loyalty program, which covers alloefr brands. We believe théuazZhu
Club loyalty program allow us to build customeradty and conduct lower-cost, targeted marketinggagns. A majority of individual
members of the HuaZhu Club pay to enroll in thegpan. As of December 31, 2013, our HuaZhu Clubrhace than 15 million members. In
2013, more than 8% of our room nights were sold to our Huazhu Clulnmbers. Members of the Huazhu Club are providet digcounts o
room rates, free breakfasts (for gold and platimaembers), more convenient check-out procedurested benefits. Huazhu Club members
can also accumulate points through stays in owlior by purchasing products and services providexdir hotels. These points can be
redeemed for gifts or free nights in our hotels. &l&® have joint promotional programs with leadingncial institutions and airlines to recruit
new members of our loyalty program. The HuaZzhu Ghatudes three levels of membership: basic, gold @atinum. The one-time
membership fees we charge for the basic and gofdbeeships are currently RMB39 and RMB 198 , redpelst Gold memberships can be
upgraded to platinum memberships upon the satisfaof certain conditions. HuaZhu Club was previglsiown as HanTing Club. We
renamed HanTing Club as HuaZhu Club in 2013.
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After our acquisition of a 51% equity interest itaiSvay HK in May 2012, we terminated Starway Hotkdgalty program, the Star
Rewards program, and converted all Star Rewardsheeninto HuaZhu Club members.

W e also introduced E-member under our HuaZhu Glyalty program in 2010 to enhance our brand anesg@and to expand coverage o
our customer loyalty scheme. Our E-members castergdbn our website free of charge and are prowd#ddiscounts on room rates for their
on-line booking. They can also accumulate pointsctvcan be redeemed for gifts or free nights intetels.

Our marketing activities also include Internet atigeng, press and sponsored activities held jpinikh our corporate partners and
advertisements on travel and business magazines.

Competition

The lodging industry in China is highly fragmentédsignificant majority of the room supply has cofrem stand-alone hotels, guest
houses and other lodging facilities . In recentrgdetel group s emerged and began to consolidatmarket by converting standalone hotels
into members of their hotel group s. As a multifatéotel group we believe that we compete primdréged on location, room rates, brand
recognition, quality of accommodations, geogralaieerage, service quality, range of services, gam&nities and convenience of the central
reservation system. We primarily compete with otiatel groups as well as various stand-alone lagifanilities in each of the markets in
which we operate. Our HanTing Hotels mainly compeitt Home Inns, Jinjiang Inn, 7 Days Inn, variagagional hotel group s and stand-
alone hotels, and certain international brands sscBuper 8. We also compete with two- and tktaehotels, as we offer rooms with amen
comparable to many of those hotels. Our JI HotetStarway Hotels face competition from existingethstar and certain four-star hotels,
boutique hotels whose price could be comparableadieds hotel chains such as Vienna Hotels and ldglidn Express. Our Hi Inns compete
mainly with stand-alone guest houses, low-pricelsaind budget hotel chains such as Pod Inns,r89and 100 Inns . Our Joya Hotels and
Manxin Hotels & Resorts compete with existing fet@r and five-star hotels.

Intellectual Property

We regard our trademarks, copyrights, domain natrede secrets and other intellectual propertytsigis critical to our business. We rely
on a combination of copyright and trademark laaglér secret protection and confidentiality agreemetith our employees, lecturers, busines:s
partners and others, to protect our intellectuapprty rights.

As of December 31, 201 3, we have registered fetietnarks and logos with the China Trademark Qffiée trademarks and logos used
in our current hotels are under protection of #gistered trademarks and logos. An additional t&deimark applications are under review by
the authority. We have also registered one trademagach of Singapore, Macau, Taiwan and Hong Kamdyjthree trademarks in Korea . We
have filed three trademark applications both inileimal and Malaysia, which are under review by ththarity in Thailand and Malaysia. As of
December 31, 2013, we have applied for and recemedutility model patent for our bathroom hingedd We have also received copyright
registration certificates for ten software prograteseloped by us as of December 31, 2013. In additve have registered 45 national and
international top-level domain names, including wiMvmns.com , www.hantinghotels.com and www.huaztmn. as of December 31, 2013 .

Our intellectual property is subject to risks oéfthand other unauthorized use, and our abilityrtgect our intellectual property from
unauthorized use is limited. In addition, we mayshbject to claims that we have infringed the Iettlal property rights of others. See “ltem
3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Rethte Our Business — Failure to protect our tradésmand other intellectual property
rights could have a negative impact on our brarttaatversely affect our business.”

Insurance

We believe that our hotels are covered by adecqratgerty and liability insurance policies with coage features and insured limits that
we believe are customary for similar companieshin@. We also require our franchisees to carry agegproperty and liability insurance
policies. We carry property insurance that covkesassets that we own at our hotels. Although \geire our franchisees to purchase
customary insurance policies, we cannot guarahggetiey will adhere to such requirements. If weeneeld liable for amounts and claims
exceeding the limits of our insurance coverageutside the scope of our insurance coverage, oundss results of operations and financial
condition may be materially and adversely affecgeke “Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors —isl& Related to Our Business — Our
limited insurance coverage may expose us to losgash may have a material adverse effect on cuuitegion, business, financial condition
and results of operations.”
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Legal and Administrative Proceedings

In the ordinary course of our business, we, owalars, management and employees are subjectitaljodegal or administrative
proceedings. Although we cannot predict with cettathe ultimate resolution of lawsuits, investigas and claims asserted against us, our
directors, management and employees, we do n@Meethat any currently pending legal or administeaproceeding to which we, our
directors, management and employees are a palttjiavié a material adverse effect on our businessputation. Seeltem 3. Key Informatio
— D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Busines®/e; our directors, management and employees maultject to certain risks related to
legal proceedings filed by or against us, and a#vegsults may harm our business.”

Regulation

The hotel industry in China is subject to a numifdaws and regulations, including laws and regatet relating specifically to hotel
operation and management and commercial franchiamgell as those relating to environmental amsuomer protection. The principal
regulation governing foreign ownership of hotelibesses in the PRC is tRereign Investment Industrial Guidance Catalogssied by the
National Development and Reform Commission andR€ Ministry of Commerce, or the MOC, which was trresently updated a
December 24, 2011. Pursuant to this regulatiomethee no restrictions on foreign investment iritiah service hotel businesses in China asid
from business licenses and other permits that dvetgl must obtain. Relative to other industrie€hina, regulations governing the hotel
industry in China are still developing and evolvidg a result, most legislative actions have cdedisf general measures such as industry
standards, rules or circulars issued by differeimistries rather than detailed legislations. Thasteon summarizes the principal PRC regulal
currently relevant to our business and operations.

Regulations on Hotel Operation

In November 1987, the Ministry of Public Securigued théd/leasures for the Control of Security in the Hoteldstry, and in June 2004,
the State Council promulgated tBecision of the State Council on Establishing Adstiative License for the Administrative Examinatand
Approval Items Really Necessary To Be Reta. Under these two regulations, anyone who appliegperate a hotel is subject to examination
and approval by the local public security authosityd must obtain a special industry license. Thadees for the Control of Security in the
Hotel Industry impose certain security control ghtions on the operators. For example, the hotst examine the identification card of any
guest to whom accommodation is provided and malacanrate registration. The hotel must also refoattie local public security authority if
it discovers anyone violating the law or behavingmciously or an offender wanted by the publiausiég authority. Pursuant to thdeasures
for the Control of Security in the Hotel Indus, hotels failing to obtain the special industryelice may be subject to warnings or fines of up t
RMB200. In addition, pursuant to various local fagions, hotels failing to obtain the special inydicense may be subject to warnings,
orders to suspend or cease continuing businesatopes, confiscations of illegal gains or fines.

In April 1987, the State Council promulgated thgblic Area Hygiene Administration Regulatioaccording to which, a hotel must obta
public area hygiene license before opening forimss. Pursuant to this regulation, hotels failmghitain a public area hygiene license may b
subject to the following administrative penaltiepdnding on the seriousness of their respectiveitaes: (i) warnings; (i) fines; or (iii) orders
to suspend or cease continuing business operatioMarch 2011, the Ministry of Health promulgatie Implementation Rules of the Public
Area Hygiene Administration Regulati, according to which, starting from May 1, 2011tdd@perators shall establish hygiene administnatio
system and keep records of hygiene administratioRebruary 2009, the Standing Committee of theédwal People’s Congress, or the
SCNPC, enacted tHeRC Law on Food Safefyaccording to which any hotel that provides foagstrobtain a food service license; any food
hygiene license which had been obtained prior tee Jy 2009 will be replaced by the food servicerige once the food hygiene license exp
To simplify licensing procedures, some cities sastNanjing, Chengdu and Xi'an have combined thdipabea hygiene license and the food
service license (or formerly food hygiene licenséd one unified hygiene license. Pursuant to ldnig hotels failing to obtain a food service
license (or formerly food hygiene license) may bbject to: (i) confiscation of illegal gains, fodkgally produced for sale and tools, facilities
and raw materials used for illegal production;iprfines between RMB2,000 and RMB50,000 if theusabf food illegally produced is less
than RMB10,000 or fines equal to 500% to 1000%hefualue of food if such value is equal to or mibieen RMB10,000.
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The Fire Prevention Lawas amended by the SCNPC in October 2008, andrtheésions on Supervision and Inspection on Fire
Prevention and Contr¢, promulgated by the Ministry of Public Securitydagffective as of May 1, 2009, require that pubbthering places
such as hotels submit a fire prevention design fwapply for the completion acceptance of fireverdion facilities for their construction
projects and to pass a fire prevention safety ictspe by the local public security fire departmenmhich is a prerequisite for opening business.
Pursuant to these regulations, hotels failing taiobapproval of fire prevention design plans dlirfg fire prevention safety inspections may be
subject to: (i) orders to suspend the construatfgorojects, use or operation of business; andi(i@s between RMB30,000 and RMB300,000.

In January 2006, the State Council promulgatedigulations for Administration of Entertainment ¢da. The Ministry of Culture issue
the Circular on Carrying Out the Regulations for Adnstmation of Entertainment Placés March 2006 and th&dministrative Measures for
Entertainment Placein February 2013. Under these regulations, hotasgrovide entertainment facilities, such as dismoballrooms, are
required to obtain a license for entertainmentrtess operations.

On October 18, 2010, the General Administratio@uo#lity Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine &tahdardization Administration
approved and issuétiassification and Accreditation for Star-rated Tt Hotels(GB/T14308-2010), which became effective on Jandary
2011. On November 19, 2010, the National Tourisinidstration promulgated thenplementation Measures of Classification and
Accreditation for Ste-rated Tourist Hotels which became effective on January 1, 2011. Utitese regulations, all hotels with operations of
over one year are eligible to apply for a stamgaissessment. There are five ratings from ondcfare stars for tourist hotels, assessed base
on the level of facilities, management standardbkcrality of service. A star rating, once granisdjalid for three years.

On September 21, 2012, the Ministry of Commercenuigated thd°rovisional Administrative Measures for Single-pesp Commercial
Prepaid Cards, according to which, if an enterprise engagectnil, accommodation and catering, or residenéialises issues any single-
purpose commercial prepaid card to its customesaill undergo a record-filing procedure. For gehprimarily engaged in the business of
accommodation, the aggregate balance of the adymyeeent under the single-purpose commercial pdegaids it issued shall not exceed
40% of its income from its primary business in pinevious financial year.

On April 25, 2013, the Standing Committee of thaidtel People’s Congress issued Traurism Law of the People’s Republic of Chjna
which became effective on October 1, 2013. Accaydo this law, the accommodation operators shiillftheir obligations under the
agreements with consumers. If the accommodatioratqrs subcontract part of their services to aivg tharty or involve any third party to
provide services to customers, the accommodatienabprs shall assume the joint and several ligdslivith the third parties for any damage
caused to the customers.

Regulations on Leasing

Under theLaw on Urban Real Estate Administratipromulgated by the SCNPC, which took effect asaouary 1995 and was amende
August 2007 and th&dministrative Measures for Commodity House Leapnognulgated by the Ministry of Housing and Urbanaiu
Construction, which took effect as of February@1 2, when leasing premises, the lessor and lesseeguired to enter into a written lease
contract, prescribing such provisions as the leptgnm, use of the premises, rental and repaiilitiels, and other rights and obligations of both
parties. Both lessor and lessee are also requirgd through registration procedures to recorddghse with the real estate administration
department. Pursuant to these laws and regulagiotivarious local regulations, if the lessor arsdée fail to go through the registration
procedures, both lessor and lessee may be subjioes, and the leasing interest will be subordiddo an interested third party acting in gooc
faith.
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In March 1999, the National People’s CongressChima legislature, passed tRRC Contract Law of which Chapter 13 governs lease
agreements. According to tR&RC Contract Law subject to consent of the lessor, the lesseesulblgase the leased item to a third party.
Where the lessee subleases the lease item, tlegeastract between the lessee and the lessoimsmalid. The lessor is entitled to terminate
the contract if the lessee subleases the leasentttraut the consent of the lessor.

In March 16, 2007, the National People’s Congressed th®RC Property Law pursuant to which where a mortgagor leases the
mortgaged property before the mortgage contramngluded, the previously established leasingiogiathall not be affected; and where a
mortgagor leases the mortgaged property afterrdegtion of the mortgage interest, the leasing @stewill be subordinated to the registered
mortgage interest.

Regulations on Consumer Protection

In October 1993, the SCNPC promulgatedlthes on the Protection of the Rights and Intere$tS€ansumers or the Consumer Protection
Law , which became effect ive on January 1, 189dwas amended on March 15, 2014 . Under the @GuersBrotection Law, a business
operator providing a commaodity or service to a consr is subject to a number of requirements, irinlyithe following:

» to ensure that commaodities and services meet witfaion safety requirements;

e  to protect the safety of consumers ;

» to disclose serious defects of a commodity or siseand to adopt preventive measures against dawamirrence;
e  to provide consumers with accurate information emnikfrain from conducting false advertising;

e  to obtain consent s of consumers and to disclaseulles for the collection and/ or use of inforrativhen collecting data or
information from consumers; to take technical measand other necessary measures to protect tbenaéinformation collected
from consumers; not to divulge, sell, or illeggdisovide consumers’ information to others ; notéad commercial information to
consumers without the consent or request of consuorawith a clear refusal from consumers ;

e not to set unreasonable or unfair terms for conssimealleviate or release itself from civil liaibjlfor harming the legal rights and
interests of consumers by means of standard casti@cculars, announcements, shop notices or otieans;

e toremind consumers in a conspicuous manner t@faption to the quality, quantity and prices @asfef commaodities or services,
duration and manner of performance, safety presasitind risk warnings, after-sales service, daflility and other terms and
conditions vital to the interests of consumers urgdstandard form of agreement prepared by thenbssioperators , and to provide
explanations as required by consumers ; and

* notto insult or slander consumers or to searclpénson of, or articles carried by, a consumepanfringe upon the personal freed
of a consumer.

Business operators may be subject to civil liabditfor failing to fulfill the obligations discuss@bove. These liabilities include restoring
the consumer’s reputation, eliminating the adveffects suffered by the consumer, and offering@oiagy and compensation for any losses
incurred. The following penalties may also be imggbapon business operators for the infraction e$¢hobligations: issuance of a warning,
confiscation of any illegal income, imposition ofiae, an order to cease business operation, réenocaf its business license or imposition of
criminal liabilities under circumstances that gpedfied in laws and statutory regulations.

In December 2003, the Supreme People’s Court indanacted the Interpretation®dme Issues Concerning the Application of Law for
the Trial of Cases on Compensation for Personalrinj which further increases the liabilities of busis@perators engaged in the operation c
hotels, restaurants, or entertainment facilities subjects such operators to compensatory liaslfior failing to fulfill their statutory
obligations to a reasonable extent or to guarahie@ersonal safety of others.
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Regulations on Environmental Protection

In February 2012, the SCNPC issued the newly antEbhae@ on Promoting Clean Productigrwhich regulates service enterprises such a
restaurants, entertainment establishments andshantell requires them to use technologies and equipimat conserve energy and water, serve
other environmental protection purposes, and redustop the use of consumer goods that waste nes®or pollute the environment.

According to theEnvironmental Protection Law of the People’s Refuubl China and the Environmental Impact Assessiawtof the
Peopl¢s Republic of Chingromulgated by the SCNPC on December 26, 1989 atab@r 28, 2002, respectively, tRegulations Governing
Environmental Protection in Construction Projepromulgated by the State Council on November 29818nd thdregulations Governing
Completion Acceptance of Environmental Protectio@onstruction Projectpromulgated by the Ministry of Environmental Prditec on
December 27, 2001, hotels shall submit a RepoEronironmental Impact Assessment and an Applicdtietter for Acceptance of
Environmental Protection Facilities in Constructrmjects to competent environmental protectioharities for approvals before commenc
the operation. Pursuant to teBavironmental Impact Assessment Law of the PeoBlefaiblic of China any hotel failing to obtain the approval
of an Environmental Impact Assessment may be oddereease construction and apply for the appreithin a specified time limit. If the
hotel still fails to obtain approval within the gjféed time limit, it may be subject to fines besveRMB50,000 and RMB200,000, and the
person directly responsible for the project maiigject to certain administrative penalties. Putst@theRegulations Governing Completion
Acceptance of Environmental Protection in ConsiarcProjects, any hotel failing to obtain an Acceptance of Eanmental Protection
Facilities in Construction Projects may be subfjedines and an order to obtain approval withipecified time limit.

Regulations on Commercial Franchising

Franchise operations are subject to the supervaidnadministration of the MOC, and its regionalmerparts. Such activities are
currently regulated by theegulations for Administration of Commercial Fraigthg , which was promulgated by the State Council on
February 6, 2007 and became effective on May 17 208eRegulations for Administration of Commercial Frarsithg were subsequently
supplemented by thiedministrative Measures for Archival Filing of Comrcial Franchises which was promulgated by the MOC on April .
2007 and became effective on May 1, 2007 and thdyreamended Administrative Measures for Informatigisclosure of Commercial
Franchises, which was promulgated by the MOC omelg 23, 2012 and became effective on April 1,201

Under the above applicable regulations, a franchiagst have certain prerequisites including a neabwisiness model, the capability to
provide long-term business guidance and trainimgices to franchisees and ownership of at leastd®lifioperated storefronts that have bee
operation for at least one year within China. Fragmrs engaged in franchising activities withouts$ging the above requirements may be
subject to penalties such as forfeit of illegaldme and imposition of fines between RMB100,000 RiMB500,000 and may be bulletined by
the MOC or its local counterparts. Franchise ca$rahall include certain required provisions, saslterms, termination rights and payments.

Franchisors are generally required to file franelusntracts with the MOC or its local counterpdfaslure to report franchising activities
may result in penalties such as fines up to RMBIO®, Such noncompliance may also be bulletinetherfirst quarter of every year,
franchisors are required to report to the MOC ®tdtal counterparts any franchise contracts tixeged, canceled, renewed or amended in
the previous year.

The term of a franchise contract shall be no leas three years unless otherwise agreed by fragehid he franchisee is entitled to
terminate the franchise contract in his sole dismmewithin a set period of time upon signing oétihanchise contract.

Pursuant to th@&dministrative Measures for Information DiscloswfeCommercial Franchises30 days prior to the execution of franchise
contracts, franchisors are required to providednésees with copies of the franchise contractsyelsas written true and accurate basic
information on matters including:
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» the name, domiciles, legal representative, regidteapital, scope of business and basic informaélaing to its commercial
franchising;

e basic information relating to the registered tradeknlogo, patent, know-how and business model;

« the type, amount and method of payment of frandeiss (including payment of deposit and the coadgiand method of refund of
deposit);

» the price and conditions for the franchisor to fdevgoods, service and equipment to the franchisee;

» the detailed plan, provision and implementatiommé&consistent services including operational goize, technical support and
business training provided to the franchisee;

e detailed measures for guiding and supervising pgeration of the franchisor;

e investment budget for all franchised hotels offta@chisee;

« the current numbers, territory and operation evanaof the franchisees within China;

e asummary of accounting statements audited by esuating firm and a summary of audit reports fa phevious two years;
» information on any lawsuit in which the franchigas been involved in the previous five years;

» basic information regarding whether the franchiud its legal representative have any record oéri@tviolation; and

» other information required to be disclosed by the®/

In the event of failure to disclose or misrepreatan, the franchisee may terminate the franchisgract and the franchisor may be fined
up to RMB100,000. In addition, such noncomplian@gy/ e bulletined.

According to the 2008landbook of Market Access of Foreign Investnpeomulgated by the MOC in December 2008, if antexds
foreign-invested company wishes to operate a frigadh China, it must apply to its original exantina and approval authority to expand its
business scope to include “engaging in commerci@liies by way of franchise.”

Regulations on Trademarks

Both thePRC Trademark Lawadopted by the SCNPC in 1982 and revised in 20dltaimplementation Regulation of the PRC
Trademark Lavadopted by the State Council in 2002 give protactiothe holders of registered trademarks and tnadees. The Trademark
Office under the State Administration for Indusaiyd Commerce, or the SAIC, handles trademark ragjizhs and grants a term of ten years t
registered trademarks. Trademark license agreenmargsbe filed with the Trademark Office.

Regulations on Foreign Currency Exchange

The principal regulations governing foreign curngegchange in China are tRereign Exchange Administration Regulatigremulgated
by the State Council, as amended on August 5, 200Be Foreign Exchange Regulations. Under theiforExchange Regulations, the RMB
is freely convertible for current account itemgliding the distribution of dividends, interest pants, trade and service-related foreign
exchange transactions, but not for capital accitents, such as direct investments, loans, rep@tniaf investments and investments in
securities outside of China, unless the prior apglrof the State Administration of Foreign Exchangrethe SAFE, is obtained and prior
registration with the SAFE is made.

On August 29, 2008, the SAFE promulgatediiotice on Perfecting Practices Concerning Foreigwtiiange Settlement Regarding the
Capital Contribution by Foreign-invested Enterpsser Circular 142, regulating the conversion bygefgn-invested company of foreign
currency into RMB by restricting how the converlRBIB may be used. Circular 142 requires that thésteged capital of a foreign-invested
enterprise settled in RMB converted from foreigmrencies may only be used for purposes within thgress scope approved by the applic
governmental authority and may not be used fortggavestments within the PRC. In addition, the $trengthened its oversight of the flow
and use of the registered capital of foreign-ine@snterprises settled in RMB converted from fareigrrencies. The use of such RMB capital
may not be changed without the SAFE’s approval,raag not in any case be used to repay RMB loatieiproceeds of such loans have not
been used. Violations of Circular 142 will resulitsevere penalties, such as heavy fines.
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On December 25, 2006, the People’s Bank of Chsizeid theAdministration Measures on Individual Foreign Exaga Controland its
Implementation Rules were issued by the SAFE onalgrb, 2007, both of which became effective onrkaty 1, 2007. Under these
regulations, all foreign exchange matters involirethe employee stock ownership plan, stock oppiam and other similar plans, participated
by onshore individuals shall be transacted upomaygb from the SAFE or its authorized branch. Obraary 25, 2012, the SAFE promulgated
theNotice on Relevant Issues Concerning Foreign Exgaaontrol on Domestic Individuals Participatingtire Stock Incentive Plan of An
Overseas Listed Compangr Circular 7, to replace tl@perating Procedures for Administration of Domestidividuals Participating in the
Employee Stock Option Plan or Stock Option PlaAroDverseas Listed Compa. Under Circular 7, the board members, supervisificers
or other employees, including PRC citizens andiforers having lived within the territory of the PRGccessively for at least one year of a
PRC entity, who participate in stock incentive glam equity compensation plans by an overseasqgiyhliited company, or the PRC
participants, are required, through a PRC ageRR{ subsidiaries of such overseas publicly-lismdmany, to complete certain foreign
exchange registration procedures with respecta@lins upon the examination by, and approvahef SAFE. We and our PRC patrticipants
who have been granted stock options are subje&cirénlar 7. If our PRC participants who hold sugtiions or our PRC subsidiary fail to
comply with these regulations, such participants$ thieir PRC employer may be subject to fines agdllsanctions.

Regulations on Share Capital

In October 2005, the SCNPC issued the newly ame@dethbany Law of the People’s Republic of Chindich became effective on
January 1, 2006. In April 2006, the SAIC, the MGit® General Administration of Customs and the Sjdtfgly issued thémplementation
Opinions on Several Issues regarding the Laws &pble to the Administration of Approval and Registn of Foreign-invested Companies
Pursuant to the above regulations, shareholdeadatkign-invested company are obligated to makeafd timely contribution to the
registered capital of the foreign-invested compdie shareholders can make their capital contobstin cash or in kind, including in the
forms of contributions of intellectual property hig or land use rights that can be valued andissterable. Contribution to a foreign-invested
company’s registered capital in cash must not & tlean 30% of the total registered capital ofcibrapany. The shareholders may choose to
make the contributions either in a lump sum omnstallments. If the shareholders choose to makedhgibutions in installments, the first
tranche of the contribution shall be no less tha¥ bf the total registered capital and shall bel pathin three months of the establishment of
the company and the remaining contribution shapdid within two years of the establishment of tbenpany. Shareholders who fail to make
contribution in accordance with the schedule maypiodered by the SAIC or its regional counterpaninke contribution or reduce the
registered capital within a time limit and be subj® administrative fines. A company which propotereduce its registered capital shall
prepare a balance sheet and a list of assets.orhpany shall notify its creditors within ten daysr the date of resolution on reduction of
registered capital and publish an announcemertt@neéwspapers within 30 days. The creditors mahinvBO days from receipt of the notice
or within 45 days from the announcement date, reghie company to settle the debts or provide spmeding guarantee.

As of December 31, 2013, all the registered capitalur operating subsidiaries has been fully jpraidash , except for HuaZhu Hotel
Management Co., Limited, whose outstanding regsiteapital of RMB180.0 million is unpaid and wik blue on August 15, 2014 and Han
Hesheng (Suzhou) Hotel Management Co., Limited,sghmutstanding registered capital of RMB40.0 milli® unpaid and will be due on
June 12, 2014.

Regulations on Dividend Distribution

The principal regulations governing distributiondi¥idends of foreign-invested enterprises incltiteForeign-invested Enterprise Law
promulgated by the SCNPC, as amended on Octob&080D, and thémplementation Rules of the Foreign-invested Emisep_awissued by
the State Council, as amended on March 1, 20 14 .

Under these laws and regulations, foreign-investgdrprises in China may pay dividends only ouhefr accumulated profits, if any,
determined in accordance with PRC accounting staisdand regulations. In addition, foreign-investaterprises in China are required to
allocate at least 10% of their respective accuredlatofits each year, if any, to fund certain resdunds unless these reserves have reached
50% of the registered capital of the enterprisé®sE reserves are not distributable as cash déden
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Regulations on Offshore Financing

On October 21, 2005, the SAFE issidatice on Relevant Issues Concerning Foreign Exgbalontrol on Domestic Residen@drporate
Financing and Roundtrip Investment Through OffsHgpecial Purpose Vehicl, or Circular 75, which became effective as of Nuober 1,
2005. Under Circular 75, if PRC residents use assegquity interests in their PRC entities astedpbntributions to establish offshore
companies or inject assets or equity interestheif PRC entities into offshore companies to ramgtal overseas, they are required to registe
with local SAFE branches with respect to their seas investments in offshore companies. PRC rdsidea also required to file amendments
to their registrations if their offshore companggerience material events involving capital vésiatsuch as changes in share capital, share
transfers, mergers and acquisitions, spin-off tiatisns, long-term equity or debt investments @susf assets in China to guarantee offshore
obligations.

Moreover, Circular 75 applies retroactively. Aseault, PRC residents who have established or adjaontrol of offshore companies that
have made onshore investments in the PRC in thengse required to complete the relevant regiginatirocedures with the local SAFE
branch by March 31, 2006. Under the relevant rdbgkire to comply with the registration proceduses forth in Circular 75 may result in
restrictions being imposed on the foreign exchawities of the relevant onshore company, inalgdhe increase of its registered capital,
payment of dividends and other distributions taifshore parent or affiliate and the capital imflirom the offshore entity, and may also
subject relevant PRC residents to penalties unB€r Breign exchange administration regulations. P&ents who control our company are
required to register periodically with the SAFEcionnection with their investments in us.

The SAFE issued a series of guidelines to its lbcahches with respect to the operational proaasSAFE registration, including the
Notice of the State Administration of Foreign Exuyp@ on Further Improving and Adjusting Foreign Eache Administration Policies fc
Direct Investmen, or Circular 59 , which came into effect as of Bber 17 , 201 2 . The guidelines standardized syeeific and stringent
supervision on the registration required by Circula. For example, the guidelines impose obligation onshore subsidiaries of an offshore
entity to make true and accurate statements ttotad SAFE authorities in case any shareholdereoeklicial owner of the offshore entity is a
PRC citizen or resident. Untrue statements by ttehore subsidiaries will lead to potential lialilibr the subsidiaries, and in some instances,
for their legal representatives and other individua

Regulations on Merger and Acquisition and Oversdasting

On August 8, 2006, six PRC regulatory agencies,aehathe MOC, the State Assets Supervision and Athtration Commission, the State
Administration of Taxation, the SAIC, the China 8eties Regulatory Commission, or the CSRC, and3IREE, jointly adopted the
Regulations oMergers and Acquisitions of Domestic Enterprise§obseign Investors or the New M&A Rule, which became effective on
September 8, 2006. This New M&A Rule, as amendedume 22, 2009, purports, among other things,doire offshore special purpose
vehicles, or SPVs, formed for overseas listing pags through acquisitions of PRC domestic compamidsontrolled by PRC companies or
individuals, to obtain the approval of the CSRMpto publicly listing their securities on an ovesis stock exchange. On September 21, 200¢€
the CSRC published a notice on its official websjtecifying documents and materials required teuimmitted to it by SPVs seeking the
CSRC approval of their overseas listings.

While the application of this new regulation rensaimclear, we believe, based on the advice of B@ Bounsel, that CSRC approval is
not required in the context of our initial publiffering because we established our PRC subsidibyieseans of direct investment other thai
merger or acquisition of domestic companies, andtaded to operate our business in the PRC thréargign invested enterprises before
September 8, 2006, the effective date of the NewAMRule. However, we cannot assure you that thevaslePRC government agency,
including the CSRC, would reach the same concluagaur PRC counsel. If the CSRC or other PRC atgryl body subsequently determines
that CSRC'’s approval was required for our initiabfic offering, we may face sanctions by the CSRGther PRC regulatory agencies, which
could have a material adverse effect on our busjrigmncial condition, results of operations, fagion and prospects, as well as the trading
price of our ADSs.
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The New M&A Rule also established additional praged and requirements that could make merger andsaiion activities by foreign
investors more time-consuming and complex, inclgaaqguirements in some instances that the MOC bfietbin advance of any change of
control transaction in which a foreign investordalcontrol of a PRC domestic enterprise.

Regulation on Security Review

In August 2011, the MOC promulgated tRales of Ministry of Commerce on ImplementatioBexurity Review System of Mergers and
Acquisitions of Domestic Enterprises by Foreigrelters, or the MOC Security Review Rule, which came ieftiect on September 1, 2011,
implement theNotice of the General Office of the State CoungiEstablishing the Security Review System for Merged Acquisitions of
Domestic Enterprises by Foreign Investpromulgated on February 3, 2011. Under these régot a security review is required for foreign
investors’ mergers and acquisitions having “natialediense and security” implications and mergeids aquisitions by which foreign investors
may acquire “de facto control” of domestic entesps having “national security” implications. In &dsh, when deciding whether a specific
merger or acquisition of a domestic enterprisedrgifjn investors is subject to a security revidw, MOC will look into the substance and
actual impact of the transaction. The MOC SecRigyiew Rule further prohibits foreign investorsrrdypassing the security review
requirement by structuring transactions throughxige® trusts, indirect investments, leases, loamstrol through contractual arrangements or
offshore transactions.

Regulations on Labor Contracts

The labor contract law that became effective oudgnl, 2008 , as amended on December 28, 201&5 seelarify the responsibilities of
both employers and employees and codifies certsiclyights and protections of employees. Amongmstithe labor contract law provides
after completing two fixed-term employment contsaetn employee that desires to continue workingufoemployer is entitled to require a
non-fixedterm employment contract. In addition, employees Wave been employed for more than ten years bgahe employer are entit|
to require a non-fixed-term contract. The labortcacet law also requires that the employees disatéfomhuman resources outsourcing fir
or labor agencies be limited to temporary, auXjliar substitute positions. Furthermore, an employay be held jointly liable for any damages
to its dispatched employees caused by its humaress outsourcing firm or labor agency if it hisacch employees through these entities.
According to thdnterim Provisions on Labor Dispatchwhich was promulgated in December 2013 to implarttee provisions of the labor
contract law regarding labor dispatch, a compameisnitted to use dispatched employees for up % @Dits labor force and the companies
currently using dispatched employees are givencay®ar grace period to comply with this lim it .

Considering the PRC governmental authorities havgimued to introduce various new labor-relateditatipns since the effectiveness of
the | abor c ontract | aw , and the interpretatiod implementation of these regulations are stiheng, we cannot assure you that our
employment practice will at all times be deemedampliance with the new regulations. If we are eabfo severe penalties or incur signific
liabilities in connection with labor disputes ow@stigations, our business and results of operatioaly be adversely affected. Sdeetn 3. Key
Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related tar Business — Our current employment practices neagdversely impacted under the
labor contract law of the PRC. ”

Regulation on Information Protection on Networks

On December 28, 2012, the Standing Committee of&tenal People’s Congress issugecision of the Standing Committee of the
National Peopl’'s Congress on Strengthening Information ProtectioriNetworks pursuant to which network service providers atigo
enterprises and institutions shall, when gatheaimgj using electronic personal information of citizén business activities, publish their
collection and use rules and adhere to the priesipf legality, rationality and necessarily, exlljcstate the purposes, manners and scopes o
collecting and using information, and obtain thasent of those from whom information is collectadd shall not collect and use information
in violation of laws and regulations and the agreetibetween both sides; and the network serviceges and other enterprises and
institutions and their personnel must strictly kseph information confidential and may not divulgker, damage, sell, or illegally provide
others with such information.
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On July 16, 2013, the Ministry of Industry and Inf@tion Technology, or the MIIT, issued tBeder for the Protection of
Telecommunication and Internet User Personal Infation . The requirements under this order are strictdrvaider compared to the above
decision issued by the National People’s Congrssording to this order, if a network service piet wishes to collect or use personal
information, it may do so only if such collectianecessary for the services it provides. Furthezmbmust disclose to its users the purpose,
method and scope of any such collection or usagkmaist obtain consent from the users whose infilomé being collected or used.
Network service providers are also required toldista and publish their protocols relating to pemdnformation collection or usage, keep
collected information strictly confidential and &atechnological and other measures to maintaisebarity of such information. Network
service providers are required to cease any caleadr usage of the relevant personal informatéord de-register the relevant user account,
when a user stops using the relevant Internetaeridetwork service providers are further prohibiiem divulging, distorting or destroying
any such personal information, or selling or pravidsuch personal information unlawfully to othartes. In addition, if a network service
provider appoints an agent to undertake any mangsetr technical services that involve the collettio usage of personal information, the
network service provider is required to supervise manage the protection of the information. Ttoeostates, in broad terms, that violators
may face warnings, fines, public exposure andhénrhost severe cases, criminal liability.

4.C. Organizational Structure

The following diagram illustrates our corporate amehership structure, the place of formation areldtvnership interests of our
subsidiaries as of March 31,201 4 .
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The following table sets forth summary informatfon our subsidiaries as of March 31, 201 4 .

Percentage of Date of or

Major Subsidiaries Ownership Incorporation/Acquisition Place of Incorporation
China Lodging Holdings (HK) Limite: 10(% October 22, 200 Hong Kong
China Lodging Holdings Singapore Pte. L 10C% April 14, 2010 Singapore
Shanghai HanTing Hotel Management Group, 10(% November 17, 200 PRC
HanTing Xingkong (Shanghai) Hotel Management March 3, 2006 PRC

Co., Ltd. 10(%

HanTing (Tianjin) Investment Consulting Co., L 10(% January 16, 200 PRC

Yiju (Shanghai) Hotel Management Co., L 10C% April 12, 2007 PRC
HanTing Technology (Suzhou) Co., L 10(% December 3, 200 PRC
HanTing (Shanghai) Enterprise Management Co., 10(% December 14, 201 PRC
Starway Hotels (Hong Kong) Limite 10(% May 1, 2012 Hong Kong
Starway Hotel Management (Shanghai) Co., 10(% May 1, 2012 PRC
HuazZhu Hotel Management Co., L 10(% August 16, 201. PRC
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4.D. Property, Plants and Equipment

Our headquarters are located in Shanghai, Chinaeawhy nearly 7,000 square meters of office spabeut 1,500 square meters of
which is owned by us and the rest is leased . ABaaember 31, 2013, we leased 565 out of our K28l facilities with an aggregate size of
approximately 2.6 million square meters, includapproximately 43,000 square meters subleasedrtbphrties. For detailed information
about the locations of our hotels, see “ltem 4oimfation on the Company — B. Business Overview —+ atel Network.”

ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.
ITEM 5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
5.A. Operating Results

You should read the following discussion and anglysour financial condition and results of opeoats in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and the relate@s included elsewhere in this annual report omf@0-F. This discussion may contain
forward-looking statements based upon current expectatimatsnvolve risks and uncertainties. Our actuedults may differ materially from
those anticipated in these forward-looking statet®as a result of various factors, including these forth under “ltem 3. Key Information —
D. Risk Factor” or in other parts of this annual report on Forn®Z.

Overview

We are a leading and fast-growing multi-brand hgteup in China with leased , manachised and friaedmodels. Under the lease
model, we directly operate hotels typically locatedleased properties. Under the manachise modathanage manachise d hotels through th
on-site hotel managers we appoint and collectfieas franchisees . Under the franchise model, vexige training, reservation and support
services to the franchised hotels and collect fiems franchisees but do not appoint on-site hot@hagers. We apply a consistent standard an
platform across all of our hotels. As of Decemhker@)13, we had 565 leased, 835 manachised an@a2&hfsed hotels in operation and 63
leased hotels and 350 manachised hotels underogewenht.

As of the date of this annual report, we offerfsitel brand s that are designed to target dissieginents of customers:

» Joya Hotel, our upscale brand concept targeting affluentliere and corporate events. Joya hotels are tyypioahted in central
business districts ;

«  Manxin Hotels & Resortgur mid-to-upscale brand concept targeting leistareclers, families and small-scale corporate eent
Manxin Hotels & Resorts targets popular vacatiostidations;

« Jl Hotel, our standardized mid-scale limited service hptetluct which targets mature and experienced teaselho seek a quality
experience in hotel stays , previously marketest finder the name of HanTing Hotel and then HanBegsons Hotel ;

»  Starway Hotel our midscale limited service hotel product with varietydiesign and consistency in quality which targetddia clas:
travelers who seek a spacious room, reasonable @nid guaranteed quality;

* HanTing Hotel, our economy product which targets knowledge warlamd value- and quality-conscious travelers,iaity
marketed under the name of HanTing Express Hatedl;

e Hilnn, our budget hotel product which targets practical price-conscious travelers, originally marketader the name of HanTing
Hi Inn .
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As a result of our customer-oriented approach, axeldeveloped strong brand recognition and a loystomer base. In 201 3 , more than
80 % of our room nights were sold to members of #uaClub, our loyalty program.

Our operations commenced with mid-scale limitediserhotels and commercial property developmentraadagement in 2005. We
began our current business of operating and magagimulti-brand hotel group in 2007. Our total rewes grew from RMB2,385.6 million in
20 11 to RMB4,420.8 million in 201 3 . We had metdme attributable to our company of RMB114.8 miilliRMB 174.9 million and
RMB279.9 million in 20 11, 201 2 and 2013, respedy. We had net cash provided by operating aitisiof RMB458.7 million, RMB715.7
million and RMB1,070.2 million in 20 11 , 201 2 aR@13, respectively.

Specific factors affecting our results of operatios

While our business is affected by factors relatmgeneral economic conditions and the lodging stiguin China (see “Item 3. Key
Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related tarBusiness — Our operating results are subjecbialitions affecting the lodging
industry in general.”), we believe that our resolt®perations are also affected by company-speffitors, including, among others:

»  The total number of hotels and hotel rooms in catehnetwork Our revenues largely depend on the size of otel network.
Furthermore, we believe the expanded geographierage of our hotel network will enhance our bragwbgnition. Whether we can
successfully increase the number of hotels and haens in our hotel group is largely affected hy ability to effectively identify
and lease , manachisefranchise additional hotel properties at desgddications on commercially favorable terms arelakailability
of funding to make necessary capital investmentgptn these new hotels.

e The fixed-cost nature of our busineds significant portion of our operating costs angenses, including rent and depreciation and
amortization, is relatively fixed. As a result, iacrease in our revenues achieved through highePRR generally will result in high
profitability. Vice versa, a decrease in our revengould result in a disproportionately larger dase in our earnings because our
operating costs and expenses are unlikely to deeng@portionately.

*  The number of new leased hotels under developnteterally, the operation of each leased hotet gu®ugh three stages:
development, ramp-up and mature operations. Duheglevelopment stage, leased hotels generally predopening expenses
ranging from approximately RMBO0.5 to RMB 5.0 miligper hotel and no revenuBuring periods when a large number of new lei
hotels are under development, the pre-opening egseincurred may have a significant negative impacaiur financial performance.

e The mix of mature leased hotels, new leased hgtelsachis ed hotels and franchised hoté¢hen a new hotel starts operation and
goes through the ramp-up stage, the occupancysregatively low and the room rate may be subjeatiscount. Revenues generated
by these hotels are lower than those generatedabyrenhotels and may be insufficient to cover tbpirating costs, which are
relatively fixed in nature and are similar to thadenature hotels. The lower profitability duringetramp-up stage for leased hotels
may have a significant negative impact on our faianperformance. The length of ramp-up stage negffected by factors such as
hotel size, seasonality and location. On averagekés our hotels approximately six months to rampWe define mature leased
hotels as those that have been in operation foe iti@n six months. Our mature leased hotels hame &ed will continue to be the
main contributor to our revenues and profit.
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Under the manachise and franchise models, we germeneenues from fees we charge to each manachigkftanchised hotel while
the franchisee bears substantially all the capitpkenditures, pre-opening and operational expei$eshotel operating costs relating
to manachised hotels are mainly costs for hotelagars as we hire and send them to manachised .hotels

Key Performance Indicators
We utilize a set of non-financial and financial kesgrformance indicators which our senior managemei¢ws frequently. The review of
these indicators facilitates timely evaluationtod performance of our business and effective conration of results and key decisions,
allowing our business to react promptly to changingtomer demands and market conditions.

Non-financial Key Performance Indicators

Our non-financial key performance indicators cansigi) change in the total number of hotels antehrooms in our hotel group ,
(i) RevPAR, especially RevPAR achieved by our éshkotels and (iii) same-hotel RevPAR change.

Change in the total number of hotels and hotel reoklve track the change in the total number of hatals hotel rooms in operation to
monitor our business expansion. Our total hotetspiaration increased from 639 in 20 11 to 1,4280h3 and our total hotel room-nights
available for sale increased from 21.5 million ;22 to 48.1 million in 2013. The following tablets forth various measures of changes in th
total number of hotels and hotel rooms as of andhfe dates and periods indicated.

As of December 31

2011 2012 2013
Total hotels in operatio 63¢ 1,03t 1,42t
Leased hotel 344 46t 56&
Manachised hotels 29t 51¢ 83t
Franchised hotels — 54 25
Total hotel rooms in operatic 71,62: 113,65( 152,87¢
Leased hotel 40,51« 54,69¢ 65,83¢
Manachised hotels 31,107 53,38! 84,437
Franchised hotels — 5,57t 2,60¢
Total hotel roor-nights available for sal 21,536,41 33,204,65 48,092,87
Leased hotel 12,282,18 16,704,18 21,731,34
Manachised hotels 9,254,23! 14,655,17 25,293,11
Franchised hotels — 1,845,29: 1,068,41!
Number of cities 10C 171 24¢

RevPAR RevPAR is a commonly used operating measureeithoitiging industry and is defined as the produchvafrage occupancy rates
and average daily rates achieved. Occupancy ratas dotels mainly depend on the locations of loatels, product and service offering, the
effectiveness of our sales and brand promotiorrstfour ability to effectively manage hotel resgions, the performance of managerial and
other employees of our hotels, as well as ourtgliti respond to competitive pressure. From yegetr, occupancy of our portfolio may
fluctuate as a result of change in the mix of matmd ramp-up hotels, as well as special eventasithe Shanghai Expo in 2010. We set the
room rates of our hotels primarily based on thation of a hotel, room rates charged by our congrstiwithin the same locality, and our
relative brand and product strength in the citgitr cluster. From year to year, average daily cdteur portfolio may change due to our yield
management practice, city mix change and specaitewsuch as Shanghai Expo in 2010. The follownaihdetsets forth our RevPAR, average
daily room rate and occupancy rate for our leasebinaanachised hotels for the periods indicateddd/eot track the RevPAR, average daily
room rate or occupancy rate for our franchisedlaote
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Year Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013

RevPAR (in RMB)

Leased hotel 167 173 16€

Manachised hotels 163 163 15¢

Total hotels in operatio 165 16¢ 162
Average daily room rate (in RME

Leased hotel 18t 184 187

Manachised hotels 174 17z 174

Total hotels in operatio 18C 17¢ 18C
Occupancy rate (as a percents

Leased hotel 90 94 9C

Manachised hotels 93 95 92

Total hotels in operatio 92 94 91
Weight of hotel room-nights available for sale cintted by leased hotels les:

than 6 months (as a percenta 18 13 12

RevPAR may change from period to period due tth@)change in the mix of our leased hotels in &mep-up and mature phases, (ii) the
change in the mix of our hotels in different citaa®d locations, (iii) the change in the mix of dwtels of different brands, and (iv) the chanc
same-hotel RevPAR. The total hotel RevPAR in 2@18\wer than that in 201 2 , mainly as a resuthefrelatively soft overall market and the
city mix shifting toward lower-tier cities .

The leased hotel RevPAR in 2012 is higher thanitha01 1 , mainly due to the increase in the propio of mature hotels among our
leased hotels .

The seasonality of our business may cause fluctusin our quarterly RevPAR. We typically have lingest RevPAR in the first quarter
due to reduced travel activities in the winter dnding the Spring Festival holidays, and the higiRes/PAR in the third quarter due to
increased travel during the summer. National agéral s pecial events that attract large numbepeople to travel may also cause
fluctuations in our RevPAR.

For the Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, September December March 31, June 30, September December
2012 2012 30, 2012 31, 2012 2013 2013 30, 2013 31, 2013
RevPAR (in RMB):
Leased hotel 15¢ 181 182 167 152 172 17¢ 16€
Manachised hotels 15¢ 171 iL7E 157 14¢€ 162 171 15¢
Totalleased an
manachised hotels in
operatior 156 17¢ 17¢ 162 14¢ 167 17t 16C

Same-hotel RevPAR chang@ur overall RevPAR trend does not reflect thadref a stable and mature portfolio, because it fhajuate
when city mix and mix of mature and ramp-up hotélange. We track same-hotel year-over-year RevR¥sRge for hotels in operation for at
least 18 months to monitor RevPAR trend for ourur@hotels on a comparable basis. The followinggtabts forth our same-hotel RevPAR
for hotels in operation for at least 18 monthstfar periods indicated.

For the Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, September December March 31, June 30, September December
2012 2012 30, 2012 31, 2012 2013 2013 30,2013 31,2013
Number of hotels ii
operation for at least 1
months 362 42¢ 464 50€ 57C 62¢ 674 757
RevPAR (RMB) 172 19t 19t 17¢ 16t 18t 19C 178
Samehotel RevPAF
change (as a
percentage 1C 7 5 2 1 0 1 1
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Financial Key Performance Indicators

Our financial key performance indicators consistipfevenues, (ii) operating costs and expen$i@sEBITDA and adjusted EBITDA
from operating hotels, (iv) hotel income and (v) cash provided by operating activities.

RevenuesWe primarily derive our revenues from operatiohsur leased hotels and franchise and serviceffeasour manachised and
franchised hotelsOur revenues are subject to a business tax dridother related taxes. The following table setthfthe revenues genera
by our leased and manachis ed and franchised hbt#lsin absolute amount and as a percentageadfrevenues for the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
(RMB) % (RMB) % (RMB) (US$) %
(In thousands except percentage:

Revenues
Leased hotel 2,172,93. 91.1 3,069,43. 89.¢ 3,870,88 639,42! 87.¢
Manachis ed and

franchisechotels 212,64« 8.9 349,84 10.2 549,95¢ 90,84¢ 12.4
Total revenue 2,385,57 100.( 3,419,27: 100.( 4,420,84! 730,27: 100.(
Less: Business tax

and related taxe 135,98: 5.7 194,75: 5.7 252,21¢ 41,66: 5.7
Net revenue 2,249,59 94.: 3,224,522 942 4,168,62! 688,60t 942

» Leased HotelsIn 201 1, we generated revenues of RMB2,172IRomifrom our leased hotels, which accounted fbrl9 of our
total revenues for the year. In 201 2 , we gendrageenues of RMB 3,069.4 million from our leasedets, which accounted for 89.8
% of our total revenues for the year. In 20 13 gererated revenues of RMB 3,870.9 million from leassed hotels, which accounted
for 87.6 % of our total revenues for the year. \Wpeet that revenues from our leased hotels wiltiooie to constitute a substantial
majority of our total revenues in the foreseeabtarke. As of December 31, 2013, we had 63 leastalshonder development.

For our leased hotels, we lease properties frofrestate owners or lessors and we are responsiblefel development and
customization to conform to our standards, as a&for repairs and maintenance and operating aost&xpenses of properties over
the term of the lease. We are also responsiblalfaspects of hotel operations and managementidimg hiring, training and
supervising the hotel managers and employees estjtdroperate our hotels and purchasing suppliestypical lease term ranges
from ten to 20 years. We typically enjoy an initiab- to six-month rent-free period . We generally fixed rent on a quarterly or
biannual basis for the first three to five yearshaf lease term, after which we are generally siltigea 3% to 5% increase every three
to five years .

Our revenues generated from leased hotels ardisartly affected by the following two operating asaires:

e The total number of room nights available from ldeesed hotels in our hotel grouhe future growth of revenues generated
from our leased hotels will depend significantlyapur ability to expand our hotel group into newdtions in China and
maintain and further increase our RevPAR at exgdtiotels. As of December 31, 2013, we had entertedinding contracts with
lessors of 63 properties for our leased hotelsclvhare currently under development.

* RevPAR achieved by our leased hotels, which reptesiee product of average daily rates and occugaates. To understand
factors impacting our RevPAR, please see “— Noatsfitial Key Performance Indicators — RevPAR.”

e Manachis ed and Franchised Hotelsr 201 1 , we generated revenues of RMB212.Ganilfirom our manachis ed hotels, which
accounted for 8.9% of our total revenues for theryln 201 2 , we generated revenues of RMB349liBomirom our manachis eand
franchised hotels, which accounted for 10.2 % oftotal revenues for the year, among which themaes we generated from our
franchised hotels were insignificant. In 20 13 ,gemerated revenues of RMB 550.0 million from oanachis ed and franchised
hotels, which accounted for 12.4 % of our totakraves for the year. We expect that revenues franmanachis ed hotels will
increase in the foreseeable future as we add manmachis ed hotels in our hotel group . We also éxbe number of our manactdg
hotels as a percentage of the total number of ©igtedur network to increase. As of December 31,320e had 350 manachis ed
hotels under development.
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»  Manachis ed HotelsOur franchisees either lease or own their hatgberties and also invest in the renovation ofrtheaperties
according to our product standards. Our franchiseesypically responsible for the costs of devalgmnd operating the hotels,
including renovating the hotels according to oansards, and all of the operating expenses. Wethlirmanage our manachised
hotels and impose the same standards for all ma®athotels to ensure product quality and consisteross our hotel network.
Management services we provide to our franchisaesur manachised hotels generally include hiragpointing and training
hotel managers, managing reservations, providites sand marketing support, conducting quality essce inspections and
providing other operational support and informatidfe believe our manachise model has enabled gqsitly and effectively
expand our geographical coverage and market sharéess capital-intensive manner through levemtiie local knowledge and
relationships of our franchisees.

We collect fees from our franchisees and do not tiealoss, if any, incurred by our franchiseeseyare also responsible for all
costs and expenses related to hotel constructidomedarbishing. Our franchise and management ageatsyfor manachised hot
typically run for an initial term of eight to teregrs. Our franchisees are generally required taipayone-time franchise fee
ranging between RMB100,000 and RMB300,000. In ganere charge a monthly franchise fee of approxétyat% of the total
revenues generated by each manachised hotel. Wedllsct from franchisees a reservation fee famgisur central reservation
system and a membership registration fee to secviseomers who join our HuaZhu Club loyalty prograinthe manachised
hotels. Furthermore, we employ and appoint hotelagars for the manachised hotels and charge thehfisees a monthly fee f
the service.

e Franchised Hotels We inherited the franchise agreements with camdhised hotels as a result of our acquisitio8tafway HK.
Under these franchise agreements, we provide ancliisees with training, central reservation, satesmarketing support,
quality assurance inspections and other operatsuggort and information services. We do not apduatel managers for our
franchised hotels. We collect fees from the fraseés of our franchised hotels and do not bearassydr share any profit incur
or realized by our franchisees. As of the datéisf &annual report, the franchise model is only impple to Starway Hotels.

Operating Costs and Expensedur operating costs and expenses consist of fdt®tel operation, selling and marketing expsnse
general and administrative expenses and pre-opexipgnses. The following table sets forth the camepts of our operating costs and
expenses, both in absolute amount and as a pegeeoitaet revenues for the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
(RMB) % (RMB) % (RMB) (USS$) %
(In thousands except percentage:

Net revenue 2,249,59 100.( 3,224,52 100.( 4,168,62! 688,60t 100.(
Operating costs anc

expenses
Hotel operating

costs:
Rents 655,24 29.1 916,35 28.4 1,255,66. 207,42: 30.1
Utilities 150,86! 6.7 215,76¢ 6.7 273,31« 45,14¢ 6.5
Personnel cosi 329,07¢ 14.€ 505,77: 15.7 638,51: 105,47" 15.:
Depreciation and

amortizatior 227,93t 10.1 337,16: 10.t 453,06 74,84( 10.€
Consumables, food

and beverag 228,24 10.Z 333,24! 10.z 391,71! 64,70° 9.4
Others 111,96! 5.C 145,59 4.5 169,40: 27,98: 4.1
Total hotel operating

costs 1,703,33 75.7 2,453,90: 76.1 3,181,661 525,57: 76.%
Selling and

marketing

expense: 94,75¢ 4.2 102,81 3.2 138,12¢ 22,817 38
General and

administrative

expense: 167,64. 7.4 224,11: 7.C 284,75t 47,03¢ 6.8
Pre-opening

expense: 184,29t 8.2 230,69( 7.2 211,28« 34,90 5.1
Total operating costs

and expense 2,150,03 95.t 3,011,51 93.t 3,815,83! 630,33 91.t
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Hotel Operating CostsOur hotel operating costs consist primarily a$tscand expenses directly attributable to the d¢ijperaf our
leased and manachis ed hotels. Leas ed hotel oyecaists primarily include rental payments antitytcosts for hotel properties,
compensation and benefits for our hotel-based eyeply costs of hotel room consumable products apckdiation and amortization
of leasehold improvements. Manachis ed hotel ojpgyrabsts primarily include compensation and bésdéir manachis ed hotel
managers and other limited number of employeesttijrhired by us, which are recouped by us in tivenfof monthly service fees.
We anticipate that our hotel operating costs witfease as we continue to open new hotels. Our typéeating costs as a percentage
of our total revenue may change from period toquerhainly driven by three factors, namely, (i) Hatel operating costs as a
percentage of revenues for our leased hotelgh@ipperating costs, mainly personnel costs, as@ptage of revenue from the
manachised and franchised business and (iii) thghvef manachis ed and franchised hotels in ovemae mix.

Selling and Marketing Expense®ur selling and marketing expenses consist prfynai commissions to travel intermediaries,
expenses for marketing programs and materials, fesskfor processing bank card payments, and casagien and benefits for our
sales and marketing personnel, including persoain@lir centralized reservation center. We expexttdbr selling and marketing
expenses will increase as our sales increase and Agther expand into new geographic locatiors promote our brand s .

General and Administrative Expense3ur general and administrative expenses consisaply of compensation and benefits for «
corporate and regional office employees and othgyl@yees who are not sales and marketing or hatstdb employees, travel and
communication expenses of our general and admatiigtr staff, costs of third-party professional segg, and office expenses for
corporate and regional office. We expect that @mmegal and administrative expenses will increaghémear term as we hire
additional personnel and incur additional costsannection with the expansion of our business.

Pre-opening Expense®ur pre-opening expenses consist primarily ofsigmersonnel cost, and other miscellaneous expense
incurred prior to the opening of a new leased hotel

Our pre-opening expenses are largely determingtidpumber of prepening hotels in the pipeline and the rental feesrred durini
the development stage. Landlords typically offéwa- to six-month rent-free period at the beginnifighe lease. Nevertheless, rental
is booked during this period on a straight-linei®aBherefore, a portion of pre-opening expense®iscash rental expenses. The
following table sets forth the components of owe-ppening expenses for the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(In thousands)
Rents 153,22¢ 191,53t 186,65t 30,83¢
Personnel cos 13,27 15,48¢ 8,70( 1,43
Others 17,79¢ 23,66¢ 15,92¢ 2,631
Total pr(_opening expense 184,29! 230,69( 211,28¢ 34,90:
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Our hotel operating costs, selling and marketingeases and general and administrative expensesléshare-based compensation
expenses. The following table sets forth the atiooeof our shardsased compensation expenses, both in absolute armadias a percentage
total share-based compensation expenses, amorgghand expense items set forth below.

Year Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
(RMB) % (RMB) % (RMB) (US$) %
(In thousands except percentage:
Hotel operating cos! 2,11¢ 13.7 2,59: 12.4 4,94¢ 817 16.2
Selling and marketing expens 783 5.C 1,031 5.C 973 161 3.2
General and administrative expen 12,58¢ 81.% 17,21¢ 82.€ 24,54% 4,05k 80.¢
Total shar-based Compensation exper 15,48: 100.( 20,83-1 100.C 30,465 5,03: 100.(

We adopted our 2007 Global Share Plan and 2008aG&iare Plan in February and June 2007, respbgtasgpanded the 2008 Global
Share Plan in October 2008, adopted the 2009 $heeative Plan in September 2009, and expandeddf@ Share Incentive Plan in
October 2009 and August 2010. We have granted mgptim purchase 11,909,540, 1,948,370, 6,305,975596, 972,768, 2,838,795 and nil of
our ordinary shares in 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2P212 and 2013, respectively. We granted 628,9&b4,405 and 979,950 shares of
restricted stock in 2011, 2012 and 2013, respdgtiViée recognized share-based compensation as cwmafi@n expenses in the statement of
comprehensive income based on the fair value afyegwards on the date of the grant, with the comspéion expenses recognized over the
period in which the recipient is required to praviervice to us in exchange for the equity awahdr&based compensation expenses have
been categorized as hotel operating costs, geaedahdministrative expenses, or selling and margetkpenses, depending on the job
functions of the grantees.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from Operating Hotel§e use earnings before interest income, intengatnse, tax expense (benefit) anc
depreciation and amortization, or EBITDA, a nGAAP financial measure, to assess our results efaipns before the impact of investing
financing transactions and income taxes. Giversifpeificant investments that we have made in lealseimprovements, depreciation and
amortization expense comprises a significant poribour cost structure. We believe that EBITDAvislely used by other companies in the
lodging industry and may be used by investors m&asure of our financial performance. We also utjegted EBITDA from Operating
Hotels, another non-GAAP measure, which is defixe@&BITDA before pre-opening expenses and shamdb@smpensation expenses, to
assess operating results of the hotels in operafi@nbelieve that the exclusion of pre-opening esps, a portion of which is non-cash rental
expenses and share-based compensation expense$dodifate period-on-period comparison of oumtesof operations as the number of
hotels in the development stage may vary signiflgdrom year to year and provides a proxy for tash generation capability of the hotels in
operation at their current level of maturity.

The following tables present certain unauditedriial data and selected operating data as of arttidoyears ended December 31, 20 11
201 2 and 201 3::

Year Ended December 31
2011 2012 2013
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(In thousands)

Non-GAAP Financial Data
EBITDA @ 359,27t 562,89¢ 841,78: 139,05:
Adjusted EBITDA from Operating Hote( 559,05 814,42¢ 1,083,53 178,98t

(1) We believe that EBITDA is a useful financial metidicassess our operating and financial performbeéere the impact of investing and
financing transactions and income taxes. Giversifpgificant investments that we have made in lealseimprovements, depreciation and
amortization expense comprises a significant poeribour cost structure. In addition, we believattBBITDA is widely used by other
companies in the lodging industry and may be useid\estors as a measure of our financial perfogaakvVe believe that EBITDA will
provide investors with a useful tool for comparaypibetween periods because it eliminates deplieci@nd amortization expense
attributable to capital expenditures. We also udpigted EBITDA from Operating Hotels, which is defd as EBITDA before prepening
expenses and share-based compensation expenasse$s operating results of the hotels in operafi@nbelieve that the exclusion of pre-
opening expenses, a portion of which is non-castaltexpenses, share-based compensation expengedduditate year-on-year
comparison of our results of operations as the rrrabhotels in the development stage may varyifsagimtly from year to year and
provides a proxy for the cash generation capahifithe hotels in operation at their current levfeinaturity. Therefore, we believe
Adjusted EBITDA from Operating Hotels more closedyiects the performance capability of hotels cotlgein operation. Our calculation
of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from Operating Hotalees not deduct foreign exchange gain, which wdB£5.9 million in 2011, or
foreign exchange loss which was RMB 2.0 millior2BiL2, or foreign exchange gain, which was RMBO.@an in 2013 . The
presentation of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from @pagng Hotels should not be construed as an inidicahat our future results will
be unaffected by other charges and gains we cariside2 outside the ordinary course of our business
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The use of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from OperatiHotels has certain limitations. Depreciation antbrtization expense for
various long-term assets, income tax, interestrmeand interest expense have been and will bergdtand are not reflected in the
presentation of EBITDA. Pre-opening expenses haentand will be incurred and are not reflectedvéngresentation of Adjusted
EBITDA from Operating Hotels. Each of these iterhewdd also be considered in the overall evaluadioour results. Additionally,
EBITDA or Adjusted EBITDA from Operating Hotels doaot consider capital expenditures and other tingsactivities and should not
be considered as a measure of our liquidity. Wepemnreate for these limitations by providing thevete disclosure of our depreciation
and amortization, interest income, interest expginseme tax expense, popening expenses, capital expenditures and otlefarg item:
both in our reconciliations to the U.S. GAAP finaleneasures and in our consolidated financiakstants, all of which should be
considered when evaluating our performance.

The terms EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from OperatiHgtels are not defined under U.S. GAAP, and nei# @ TDA nor Adjusted
EBITDA from Operating Hotels is a measure of nebime, operating income, operating performanceqoidity presented in accordance
with U.S. GAAP. When assessing our operating amainitial performance, you should not consider thia ¢h isolation or as a substitute
for our net income, operating income or any othprating performance measure that is calculateddéordance with U.S. GAAP. In
addition, our EBITDA or Adjusted EBITDA from Opeiagj Hotels may not be comparable to EBITDA or AdagsEBITDA from
Operating Hotels or similarly titled measures méli by other companies since such other comparagsot calculate EBITDA or
Adjusted EBITDA from Operating Hotels in the samamer as we do.

A reconciliation of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA frof®perating Hotels to net income, which is the nastctly comparable U.S.
GAAP measure, is provided below:

For the Year Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(in thousands)

Net income attributable to our compe 114,83: 174,88 279,85¢ 46,22¢
Interest income (18,119 (14,559 (6,85€) (1,139
Interest expens 882 822 812 134
Tax expens 24,81¢ 54,16¢ 104,82( 17,31t
Depreciation and amortizatic 236,85 347,57¢ 463,14¢ 76,50¢

EBITDA (Non-GAAP) 359,27t 562,89¢ 841,78: 139,05:
Pre-opening expense¢ 184,29¢ 230,69( 211,28 34,90:
Shar+based compensation expen 15,48 20,83" 30,46¢ 5,03:

Adjusted EBITDA from Operating Hotels (N-GAAP) 559,05 814,42¢ 1,083,53 178,98t
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Hotel Income Hotel income is the difference between net reesrand hotel operating costs. Hotel income was RBBOmillion for 201
3, compared with RMB770.6 million for 2012. Theay@ver-year increase was mainly due to higherl vateme generated from our
expanded network of manachised hotels and matasedehotels .

We track Hotel Income as a percentage of net reveaparately for our mature and ramp-up leasedshetewell as for manachis ed and
franchised hotels. For leased hotels in operatiof least six months, our hotel income was RMBB&8illion during 2013, which accounted
for 20.5% of net revenues derived from those haote®)13. Leased hotels in operation for less giamonths derived a hotel loss of
RMB111.9 million, which accounted for 36.7% of mevenues derived from those hotels in 2013. Foradlais ed and franchised hotels, the
hotel income was RMB412.6 million, which accounten79.7% of net revenues derived from those hateR013.

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activitie®ur net cash provided by operating activitiggrimarily attributable to our net income, add-
backs from share-based compensation expensesciddiom®e and amortization and deferred rent and ghaiin deferred revenue and prepaid
rent. We use net cash provided by operating aiegts/tb assess the cash generation capability aumchrnerofile of our business. Compared with
EBITDA, net cash provided by operating activitiesitralizes the impact of straigline based rental accounting and timing differeimceertair
areas of revenue recognition when assessing theretofile and profitability of our business. Wadnet cash provided by operating activities
of RMB458.7 million, RMB715.7 million and RMB 1,07Z0million in 20 11 , 201 2 and 201 3, respectiv@lhe year-over-year increase was
mainly due to the expansion of our hotel networle &¥pect that our net cash provided by operatitigitees will continue to increase as we
further expand our hotel network.

Taxation

We are incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Undecthrent law of the Cayman Islands, we are ngestibo income or capital gains tax.
In addition, dividend payments we make are notesttlip withholding tax in the Cayman Islands.

China Lodging HK and Starway HK are subject to @fiptax at the rate of 16.5% on assessable pdefiermined under relevant Hong
Kong tax regulations. To date, neither China LodditK nor Starway HK has been required to pay ptafitas it had no assessable profit .

China Lodging Singapore is subject to Singaporpa@te income tax at a rate of 17% in 2013. No &doge profit tax has been provided
as we have not had assessable profit that wasdearioe derived from Singapore during the yearsented.

Prior to January 1, 2008, our PRC operating enstitiere governed by thecome Tax Law of the PRC for Enterprises with ge
Investment and Foreign Enterprises and the Prou@id&Regulations of the PRC on Enterprises Income, or the old EIT Laws. Pursuant to
the old EIT Laws, PRC enterprises were generalbjesii to the enterprise income tax at a statutaty of 33% (30% state income tax plus 3%
local income tax). On March 16, 2007, the NatidP@bple’s Congress passed the Enterprise Incoméawxand on December 6, 2007, the
PRC State Council issued thmplementation Regulations of the Enterprise Incdiae Law, both of which became effective on January 1,
2008. The Enterprise Income Tax Law and its Impletai@on Regulations, or the EIT Law, applies a amf 25% enterprise income tax rate to
both foreign-invested enterprises and domestiaerises.

The EIT Law imposes a withholding tax of 10% onidénds distributed by a PRC foreign-invested emtgepto its immediate holding
company outside of China, if such immediate holdingipany is considered a “non-resident enterprs#iout any establishment or place
within China or if the received dividends have mmgection with the establishment or place of smumédiate holding company within China,
unless such immediate holding company’s jurisdictibincorporation has a tax treaty with China hatvides for a different withholding
arrangement. Holding companies in Hong Kong, faneple, are subject to a 5% withholding tax ratee Tayman Islands, where we are
incorporated, does not have such a tax treaty @lhiima. Thus, dividends paid to us by our subsidgimn China may be subject to the 10%
withholding tax if we are considered a “non-residemerprise” under the EIT Law. See “Item 3. Kaformation — D. Risk Factors — Risks
Related to Doing Business in China — It is unclebether we will be considered as a PRC ‘residetdrprise’ under the EIT Law, and
depending on the determination of our PRC ‘resiéamé¢rprise’ status, dividends paid to us by ou€RRbsidiaries may be subject to PRC
withholding tax, we may be subject to 25% PRC inedax on our worldwide income, and holders of olxS& or ordinary shares may be
subject to PRC withholding tax on dividends paidusyand gains realized on their transfer of our ABSordinary shares.”
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Critical Accounting Policies

We prepare financial statements in accordance Wigh GAAP, which requires us to make judgmentsieges and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of our assets anditiabiand the disclosure of our contingent asaattliabilities at the end of each fiscal period
and the reported amounts of revenues and expeuoseg @ach fiscal period. We continue to evaluhesé judgments and estimates based on
our own historical experience, knowledge and assessof current business and other conditionse@pectations regarding the future based
on available information and assumptions that wiebe to be reasonable, which together form ouishfas making judgments about matters
that are not readily apparent from other sourceseShe use of estimates is an integral compoofethie financial reporting process, our actua
results could differ from those estimates. Someurfaccounting policies require a higher degre@dgment than others in their application.

The selection of critical accounting policies, thégments and other uncertainties affecting apptioaof those policies and the sensitivity
of reported results to changes in conditions asdraptions are factors that should be consideredhwddewing our financial statements. We
believe the following accounting policies involeetmost significant judgments and estimates uséukipreparation of our financial
statements.

Revenue Recognition

Our revenues from leased hotels are derived froenatjipns of leased hotels, including the rentaboims, food and beverage sales and
souvenir sales. Revenues are recognized when rameccupied and food and beverages and souveaisol.

Our revenues from manachis ed and franchised hatelderived from franchisegreements where the franchisees are required;/t6)pmn
initial one-time franchise fee and (ii) an ongofr@nchise fee, the major part of which is chargeapgroximately 5.0% of the revenues of the
manachised and franchised hotels. Aside from themee-based fee, we also charge a central resamatstem usage fee and a monthly
system maintenance and support fee which are rezajwvhen services are provided. The one-time frisecfee, which is non-refundable, is
recognized when the mana chised and franchised dyptas for business, and we have fulfilled all commitments and obligations, including
assistance to the franchisees in property destgisehold improvement construction project manageragstems installation, personnel
recruiting and training. Ongoing franchise feesramgnized when the underlying service revenuesearognized by the franchisees’
operations. The system maintenance, support feeemdal reservation system usage fee is recognvbeth services are provided.

We account for hotel manager fees related to tieldhrander the mana chise program as revenuesidhir® the franchise agreements
under the manachise program, we charge the fraseshitxed hotel manager fees to cover the manachimtel managers’ salaries, social
welfare benefits and certain other out-of-pocketemses that we incur on behalf of the manachisogglh The hotel manager fee is recognize
as revenue monthly. During the years ended DeceBthe20 11 , 201 2 and 201 3, the hotel managsrtheat were recognized as revenue
were RMB43.0 million, RMB 72.1 million and RMB 1B6million, respectively.

Revenues derived from selling membership cardseasteld , manachis ed and franchised hotels aredeanree straight-line basis over the
estimated membership life which is estimated taeroximately two to five years dependent upon nesstip level. Membership life is
estimated at the time the membership card is sdédbon management’s industry experience and detanalated by our company, including
usage frequency and actual attrition. These estirate updated regularly to reflect actual memigereiention.

Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate the carrying value of our long-livededs for impairment by comparing the expected wadisted future cash flows of the
assets to the net book value of the assets ifindrigger events occur, such as receiving goventraening notification. Inherent in reviewing
the carrying amounts of the long-lived assetsesutse of various estimates. First, our managemast determine the usage of the asset.
Impairment of an asset is more likely to be recpgaiwhere and to the extent our management dettidesuch asset may be disposed of or
sold. Assets must be tested at the lowest levakrgdly the individual hotel, for which identifisbtash flows exist. If the expected
undiscounted future cash flows are less than theawk value of the assets, the excess of theau balue over the estimated fair value is
charged to current earnings. Fair value is based discounted cash flows of the assets at a ratimeleé reasonable for the type of asset and
prevailing market conditions, appraisals and, grapriate, current estimated net sales proceeds fiending offers. Future cash flow estimate:
are, by their nature, subjective and actual resniétg differ materially from our estimates. If ourgwing estimates of future cash flows are not
met, we may have to record additional impairmemirghs in future accounting periods. Our estimatessh flow are based on the current
regulatory, social and economic climates where aredact our operations as well as recent operatifgrnation and budgets for our business.
These estimates could be negatively impacted bygdwin laws and regulations, economic downtumetleer events affecting various forms
of travel and access to our hotels.
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Goodwill Impairment

Goodwill is required to be tested for impairmenleatst annually or more frequently if events orraes in circumstances indicate that
these assets might be impaired. If we determinitiieacarrying value of our goodwill has been imgdj the carrying value will be written
down.

We complete a two-step goodwill impairment teste Tirst step compares the fair values of each teyppunit to its carrying amount,
including goodwill. If the fair value of a reporgrunit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill is catsidered to be impaired and the second
step will not be required. If the carrying valueaofeporting unit exceeds its fair value, we waquadform the second step in our assessment
process and record an impairment loss to earnmtisetextent the carrying amount of the reportinig’sigoodwill exceeds its implied fair
value. We estimate the fair value of each reponting through internal analysis and external vatret, which utilize income and market
valuation approaches through the application oftakiped earnings and discounted cash flow. Thedeation techniques are based on a
number of estimates and assumptions, includingtbjected future operating results of the reporting, appropriate discount rates and long-
term growth rates. The significant assumptionsndigg our future operating performance are revegrogvth rates, discount rates and termina
values. If any of these assumptions changes, timaged fair value of our reporting unit will chasmgwvhich could affect the amount of good'
impairment charges, if any.

Customer Loyalty Program

Huazhu Club is our customer loyalty program. Ountbers can earn points based on spending at owdeasanachis ed and franchised
hotels and participating in certain marketing pawgs. Points can be redeemed for room night awardigiéts within two years after the points
are earned. Management determines the fair valtteediiture redemption obligation based on ceffiimulas which project the future point
redemption behavior based on historical experieincéyding an estimate of points that will neverrbdeemed, and an estimate of the points
that will eventually be redeemed as well as the& wmbe incurred in conjunction with the point reg#ion. The actual expenditure may differ
from the estimated liability recorded. Prior to Redry 28, 2009, we recorded estimated liabilitmsdll points earned by our customers as we
did not have sufficient historical information tetdrmine point forfeitures or breakage. Based araoaumulated knowledge on reward points
redemption and expiration, we began to apply hisabredemption rates in estimating the costs afifgeearned from March 1, 2009 onwards.

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes has been determiiséty the asset and liability approach of accogntim income taxes. Under this
approach, we recognize deferred tax assets arilitigesbbased on the differences between the firstatement carrying amounts and tax
basis of assets and liabilities. A valuation allaegis required to reduce the carrying amountstdrded tax assets if, based on the available
evidence, it is more likely than not that such tsaéll not be realized. Accordingly, the need stablish valuation allowances for deferred tax
assets is assessed periodically based on a metg-thkan-not realization threshold. This assessroensiders, among other matters, the nature
frequency and severity of current and cumulatissés, forecasts of future profitability, the dwatof statutory carryforward periods, our
experience with operating loss in the China’s ladiservice hotel industry, tax planning strategglemented and other tax planning
alternatives. Prior to 2009, we had significantraiag losses attributable to rapid expansion atated pre-opening costs incurred. As of
December 31, 20 11, 201 2 and 201 3, we hadreeféax assets generated from net loss carryforaided valuation allowance of RMB37.8
million, RMB 35.3 million and RMB39.4 million, reggtively. We expect many of our hotels that wergipwperation since 2010 will become
mature and generate sufficient taxable profit tlizetthe substantial portion of the net loss clmryard. If our operating results are less than
currently projected and there is no objectivelyifiedle evidence to support the realization of daferred tax asset, additional valuation
allowance may be required to further reduce ouerdefl tax asset. The reduction of the deferrecisart could increase our income tax
expenses and have an adverse effect on our resalperations and tangible net worth in the pemodhich the allowance is recorded.

55




Table of Contents

The provision for income taxes represents incomestaid or payable for the current year plus tienge in deferred taxes during the
year. Our tax rate is based on expected incomteiteip tax rates and tax planning opportunitiesilaisée in the various jurisdictions in whic
we operate. For interim financial reporting, waraste the annual tax rate based on projected texiabbme for the full year and record a
guarterly income tax provision in accordance whith anticipated annual rate. As the year progresgesefine the estimates of the year’s
taxable income as new information becomes availaidduding year-to-date financial results. Thisittoual estimation process often results in
a change to our expected effective tax rate foy#ee. When this occurs, we adjust the income taxigion during the quarter in which the
change in estimate occurs so that the year-tofitatasion reflects the expected annual tax ratgnicant judgment is required in determining
our effective tax rate and in evaluating its tasipons.

We recognize a tax benefit associated with an saicetax position when, in our judgment, it is mbkely than not that the position will
be sustained upon examination by a taxing authdfiby a tax position that meets the more-likelyrtim@t recognition threshold, we initially
and subsequently measure the tax benefit as thestaamount that we judge to have a greater th#nl&@lihood of being realized upon
ultimate settlement with a taxing authority. Owatiility associated with unrecognized tax bene§itadjusted periodically due to changing
circumstances, such as the progress of tax acdgs, law developments and new or emerging legislaBuch adjustments are recognized
entirely in the period in which they are identifigur effective tax rate includes the net impaatiednges in the liability for unrecognized tax
benefits and subsequent adjustments as considepedpaiate by management. We classify interestpamdlties recognized on the liability for
unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense.

Share-Based Compensation

The costs of share based payments are recognized consolidated financial statements based dnghant-date fair value over the
vesting. We determine fair value of our share aystias of the grant date using binomial option pgenodel and the fair value of our
nonvested restricted stocks as of the grant datedoan the fair market value of the underlying wady shares. Under the binomial option
pricing model, we make a number of assumptionsrddgg fair value including the expected price npl#iat which employee are likely to
exercise stock options, the expected volatilitpoif future ordinary share price, the risk freeriest rate and the expected dividend yield. In
July 2012, we granted (i) nonvested restrictedkstodth market conditions, the fair value of whighs determined using a Monte Carlo
simulation, and (ii) options and nonvested restdcttocks with performance conditions. Determinfregvalue of our share-based
compensation expense in future periods also regjthesinput of subjective assumptions around estidhtorfeitures of the underlying shares
and likely future performance. The compensatioreasps for the awards with performance conditiosgthaipon the Group’s judgment of
likely future performance and may be adjusted tnrieiperiods depending on actual performance. dhgpensation expenses for the awards
with market conditions are recognized during thguisite service period, even if the market condiidnever satisfied. We estimate our
forfeitures based on past employee retention ratesexpectations of future retention rates, andwllgprospectively revise our forfeiture rates
based on actual history. We estimate our futuréop@ance based on our historical results. Our corsaion charges may change based on
changes to our assumptions.

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth a summary of our smlidated results of operations, both in absoluteunt and as a percentage of net
revenues for the periods indicated. This infornrabould be read together with our consolidateanfoial statements and related notes

included elsewhere in this annual report.
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We have grown rapidly since we began our curresirtass of operating and managing a multi-brandl lgoteip in 2007. Our limited
operating history makes it difficult to predict duture operating results. We believe that the yyearear comparison of operating results
should not be relied upon as being indicative e performance.
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Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income
Data:

Revenues

Leased hotel

Manachis ed and franchised
hotels

Total revenue:

Less: Business tax and related
taxes

Net revenue

Operating costs and expenses
(2):

Hotel operating cos!

Selling and marketing expen:

General and administrative
expense:

Pre-opening expense

Total operating costs and
expense:

Other operating incom

Income from operation

Interest incomt

Interest expense

Other income (expens

Foreign exchange gain (los

Income before income tax

Income tax expens

Net income

Less: net income attributable
noncontrolling interes

Net income attributable 1
China Lodging Group,
Limited

For the Year Ended December 31

Note: (1) Includes sha-based compensation expenses as follows:

Sharebased compensation expen

2011 2012 2013
RMB % RMB % (RMB) (US$) %
(In thousands except percentage:
2,172,93. 96.¢ 3,069,43. 95.2 3,870,88 639,42! 92.¢
212,64 9.4 349,84 10.€ 549,95! 90,84¢ 13.2
2,385,57! 106.( 3,419,27: 106.( 4,420,84! 730,27: 106.1
135,98: 6.C 194,75: 6.C 252,21t 41,66: 6.1
2,249,59 100.( 3,224,52 100.( 4,168,62! 688,60 100.(
1,703,33 75.1 2,453,90: 76.1 3,181,66! 525,57: 76.2
94,75¢ 4.2 102,81« 3.2 138,12¢ 22,817 3.2
167,64. 7.4 224,11 7.C 284,75t 47,03¢ 6.€
184,29t 8.2 230,69( 7.2 211,28 34,90: 5.1
2,150,03: 95.t 3,011,571 93.5 3,815,83! 630,33: 91.t
7,58( 0.2 6,72: 0.3 27,75( 4,584 0.€
107,14t 4.€ 219,73: 6.8 380,54« 62,86 9.1
18,11: 0.€ 14,55 0.t 6,85¢ 1,13 0.2
882 0.C 822 0.1 81: 134 0.C
2,64¢ 0.1 2,20¢ 0.1 1,90 31t 0.C
15,93( 0.7 (2,000 (0.1) 21 3 0.C
142,95. 6.4 233,67: 7.2 388,51! 64,17¢ 9.2
24,81¢ 1.1 54,16¢ 1.6 104,82( 17,31¢ 2.5
118,13t 5.:2 179,50« 5.€ 283,69! 46,86: 6.€
3,30¢ 0.2 4,617 0.2 3,83 634 0.1
114,83. 5.1 174,88 54 279,85t 46,22¢ 6.7
Year Ended December 31
2011 2012 2013
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (USs$)
(In thousands)

15,48 20,83: 30,46¢ 5,03:
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Year Ended December 31, 201 3 Compared to Year Bridecember 31, 201 2

RevenuesOur net revenues increased by 29.3 % from RMB&2million in 201 2to RMB 4,168.6 million in 28.

Leased Hotels Revenues from our leased hotels increased by%6rbm RMB 3,069.4 million in 201 2 to RMB 3,880million in
201 3. This increase was primarily due to our icugd expansion of leased hotels from 465 hotels5#n694 hotel rooms as of
December 31, 201 2 to 565 hotels and 65,836 hotehs as of December 31, 201 3, partially offsealolecrease in RevPAR.
RevPAR for our leased hotels decreased from RMBi1i 281 2 to RMB 168 in 2013 primarily duedalecrease in the occupancy
of our leased hotels from 94% in 2012 to 90% inRAthich was mainly as a result of the relativadit sverall market, partially offs
by an increase in the average daily rate of owsdddnotels from RMB184 in 2012 to RMB187 in 2013.

Manachis ed and Franchised HotelRevenues from our manachis ed and franchisedshatageased by 57.2 % from RMB 349.8
million in 201 2 to RMB 550.0 million in 201 3 . Thincrease was primarily due to our continued egm of manachis ed hotels
from 516 hotels and 53,381 hotel rooms as of Deeer@h, 201 2 to 835 hotels and 84,437 hotel rosrsf ®ecember 31, 2013,
partially offset by a decrease in RevPAR. RevPARbier manachised hotels decreased from RMB163 12 20 RMB159 in 2013
primarily due to the relatively soft overall marlatd the city mix shifting toward lower-tier cities

Operating Costs and Expensedur total operating costs and expenses incréaseé.7% from RMB3,011.5 million in 2012 to
RMB3,815.8 million in 2013.

Hotel Operating CostsOur hotel operating costs increased by 29.7 % fRMB 2,453.9 million in 201 2 to RMB3,181.7 miltian
2013. This increase was primarily due to our exjwensf leased hotels from 465 hotels as of Decer8ligP01 2 to 565 hotels as of
December 31, 201 3 . The increase in personned,qoatt of hotel operating costs, was also attaibletto our expansion of
manachised hotels from 516 hotels as of Decemhe2@I2 to 835 hotels as of December 31, 2013. Oial loperating costs as a
percentage of net revenues increased slightly #f6rh% in 201 2 to 76.3% in 2013 .

Selling and Marketing Expense®ur selling and marketing expenses increased$/% from RMB 102.8 million in 201 2 to RMB
138.1 million in 2013. The increase was in linehnaur expansion of business and increase of regeug selling and marketing
expenses as a percentage of net revenues incriagaly from 3.2% in 201 2 to 3.3% in 2013 .

General and Administrative Expenseé3ur general and administrative expenses increasedRMB224.1 million in 2012 to
RMB284.8 million in 2013, primarily as a resultair business expansion. Our general and adminigrexpenses as a percentage o
net revenues decreased slightly from 7.0% in 261828% in 2013.

Pre-opening Expense®©ur pre-opening expenses decreased from RMB 280idn in 201 2 to RMB 211.3 million in 201 3,
primarily due to decrease in leased hotel operémgsshortened development cycle in 2013 . Quiopenring expenses as a percen
of net revenues de creased from 7.2 % in 201 21tékbin 2013 to primarily due to our expanded rexehase .

Other Operating Incoméur other operating income was RMB6.7 million andB27.8 million in 2012 and 2013, respectively, whic
mainly includes government grants and reimbursesnfeo government zoning. The prior period amotnatge been reclassified from an
offset to general and administrative expenses mfocm to the current year presentation.

Income from OperationsAs a result of the foregoing, we had income figmerations of RMB 380.5 million in 201 3 comparedricome
from operations of RMB219.7 million in 2012.

Interest Income (Expense), N&ur net interest income was RMB 6.0 million inl2®. Our interest income was RMB 6.9 million inl20
3, and our interest expense was RMB 0.9 milli@ur net interest income was RMB 13.8 million in ZD10ur interest income was RMB.6
million in 201 2 , and our interest expense was RMBmillion. The de crease in interest income fizfd 2 to 201 3 was primarily due to t he
decrease in the average balance of our cash aha:qassalents.

Other Income (ExpensePur other income was RMB 2.2 million and RMB1.8lion in 2012 and 2013, respectively, primarily
attributable to reimbursement from the depositdryuy ADSs for certain expenses incurred by uespect of the ADR program established
pursuant to the deposit agreement.
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Foreign Exchange Loss or GaiWe had foreign exchange gain of RMBO0.02 milliar2D1 3 compared to foreign exchange loss of RMB
2.0 million in 201 2 . Our foreign exchange los2012 was primarily attributable to the depreciatid the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar in
the first half of 2012 .

Income Tax ExpenseéOur tax expenses in creased from RMB 54.2 miliioA01 2 to RMB104.8 million in 201 3, primaritiue to the in
crease in our income before income taxes from RIABR 2 million in 201 2 to RMB388.5 million in 2013d the increase in our effective tax
rate . Our effective tax rate in creased from 28.t 201 2 to 27.0% in 201 3, primarily becauseliknefit of the tax holiday that we enjoyed
decreased in 2013 .

Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interedet income attributable to noncontrolling inténepresents joint venture partners’
share of our net income based on their equity éstan the leased hotels owned by the joint vestudet income attributable to noncontrolling
interest decreased from RMB4.6 million in 2012 tdB3.8 million in 2013, primarily due to increaseaass in some new joint ventures in 20

Net Income Attributable to China Lodging Group, lted . As a result of the foregoing, we had net incottiébaitable to China Lodging
Group, Limited of RMB279.9 million in 2013 compartmnet income attributable to China Lodging Groumited of RMB 174.9 million in
201 2.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from Operating Hot&BITDA (non-GAAP) was RMB841.8 million in 2013, cqared with EBITDA of
RMB562.9 million in 2012 . Adjusted EBITDA from Oming Hotels (non-GAAP) increased from RMB814.4liom in 2012 to RMB1,083.5
million in 2013. This change was primarily due lhe £xpansion of our hotel network.

Year Ended December 31, 201 2 Compared to Year Hridlecember 31, 201 1
RevenuesOur net revenues increased by 43.3 % from RMB2@#illion in 201 1 to RMB 3,224.5 million in 2@L.

* Leased HotelsRevenues from our leased hotels increased by%Xrdm RMB2,172.9 million in 201 1 to RMB 3,069xillion in
201 2 . This increase was primarily due to our icu@d expansion of leased hotels from 344 hoteads4@n514 hotel rooms as of
December 31, 201 1 to 465 hotels and 54,694 hotehs as of December 31, 201 2 . RevPAR for ouekkastels increased from
RMB167 in 201 1 to RMB 173 in 201 2 primarily dwethe increase in the proportion of mature hotgisrag our leased hotels.

*  Manachis ed and Franchised HotelRevenues from our manachis ed and franchisedshaotgeased by 64.5 % from RMB212.6
million in 201 1 to RMB 349.8 million in 201 2 . Thincrease was primarily due to our continued espa of manachis ed hotels
from 295 hotels and 31,107 hotel rooms as of Deegr@b, 201 1 to 516 hotels and 53,381 hotel romraf ®ecember 31, 201 2 .
RevPAR for our manachis ed hotels remained stabtheaeffect of a decrease in the average daiyafabur manachis ed hotels from
RMB174 in 201 1 to RMB 172 in 201 2 was offset lyiacrease of the occupancy rate of our manachimtals from 93% in 201 tb
95 % in 201 2 . The decrease in the average datityresulted primarily from (i) a higher peraae of our new manachis ed hotels
being in the ramp-up stage in 201 2 and (ii) atshithe mix of hotels toward smaller cities where average daily rates are lower.
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Operating Costs and Expensedur total operating costs and expenses increasdf.1 % from RMB 2,150.0 million in 201 1 to RMB
3,011.5 million in 201 2.

»  Hotel Operating CostsOur hotel operating costs increased by 44.1 ¥h fiRMB1,703.3 million in 201 1 to RMB 2,453.9 millian
201 2 . This increase was primarily due to our espan of leased hotels from 344 hotels as of Deegr8h, 201 1 to 465 hotels as of
December 31, 201 2 . The increase in personnesd,qoatt of hotel operating costs, was also attaibletto our expansion of
manachised hotels from 295 hotels as of Decemhe2(1l to 516 hotels as of December 31, 2012. Oial loperating costs as a
percentage of net revenues increased from 75.72@1rl to 76.1 % in 201 2 , primarily due to thergase in the cost of renovation,
labor, food and supplies resulting from generdhiidn .

« Selling and Marketing Expense®ur selling and marketing expenses increased®%8from RMB94.8 million in 201 1 to RMB
102.8 million in 201 2 . The increase was slowantthe increase in revenue resulting from our ssirexpansion. Our selling and
marketing expenses as a percentage of net reveeugeased from 4.2% in 201 1 to 3.2 % in 201 2ninadue to the benefit from
economies of scale and our cost-saving efforts .

*  General and Administrative Expenseé3ur general and administrative expenses increfasedRMB 167.6 million in 201 1 to RMB
224.1 million in 201 2, primarily as a result afrdousiness expansion. Our general and adminigtraiipenses as a percentage of ne
revenues de creased from 7.4 % in 201 1 to 7.0 201n2 , primarily due to the benefit from econosmé scale .

*  Pre-opening Expense®ur pre-opening expenses increased from RMB1gdl®n in 201 1 to RMB 230.7 million in 201 2 ,
primarily due to our acceleration of leased hoparings from 101 in 2011 to 121 in 2012, in patticthe increase in leased JI Hotel
openings from two in 2011 to eight in 2012 . Oudacale hotel product, JI Hotel, has higher prenoggexpense per hotel than our
economy hotel product, HanTing Hotel, due to higleat for the underlying property and larger rocoarat. The growth in JI Hotel
openings and the strong Jl Hotel pipeline alsordoutied to the increase of pre-opening expens812. Our praspening expenses
a percentage of net revenues de creased from 8.2#%ili1 to 7.2 % in 201 2 primarily due to expand®gnue base .

Other Operating Incoméur other operating income was RMB7.6 million andB6.7 million in 2011 and 2012, respectively, which
mainly includes government grants and reimbursesnfeo government zoning. The prior period amotnatge been reclassified from an
offset to general and administrative expenses mdoco to the current year presentation.

Income from OperationsAs a result of the foregoing, we had income figmerations of RMB 219.7 million in 201 2 comparedricome
from operations of RMB107.1 million in 201 1 .

Interest Income (Expense), Né&ur net interest income was RMB 13.8 million D122 . Our interest income was RMB 14nélion in 201
2, and our interest expense was RMB 0.8 millioar @et interest income was RMB17.2 million in 201Qur interest income was RMB18.1
million in 201 1, and our interest expense was RMBnillion . The de crease in interest income fizfd 1 to 201 2 was primarily due to t he
decrease in the average balance of our cash ahaqagralents.

Other Income (ExpensePur other income was RMB2.6 million and RMB 2.8lion in 2011 and 201 2, respectively, primarily
attributable to reimbursement from the depositdryuy ADSs for certain expenses incurred by uespect of the ADR program established
pursuant to the deposit agreement.

Foreign Exchange Loss or GaiwWe had foreigh exchange loss of RMB 2.0 milliar2D1 2 compared to foreign exchange gain of
RMB15.9 million in 201 1 . Our foreign exchangedas 2012 was primarily attributable to the depaition of the Renminbi against the U.S.
dollar in the first half of 2012. Our foreign exctge gain in 2011 was primarily attributable to #pgpreciation of the Renminbi against the U.S
dollar.

Income Tax Expenseéur tax expenses in creased from RMB24.8 miliilo201 1 to RMB 54.2 million in 201 2, primarilyd to the in
crease in our income before income taxes from RMBL#illion in 201 1 to RMB 233.7 million in 201&hd the increase in our effective tax
rate . Our effective tax rate in creased from 17id%201 1 to 23.2 % in 201 2, primarily because lilenefit of the tax holiday that we enjoyed
accounted for a smaller percentage of the incret@sedble income .

Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interedlet income attributable to noncontrolling inténepresents joint venture partners’
share of our net income based on their equity ésten the leased hotels owned by the joint vestuxet income attributable to noncontrolling
interest increased from RMB3.3 million in 201 1RMB 4.6 million in 201 2, primarily due to the i@&ase in the net income of our majority-
owned joint venture in 2012.

Net Income Attributable to China Lodging Group, lted . As a result of the foregoing, we had net incottiébaitable to China Lodging
Group, Limited of RMB 174.9 million in 201 2 comparto net income attributable to China Lodging Gxduimited of RMB114.8 million in
201 1.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from Operating HoteEBITDA (non-GAAP) was RMB 562.9 million in 201,Zompared with EBITDA
of RMB359.3 million in 201 1 . Adjusted EBITDA frof@perating Hotels (non-GAAP) increased from RMB35@illion in 201 1 to
RMB814.4 million in 201 2 . This change was prirhadue to the growth of our manachised hotels aatune leased hotels .
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Outstanding Indebtedness

In September 2008, we entered into a three-yeditdeeility with the Industrial and Commercial Baof China under which we can
borrow up to RMB172.0 million during the term ogtFacility. As of December 31, 2009, we had fullan down the facility and repaid
RMB35.0 million. In February 2010, we repaid thenegning RMB137.0 million. The weighted average iagt rates were 5.72% and 5.4% for
the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2010, rasgec€Certain commercial properties owned by Listaoperty (Suzhou) Co., Ltd., an
entity controlled by Mr. Qi Ji, our founder , exéige chairman and chief executive officeare pledged to secure such credit facility. Tnéit
facility expired in September 2011.

In January 2010, we entered into a credit facilitth the Industrial and Commercial Bank of Chinalenwhich we can borrow up to
RMB150.0 million by September 2011. Principal paytseare due on each anniversary date with the anpayable being dependent upon
amounts previously borrowed against the facilitg.a% December, 31, 2010, we had drawn down thetdiaidlity of RMB70.0 million and
repaid RMB70.0 million and had available creditifiacof RMB80.0 million for future borrowing. Theveighted average interest rate for
borrowings drawn under such credit was 4.86% ferytsar ended December 31, 2010. We did not drawdbis credit facility during the ye:
ended December 31, 2011. This credit facility iscallateralized. This credit facility expired ire@ember 2011.

In March 2012, we entered into a credit facilityttwihe Industrial and Commercial Bank of China unakich we can draw down up to
RMB500.0 million, subject to adjustment, by May 20,15 with the final tranche of repayment due inrdha2017. The interest rate for each
draw down is established on the draw-down datesadjusted annually, based on the loan interéststipulated by the People’s bank of
China for the corresponding period. As of Decen8igr2012, we had drawn down this credit facilifyRd1B1.0 million and repaid RMB1.0
million and RMB100.0 million of this credit facilitexpired. As of December, 31, 2013, we had draswrdnil and had available credit facility
of RMB399.0 million for future borrowing. The weitgd average interest rate for borrowings drawn usdeh credit was 6.9% for the year
ended December 31, 2012.

In September 2012, we entered into a three-yeaivieng credit facility with China Merchants Bankder which we can borrow up to
RMB300.0 million by October 9, 2015. As of DecemBér, 2012 and 2013, we had drawn down this cfedility of nil and RMB104.5
million and repaid nil and RMB 104.5 million, regpieely . The weighted average interest rate fardeings drawn under such credit facility
was 6.0% for the year ended December 31, 2013ebeBber 2013, we renewed the bank credit faciliyen which we can borrow up to
RMB500.0 million by December 11, 2016. The interasé for this credit facility was determined oe diraw-down date. As of December 31,
2013, a letter of guarantee of RMBO.7 million wssuied under this credit facility, and RMB499.3 ioillwas available for future borrowing.

In December 2012, we entered into a thirty-mon#ditrfacility with Luso International Banking Ltdnder which we can borrow up to
US$10.0 million by April 5, 2013. The interest rébe each draw-down is established on the draw-ddate and is based on the twelve-Month
London Interbank Offered Rate on the draw-down ghaie a margin of 2.7%. Each draw-down will be gudeed by a letter of guarantee or a
stand-by letter of credit. As of December 31, 2048 had drawn down this credit facility of US$0.2lion and repaid US$0.2 million. The
weighted average interest rate for borrowings dremater such credit facility was 3.54% for the yeaded December 31, 2013.

In December 2013, we entered into a one-year datfugan agreement with a subsidiary of Ctrip.coternational, Ltd., or Ctrip, and the
China Construction Bank Corporation, Shanghai Mimth&ubbranch, pursuant to which we can borrow upMd@300.0 million for a period
from January 6, 2014 to January 5, 2015. The istesde of this loan is 5.4%. According to a guszarietter between Ctrip and us, if the loan
is in default, we shall settle the unpaid princigatl interest with a number of our ordinary shatesarket price.

5.B. Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal sources of liquidity have been cashagated from operating activities, our sale ofgred shares, ordinary shares and
convertible notes through private placements, oitial public offering and borrowings from PRC comruial banks. Our cash and cash
equivalents consist of cash on hand and liquidstaents which have maturities of three months €8 ehen acquired and are unrestricted as
to withdrawal or use. As of December 31, 2013, &g éntered into binding contracts with lessorspfperties for our leased hotels under
development. As of December 31, 2013, we expecté@ttur approximately RMB1,275.9 million of capitpenditures in connection with
certain recently completed leasehold improvememtista fund the leasehold improvements of thesee&8dd hotels. We intend to fund this
planned expansion with our operating cash flowr,aash balance and our credit facilities .
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We have been able to meet our working capital nematswe believe that we will be able to meet oarking capital needs for at least the
next 12 months with our operating cash flow , éngstash balance and our credit facilities .

The following table sets forth a summary of ourtciews for the periods indicated:

For the Year Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activit 458,74( 715,72( 1,070,16! 176,77
Net cash used in investing activiti (734,57 (1,068,130 (1,152,24) (190,339
Net cash provided by financing activiti 13,83 19,89¢ 30,64¢ 5,06:
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents (16,467) 75€ (97€) (1617)

Net increas(decreasein cash and cash equivale (278,46() (331,75) (52,409 (8,657)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning ofdhe 1,060,06 781,60 449,84 74,30¢
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 781,60: 449,84« 397,43 65,65:

Operating Activities

In 20 11, 201 2 and 201 3, we financed our opegaictivities primarily through cash generatediroperations. We currently anticipate
that we will be able to meet our needs to fund af@ns in the next 12 months with operating casw

Net cash provided by operating activities amoumnte@MB1,070.2 million in 201 3, primarily attritaile to (i) our net income of RMB
283.7 million in 201 3, (ii) an add-back of RMB4@&3nillion in depreciation and amortization in 20{i#) an add-back of RMB187.2 million
in deferred rent because rental accrued on a btrhig basis exceeded rental paid out of our @mttral liabilities, and (iv) an increase of
RMB115.8 in deferred revenue primarily attributatileone-time membership fees in connection withlduazhu Club loyalty program as well
as advances received from customers and franchigegsally offset by an increase of other aseéMB50.2 million and an increase of
RMB42.3 million in prepaid rent .

Net cash provided by operating activities amoumteBMB 715.7 million in 201 2 , primarily attribuike to (i) our net income of RMB
179.5 million in 201 2, (ii) an add-back of RMB 238 million in depreciation and amortization in 2B1 (iii) an add-back of RMB 143.9
million in deferred rent because rental accrued straight-line basis exceeded rental paid outiotontractual liabilities, (iv) an increase of
RMB 90.5 million in deferred revenue primarily #dttitable to one-time membership fees in conneactith our HuaZhu Club loyalty program
as well as advances received from customers andHisees, and (v) an increase of RMB 93.2 milliopriepaid rent, which partially offset
factors (i) to (iv).

Net cash provided by operating activities amoumteBMB458.7 million in 2011, primarily attributabte (i) our net income of RMB118.1
million in 2011, (ii) an add-back of RMB236.9 mdh in depreciation and amortization in 2011, @ii) add-back of RMB92.9 million in
deferred rent because rental accrued on a striighbasis exceeded rental paid out of our conteddiabilities (iv) an increase of RMB92.8
million in deferred revenue primarily attributatteone-time membership fees in connection withtduazhu Club loyalty program as well as
advances received from customers and franchiséean (ncrease of RMB75.8 million in prepaid remhich partially offset factors (i) to
(iv) and (vi) an increase of RMB35.7 million in éefed taxes, which partially offset factors (iXi9).
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Net cash provided by operating activities incredsesh RMB 715.7 million in 201 2 to RMB1,070.2 nidh in 2013, primarily due to
(i) an increase in the add back of our depreciadioth amortization from RMB347.6 million in 2012R3B463.1 million in 2013, (ii) an
increase in our net income from to RMB179.5 milliar2012 to RMB283.7 million in 2013 and (iii) ancrease in deferred revenue from
RMB90.5 million in 2012 to RMB115.8 million in 2013

Net cash provided by operating activities incredsesh RMB458.7 million in 2011 to RMB 715.7 millian 201 2 , primarily due to (i) an
increase in the add back of our depreciation angriration from RMB236.9 million in 2011 to RMB34/million in 2012, (ii) an increase in
our net income from RMB118.1 million in 2011 to RMBO.5 million in 2012 and (iii) an increase in deég rent from RMB92.9 million in
2011 to RMB143.9 million in 2012.

Investing Activities

Our cash used in investing activities in 2013 imprily related to our leasehold improvements, pase of equipment, fixtures and
software used in leased hotels, acquisition ofla@ted our investment in Suzhou Kangdu Property Omited (“Kangdu”), Starway HK,
UBOX International Holdings Co Limited (“UBOX"). 12011, 2012 and 2013, we experienced net castomustfirom investing activities.

Net cash used in investing activities increasethfRMB 1,068.1 million in 201 2 to RMB1,152.2 miltian 2013, primarily due to (i) an
increase in our purchases of property and equipfm@mt RMB 998.1 million in 201 2 to RMB1,072.6 nidh in 2013 and (ii) an increase in
our purchase of lonterm investments from RMB28.1 million in 2012 to BBY.7 million in 2013, partially offset by an ina®e in the amou
received as a result of government zoning of RMBI5illion in 2013.

Net cash used in investing activities increaseothfRMB734.6 million in 201 1 to RMB 1,068.1 millian 201 2 , primarily due to (i) an
increase in our purchases of property and equipfremt RMB768.8 million in 201 1 to RMB 998.1 millioin 201 2 and (ii) a decrease in our
proceeds from sales of short-term investments fRRdB 1 30.0 million in 201 1 to nil in 201 2 . Thedrease in our purchases of property and
equipment was primarily due to (i) our acceleragpansion of our leased hotel network, and (iiln@nease in the number of our leased Ji
Hotels opened and under development which havglehper room renovation cost compared with owstiép HanTing Hotel.

Financing Activities
Our major financing activities since 2011 considbans with PRC commercial banks.

Net cash provided by financing activities increaBedh RMB 19.9 million in 201 2 to RMB30.6 millioim 2013. Net cash provided by
financing activities in 201 3 primarily consistefi(i) proceeds of RMB 105.8 million from short-teihebt, (ii) proceeds of RMB 28.1 million
from issuance of ordinary shares upon exercis@tibns and (iii) excess tax benefit from share-dasmmpensation in the amount of RMB
14.6 million, partially offset by (i) the repaymesftRMB 105.8 million from short-term debt, (ii)éhrepayment of funds advanced from
noncontrolling shareholders in the amount of RM& illion, (iii) acquisition of noncontrolling intest in the amount of RMB4.2 million and
(iv) dividend paid to noncontrolling interest hotdén the amount of RMB3.2 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities increaBedh RMB13.8 million in 201 1 to RMB 19.9 millioim 201 2 . Net cash provided by
financing activities in 201 2 primarily consistefd(i) proceeds of RMB 18.5 million from issuanceartiinary shares upon exercise of options,
(ii) excess tax benefit from share-based compessatithe amount of RMB 4.3 million and (iii) fundslvanced from noncontrolling
shareholders in the amount of RMB 3.0 million, [zdist offset by the dividend paid to noncontrollingerest holders in the amount of R\N3EE
million and the repayment of funds advanced fromaamtrolling shareholders in the amount of RMB iflion.

Restrictions on Cash Transfers to Us

We are a holding company with no material operatiohour own. We conduct our operations primaitilgough our subsidiaries in China.
As a result, our ability to pay dividends and twafice any debt we may incur depends upon dividpaidisto us by our subsidiaries. If our
subsidiaries or any newly formed subsidiaries irdrlst on their own behalf in the future, the instemts governing their debt may restrict thei
ability to pay dividends to us. In addition, oubsidiaries are permitted to pay dividends to uy onit of their retained earnings, if any, as
determined in accordance with PRC accounting staisdand regulations. Pursuant to laws applicablntiies incorporated in the PRC, our
subsidiaries in the PRC must make appropriatioos fafter-tax profit to non-distributable reserveds. These reserve funds include one or
more of the following: (i) a general reserve, &i) enterprise expansion fund and (iii) a staff lsomod welfare fund. Subject to certain
cumulative limits, the general reserve fund recquar annual appropriation of 10% of after-tax pr@s determined under accounting
principles generally accepted in the PRC at eaeln-gad); the other fund appropriations are at thisigliaries’ discretion. These reserve funds
can only be used for the specific purposes of priter expansion, staff bonus and welfare, and ardistributable as cash dividends. In
addition, due to restrictions on the distributidrsbare capital from our PRC subsidiaries, theeslapital of our PRC subsidiaries is consid
restricted. As a result of the PRC laws and re@nat as of December 31, 201 3, approximately RMEBLI0.9 million was not available for
distribution to us by our PRC subsidiaries in thef of dividends, loans, or advances.
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Furthermore, under regulations of the SAFE, theriphi is not convertible into foreign currencies @apital account items, such as loi
repatriation of investments and investments outsfdehina, unless the prior approval of the SAFBb&ined and prior registration with the
SAFE is made.

The EIT Law provides that enterprises establishedide of China whose “de facto management bodieslocated in China are
considered “resident enterprises.” Currently, tregeeno detailed rules or precedents governingtheedures and specific criteria for
determining “de facto management body.” See “ltédmAdditional Information — E. Taxation — PRC Taixet.”

The EIT Law imposes a withholding tax of 10% onidiénds distributed by a foreign-invested enterpidsiés immediate holding company
outside of China, if such immediate holding compengonsidered a “non-resident enterprise” withemut establishment or place within China
or if the received dividends have no connectiomulie establishment or place of such immediateihgldompany within China, unless such
immediate holding company’s jurisdiction of incorption has a tax treaty with China that providesafdifferent withholding arrangement.
Holding companies in Hong Kong, for example, afgjett to a 5% withholding tax rate. The Caymanridi where we are incorporated, does
not have such a tax treaty with China. Thus, divitiepaid to us by our subsidiaries in China maguigect to the 10% withholding tax if we
are considered a “non-resident enterprise” undeEifi Law.

The EIT Law provides that PRC “resident enterpfisee generally subject to the uniform 25% entes@income tax rate on their
worldwide income. Therefore, if we are treated &R& “resident enterprise,” we will be subject ®@income tax on our worldwide income
at the 25% uniform tax rate, which could have apaot on our effective tax rate and an adverse efieour net income and results of
operations, although dividends distributed from BRC subsidiaries to us would be exempt from th€ BRidend withholding tax, since such
income is exempted under the EIT Law to a PRC esgicecipient.

We do not expect any of such restrictions or ta@dsgave a material impact on our ability to meeat@ash obligations.
Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures were incurred primarilg@mnection with leasehold improvements, investsmanfurniture, fixtures and
equipment and technology, information and operatfigonftware. Our capital expenditures totaled RM&8Imillion, RMB 1,200.0nillion and
RMB1,097.9 million in 20 11, 201 2 and 201 3 pedtively. Our capital expenditures in 201 3 cangiskMB1,093.6 million in property and
equipment and RMB4.3 million in software. We witintinue to make capital expenditures to meet tipeebed growth of our operations and
expect our cash balance , cash generated frompauating activities and credit facilities will memir capital expenditure needs in the
foreseeable future.

5.C. Research and Development, Patents and Licenset.

See “Item 4. Information on the Company — B. Buss®verview — Hotel Information Platform and Opinadél Systems” and “—
Intellectual Property”.

5.D. Trend Information

One of our wholly owned subsidiaries, Hanting Taidbgy (Suzhou) Co., Ltd., as a recognized softva@eelopment entity located at
Suzhou Industrial Park in Suzhou of PRC, is emtittea two-year exemption and three-year 50% réslustarting from the first profit making
year after absorbing all prior ye’ tax losses. Hanting Technology (Suzhou) Co., btk entered into the first tax profitable yeartfa year
ended December 31, 2011. Therefore, the five-yeaog for favourable tax treatment is from Janugrg011 to December 31, 2015. Starting
from 2016, Hanting Suzhou will be subject to statyincome tax rate of 25% unless the subsidiappbees qualified for other preferential tax
treatment. The aggregate amount and per sharé effeax holidays were as follows:
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Year Ended December 31
2011 2012 2013
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB)
(in thousands,
except per share data

Aggregate amour 24,15¢ 28,13¢ 12,72
Per share effe—basic 0.1C 0.12 0.0t
Per share effe—diluted 0.1C 0.11 0.0t

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this annpaltenve are not aware of any trends, uncertaintiesiands, commitments or events
since January 1, 2013 that are reasonably likehai@ a material adverse effect on our net revenuesme, profitability, liquidity or capital
resources, or that caused the disclosed finamdfiation to be not necessarily indicative of fetoperating results or financial conditions.

5.E. Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Other than operating lease and purchase obligasiehforth in the table under “Item 5. Operating &mancial Review and Prospectsk—
Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations,” have not entered into any financial guaranteeslf@racommitments to guarantee the
payment obligations of any third parties. We haoteantered into any derivative contracts that adexed to our shares and classified as
shareholder’s equity, or that are not reflectedunconsolidated financial statements. Furthermeeedo not have any retained or contingent
interest in assets transferred to an unconsolidatéty that serves as credit, liquidity or markisk support to such entity. We do not have any
variable interest in any unconsolidated entity iratvides financing, liquidity, market risk or ciegupport to us or engages in leasing, hedgin
or research and development services with us.

5.F. Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth our contractual ghtions as of December 31, 2013:

Payment Due in the year ending December 3 Payment Due
Total 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter
(In RMB millions)
Operating Lease Obligatiol 18,81« 1,51¢ 1,66¢ 1,67C 1,65 1,604 10,69¢
Purchase Obligatior 78 78 — — — — —
el 18,89: 1,597 1,66¢ 1,67( 1,657 1,602 10,69t

Our operating lease obligations related to ourgaltions under lease agreements with lessors déased hotels. Our purchase obligation:
primarily consisted of contractual commitments ameection with leasehold improvements and insialtabf equipment for our leased hotels.

5.G. Safe Harbor

This annual report on Form 20-F contains forwaigking statements that are based on our managentetiess and assumptions and on
information currently available to us. These stants relate to future events or to our future foanperformance and involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factor$ i@y cause our or our industry’s actual resutigells of activity, performance or
achievements to be materially different from anyfe results, levels of activity, performance dniagements expressed or implied by these
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statateénclude, but are not limited to, statementsuébo
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* our anticipated growth strategies, including depilg new hotels at desirable locations in a tinsely cost-effective manner and
launching a new hotel brand;

« our future business development, results of opmratand financial condition;
» expected changes in our revenues and certain cespense items;
e our ability to attract customers and leverage aant; and

» trends and competition in the lodging industry.

”ou ” w

In some cases, you can identify forward-lookingesteents by terms such as “may,” “could,” “will,”"feuld,” “would,” “expect,” “plan,”
“intend,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “pmict,” “potential,” “future,” “is/are likely to,” ‘project” or “continue” or the negative of these
terms or other comparable terminology. These sttésrare only predictions. You should not placeugneliance on forward-looking
statements because they involve known and unknisks, uncertainties and other factors, which arspime cases, beyond our control and
which could materially affect results. Factors thmty cause actual results to differ materially frcumrent expectations include, among other
things, those listed under “Item 3. Key InformatienD. Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this annupbre If one or more of these risks or
uncertainties occur, or if our underlying assummiprove to be incorrect, actual events or resudtg vary significantly from those implied or

projected by the forward-looking statements. Navimd-looking statement is a guarantee of futuréoperance.

The forward-looking statements made in this annegabrt relate only to events or information ashaf tlate on which the statements are
made in this annual report. We undertake no ohtigab update any forwarkboking statements to reflect events or circumstarafter the da
on which the statements are made or to reflecbticarrence of unanticipated events.

ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES
6.A. Directors and Senior Management
The following table sets forth the name, age arsitipm of each of our directors and executive @fficas of the date of this annual report.

The business address of all of our directors aedive officers is No. 2266 Honggiao Road, Changmistrict, Shanghai 200336, People’s
Republic of China.

Directors and Executive Officers Age Position/Title
Qi Ji 47 Founder, Executive Chairman of the Board of Dires;t@hief Executive Office
John Jiong Wi 46 Cc-founder, Independent Direct

Tong Tong Zha 47 Cc-founder, Independent Direct

Min Fan 48 Director

Yongjian Sur 47 Director

Yan Huang 46 Independent Directc

Joseph Choy 52 Independent Directc

Min (Jenny) Zhan( 40 Chief Financial Officer and Chief Strategy Offic
Yunhang Xie 45 Chief Operating Office

Hui Jin 36 Executive Vice Presidel

Qi Jiis our founder and has also served as the exeathaieman of our board since February 2007. He sdseed as our chief executive
officer from 2007 to August 2009 and returned ts thle in January 2012. Mr. Ji has served on e dbas a director for UBOX since
June 2012. He co-founded Home Inns & Hotels Managerimc., or Home Inns, and served as its chief@xee officer from January 2001 to
January 2005. He also co-founded Ctrip, one ofdtgest online travel services provider s in Chindl, 999, acted as its chief executive officer
and president until December 2001, and currentiyeseon Ctrip’s board as an independent directidor Bo founding Ctrip, Mr. Ji was the
chief executive officer of Shanghai Sunflower Higaeh Group, which he founded in 1997. He headedt#ést China Division of Beijing
Zhonghua Yinghua Intelligence System Co., Ltd. fro®95 to 1997. Mr. Ji received both his Master'd Bachelor’s degrees from Shanghai
Jiao Tong University.

John Jiong Wy a co-founder of our company, has served as oectdir since January 2007. He is the founder andddgiag Partner of
F&H Fund Management Pte. Ltd. He served as theuferRartner of Northern Light Venture Capital fr@@08 to 2010 and was an angel
investor and the Chief Technology Officer of Alia@Group from 2000 to 2007. Prior to joining AlibaBeaoup, he worked as an engineer or
manager in several companies in the Silicon Vailegluding Oracle and Yahoo! Inc. Mr. Wu receivesd Bachelor of Science in Computer
Science degree from the University of Michigan.
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Tong Tong Zhaga cofounder of our company, has served as our diresth@e February 2007. She also serves as a memtrer bbard ¢
directors of China Education & Technology Group lted. She was the General Manager of Shanghai Pesiey Health Technology
Development Co., Ltd. from 2004 to 2006, the Gelndienager of Shanghai Hong Ying Hi-Tech Co., Ltanfi 1999 to 2001, and the Deputy
General Manager of Shanghai Xie Cheng Science antology Co., Ltd. from 1997 to 1998. Ms. Zhaeeieed her Master of Science deg
from Shanghai Jiao Tong University and obtainedMaster of Business Administration degree from McGniversity.

Min Fanhas served as our director since March 2010. ldaésof the co-founders of Ctrip and has serveti@asite chairman of its board
of directors since March 2013, as a member ofatrd of director since October 2006 and as itsigees since February 2009. Previously,
Mr. Fan served as Ctrip’s chief executive officemfi January 2006 to February 2013, as its chiefadipg officer from November 2004 to
January 2006 and as its executive vice president #000 to November 2004. From 1997 to 2000, Mn. Was the chief executive officer of
Shanghai Travel Service Company, a leading domgstiel agency in China. From 1990 to 1997, heextns the deputy general manager an
in a number of other senior positions at Shangleai Ksia Hotel Management Company, which was ortbefeading hotel management
companies in China. In addition to his position€atp, Mr. Fan currently serves on the boards @mdpensation committees of PerfectEnergy
International, Ltd., ChinaEdu Corporation and 99uJdourism Operating Group. Mr. Fan received hisiMds and Bachelor's degrees from
Shanghai Jiao Tong University. He also studieth@tliausanne Hotel Management School of Switzerilai®95.

Yongjian Surhas served as our director since November 201 Radeseveral years of experience in constructiordamdlopment of
luxury hotel s and office building s . He is thaufer of B.M. Holding Group and has served as thaignan of its board of directors since
2005. B.M. Holding Group is the owner of both ShaaigPuxi InterContinental Hotel and Shanghai Fressl@ Zone Sheraton Hotel. Prior to
that , Mr. Sun served Baosteel Group as senior gaard its operation department. Mr. Sun receiviscexecutive Mastes degree from Chir
Europe International Business School. Mr. Sun hisothe title of senior economist in China.

Yan Huandhas served as our independent director since Ji0ié Ble has been a General Partner of CDH Vengsimes 2006 and was
Associated Director of Intel Capital from 2004 @03. Mr. Huang received his Bachelor's degree im@ater Science from Zhejiang
University.

Joseph Chownas served as our independent director since A@idl. He has over 20 years of experience in catpdinance, financial
advisory and management and has held senior exearnd managerial positions in various public ardape companies. Mr. Chow was
recently a managing director of Moelis and Compamg was previously a managing director at Goldmash$ (Asia) LLP. Prior to that, he
served as an independent financial consultanthia$ financial officer of Harbor Networks Limitednd as chief financial officer of China
Netcom (Holdings) Company Limited. Prior to tl, Mr. Chow served as the director of strategic piag of Bombardier Capital, Inc., as vice
president of international operations of Citigrauml as the corporate auditor of GE Capital. Mr.\€lkarrently sits on the board as a director
for Synutra International, Inc. , a company listedNASDAQ, and an independent non-executive dirdatolntime Department Store (Group)
Co., Ltd ., a company listed on the Stock Excharfgéong Kong . Mr. Chow obtained a Bachelor of Adeggree in political science from
Nanjing Institute of International Relatioand a Master of Business Administration degree frloenUniversity of Maryland at College Park.

Min (Jenny) Zhandpas served as our chief strategy officer since Niner 2013, our chief financial officer since Ma2®08 and the
Executive Vice President of Finance from Septen20@7 . Prior to joining us, she served as the FKiadbdirector of Eli Lilly (Asia) Inc.,
Thailand Branch and the Chief Financial Office AgIMCO Casting (Beijing) Company, Ltd. She also kext previously with McKinsey &
Company, Inc. as a consultant. Ms. Zhang has semélde board as a director for Synutra Internatioimc. since February 2011. Shigtainec
her Master of Business Administration degree froanidrd Business School and received both MastadsBachelor’'s degrees from the
University of International Business and Economics.
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Yunhang Xidnas served as our chief operating officer sincal 2012. He has more than 1 6 years of working eepee in the IT
industry. Prior to joining us, Mr. Xie held sevelahdership roles in Digital China Networks Cogd.Loar DCN , a leading network equipment
and solutions provider, since 2000. He acted a&tmeeral Manager of DCN from 2005 to 2012, formatatorporate development strategy
and managing day-tday operations. From 1997 to 2000, Mr. Xie sernve&®aputy General Manager at the network divisiohefovo Scienc
and Technology Development Co., Ltd. Mr. Xie reeeia Master of Business Administration degree f@imeung Kong Graduate School of
Business, and a Bachelor’s degree in engineerarg 8hanghai Jiao Tong University.

Hui Jinjoined us in 2005 and has served as director oDawelopment Department and Vice President of aou@, respectively. Mr. Jin
is currently our Executive Vice President mainlgpensible for overseeing the work of hotel develeptrand construction, and franchise
business. Prior to joining us, Mr. Jin worked withme Inns & Hotels Management Inc. Mr. Jin receifielExecutive Master’s degree from
China Europe International Business School andch@8ar of Science degree in Psychology from the Easa Normal University.

Employment Agreements

We have entered into an employment agreement waith ef our named executive officers. Each of ouneexecutive officers is
employed for a specified time period, which will fsetomatically extended unless either we or theaguhaxecutive officer gives prior notice to
terminate such employment. We may terminate the@ment for cause, at any time, without noticeemuneration, for certain acts, includ
but not limited to the conviction of a criminal effce and negligent or dishonest acts to our dettidenamed executive officer may terminate
his or her employment at any time with a one-mqantor written notice.

Each named executive officer has agreed to holdh, dharing and after the termination or expiry of br her employment agreement, in
strict confidence, and not to use, except as reduir the performance of his or her duties in ceotine with the employment, any of our
confidential information or trade secrets or thafential or proprietary information of any thipdrty received by us and for which we have
confidential obligations. In addition, each nam&dautive officer has agreed to be bound by non-aditipn restrictions. Specifically, each
named executive officer has agreed not to, duris@hher employment with us and for a period aof tyears following his or her termination
with our company, be engaged as employee or irhanctipacity to participant directly or indirecitlyany business that is in competition with
ours. Each named executive officer also agreesrply with all material applicable laws and regigas related to his or her responsibilitie:
our company as well as all material written corp@@nd business policies and procedures of our anynp

6.B. Compensation

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 201 3 agigeegate cash compensation and benefits that béqgpaur directors and executive
officers were approximately RMB8.2 million. No péms retirement or similar benefits have been s&teaor accrued for our executive offic
or directors. We have no service contracts with@yur directors providing for benefits upon tenation of employment.

Share Incentive Plans

In February 2007, our board of directors and oaraholders adopted our 2007 Global Share Planricaaind retain the best available
personnel for positions of substantial respongihito provide additional incentives to selectecpbéyees, directors, and consultants and to
promote the success of our business. Our 2007 C&itzae Plan was subsequently amended in DeceriB&t Zen million ordinary shares
may be issued under our amended and restated 200@lGhare Plan, or the Amended and Restated RR0w

In June 2007, our board of directors and our stddeins adopted our 2008 Global Share Plan witts#imee purpose as our 2007 Global
Share Plan. Our 2008 Global Share Plan was substygaenended in October 2008. Seven million ordirerares may be issued under our
amended and restated 2008 Global Share Plan, éntiemded and Restated 2008 Plan.

In September 2009, our board of directors and bareholders adopted our 2009 Share Incentive Pillinpwrposes similar to our 2007
Global Share Plan and 2008 Global Share Plan. G2® Share Incentive Plan was subsequently amend@dtober 2009 and August 20115
million ordinary shares may be issued under ourrateé 2009 Share Incentive Plan, or the Amended P0@®
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Plan Administration The compensation committee appointed by our badndinisters all of our share incentive plans. ®irJi has been
delegated the authority to grant, in his sole diian, option and restricted stock to be issueceundr share incentive plans to any of our
employees and consultants except for our direeodsexecutive officers. The aggregate number aeshzovered by any single grant he m:
shall not exceed 500,000 ordinary shares.

Types of AwardsThe following briefly describes the principal feges of the various awards that may be granteémmgr Amended and
Restated 2007 and 2008 Plans.

*  Options. Each option agreement must specify the exergise.prhe exercise price of an option must notdss than 100% of the fair
market value of the underlying shares on the opdi@mt date, and a higher percentage may be reldire term of an option granted
under the Amended and Restated 2007 and 2008 Rlastsnot exceed ten years from the date the ofstigranted, and a shorter term
may be required.

e  Share Purchase Right#A share purchase right is a right to purchaseicésd stock. Each share purchase right undeAthended
and Restated 2007 and 2008 Plans must be evidegaedestricted stock purchase agreement betwegpuiithaser and us. The
purchase price will be determined by the administral he share purchase rights will automaticalgiee if not exercised by the
purchaser within 30 days after the grant date.

The following briefly describes the principal feas of the various awards that may be granted umgeAmended 2009 Plan:

e Options. The purchase price per share under an optiorbeitletermined by a committee appointed by ourcaad set forth in the
award agreement. The term of an option grantedruhdeAmended 2009 Plan must not exceed ten yearsthe grant date, and a
shorter term may be required.

» Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Unite award of restricted stock is a grant of owdimary shares subject to restrictions the
committee appointed by our board may impose. Airtstl stock unit is a contractual right that isdminated in our ordinary shares,
each of which represents a right to receive theevaf a share or a specified percentage of suclewglon the terms and conditions
forth in the Amended 2009 Plan and the applicablard agreement.

e Other Stock-based Award3he committee is authorized to grant other stoaged awards that are denominated or payable in or
otherwise related to our ordinary shares suchak stppreciation rights and rights to dividends divitlend equivalents. Terms and
conditions of such awards will be determined bydbmmittee appointed by our board. Unless the asvare granted in substitution
for outstanding awards previously granted by aityetitat we acquired or combined, the value ofd¢besideration for the ordinary
shares to be purchased upon the exercise of sumfisishall not be less than the fair market vafubeounderlying ordinary shares
the grant date.

Vesting ScheduleAs of the date of this annual report, we havet into option agreements and restricted stoccdagreements
respectively under our Amended and Restated 2002@88 Plans and our Amended 2009 Plan. Pursuanirttypical option agreement, 50%
of the options granted shall vest on the secondrarsary of the vesting commencement date spedifidde corresponding option agreement,
and 1/48 of the options shall vest each month #fmeover the next two years on the first dayadflemonth, subject to the optionee’s
continuing to provide services to us. Pursuantitheestricted stock award agreement, 50% of tteicked stock granted shall vest on the
second anniversary of the vesting commencementspatefied in the corresponding restricted stockraagreement, and 1/8 of the restrictec
stock shall vest each six-month period thereafter the next two years on the last day of eachrsixth period, subject to the grantee’s
continuing to provide services to us.

Termination of the Amended and Restated 2007 aB8 Rans and the Amended 2009 Pl&dur Amended and Restated 2007 and 2008
Plans and our Amended 2009 Plan will terminate0ih72 2018 and 2019, respectively. Our board ofctlirs may amend, suspend, or termi
our Amended and Restated 2007 and 2008 Plans arshuended 2009 Plan at any time. No amendmentadilbe, suspension, or termination
of these plans shall materially and adversely imibes rights of any participant with respect tocanstanding award, unless mutually agreed
otherwise between the participant and the admatistr
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The following tables summarize options and resdatocks that we have granted to our directorseardutive officers and to other
individuals as a group under our share incentie@sl

Ordinary Shares
Underlying Options Exercise Price
Name Awarded ) (US$/Share) Date of Grant Date of Expiration
Qi Ji 400,00( 1.5 October 1, 200! October 1, 201!
755,672 2.7¢ July 17, 201: July 17, 201¢
Tong Tong Zha 100,00( 1.5¢ October 1, 200! October 1, 201!
John Jiong Wi 100,00( 1.5¢ October 1, 200! October 1, 201!
Yan Huanc * 1.5¢ October 1, 200! October 1, 201!
Tuo (Matthew) Zhang* * 1.40, July 1, 2007, July 1, 2017,
1.53 August 3, 2009 August 3, 2019
1.5 November 20, 200 November 20, 201
Min (Jenny) Zhan¢ * 1.40, October 1, 2007 October 1, 2017
1.5¢ November 20, 200 November 20, 201
2.7¢€ July 17, 2012 July 17, 201¢
Yunhang Xie * 2.7¢ July 17, 201: July 17, 201¢
Hui Jin * 0.50/ Feburary 4, 200/ February 4, 201/
4.26¢ March 31, 201: March 31, 201°
Other individuals as a group 13,008,80 0.504.7¢ February 4, 2007 — February 4, 2017 —
January 20, 201 July 20, 202(
Ordinary Shares
Underlying Restricted
Name Stocks Awarded Date of Grant
Qi Ji 200,00( August 6, 201:
649,0042 July 17, 201-
Min (Jenny) Zhan * July 17, 201z
Yunhang Xie * July 17, 201z
Joseph Chov * August 8, 201«
Hui Jin * March 31, 2011
July 2, 2012
July 1,2012
Other individuals as a grot 2,114,70: February 7, 201— December 30, 201
* Upon exercise of all options granted, would beriaific own less than 1% of our outstanding ordinsinares.

** Resigned as vice chairman of the board of direabmir company in November 2013

(1) Includes options to purchase an aggregate of B84%4rdinary shares that have been exercised bgic@fficers and options to
purchase an aggregate of 9,572,794 ordinary skizaebave been exercised by certain employees.

(2) The number of ordinary shares underlying optiors rastricted stocks awarded will vary dependingrupbether certain performance
conditions and market conditions are satisfied.

6.C. Board Practices
General

Our board of directors currently consists of sedigactors. Under our amended and restated memonaadd articles of association,
which came into effect upon our initial public affeg, our board of directors shall consist of astetwo directors. Our directors shall be ele:
by the holders of ordinary shares. There is nogdtwding requirement for qualification to serveaamember of our board of directors.

Our board of directors may exercise all the poveéthe company to borrow money, mortgage or chasgendertaking, property and
uncalled capital, and issue debentures, debentinck and other securities whenever money is bordooveas security for any debt, liability or

obligation of the company or of any third party.

We believe that each of Ms. Tong Tong Zhao, Mrnldiong Wu, Mr. Joseph Chow and Mr. Yan Huang ar&radependent director” as
that term is used in NASDAQ corporate governandestu
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Duties of Directors

Under Cayman Islands law, our directors have a ditgyalty to act honestly in good faith with @&w to our best interests. Our directors
also have a duty to exercise the skill they acgyadissess and such care and diligence that a @ag@rudent person would exercise in
comparable circumstances. In fulfilling their datiycare to us, our directors must ensure compliaviteour memorandum and articles of
association.

Terms of Directors and Executive Officers

Each of our directors holds office until a succes$ss been duly elected and qualified. All of oxeautive officers are appointed by and
serve at the discretion of our board of directors.

Board Committees

We have established two committees under the bafadtectors — the audit committee and the compgmsaommittee. We have
adopted a charter for each of the board committeash committee’s members and functions are destiielow. We currently do not plan to
establish a nominations committee. As a foreigmate issuer, we are permitted to follow home couotrporate governance practices under
Rule 5615(a)(3) of the NASDAQ Marketplace RulesisThiome country practice of ours differs from RE&D5(e) of the NASDAQ
Marketplace Rules regarding implementation of a inations committee, because there are no speeijigirements under Cayman Islands lav
on the establishment of a nominations committee.

Audit Committee

Our audit committee consists of three directorselg Mr. John Jiong Wu, Mr. Joseph Chow and Mr. Yarang. All of these three
directors satisfy the “independence” requiremefitt® NASDAQ Global Select Market and the SEC ratjahs. In addition, our board of
directors has determined that Mr. Joseph Chowadifipd as an audit committee financial expert witthe meaning of the SEC regulations.
The audit committee oversees our accounting amahfiial reporting processes and the audits of ttanfiial statements of our company. The
audit committee is responsible for, among othergi

» selecting the independent auditors and pre-appgalirauditing and non-auditing services permitiete performed by the
independent auditors;

»  setting clear hiring policies for employees or fememployees of the independent auditors;

*  reviewing with the independent auditors any audibfems or difficulties and management’s response;
e reviewing and approving all proposed related-pagpsactions;

» discussing the annual audited financial statem&ittsmanagement and the independent auditors;

» discussing with management and the independentassigihajor issues regarding accounting principtesfanancial statement
presentations;

*  reviewing reports prepared by management or thepiaddent auditors relating to significant financggorting issues and judgments;
*  reviewing with management and the independent angdielated-party transactions and off-balancetdh@esactions and structures;
*  reviewing with management and the independent angdihe effect of regulatory and accounting iniie$ and actions;

*  reviewing policies with respect to risk assessnagick risk management;

* reviewing our disclosure controls and procedurakiaternal control over financial reporting;

« timely reviewing reports from the independent auditregarding all critical accounting policies grectices to be used by our
company, all alternative treatments of financidéimation within GAAP that have been discussed winmagement and all other
material written communications between the inddpahauditors and management;

»  establishing procedures for the receipt, reterdiog treatment of complaints received from our elyges regarding accounting,
internal accounting controls or auditing matterd #re confidential, anonymous submission by ourleyges of concerns regarding
guestionable accounting or auditing matters;

e annually reviewing and reassessing the adequacyradudit committee charter;

» such other matters that are specifically delegtatemlir audit committee by our board of directomiirtime to time; and



meeting separately, periodically, with managemtat internal auditors and the independent auditors.
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Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee consists of Mr. JohngJiWu, Mr. Joseph Chow and Mr. Yan Huang. All ¢l three directors satisfy the
“independence” requirements of NASDAQ MarketplacdeR and the SEC regulations. Our compensation ¢ttemassists the board in
reviewing and approving the compensation struabfiieur directors and executive officers, includalbforms of compensation to be provided
to our directors and executive officers. The consaéion committee is responsible for, among othiegth

*  reviewing and approving the compensation for oniggeexecutives;

* reviewing and evaluating our executive compensatiwhbenefits policies generally;

e reporting to our board of directors periodically;

» evaluating its own performance and reporting tokmard of directors on such evaluation;

» periodically reviewing and assessing the adequétiyeocompensation committee charter and recommeratiy proposed changes
our board of directors; and

* such other matters that are specifically delegaigde compensation committee by our board of tirsdrom time to time.
6.D. Employees

We had 10,694, 12,833 and 14,102 employees asadrbleer 31, 20 11, 201 2 and 201 3, respectiveyaof December 31, 2013, 6,598
of our 14,102 employees were contracted through-ghérty human resources companies. We recruitiaedtly train and manage all of our
employees. We believe that we maintain a good wgrkélationship with our employees and we havessperienced any significant labor
disputes. Our employees have not entered into allgctive bargaining agreements.

6.E. Share Ownership

The following table sets forth information with pext to the beneficial ownership, within the megrof Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange
Act, of our ordinary shares, as of March 31, 20¢4 b

» each of our directors and executive officers; and

e each person known to us to own beneficially moamth% of our ordinary shares.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordandé wie rules of the Securities and Exchange Comomisad includes voting or
investment power with respect to the ordinary shafgcept as indicated below, and subject to apipleccommunity property laws, the pers

named in the table have sole voting and investipewer with respect to all ordinary shares showheeficially owned by them.

73




Table of Contents

Ordinary Shares Beneficially Owned®

Number %

Directors and Executive Officer

QiJi 107,473,462 43.2
Tong Tong Zha 32,880,613 13.2
John Jiong Wi 9,733,33. 3.€
Min Fan 22,049,444 8.¢
Yan Huanc * *
Joseph Chov * *
Yongjian Sur — —
Min (Jenny) Zhan¢ * *
Yunhang Xie * *
All Directors and Executive Officers as a Grc 140,309,336) 56.7
Principal Shareholder

Winner Crown Holdings Limite: 74,167,840 29.¢
East Leader International Limite 32,780,611 13.2
Ctrip.com International, Ltc 22,049,44®) 8.¢

*

(1)

(2)

3)

(4)

()

Less than 1%.

The number of ordinary shares outstanding in catmg the percentages for each listed person amgircludes the ordinary shares
underlying options held by such person or group@sable within 60 days after March 31, 201 4 ceatage of beneficial ownership of
each listed person or group is based on (i) 2480888ordinary shares outstanding as of March 31,£20including 366,478 shares of
restricted stock and (ii) the ordinary shares ulydey share options exercisable by such personinvdb days after March 31, 201 4 .

Includes (i) 74,167,849 ordinary shares held by M#mCrown Holdings Limited, or Winner Crown, a Bsfit VVirgin Islands company
wholly owned by Sherman Holdings Limited, a Baham@aspany, which is in turn wholly owned by Crediti$e Trust Limited, or CS
Trustee. CS Trustee acts as trustee of the Ji fFamikt, of which Mr. Qi Ji and his family memben® the beneficiaries, (ii) 400,000
ordinary shares issuable upon exercise of optieftsthy Mr. Qi Ji that are exercisable within 60 slafter March 31, 2014, (iii) 125,000
shares of restricted stock held by Mr. Ji, (iv)IR®O0 ordinary shares held by East Leader IntematLimited, or East Leader, a British
Virgin Islands company, over which Mr. Ji has vgtimower pursuant to a power of attorney dated Fakr5, 2010, and (v) 4,000,000
Restricted ADSs representing 16,000,000 ordinaayesh) 5,153 ADSs representing 20,612 ordinary steard 1,760,000 ordinary shares
held by East Leader, over which Mr. Ji has votiogver pursuant to a power of attorney dated Febrliar014. East Leader is wholly
owned by Perfect Will Holdings Limited, or Perféffll, a British Virgin Islands company, which is tarn wholly owned by Asia Square
Holdings Ltd., or Asia Square, as nominee for Sardsust Company (Singapore) Limited, or SarasinstrSarasin Trust acts as trustee o
the Tanya Trust, of which Ms. Tong Tong Zhao andfamily members are the beneficiaries.

Includes (i) 100,000 ordinary shares issuable upamcise of options held by Ms. Tong Tong Zhao #natexercisable within 60 days
after March 31, 2014, and (ii) 4,000,000 Restricd5s representing 16,000,000 ordinary shares 354I3Ss representing 20,612
ordinary shares and 16,760,000 ordinary shareshyelthst Leader, a British Virgin Islands comparholly owned by Perfect Will, a
British Virgin Islands company, which is in turn alty owned by Asia Square, as nominee for SarasistT Sarasin Trust acts as truste
the Tanya Trust, of which Ms. Tong Tong Zhao andfamily members are the beneficiaries. Ms. Zhabiéssole director of East Leader.

Includes (i) 7,202,482 ordinary shares that Ctripchased from us, (ii) an aggregate of 11,646,9&upordinary shares that Ctrip
purchased from the Chengwei Funds, CDH Courtyandited, the IDG Funds, the Northern Light Funds Bitpoint Capital 2006 A
Limited, and (iii) 800,000 ADSs representing 3,200 ordinary shares that Ctrip subscribed in oitiairpublic offering. By virtue of
being the vice chairman of the board of directord president of Ctrip, Mr. Fan may be deemed tebeially own an aggregate of
22,049,446 ordinary shares. Mr. Fan disclaims heiaébwnership of the shares beneficially owneddisip except to the extent of his
pecuniary interests therein. Mr. Fan’s businessesddis 99 Fu Quan Road, Shanghai 200335, Pedpdgigblic of China.

Includes ordinary shares and ordinary shares isswglon exercise of all of the options that arereigable within 60 days after March 31,
2014 held by all of our directors and executivéceifs as a group.
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(6) Winner Crown is a British Virgin Islands companyally owned by Sherman Holdings Limited, a Bahama®gany, which is in turn
wholly owned by Credit Suisse Trust Limited, or TSistee. CS Trustee acts as trustee of the Ji ffamikt, of which Mr. Qi Ji, our
founder and executive chairman, and his family membare the beneficiaries. Mr. Ji is the soleatimeof Winner Crown. The address of
Winner Crown is Akara Bldg., 24 De Castro StreeigkNams Cay |, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgsidnds.

(7) East Leader is a British Virgin Islands company ikhowned by Perfect Will Holdings Limited, a Bista Virgin Islands company, which
is in turn wholly owned by Bank Sarasin Nominee§ (@nited, as nominee for Sarasin Trust Companyf@eey Limited, or Sarasin
Trust. Sarasin Trust acts as trustee of the Tamyst,Tof which Ms. Tong Tong Zhao and her familymiers, are the beneficiaries.

Ms. Zhao is the sole director of East Leader. Tddress of East Leader is P.O. Box 957, Offshorerparations Centre, Road Town,
Tortola, British Virgin Islands.

(8) Includes (i) 7,202,482 ordinary shares that Ctripchased from us, (ii) an aggregate of 11,646,9@upordinary shares that Ctrip
purchased from the Chengwei Funds, CDH Courtyantited, the IDG Funds, the Northern Light Funds Bitpoint Capital 2006 A
Limited, and (iii) 800,000 ADSs representing 3,20 ordinary shares that Ctrip subscribed in ottialrpublic offering. Ctrip is a
Cayman Islands company and its address is 99 Fa Road, Shanghai 200335, People’s Republic of China

As of March 31, 201 4 , we had 248,528,045 ordirsugres issued and outstanding. To our knowledgédad only two record
shareholders in the United States, including CitihaN.A., which is the depositary of our ADS progrand held approximately 46.2% of our
total outstanding ordinary shares under our ADm and the depositary of our restricted ADS paogand held approximately 6.4% of our
total outstanding ordinary shares under our restiéd DS program. The number of beneficial ownerswfADSs in the United States is likely
to be much larger than the number of record holdeaar ordinary shares in the United States.

None of our existing shareholders has differeningptights from other shareholders since the clpsifiour initial public offering. We are
not aware of any arrangement that may, at a subségate, result in a change of control of our canyp

ITEM 7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
7.A. Major Shareholders
Please refer to “Item 6. Directors, Senior Managgraed Employees — E. Share Ownership.”
7.B. Related Party Transactions
Transactions with Suzhou Property

We conduct transactions in the ordinary courseuofbaisiness with Suzhou Property, a subsidiaryogferhill, which was owned by
Mr. Qi Ji and Ms. Tong Tong Zhao until January 2@b@d was wholly owned by Mr. Qi Ji from January @®@4d August 2011.

Prior to Powerhill's transfer in February 2007 8fad its ownership interests in HanTing XingkongdaShanghai HanTing to us in
exchange for our preferred shares, Powerhill cotedLits operations through three wholly owned ddibsies in the PRC, namely HanTing
Xingkong, Shanghai HanTing and Suzhou PropertyerAdtich exchange, each of HanTing Xingkong and @terHanTing became our
wholly owned subsidiary while Suzhou Property rema wholly owned subsidiary of Powerhill. Seertitd. Information on the Company —
A. History and Development of the Company.”

We entered into lease agreements with Suzhou Rydjpelease three hotel buildings owned by Suzhapé&rty. We paid rents under the
leases in amounts similar to what an unrelated thérty would pay for such leases. In 2009 and 2@0aggregate amount we paid for rent tc
Suzhou Property was RMB3.6 million and RMB3.6 miflj respectively.

In August 2011, Mr. Qi Ji sold all the equity irgsts in Powerhill to certain third parties. As sule Suzhou Property ceased to be a re
party for us. The aggregate amount we paid fort@®uzhou Property was RMB2.3 million for the ¢tgionth period ended August 31, 2011.
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Certain commercial buildings of Suzhou Propertyeygledged as collateral to secure our credit fgiailith a maximum amount of
RMB172.0 million with the Industrial and Commerci2dnk of China in 2008 and 2009.

Transactions with Ctrip

We conduct transactions in the ordinary courseuofbaisiness with Ctrip.com International, Ltd. Girip, an entity in which Mr. Qi Ji, our
founder, is a co-founder, shareholder and indeparatlsector. Ctrip rendered reservation servicesstdo facilitate our customers in making
reservations at our hotels from Ctrip’s hotel bogksystem. In 20 11, 201 2 and 201tBe aggregate commission fees of our leasedshpééd
to Ctrip.com for its reservation services amouriteBRMB8.0 million, RMB 10.9 million and RMB17.1 ntidn, respectively.

In a private placement before our initial publifening in 2010, Ctrip purchased 7,202,482 ordirgrgres from us and an aggregate of
11,646,964 of our ordinary shares from the Chendweids, CDH Courtyard Limited, the IDG Funds, thartNern Light Funds and Pinpoint
Capital 2006 A Limited at a price equal to theiaipublic offering price per share. The investnsdoy Ctrip were made pursuant to
transactions exempt from registration under thauB8ges Act. In connection with these transactidbsjp was granted registration rights
substantially similar to those granted to certaifdars of our registrable securities under our atedrand restated shareholders agreement. Ir
addition, we have granted Ctrip the right to norténane person to serve on our board as long as &td its affiliates continuously maintain
(i) at least 5% of our total outstanding ordinamai®s in the three years following the closing wfioitial public offering and (ii) at least 8% of
our total outstanding ordinary shares thereafteaddition, Ctrip subscribed a total of 800,000 A$our initial public offering at the initial
public offering price. The ADSs issued and sol€tap are on the same terms as the other ADSs ldfaged in our initial public offering.

Ctrip and one of our competitors, Home Inns, slhamedirectors between their boards.

On April 15, 2012, we entered into a definitive@gment to acquire a 51% equity interest of Staridyfrom C-Travel International
Limited, or C-Travel, a whollyswned subsidiary of Ctrip. The base acquisitioeg@ras RMB17.3 million in cash, which was fundethvagast
on hand. The acquisition of the 51% equity intereStarway HK became effective in May 2012. Iniéidd, in December 2013, we acquired
the remaining 49% equity interest of Starway Hknir@-Travel. The acquisition price was RMB16.5 roiflj RMB4.2 million paid in cash in
December 2013 and RMB12.3 million included in pdgalas of December 31, 2013. We will retain thev&s brand and we plan to continue
to open new hotels under the Starway brand indtes€eable future. We introduced the lease andcheeamodels to the Starway brand and
gradually converted the franchised hotels Starwigyhidd before our acquisition to manachised or lddsrels where appropriate. We also
terminated certain franchise agreements in casesanthe franchised hotels could not meet the nemw@l brand standards or the franchisee:s
did not accept certain changes we made to thelirsm@greement after the acquisition. We integratest of Starway Hotels’ support
functions into our existing corporate platform amghificantly reduced the personnel and other dpegaosts for Starway HK.

In December 2013, we entered into a one-year datfusan agreement with a subsidiary of Ctrip.caternational, Ltd., or Ctrip, and the
China Construction Bank Corporation, Shanghai Mimth&ubbranch, pursuant to which we can borrow lRM®B300.0 million for a period
from January 6, 2014 to January 5, 2015. The isteege of this loan is 5.4%. According to a gutearetter between Ctrip and us, if the loan
is in default, we shall settle the unpaid princigatl interest with a number of our ordinary shatesarket price.

Investment in UBOX

One of our directors, Mr. John Jiong Wu, owns amatiols Whistling Kite Limited. In April, 2012, ona&f our wholly owned subsidiaries,
China Lodging HK, together with Whistling Kite Lited, entered into a definitive agreement with UB&3XI certain other parties, to subscribe
for preferred shares of UBOX. Pursuant to thisrdéfin agreement, China Lodging HK invested US$#ilion in return for an approximately
4.3% equity interest in UBOX in June 2012. Mr. Qiolir founder , executive chairman and chief ekigelofficer , has served as a member of
the board of directors of UBOX since June 201Détember 2012, we purchased a convertible pronyissmie in the amount of US$1.3
million from UBOX. UBOX engages mainly in the vendimachine business. In December 2013, we convéréeprincipal of promissory nc
to 8,530,731 ordinary shares of UBOX. In August20&e purchased additional convertible promissatg of US$0.7 million from UBOX.
The interest income of the convertible promissarierwas RMB1.4 million for the year ended Decen8ier2013. With over 15,000 vending
machines in operation across 43 cities in Chinaf &ecember 31, 2013, UBOX is one of the largesiirey machine operators in China. We
believe UBOXS operations have potential synergies with ouramars. Under our cooperation with UBOX in opergtiending machines, ti
service fee we've charged amounted to RMBO0.8 nmilfior the year ended December 31, 2013.
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Transaction with Yibang

In May 2013, we acquired 30% equity interest indrig Yibang Changchunteng Hotel Co., Limited (“Yilgd) and consider Yibang as a
joint venture. We provided reservation, system riegiance and other support service to the hotetharyed service fee of RMBO0.2 million
the year ended December 31, 2013.

Employment Agreements

See “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Eygals — A. Directors and Senior Management — EmptoyrAgreements” for a
description of the employment agreements we haterexhinto with our senior executive officers.

Share Incentives

See “ltem 6. Directors, Senior Management and Eygals — B. Compensation of Directors and Executiffe€s — Share Incentive
Plans” for a description of share options we haaatgd to our directors, officers and other indists as a group.

7.C. Interests of Experts and Counsel
Not applicable.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
8.A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial fiormation
8.A.1.See “Item 18. Financial Statements” for our auddedsolidated financial statements.
8.A.2.See “ltem 18. Financial Statements” for our aud@tedsolidated financial statements, which coveddbethree financial years.
8.A.3.See page F-2 for the report of our independenstegid public accounting firm.
8.A.4.Not applicable.
8.A.5.Not applicable.
8.A.6.Not applicable.
8.A.7.See “Item 4. Information on the Company — B. Buss®verview — Legal and Administrative Proceedihgs.
8.A.8.Dividend Policy

We currently intend to retain most, if not all,amfr available funds and any future earnings to ateesind expand our business. We had
never declared or paid dividends prior to Decen®ig2013 and we do not have any plan to declapapiany dividends in the near future .

Our board of directors has complete discretiongaiding whether to distribute dividends. Even if board of directors decides to pay
dividends, the timing, amount and form of futureidiends, if any, will depend on, among other thirgs future results of operations and cast
flow, our capital requirements and surplus, the amof distributions, if any, received by us fromr gubsidiaries, our financial condition,
contractual restrictions and other factors deeretl/ant by our board of directors.

If we pay any dividends, our ADS holders will beitead to such dividends to the same extent asdrsldf our ordinary shares, subject to
the terms of the deposit agreement, including ¢les find expenses payable thereunder. Cash dividerais ordinary shares, if any, will be
paid in U.S. dollars.
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We are a holding company with no material operatioihour own. We conduct our operations primatilsotigh our subsidiaries in China.
As a result, our ability to pay dividends and twafice any debt we may incur depends upon dividpaidisto us by our subsidiaries. If our
subsidiaries or any newly formed subsidiaries irdrlst on their own behalf in the future, the instemts governing their debt may restrict theil
ability to pay dividends to us. In addition, oubsidiaries are permitted to pay dividends to uy onit of their retained earnings, if any, as
determined in accordance with PRC accounting staisdand regulations. Pursuant to laws applicabéntities incorporated in the PRC, our
subsidiaries in the PRC must make appropriatioos fafter-tax profit to non-distributable reservads. These reserve funds include one or
more of the following: (i) a general reserve, &i) enterprise expansion fund and (iii) a staff lsomod welfare fund. Subject to certain
cumulative limits, the general reserve fund recquar annual appropriation of 10% of after-tax pr@s determined under accounting
principles generally accepted in the PRC at eaaln-gad); the other fund appropriations are at thesisliaries’ discretion. These reserve funds
can only be used for specific purposes of entex@igansion, staff bonus and welfare, and areistittiitable as cash dividends.

8.B. Significant Changes

Except as disclosed elsewhere in this annual repwerhave not experienced any significant chanies she date of our audited
consolidated financial statements included in #nisual report.

ITEM 9. THE OFFER AND LISTING
9.A. Offering and Listing Details

Our ADSs have been listed on the NASDAQ Global &dlarket under the symbol “HTHT” since March 2618. The table below sets
forth, for the periods indicated, the high and lmarket prices on the NASDAQ Global Select Marketdor ADSs.

High Low
2010 (from March 26 uUs$ 27.5( US$ 13.4¢
2011 24.43 12.0(
2012 17.5¢ 10.51
First quartel 15.9% 11.5¢
Second quarte 13.45 10.7:
Third quartel 16.91 10.51
Fourth quarte 17.5¢ 13.9(
2013 32.2¢ 14.7¢
First quartel 19.9: 15.3¢
Second quarte 17.0C 14.7¢
Third quartel 20.4¢ 15.3¢
Fourth quarte 32.2¢ 18.5¢
October 23.4( 18.5¢
Novembet 27.0C 21.5¢
Decembe 32.2¢ 24.11
2014
First quartel 31.2¢ 22.1¢
January 31.2¢ 25.0¢
February 29.0( 25.2€
March 30.11 22.1€
April (through April 16, 2014 ) 24.9( 23.0¢

9.B. Plan of Distribution
Not applicable.
9.C. Markets
The principal trading market for our shares isSR&SDAQ Global Select Market, on which our sharestaaded in the form of ADSs.
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9.D. Selling Shareholders

Not applicable.
9.E. Dilution

Not applicable.
9.F. Expenses of the Issue

Not applicable.
ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
10.A. Share Capital

Not applicable.
10.B. Memorandum and Articles of Association

We incorporate by reference into this annual refirtdescription of our amended and restated merdama and articles of association
contained in our registration statement on Form(Fie No. 333-165247) originally filed with the Geities and Exchange Commission on
March 5, 2010, as amended. Our shareholders adopteemended and restated memorandum and artichssaciation by a special resolut
on March 12, 2010 and further amended our amendedestated memorandum and articles of associbti@special resolution on
November 21, 201:

10.C. Material Contracts

We have not entered into any material contractsrdtian in the ordinary course of business andr dttan those described in Item 4,
“Information on the Company” and in Item 7, “MajBhareholders and Related Party Transactions” emélsre in this annual report.

10.D. Exchange Controls
See “Item 4. Information on the Company — B. Buss®verview — Regulation — Regulations on Foreigmnré€nhcy Exchange.”
10.E. Taxation

The following summary of the material Cayman Iskréleople’s Republic of China and United Statesrf#dncome tax consequences of
an investment in our ADSs or ordinary shares igthagpon laws and relevant interpretations thereeffiect as of the date of this annual reg
all of which are subject to change. This summargsdoot deal with all possible tax consequencetimgléo an investment in our ADSs or
ordinary shares, such as the tax consequences statierlocal and other tax laws.

Cayman Islands Taxation

The Cayman Islands currently levies no taxes oivididals or corporations based upon profits, incogans or appreciation and there is
no taxation in the nature of inheritance tax oastluty. There are no other taxes likely to beeniltto us levied by the Government of the
Cayman Islands except for stamp duties which magppdicable on instruments executed in, broughdt@roduced before a court of the
Cayman Islands. The Cayman Islands is not paranyodouble tax treaties. There are no exchangeataetulations or currency restrictions
the Cayman Islands.
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PRC Taxation
PRC taxation on us

On March 16, 2007, the National People’s CongrtesChinese legislature, passed Emterprise Income Tax Lawand on December 6,
2007, the PRC State Council issuedlthplementation Regulations of the Enterprise Incdrae Law, both of which became effective on
January 1, 2008. The Enterprise Income Tax Lawitrdplementation Regulations, or the EIT Law, lgggpa uniform 25% enterprise incol
tax rate to both foreign-invested enterprises ardastic enterprises. There is a transition peroehterprises, whether foreign-invested or
domestic, which currently receive preferential tieatments granted by relevant tax authoritiesefpmises that are subject to an enterprise
income tax rate lower than 25% may continue toeti)e lower rate and gradually transfer to the texwate within five years after the
effective date of the EIT Law. Enterprises that@argently entitled to exemptions or reductionsiirthe standard income tax rate for a fixed
term may continue to enjoy such treatment untilftked term expires. Preferential tax treatmenti ezintinue to be granted to industries and
projects that are strongly supported and encourbgéle state, and enterprises classified as “aighnew technology enterprises strongly
supported by the state” are entitled to a 15% prits income tax rate.

The EIT Law provides that enterprises establishédide of China whose “de facto management bodieslocated in China are
considered “resident enterprises.” The “de factoagament body” is defined as the organizationayltbdt effectively exercises overall
management and control over production and busimessations, personnel, finance and accounting pamperties of the enterprise. Currently,
there are no detailed rules or precedents govethimgrocedures and specific criteria for deterngriide facto management body.” The State
Administration of Taxation, or the SAT, issued thetice Regarding the Determination of Chinese-Gallegd Offshore Incorporated
Enterprises as PRC Tax Resident Enterprises oB#sés of De Facto Management Boc, or Circular 82, on April 22, 2009. Circular 82
provides certain specific criteria for determininbether the “de facto management body” of a PRGroblad offshore incorporated enterprise
is located in China, which include: (a) the locatishere senior management members responsibl@ fentarprise’s daily operations discharge
their duties; (b) the location where financial dnonan resource decisions are made or approvedgayiaations or persons; (c) the location
where the major assets and corporate documenkepteand (d) the location where more than haktflisive) of all directors with voting rights
or senior management have their habitual residdnaadition, the SAT issued ti&ministrative Measures on Income Taxes of Chinese-
controlled Offshore Incorporated Resident EntergsigTrial Implementation)or Tax Trial Measures, on July 27, 2011, effecBeptember 1,
2011, providing more guidance on the implementatib@ircular 82. The Tax Trial Measures clarify teas including resident status
determination, post-determination administratiod eompetent tax authorities. Both Circular 82 drelTax Trial Measures apply only to
offshore enterprises controlled by PRC enterprisd3RC enterprise groups and not applicable taccase. But the determining criteria set forth
in Circular 82 and the Tax Trial Measures may fthe SAT’s general position on how the “de fattanagement bodytést should be appli
in determining the tax resident status of offshemterprises, regardless of whether they are céedrbly PRC enterprises or PRC enterprise
groups or by PRC or foreign individuals. As suttlis istill unclear if the PRC tax authorities woulétermine that, notwithstanding our statu
the Cayman Islands holding company of our operaiimjness in China, we should be classified as@ Pé&sident enterprise.”

The EIT Law imposes a withholding tax of 10% onidiénds distributed by a foreign-invested enterpidsiés immediate holding company
outside of China, if such immediate holding compengonsidered a “non-resident enterprise” witheny establishment or place within China
or if the received dividends have no connectiorlie establishment or place of such immediateihgldompany within China, unless such
immediate holding company’s jurisdiction of incorption has a tax treaty with China that providessfdifferent withholding arrangement.
Holding companies in Hong Kong, for example, angjsct to a 5% withholding tax rate if the holdingngpanies are the beneficial owners of
the dividends. The Cayman Islands, where we a@pacated, does not have such a tax treaty with&Hihus, dividends paid to us by our
subsidiaries in China may be subject to the 10%hwilding tax if we are considered a “non-resideriegprise” under the EIT Law.

The EIT Law provides that PRC “resident enterpfisee generally subject to the uniform 25% entes@income tax rate on their
worldwide income. Therefore, if we are treated #R& “resident enterprise,” we will be subject ®@®income tax on our worldwide income
at the 25% uniform tax rate, which could have apaot on our effective tax rate and an adverse tefieour net income and results of
operations, although dividends distributed from BRC subsidiaries to us would be exempt from th€ ERidend withholding tax, since such
income is exempted under the EIT Law to a PRC esditkcipient. However, if we are required underBtT Law to pay income tax on any
dividends we receive from our subsidiaries, ounme tax expenses will increase and the amountadatids, if any, we may pay to our
shareholders and ADS holders may be materiallyaaivérsely affected.
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PRC taxation of our overseas shareholders

Under the EIT Law, PRC withholding tax at the rate. 0% is applicable to dividends payable to ingesthat are “non-resident
enterprises,” which do not have an establishmeptame of business in the PRC, or which have sstdbéshment or place of business but the
relevant income is not effectively connected with éstablishment or place of business, to the egtern dividends have their sources within
the PRC. Similarly, any gain realized on the transf ADSs or ordinary shares by such investoedse subject to 10% PRC withholding tax if
such gain is regarded as income derived from sewwithin the PRC. Therefore, if we are consider&R& “resident enterpriseglividends we
pay to non-resident enterprise investors with resfpeour ADSs or ordinary shares and the gainizeshfrom the transfer of our ADSs or
ordinary shares may be considered as income defiwatdsources within the PRC and be subject to RIREholding tax at a rate of 10% or
lower, subject to the provisions of any applicaiilateral tax treaty. The double taxation treatynsen the PRC and the United States, or the
Treaty, does not reduce the 10% tax rate.

Moreover, non-resident individual investors areuiggd to pay PRC individual income tax on dividepagable to the investors or any
capital gains realized from the transfer of ADSswlinary shares if such gains are deemed incomeediefrom sources within the PRC. Uni
the PRC Individual Income Tax Law, or lITL, non-ident individual refers to an individual who hasdamicile in China and does not stay in
the territory of China or who has no domicile ini@hand has stayed in the territory of China feslthan one year. Pursuant to the IITL an
implementation rules, for purposes of the PRC aapiins tax, the taxable income will be the batapicthe total income realized from the
transfer of the ADSs or ordinary shares minustedidosts and expenses that are permitted undeitdR&ws to be deducted from the income.
Therefore, if we are considered as a PRC “residetgrprise” and dividends we pay with respect toAIDSs or ordinary shares and the gains
realized from the transfer of our ADSs or ordingimares are considered income derived from souritesvthe PRC by relevant competent
PRC tax authorities, such dividends and gains @dogenon-resident individuals may also be subjed®RC withholding tax.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following is a description of the material Uf&deral income tax consequences to the U.S. Holdiescribed below of owning and
disposing of ordinary shares or ADSs, but it dogspuirport to be a comprehensive description ofaaliconsiderations that may be relevant to
a particular person’s decision to own such ordirsdrgres or ADSs. This discussion applies onlyto& Holder that holds ordinary shares or
ADSs as capital assets for tax purposes. In additi@loes not describe all of the tax consequetiwtsmay be relevant in light of the U.S.
Holder’s particular circumstances, including altgive minimum tax consequences, the potential egtdtin of the provisions of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), krasithe Medicare contribution tax and tax consecgapplicable to U.S. Holders
subject to special rules, such as:

» certain financial institutions;

» dealers or traders in securities who use a markadket method of tax accounting;

»  persons holding ordinary shares or ADSs as patstfaddle, wash sale, conversion transactiontegiiated transaction or persons
entering into a constructive sale with respechtodrdinary shares or ADSs;

»  persons whose functional currency for U.S. fed@@me tax purposes is not the U.S. dollar;
*  entities classified as partnerships for U.S. feldamme tax purposes;

* tax-exempt entities, including “individual retiremteaccounts” or “Roth IRAs”;

*  persons that own or are deemed to own ten percenbre of our voting stock;

e persons who acquired our ordinary shares or AD$suamt to the exercise of an employee stock omtiatherwise as compensatic
or

«  persons holding shares in connection with a tradmisiness conducted outside of the United States.
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If an entity that is classified as a partnershipUcS. federal income tax purposes owns ordinagyeshor ADSs, the U.S. federal income
tax treatment of a partner will generally dependhanstatus of the partner and the activities efggrtnership. Partnerships owning ordinary
shares or ADSs and partners in such partnershqddhbonsult their tax advisers as to the particul®. federal income tax consequences of
owning and disposing of the ordinary shares or ADSs

This discussion is based on the Code, adminisggienouncements, judicial decisions, final, terappand proposed Treasury
regulations, all as of the date hereof, any of Wihscsubject to change, possibly with retroactiffeat. It is also based in part on representation
by the depositary and assumes that each obligatidar the deposit agreement and any related agréewvilebe performed in accordance with
its terms.

A “U.S. Holder” is a holder who, for U.S. federatbme tax purposes, is a beneficial owner of orglishares or ADSs and is:
e acitizen or individual resident of the United &gt

*  acorporation, or other entity taxable as a cofpmmacreated or organized in or under the lawthefUnited States, any state therein
or the District of Columbia; or

*  an estate or trust the income of which is subjeti.S. federal income taxation regardless of itvc®

In general, a U.S. Holder who owns ADSs will beategl as the owner of the underlying shares repieddry those ADSs for U.S. federal
income tax purposes. Accordingly, no gain or logklve recognized if a U.S. Holder exchanges AD@stlfie underlying shares represented by
those ADSs.

The U.S. Treasury has expressed concern that péotighom American depositary shares are releastedebshares are delivered to the
depositary, also referred to as pre-release, errivediaries in the chain of ownership between heldad the issuer of the security underlying
the American depositary shares, may be taking r&tioat are inconsistent with the claiming of fgretax credits by holders of American
depositary shares. These actions would also begstent with the claiming of the favorable tavestdescribed below, applicable to divide
received by certain non-corporate holders and thag affect the availability of these rates to sholders.

U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisers eomiag the U.S. federal, state, local and foreagndonsequences of owning and
disposing of ordinary shares or ADSs in their gaiftir circumstances.

This discussion assumes that we are not, and etibacome, a passive foreign investment compangessribed below.
Taxation of Distributions

Distributions paid on ordinary shares or ADSs, pthan certairpro ratadistributions of ordinary shares, will be treatsddévidends to th
extent paid out of our current or accumulated egsiand profits (as determined under U.S. fedacalme tax principles). Because we do not
maintain calculations of our earnings and profitder U.S. federal income tax principles, it is edtpd that distributions generally will be
reported to U.S. Holders as dividends. Subjecpmieable limitations and the discussion above réigg concerns expressed by the U.S.
Treasury, dividends paid to certain non-corporate. Blolders may be taxable at rates applicablertg-term capital gain. U.S. Holders should
consult their tax advisers regarding the availabdf these favorable rates on dividends. The arnofithe dividend will be treated as foreign-
source dividend income to U.S. Holders and will beteligible for the dividends-received deductiemegrally available to U.S. corporations
under the Code. Subject to applicable limitatimmne of which may vary depending upon a U.S. H&@dgrcumstances, and subject to the
discussion above regarding concerns expressecely. B Treasury, PRC income taxes withheld fronidéivds on ordinary shares or ADSs at
a rate not exceeding the rate applicable undef thaty will be creditable against the U.S. Hold&)'S. federal income tax liability. PRC taxes
withheld in excess of the rate applicable undefTiteaty will not be eligible for credit against a3JHolder’s federal income tax liability. The
rules governing foreign tax credits are complexi &@inS. Holders should consult their tax advisegarding the creditability of foreign taxes in
their particular circumstances. Dividends will beluded in a U.S. Holder's income on the date efithS. Holders, or in the case of ADSs, t
depositary’s, receipt of the dividend. The amourdry dividend income paid in RMB will be the Udllar amount calculated by reference to
the exchange rate in effect on the date of receaghrdless of whether the payment is in fact caedanto U.S. dollars. If the dividend is
converted into U.S. dollars on the date of receip,S. Holder should not be required to recogforeign currency gain or loss in respect of
the dividend income. A U.S. Holder may have foraigrmrency gain or loss if the dividend is convelitetd U.S. dollars after the date of rece
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Sale or Other Disposition of Ordinary Shares or ABS

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, gain ortleabzed on the sale or other disposition of ordirsnares or ADSs will be capital gain
loss, and will be long-term capital gain or losthié U.S. Holder held the ordinary shares or AD#srfore than one year. The amount of the
gain or loss will equal the difference betweenlth8. Holder’s tax basis in the ordinary shares DiSA disposed of and the amount realized ol
the disposition, in each case as determined indbifars. The deductibility of capital losses i®gcet to limitations.

As described in “Taxation — PRC Taxation — PRC texaon us,” if we were deemed to be a tax resigamerprise under PRC tax law,
gains from dispositions of our ordinary shares B/S& may be subject to PRC withholding tax. In treste, a U.S. Holder's amount realized
would include the gross amount of the proceedbi@&tle or disposition before deduction of the RRCAIlthough any such gain of a U.S.
Holder would generally be characterized as U.Sresoincome, a U.S. Holder that is eligible for Hemefits of the Treaty may be entitled to
elect to treat the gain as foreign-source incomédieign tax credit purposes. U.S. Holders shaaldsult their tax advisers regarding their
eligibility for benefits under the Treaty and threditability of any PRC tax on dispositions in thearticular circumstances.

Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules

We do not believe we were a passive foreign investrnompany, or PFIC, for U.S. federal income tasppses for our 2013 taxable year.
However, because PFIC status depends on the caimpasiia company’s income and assets and the maakae of its assets from time to
time, there can be no assurance that we will n@t BEIC for any taxable year. In general, a non-dofooration will be considered a PFIC for
any taxable year in which (i) 75% or more of itegg income consists of passive income or (ii) 50%hare of the average quarterly value o
assets consists of assets that produce, or arédnelte production of, passive income. For purgasfidhe above calculations, a non-U.S.
corporation that directly or indirectly owns at$€25% by value of the shares of another corparasidreated as if it held its proportionate
share of the assets of the other corporation acelwed directly its proportionate share of the imecof the other corporation. Passive income
generally includes dividends, interest, rents, ligmand capital gains.

If we were a PFIC for any taxable year during whach.S. Holder held ordinary shares or ADSs, gagognized by a U.S. Holder on a
sale or other disposition (including certain plesjgef the ordinary shares or ADSs would be allataédably over the U.S. Holder’s holding
period for the ordinary shares or ADSs. The amoalitgated to the taxable year of the sale or afisgosition and to any year before we
became a PFIC would be taxed as ordinary income .ahtmount allocated to each other taxable year wmeilslibject to tax at the highest rat
effect for individuals or corporations, as appraf®j for that taxable year, and an interest chaxgéd be imposed on the amount allocated to
that taxable year. Further, to the extent thatdistyibution received by a U.S. Holder on its oatinshares or ADSs exceeds 125% of the
average of the annual distributions on the ordirstuares or ADSs received during the preceding teaes or the U.S. Holderholding perioc
whichever is shorter, that distribution would béjset to taxation in the same manner as gain, destimmediately above.

Alternatively, if we were a PFIC, a U.S. Holder twhuf certain conditions are met, make a mark-tarket election that would result in tax
treatment different from the general tax treatnfenPFICs described above. If a U.S. Holder wemmédke such an election, the holder
generally would recognize as ordinary income argesg of the fair market value of the ADSs at thet @freach taxable year over its adjusted
tax basis, and would recognize an ordinary loss$pect of any excess of the adjusted tax basieeocADSs over their fair market value at the
end of the taxable year (but only to the exterthefnet amount of income previously included assalt of the mark-to-market election). If we
were a PFIC, it is unclear whether our ordinarysbavould be treated as “marketable stock” eligibiehe mark-to-market election. If a U.S.
Holder makes the election, the holder’s tax basthé ADSs will be adjusted to reflect these incamiss amounts. Any gain recognized on
the sale or other disposition of ADSs in a yearmvve are a PFIC would be treated as ordinary incamaeany loss would be treated as an
ordinary loss (but only to the extent of the nebant of income previously included as a resulthef iark-to-market election).
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A timely election to treat us as a qualified elegtfund under Section 1295 of the Code would asalt in alternative treatment from the
general treatment for PFICs described above (wdlighnative treatment could, in certain circumséaenitigate the adverse tax consequence
of holding shares in a PFIC). U.S. Holders sho@dtare, however, that we do not intend to satesfprdkeeping and other requirements 1
would permit U.S. Holders to make qualified elegtfand elections if we were a PFIC.

In addition, if we were a PFIC, the favorable ratesussed above with respect to dividends pa@ttain non-corporate U.S. Holders
would not apply. Furthermore, if we were a PFICday taxable year during which a U.S. Holder hetfir@ary shares or ADSs, such U.S.
Holder may be required to file a report containdngh information as the U.S. Treasury may reqir8. Holders should consult their tax
advisers regarding whether we are or were a PFiiGlanpotential application of the PFIC rules.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Dividend payments with respect to ADSs or ordirgtrgres and proceeds from the sale or exchange 85ADordinary shares may be
subject to information reporting to the InternakBeue Service and possible U.S. backup withholdirg current rate of 28%. Backup
withholding will not apply, however, to a U.S. Heldwho furnishes a correct taxpayer identificatimmber and makes any other required
certification or who is otherwise exempt from bagkuthholding. U.S. Holders who are required taab8sh their exempt status generally rr
provide such certification on Internal Revenue ®er¥orm W-9. U.S. Holders should consult theiraaxisers regarding the application of the
U.S. information reporting and backup withholdinges.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Amaaimtithheld as backup withholding may be creditesirgt your U.S. federal income 1
liability, and you may obtain a refund of any exxasmounts withheld under the backup withholdingsudy timely filing the appropriate claim
for refund with the Internal Revenue Service andihing any required information.

10.F. Dividends and Paying Agents
Not applicable.

10.G. Statement by Experts
Not applicable.

10.H. Documents on Display

We are subject to the periodic reporting and otiff@rmational requirements of the Exchange Act. eintthe Exchange Act, we are
required to file reports and other information witte SEC. Specifically, we are required to file aalty a Form 20-F no later than four months
after the close of each fiscal year, which is Ddoen81. Copies of reports and other informationemvko filed, may be inspected without
charge and may be obtained at prescribed ratée aublic reference facilities maintained by theuiies and Exchange Commission at 100 |
Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 2054 fJiiblic may obtain information regarding the Wagkon, D.C. Public Reference
Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The &EG maintains a website at www.sec.gov that costegports, proxy and information
statements, and other information regarding regjissrthat make electronic filings with the SEC gsis EDGAR system. As a foreign private
issuer, we are exempt from the rules under the &xgph Act prescribing the furnishing and conterjudrterly reports and proxy statements,
and officers, directors and principal shareholdeesexempt from the reporting and short-swing prefiovery provisions contained in
Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

We will furnish Citibank, N.A., the depositary ofiloADSs, with our annual reports, which will inckid review of operations and annual
audited consolidated financial statements prepiarednformity with U.S. GAAP, and all notices ofaskholders’ meetings and other reports
and communications that are made generally avaitabbur shareholders. The depositary will maké swatices, reports and communications
available to holders of ADSs and, upon our requeifitmail to all record holders of ADSs the infoation contained in any notice of a
shareholders’ meeting received by the depositamy fus.
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10.1. Subsidiary Information
Not applicable.
ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to interest rate risk primarily redaie the interest rates for our outstanding debttha interest income generated by excess
cash invested in liquid investments with originatarities of three months or less. As of Decemlig281 3 , we have no outstanding loans .
We have not used any derivative financial instrutmém manage our interest risk exposure. Inter@stieg instruments carry a degree of
interest rate risk.

We have not been exposed to material risks dubaoges in interest rates. However, our future @steincome may be lower than
expected due to changes in market interest rates.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Substantially all of our revenues and most of ogremses are denominated in RMB. Our exposure &dorexchange risk primarily
relates to cash and cash equivalents denominatddsindollars as a result of our past issuanceseférred shares through a private placemen
and proceeds from our initial public offering. We bt believe that we currently have any signiftadirect foreign exchange risk and have not
hedged exposures denominated in foreign curreociasy other derivative financial instruments. Altigh in general, our exposure to foreign
exchange risks should be limited, the value of yinuestment in our ADSs will be affected by thedign exchange rate between U.S. dollars
and RMB because the value of our business is afédgtdenominated in RMB, while the ADSs will badled in U.S. dollars.

The value of the RMB against the U.S. dollar ateoturrencies may fluctuate and is affected bygragrother things, changes in China’s
political and economic conditions. The conversibRBIB into foreign currencies, including U.S. daahas been based on rates set by the
People’s Bank of China. On July 21, 2005, the PR@&gment changed its decade-old policy of pegtiiegvalue of the RMB to the U.S.
dollar. Under the new policy, the RMB is permittedluctuate within a narrow and managed band agairbasket of certain foreign currenc
This change in policy caused the Renminbi to apate®dy more than 20% against the U.S. dollar betwkily 2005 and July 2008. Between
July 2008 and June 2010, this appreciation haltetlae exchange rate between the Renminbi and.tBeddllar remained within a narrow
band. Since June 2010, the PRC government hasellttve Renminbi to appreciate slowly against tH#. dollar again. There remains
significant international pressure on the PRC gowemt to adopt an even more flexible currency polichich could result in a further and
more significant appreciation of the RMB againg thS. dollar. It is difficult to predict how mariki®rces or PRC or U.S. government policy
may impact the exchange rate between the Renminbitee U.S. dollar in the future. To the extent tha need to convert U.S. dollars we
received from our initial public offering into RMBr our operations, appreciation of the RMB agathstU.S. dollar would have an adverse
effect on the RMB amount we receive from the cosiger. Conversely, if we decide to convert our RM#dminated cash amounts into U.S.
dollars amounts for the purpose of making paymfamtdividends on our ordinary shares or ADSs ordtbrer business purposes, appreciation
of the U.S. dollar against the RMB would have aatieg effect on the U.S. dollar amount availableisoBy way of example, assuming we
converted a U.S. dollar denominated cash balantkS@fL.0 million as of December 3 1, 2013 into Rifoinat the exchange rate of US$1.00
for RMB 6.0537 , such cash balance would have bggnoximately RMB6.05 million. Assuming a furthe®% appreciation of the Renminbi
against the U.S. dollar, such cash balance would dacreased to RMB5.99 million as of December, 2013. We have not used any forward
contracts or currency borrowings to hedge our exym foreign currency exchange risk.

Inflation

Since our inception, inflation in China has not enely impacted our results of operations. Accogdio the National Bureau of Statistics
of China, consumer price index in China increase8.B%, 2.6 % and 2.6% in 2011 , 2012 and 2018peetively. Although we have not been
materially affected by inflation in the past, weyrm affected if China experiences higher ratasftdtion in the future.
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ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITES
12.A. Debt Securities
Not applicable.
12.B. Warrants and Rights
Not applicable.
12.C. Other Securities
Not applicable.
12.D. American Depositary Shares
Fees and Charges Our ADS holders May Have to Pay

An ADS holder will be required to pay the followisgrvice fees to the depositary, Citibank, N.A.:

Service Fees
o Issuance of ADSs Up to U.S. 5¢ per ADS issued

» Cancellation of ADSs Up to U.S. 5¢ per ADS canceled

» Distribution of cash dividends or other cash dmttions Up to U.S. 5¢ per ADS held

« Distribution of ADSs pursuant to stock dividend®ef stock Up to U.S. 5¢ per ADS held
distributions or exercise of righ

« Distribution of securities other than ADSs or rgkd purchase Up to U.S. 5¢ per ADS held
additional ADS¢

» Depositary Services Up to U.S. 5¢ per ADS held on the applicable reaatd(s) established
by the Depositary (U.S.¢ per ADS for the year of 2C3)

An ADS holder will also be responsible to pay cierfaes and expenses incurred by the depositargardin taxes and governmental
charges such as:

»  Fees for the transfer and registration of ordirddrgres charged by the registrar and transfer dgetite ordinary shares in the
Cayman Islands (i.e., upon deposit and withdrawakdinary shares).

»  Expenses incurred for converting foreign curremtg U.S. dollars.

e Expenses for cable, telex and fax transmissions@ndklivery of securities.

e  Taxes and duties upon the transfer of securities (vhen ordinary shares are deposited or withdfaem deposit).

* Fees and expenses incurred in connection withdheedy or servicing of ordinary shares on deposit.

Depositary fees payable upon the issuance and ltatiare of ADSs are typically paid to the deposjtéanks by the brokers (on behalf of
their clients) receiving the newly issued ADSs frtira depositary banks and by the brokers (on belialifeir clients) delivering the ADSs to
the depositary banks for cancellation. The broketarn charge these fees to their clients. Depositees payable in connection with
distributions of cash or securities to ADS holdand the depositary services fee are charged byepesitary banks to the holders of record of

ADSs as of the applicable ADS record date.
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The depositary fees payable for cash distributamesgenerally deducted from the cash being digethun the case of distributions other
than cash (i.e., stock dividend, rights), the déposbanks charge the applicable fee to the Alx®nedate holders concurrent with the
distribution. In the case of ADSs registered intlaene of the investor (whether certificated or utifbeated in direct registration), the
depositary banks send invoices to the applicaldlercedate ADS holders. In the case of ADSs helotakerage and custodian accounts (via
The Depository Trust Company (“DTC")), the depaosithanks generally collects its fees through theteays provided by DTC (whose
nominee is the registered holder of the ADSs heldTC) from the brokers and custodians holding Ab&$eir DTC accounts. The brokers
and custodians who hold their clients’ ADSs in Dd€ounts in turn charge their clients’ accountsatmeunt of the fees paid to the depositary
banks.

In the event of refusal to pay the depositary fdesdepositary may, under the terms of the depgséement, refuse the requested servic
until payment is received or may set off the amafrihe depositary fees from any distribution tonede to the ADS holder.

The fees and charges an ADS holder may be reqidgrpdy may vary over time and may be changed ndsby the depositary. An ADS
holder will receive prior notice of such changes.

Fees and Other Payments Made by the Depositary tosU

The depositary may reimburse us for certain expeimeirred by us in respect of the ADR programtdisiaed pursuant to the deposit
agreement, by making available a portion of theod#épry fees charged in respect of the ADR progoamtherwise, upon such terms and
conditions as we and the depositary may agree fimato time. For the year ended December 31, 20&i8have received a total of RMBO0.9
million (US$0.1 million) from the depositary asmdursement for our expenses incurred in connegtitninvestor relationship programs
related to the ADS program.
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PART II
ITEM 13. DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES
None of these events occurred in any of the yaade@®December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013.
ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS
There have been no material modifications to thktsi of securities holders or the use of proceeds.
ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our cleeécutive officer and chief financial officer, hgerformed an evaluation of the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and prooesiwithin the meaning of Rules 13a-15(e) and 15(@) of the Exchange Act as of the end
of the period covered by this annual report. Baseduch evaluation, our management has conclu@gdah of the end of the period covered
by this annual report, our disclosure controls pratedures were effective.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control overFinancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act, for company. Internal control over financial reporting process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynaiicial reporting and the preparation of constéiddinancial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles and iredutiose policies and procedures that (a) pexaimet maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettfansactions and dispositions of a company’'sssd® provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to perepagation of consolidated financial statementsooedance with generally accepted
accounting principles and that a company’s receiptbexpenditures are being made only in accordaitheauthorizations of a company’s
management and directors and (c) provide reasomableance regarding prevention or timely deteafamauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of a company’s assets that could havaterial effect on the consolidated financialestants.

Because of its inherent limitations, a system tdrimal control over financial reporting can provimtdy reasonable assurance with respect
to consolidated financial statement preparationfedentation and may not prevent or detect messints. Also, projections of any evalua
of effectiveness to future periods are subjechéorisk that controls may become inadequate beca#udeanges in conditions, or that the deg
of compliance with the policies and procedures thetgriorate.

As required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxletyafd related rules as promulgated by the SECpauragement assessed the
effectiveness of the internal control over finahogporting as of December 31, 2013 using critegtablished ifnternal Control — Integrated
Framework(1992)issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriee Treadway Commission. Based on this evalnatur
management has concluded that our internal cootel financial reporting was effective as of DecemBl, 2013.

Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounihg Firm
The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of December 31, 2013 has beditealiby Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants LLP, an independegistered public accounting firm. The attestatignort issued by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants LLP can be found oge&-3 of this annual report on Form 20-F.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There were no significant changes that have mélieatiected, or are reasonably likely to matesiaffect, our internal control over
financial reporting during 201 3.

ITEM 16A. AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

Our board of directors has determined that Mr. dogghow is an audit committee financial experthas term is defined in Item 16A(b)
Form 20-F, and is independent for the purposesutd R605(a)(2) of the NASDAQ Marketplace Rulesthm NASDAQ Rules, and Rule 10&.-
under the Exchange Act.

ITEM 16B. CODE OF ETHICS

Our board of directors adopted a code of businesduct and ethics on January 27, 2010 that apfaliear directors, officers, employees
and agents, including certain provisions that djmadiy apply to our executive officers and any etlpersons who perform similar functions for
us. We have filed our code of business conductetinids as an exhibit to our registration statensanftorm F-1 (File No. 333-165247)
originally filed with the Securities and Exchangen@nission on March 5, 2010, as amended. Our cobesifiess conduct and ethics is
publicly available on our website at http://ir.hbazzom/.

ITEM 16C. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accoum¢dn P, or Deloitte, our independent registeredliguiccounting firm, began serving
as our auditor in August 2009.

Our audit committee is responsible for the oversaftDeloitte’s work. The policy of our audit comiteie is to pre-approve all audit and
non-audit services provided by Deloitte, includaglit services, audit-related services, tax sesvérel other services, other than thosealéor
minimisservices which are approved by the audit commjite® to the completion of the audit.

We paid the following fees for professional sersite Deloitte for the years ended December 31,284d 2013.

Year Ended December 31

2012 2013
Us$ USs$
(in thousands)
Audit Fees® 84C 98C
Audit-Related Fee — —
Tax Fees — —
All Other Fees — —

Note: (1) Audit Fees. This category includes the aggeeézes billed for the professional services rerdibseour principal auditors for
assurance and related services. Our 2012 and 2@llt3fees mainly include the audit of our annuabficial statements, the services
provided in connection with our compliance with t&banes-Oxley Act, or services that are nornalhyided by the accountant in
connection with statutory and regulatory filings.

ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES

Not applicable.
ITEM 16E. PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AHLIATED PURCHASERS

None.
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ITEM 16F. CHANGE IN REGISTRANT'S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT
Not applicable.
ITEM 16G. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The NASDAQ Rules provide that foreign private igsumay follow home country practice in lieu of i@ porate governance
requirements of the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC, subjeccertain exceptions and requirements and exoape extent that such exemptions

would be contrary to U.S. federal securities lawd gegulations. The significant differences betweencorporate governance practices and
those followed by U.S. companies under the NASDA(EeR are summarized as follows:

We follow home country practice that permits out@pendent directors not to hold regularly schedaiedtings at which only
independent directors are present in lieu of complwith Rule 5605(b)(2).

*  We follow home country practice that permits ouatabof directors not to implement a nominations nottee, in lieu of complying
with Rule 5605(e) of the NASDAQ Rules that requittes implementation of a nominations committee.

Other than the above, we have followed and intermbhtinue to follow the applicable corporate goagrce standards under the NASD
Marketplace Rules.

In accordance with Rule 5250(d)(1) under NASDAQ kédplace Rules, we will post this annual reporfFenm 20-F on our company
website at http://ir.huazhu.com. In addition, wdl yiovide hard copies of our annual report freelvérge to shareholders and ADS holders
upon request.

ITEM 16 H. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

PART 11l
ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have elected to provide financial statementsyaunt to Item 18.

ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our consolidated financial statements are incluategtie end of this annual report.

ITEM 19. EXHIBITS

Exhibit
Number Description of Document
1.1 Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles ob@atdon of the Registrant. (Incorporated by refieeto Exhibits
3.2 from the Amendment No. 1 to our Registratioat&nent on Form F-1 (file no. 333-165247) filedhittie Securities
and Exchange Commission on March 12, 20
1.2 Amendment to the Amended and Restated ArticlesssbAiation of the Registrant, adopted by the sluddehs of the
Registrant on November 21, 2012. (Incorporatedeligrence to Exhibit 1.2 from our annual report onnfr 20-F filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission onl&3;i2013.)
2.1 Registrar’'s Specimen American Depositary Receipt (includefxhibit 2.3).
2.2 Registrant’s Specimen Certificate for Ordinary ®saIncorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 fraum Registration

Statement on Form-1 (file no. 33:-165247) filed with the Securities and Exchange Cdssion on March 5, 2010
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2.3

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

411

4.12*

4.13*

Form of Deposit Agreement among the RegistrantPibgositary and all Holders and Beneficial Owndrthe American
Depositary Shares issued thereunder. (Incorpotatedference to Exhibits 4.3 from the Amendment N our
Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 33324) filed with the Securities and Exchange Corsiaison

March 12, 2010.

Amended and Restated 2007 Global Share Plan, amhemdierestated as of December 12, 2007. (Incomrbiat
reference to Exhibit 10.1 from our Registrationt&taent on Form F-1 (file no. 333-165247) filed witle Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 5, 201

Amended and Restated 2008 Global Share Plan, amiemderestated as of October 31, 2008. (Incorpotayereference
to Exhibit 10.2 from our Registration Statementramm F-1 (file no. 333-165247) filed with the Seties and Exchange
Commission on March 5, 201(

Amended and Restated 2009 Share Incentive Plamdedeand restated as of October 1, 2009. (Incorpadiay referenc
to Exhibit 10.3 from our Registration Statementr@amm F-1 (file no. 333-165247) filed with the Seities and Exchange
Commission on March 5, 201(

Amendment to the Amended and Restated 2009 Sheeatime Plan, amended as of August 26, 2010. (pwated by
reference to Exhibit 99.2 from our report on Fori{ ile no. 333-34656) filed with the SecuritieschExchange
Commission on July 15, 201(

Form of Indemnification Agreement with the Registta Directors. (Incorporated by reference to Exthilld.4 from our
Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 38%247) filed with the Securities and Exchange Cdssion on March £
2010.)

English translation of the Form of Employment Agnemt between the Registrant and Executive Offioéthe
Registrant. (Incorporated by reference to Exhiltfdom our annual report on Form 20-F (File No1<B2656) filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on ApriR022.)

English translation of the Fixed Assets Loan Carttbeetween the Industrial and Commercial Bank ah&land HanTing
Xingkong (Shanghai) Hotel Management Co., Ltd.edd¥larch 2, 2012. (Incorporated by reference toitkit4.10 from
our annual report on Form 20-F (File No. 001-34886) with the Securities and Exchange CommissinApril 12,
2012.)

English translation of the Facility Agreement bedweChina Merchants Bank and HanTing Xingkong (ShaidHotel
Management Co., Ltd., dated September 25, 201@o1(orated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 from ourwaimreport on
Form 2(-F filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissioi\pril 23, 2013.

Subscription Agreement between the Registrant arid.€om International, Ltd., dated March 12, 20@corporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.9 from the Amendment Nto bur Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file 388-165247)
filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissioiMarch 12, 2010.

Investor and Registration Rights Agreement betwherRegistrant and Ctrip.com International, Ltédted March 12,
2010. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10./00f the Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statéroa Form F-1
(file no. 33:-165247) filed with the Securities and Exchange Césion on March 12, 201C

Share Purchase Agreement by and between Chinangétyildings (HK) Limited and C-Travel Internationamited ,
dated April 15, 2012. (Incorporated by referenc&xbibit 4.11 from our annual report on Form 204&d with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on April 23,32X

English translation of Entrusted Loan agreemenray between HanTing Xingkong (Shanghai) Hotel Managnt Co.,
Ltd, Ctrip Computer Technology Co.,Ltd and Chinan€touction Bank Corporation, Shanghai Minhang Sabbh, datec
December 19, 201

English translation of Letter of Guarantee by aatiieen Ctrip.com International, Ltd. and China LiodgGroup Ltd.,
dated December 19, 20
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8.1* Subsidiaries of the Registra
11.1 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics of the Regist(encorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 frour Registration
Statement on Form-1 (file no. 33:-165247) filed with the Securities and Exchange Cdssion on March 5, 2010
12.1* Certification of Qi Ji, Chief Executive Officer tfie Registrant, pursuant to Section 302 of the Swb-Oxley Act of
2002.
12.2* Certification of Min (Jenny) Zhang, Chief Financ@fficer of the Registrant, pursuant to Section 80the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002
13.1* Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 2002
23.1* Consent of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified RuBcountants LLP, Independent Registered Publiocooting Firm

101.INS*** XBRL Instance Documer

101.SCH*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

101.CAL*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr
101.DEF*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docum
101.LAB*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

101.PRE*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

*  Filed with this Annual Report on Form 20-F.

**  Furnished with this Annual Report on Form 20-F.

***  XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) imfation is furnished and not filed or a part of giseration statement or prospectus
for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securfigtsof 1933, is deemed not filed for purposes eftidn 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, and otherwise is not subject to liability enthese sections.
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SIGNATURES

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets fithe requirements for filing on Form 20-F and thdttas duly caused and authorized the
undersigned to sign this annual report on its Behal

CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
By: /s/ Qi Ji

Name: Qi Ji
Title:  Chief Executive Office

Date: April 17, 2014
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of China Lodging Group, Limited andutssidiaries (the “Group”) as of
December 31, 2012 and 2013, and the related cdasedl statements of comprehensive income, changsgiity , and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 3B 20d the related financial statement schedulessd financial statements and financial
statement schedules are the responsibility of tfoei®s management. Our responsibility is to expegsspinion on these financial statements
and financial statement schedules based on outsaudi

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &andbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and diss in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptexused and significant estimates made by maregeas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thataodits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetag@resent fairly, in all material respects, tinaricial position of China Lodging Group,
Limited and its subsidiaries as of December 312281d 2013 and the results of their operationstlagid cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2013, in confgrmith accounting principles generally acceptethim United States of America. Also, in
our opinion, such financial statement schedulegndonsidered in relation to the basic consolidfitethcial statements taken as a whole,
present fairly in all material respects, the infation set forth therein.

Our audits also comprehended the translation ofrik@n amounts into United States dollar amounts andur opinion, such translation
has been made in conformity with the basis statddiote 2. Such United States dollar amounts areepited solely for the convenience of
readers in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the Group’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2013, based on the criteria establishbdarnal Control — Integrated Framework
(1992)issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission and our report dated A, 2014 expressed an
unqualified opinion on the Group’s internal contoekr financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Acetaunts LLP

Shanghai, China
April 17, 2014
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

We have audited the internal control over finanglorting of China Lodging Group, Limited andstsbsidiaries (the “Group”) as of
December 31, 2013 based on criteria establishedennal Control — Integrated Framework (19983ued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Go@mnagement is responsible for maintaining effednternal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectigerd internal control over financial reportingclided in the accompanying Management’s
Annual Report on Internal Control over FinanciapBeing. Our responsibility is to express an opinim the Group’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@d&nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigéfénternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe@is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etastiflg and evaluating the design and operatifegtéfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre®& considered necessary in the circumstancefeéliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidij the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or pmrs performing similar functions, and effected g tompany’s board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide reakpassurance regarding the reliability of financeglorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles. A comgfsaimternal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and proceduras(th) pertain to the maintenance of records thatasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of ttsetsof the company; (2) provide reasonable assertduat transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial stat@sin accordance with generally accepted acaugiptinciples, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordg@ordance with authorizations of management amedtdirs of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prereatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on tlenéial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltconover financial reporting, including the posti of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatémdue to error or fraud may not be preventadktected on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectivenesthe internal control over financial reportingftdure periods are subject to the risk that the
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance Withpolicies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Group maintained, in all maderespects, effective internal control over finahoeporting as of December 31, 2013,
based on the criteria establishedriternal Control — Integrated Framework(1998%ued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidns
the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the
consolidated financial statements and financidkstant schedules as of and for the year ended Dewedi, 2013 of the Group and our report
dated April 17, 2014 expressed an unqualified gpiran those financial statements and financiaéstant schedules and included an
explanatory paragraph regarding the translatidResfminbi amounts into United States dollar amotortthe convenience of readers in the
United States of America.

/sl Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Acetaunts LLP
Shanghai, China
April 17, 2014
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ASSETS

Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Shor-term investment

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of RMB2,688 &MB7,256 in 2012

and 2013, respective

Amounts due from related parti

Prepaid ren

Inventories

Other current asse

Deferred tax asse

Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Intangible assets, n
Long-term investment
Goodwill
Other asset
Deferred tax asse

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Amounts due to a related pa
Salary and welfare payak
Deferred revenu
Accrued expenses and other current liabili
Income tax payabl
Deferred tax liabilities
Total current liabilities
Deferred ren
Deferred revenu
Amounts due to a related pa
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Equity:

Ordinary shares (US$0.0001 par value per shar8p800,000 shares
authorized; 244,494,095 and 247,551,999 sharesdssud outstanding a

CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Renminbi in thousands, except share and per shadata, unless otherwise stated)

of December 31, 2012 and 2013, respectiv

Additional paic-in capital
Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive |

Total China Lodging Group, Limited shareholc equity

Noncontrolling interes
Total equity

Total liabilities and equit

As of December 31

2012 2013 2013
US¢ 000
(Note 2)

449,84: 397,43 65,65:
1,79C 3,317 54¢
8,07¢ — _
50,63: 74,64¢ 12,33:
65¢ 10¢
321,30¢ 363,58: 60,05¢
37,97 34,01 5,61¢
83,05¢ 116,97¢ 19,32
44,23 51,75¢ 8,55(
996,90¢ 1,042,38: 172,19(
2,951,50! 3,634,03! 600,30:
100,98( 101,84! 16,82
28,12¢ 90,517 14,95:
64,18( 64,84: 10,71
133,53t 184,01: 30,39
54,947 67,40¢ 11,13t
4,330,18 5,185,05: 856,51(
624,82: 677,30! 111,88:
801 5,59: 924
117,98( 147,23t 24,32:
200,51! 297,28« 49,10¢
187,38( 249,18! 41,16
23,14: 26,05:¢ 4,30¢
— 151 25
1,154,64. 1,402,80! 231,72¢
470,43¢ 653,83: 108,00!
99,80( 118,81¢ 19,62°
— 8,167 1,34¢
92,40 147,56! 24,37
22,33¢ 26,07 4,307
1,839,62: 2,357,26. 389,39.
18C 182 3C
2,243,40:. 2,315,08: 382,42:
260,01 539,87 89,18:
(38,406 (39,384 (6,506)
2,465,18! 2,815,75: 465,12¢
25,37¢ 12,03¢ 1,98¢
2,490,56! 2,827,79. 467,111
4,330,18 5,185,05: 856,51(

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Revenues
Leased hotel
Manachised and franchised hot
Total revenue
Less: Business tax and related ta
Net revenue
Operating costs and expens
Hotel operating cosl
Selling and marketing expens
General and administrative expen
Pre-opening expense
Total operating costs and expen
Other operating incom
Income from operation
Interest incom:
Interest expens
Other income (expens
Foreign exchange gain (los
Income before income tax
Income tax expens
Net income
Less: net income attributable to noncontrollingiest
Net income attributable to China Lodging Group, ltéd

Other comprehensive incor

Foreign currency translation adjustments, netxobfanil for
2011, 2012 and 201

Comprehensive incorr

Comprehensive income attributable to the noncdimrpl
interest

Comprehensive income attributable to China Lodging
Group, Limited

Earnings per shar
Basic
Diluted

Weighted average number of shares used in compnut
Basic
Diluted

Year Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013 2013
US¢ 000
(Note 2)

2,172,93. 3,069,43: 3,870,88 639,42!
212,64« 349,84° 549,95¢ 90,84¢
2,385,57 3,419,27! 4,420,84! 730,27:
135,98: 194,75 252,21¢ 41,66
2,249,59 3,224,522 4,168,62! 688,60¢
1,703,33 2,453,90: 3,181,661 525,57:
94,754 102,81 138,12¢ 22,811
167,64: 224,11 284,75t 47,03¢
184,29¢ 230,69( 211,28 34,90:
2,150,03 3,011,571 3,815,83! 630,33:
7,58( 6,72: 27,75( 4,584
107,14¢ 219,73: 380,54« 62,86
18,11 14,55« 6,85¢ 1,13:
882 822 812 134
2,64¢ 2,20¢ 1,907 31t
15,93( (2,000) 21 3
142,95: 233,67 388,51! 64,17¢
24,81¢ 54,16¢ 104,82( 17,31t
118,13¢ 179,50 283,69 46,86
3,30¢ 4,617 3,831 634
114,83: 174,88’ 279,85¢ 46,22¢
(16,467 75€ (976) (161)
101,67! 180,26: 282,71¢ 46,70:
3,30¢ 4,617 3,831 634
98,36¢ 175,64! 278,88: 46,06¢
0.47 0.7z 1.14 0.1¢
0.47 0.71 1.12 0.1¢
241,928,28 243,284,33 245,187,34 245,187,34
246,181,20 246,981,00 249,486,228 249,486,228

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Balance aJanuary1, 2011

Issuance of ordinary shares uf
exercise of optiois

Shar-based compensatic

Excess tax benefit from shi-basec
compensatiol

Capital contribution fron
noncontrolling interest holde

Net income

Dividend paid to noncontrollin
interestholders

Foreign currency translatic
adjustment:

Balance at December 31, 11

Issuance of ordinary shares ug
exercise of optiois

Shar-based compensatic

Excess tax benefit from shi-basec
compensatiol

Capital contribution fron
noncontrolling interesholders

Acquisitionswith noncontrolling
interest

Net income

Dividend paid to noncontrollin
interestholders

Foreign currency translatic
adjustment:

Balance at December 31, 22

Issuance of ordinary shares uf
exercise of option s and vesting
restricted stocl

Shar-based compensatic

Excess tax benefit from shi-basec
compensatiol

Acquisitionsof noncontrolling interes

Net income

Dividend paid to noncontrollin
interestholders

Foreign currency translatic
adjustment:

Balance at December 31, 23

CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Ordinary Shares Additional Paid-in Retained earnings Accumulated Other Noncontrolling

Share Amount Capital ( Accumulated Deficit) Comprehensive los: Interest Total Equity
241,151,75 178 2,168,36- (29,709 (22,709 9,17¢ 2,125,311
1,452,46: 1 7,78: — — — 7,78¢
— — 15,48: — — — 15,48
— — 8,32¢ — — — 8,32¢
— — — — — 45¢ 45¢
— — — 114,83: — 3,30¢ 118,13
— — — — — (3,15)) (3,15)
— — — — (16,467) — (16,467)
242,604,22 17¢ 2,199,95 85,127 (39,16¢) 9,79( 2,255,88.
1,889,87. 1 18,31( — — — 18,31:
— — 20,837 — — — 20,83’
— — 4,302 — — — 4,302
— — — — — 24C 24(
— — — — — 14,21¢ 14,21t
— — — 174,88 — 4,617 179,50
— — — — — (3,486 (3,486)
— — — — 75¢€ — 75¢
244,494,09 18C 2,243,40: 260,01« (38,409 25,37¢ 2,490,56!
3,057,90 2 29,14+ — — — 29,14¢
— — 30,46¢ — — — 30,46¢
— — 14,58: — — — 14,58:
— — (2,519 — — (13,94¢) (16,46()
— — — 279,85! — 3,831 283,69!
— — — — — (3,229) (3,229
— — — — (976) — (976)
247,551,99 182 2,315,08: 539,87: (39,389 12,03¢ 2,827,79

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskipgen
by operating activities
Shar+-based compensatic
Depreciation and amortizatic
Deferred taxe
Bad debt expenst
Deferred ren
Gain from disposal of property and equipm
Impairment los:
Investment los
Excess tax benefit from shi-based compensatic
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffett
of acquisitions
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid ren
Inventories
Amountsdue from related partie
Other current asse
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Amountsdue toarelated pary
Salary and welfare payabl
Deferred revenu
Accrued expenses and other current liabili
Income tax payabl
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activit
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment for hotels in
operation and headquartt
P urchase of property and equipment for hotels unde
developmen
Purchases of intangibli
Amount received as a result of government zo
Acquisitions, net of cash receiv
Purchase of lor-terminvestmens
Purchase of she-term investment
S ales of sho-term investment
Decrease (increase) in restricted ¢
Net cash used in investing activiti
Financing activities
Net proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares upon
exercise of optiol
Proceeds frorshort-term debt
Repayment oshort-term debi
Proceeds from lor-term debi
Repayment of lor-term debt
Funds advanced from noncontrolling interest holi
Repayment of funds advanced from noncontrolling
interest holder
Acquisitions of noncontrolling intere

Year Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013 2013
US$'000
(Note 2)

118,13¢ 179,50 283,69! 46,86
15,48: 20,831 30,46¢ 5,03t
236,857 347,57" 463,14¢ 76,50¢
(35,712 (18,226 (22,619 (3,736
667 1,23¢ 4,57: 755
92,92 143,85¢ 187,21 30,92¢
— — (10,739 (1,779

71C 5,34¢ 7,96¢ 1,31¢€

— — 43C 71
(8,329 (4,307) (14,582 (2,409)
(16,40) (12,336 (28,270 (4,670)
(75,820 (93,219 (42,276) (6,987
(12,792) (6,719 4,04¢ 66€
3,267 — (65€) (109)
(15,689 (29,409 (26,400 (4,367)
(22,109 (31,48) (50,229 (8,29¢)
3,43¢ 3,39( 3,60¢ 59¢
17t (229 70€ 117
22,62¢ 36,80¢ 28,76¢ 4,752
92,801 90,46¢ 115,78° 19,127
34,24¢€ 36,07¢ 62,54 10,33:
7,35( 13,29¢ 17,49: 2,89(
16,89 33,23! 55,49¢ 9,167
458, 74( 715,72( 1,070,16! 176,77¢
(88,099 (127,05¢) (170,48)) (28,167)
(680,66:) (870,99, (902,166 (149,029
(14,679 (3,539 (4,290 (709)
6,90( — 15,03( 2,48:
(57,82)) (30,055 (34,070 (5,62¢)
— (28,129 (54,742 (9,049
(30,000 (8,079 — —
130,00( — — —
(225) (290) (1,527 (252)
(734,57) (1,068,13) (1,152,24) (190,339
7,28E 18,52( 28,12: 4,64=
— — 105,79¢ 17,47¢

— — (105,79¢) (17,47¢)

— 1,00( — —

— (1,000 — —
3,48¢ 3,00( 1,94¢ 321
(2,56¢) (2,68)) (6,569 (1,089
— — (4,210 (695)




CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Year Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013 2013
US$’000
(Note 2)

Contribution from noncontrolling interest holde 45¢ 24C — —

Dividend paid to noncontrolling interest hold: (3,157 (3,486 (3,229 (539

Excess tax benefit from shi-based compensatic 8,324 4,30z 14,58: 2,40¢
Net cash provided by financing activiti 13,83 19,89t 30,64¢ 5,06:
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash

equivalents (16,467) 75€ (97€) (161)
Net increas«(d ecreass) in cash and cash equivale (278,46() (331,75) (52,409 (8,657)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning ofdhe 1,060,0€7 781,60: 449,84« 74,30¢
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 781,60. 449,84 397,43t 65,65:
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Interest paic 882 85¢ 1,08¢ 17¢
Income taxes pai 53,18( 69,98( 99,06t 16,36¢
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing arahéimg

activities:
Purchases of property and equipment included ialpa 395,68 590,87 639,74¢ 105,67¢
Consideration payable for business acquisi 16,62t 10,50¢ 8,93¢ 1,47
Purchase of intangible assets included in pay: 11,45¢ 10,58¢ 9,66( 1,59¢
Reimbursement of government zoning included in

receivable: — 3,04z 6,042 99¢
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares uporisrenf

option included in receivable 49¢ 29C 1,31¢ 21¢
Acquisition of noncontrolling interest includedpayables — — 12,25( 2,02¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2012 and 2@L
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

1. ORGANIZATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

China Lodging Group, Limited (the “Company”) wasdnporated in the Cayman Islands under the laviseo€ayman Islands on
January 4, 2007. The principal business activifdbe Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group& ta develop leased, manachised and
franchised hotels under the “Joya Hotel”, “Manxiotels & Resorts “, “JI Hotel”, “Starway Hotel”, “Heing Hotel” and “Hi Inn"brands in th
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). As of DecemBér 2013, the Group does not own any hotel pragsert

Leased hotels

The Group leases hotel properties from propertyeyaand is responsible for all aspects of hotetaifm;s and management, including
hiring, training and supervising the managers angleyees required to operate the hotels. In additize Group is responsible for hotel
development and customization to conform to thedsieds of the Group brands at the beginning ofghse, as well as repairs and
maintenance, operating expenses and managemerapaffes over the term of the lease.

Under the lease arrangements, the Group typicatlgives rental holidays of two to six months angspant on a quarterly or biannual
basis. Rent is typically subject to the fixed eatiahs of three to five percent every three to fiears. The Group recognizes rental expense
straight-line basis over the lease term.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2013, the Group hach4@3565 leased hotels in operation, respectively.
Manachised and franchised hotels

Typically the Group enters into certain franchiad ananagement arrangements with franchisees fatwhe Group is responsible for
providing branding, quality assurance, trainingergation, hiring and appointing of the hotel gaharanager and various other support
services relating to the hotel renovation and dperaThose hotels are classified as manachiseglshatinder typical franchise and
management agreements, the franchisee is requoifgaytan initial franchise fee and ongoing franetdied management service fees, the
majority of which are equal to a certain percentaige revenues of the hotel. The franchiseedpaasible for the costs of hotel development
renovation and the costs of its operations. Tha t#frthe franchise and management agreementsgioalfty eight to ten years and are
renewable upon mutual agreement between the Gruditha franchisee. The Group also has a small nuoflfeanchised hotels in which ca:
the Group does not provide a hotel general man&geof December 31, 2012 and 2013, the Group h&dabil 835 manachised hotels in
operation and 54 and 25 franchised hotels in ojperatespectively.

2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements of the Gitwane been prepared in accordance with the accguptinciples generally accepted in
the United States of America (“US GAAP").

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include itential statements of the Company and its majavyed subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany transactions and balances are eligdnart consolidation.

The Group evaluates the need to consolidate cergaiable interest entities in which equity investdo not have the characteristics of a
controlling financial interest or do not have sciffint equity at risk for the entity to finance dtstivities without additional subordinated
financial support.
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2012 and 2@L
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

The Group is deemed as the primary beneficiaryndfa@nsolidates variable interest entities whernGhaup has the power to direct the
activities that most significantly impact the ecomo success of the entities and effectively assummesbligation to absorb losses and has the
rights to receive benefits that are potentiallyngigant to the entities.

The Group evaluates its business activities arahgaments with the entities that operate the masedland franchised hotels to identify
potential variable interest entities. Generallgsih entities qualify for the business scope exaeptherefore consolidation is not appropriate
under the variable interest entity consolidatiordgace.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith US GAAP requires management to make estisiand assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilitieg|atsire of contingent assets, long lived assetdiabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amount of revenuesxqahses during the reporting period. Actual restduld differ from those estimates. The
Group bases its estimates on historical experiandevarious other factors believed to be reasonatier the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments aboutdheying value of assets and liabilities thatraoereadily apparent from other sources.
Significant accounting estimates reflected in theu®’s consolidated financial statements inclugeubeful lives and impairment of property
and equipment and intangible assets, valuatiomvahae of deferred tax assets, impairment of godgdstibre-based compensation and costs
related to its customer loyalty program.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on mhdeanand deposits, which are unrestricted asttalvéiwal and use, and which have
original maturities of three months or less wherchased.

Restricted cash
Restricted cash represents bank demand depodasecalized for certain newly established subsidsapending capital verification
procedure of relevant PRC government authority@eqbsits used as security against borrowings. @piat verification approval process
typically takes between three to six months.

Short-term investments

Short-term investments represent held-to-matugtusties and are measured at amortized cost indhsolidated balance sheets. The
Group classifies investments with maturities of entttan three months and less than 12 months astehmrinvestments.

Accounts receivable, net of allowance
Trade receivables mainly consist of franchise émeivables, amounts due from corporate custonrasgltagents, hotel guests and credit
card receivables, which are recognized and caati¢ide original invoice amount less an allowancaedfaubtful accounts. The Group establis
an allowance for doubtful accounts primarily basadhe age of the receivables and factors surrogrthie credit risk of specific customers.
Inventories
Inventories mainly consist of small appliances,died and daily consumables. Small appliances addibg for new hotels opened are
stated at cost, less accumulated amortizationaemdmortized over their estimated useful livesggally one year, from the time they are put
into use. Daily consumables and beddings replactarerexpensed when used.
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2012 and 2@L
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Property and equipment, net
Property and equipment, net are stated at costEasnulated depreciation and amortization. Thevations, betterments and interest

incurred during construction are capitalized. Deaton and amortization of property and equipmemrovided using the straight line method
over their expected useful lives. The expecteduldiees are as follows:

Leasehold improvemen Shorter of the lease term or their estimated udizies
Buildings 40 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipme 3-5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

Construction in progress represents leasehold imgpnents under construction or being installed arstdted at cost. Cost comprises
original cost of property and equipment, instatlaticonstruction and other direct costs. Constouadti progress is transferred to leasehold
improvements and depreciation commences when et @sready for its intended use.

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are erpess incurred. Gain or loss on disposal of prgpart equipment, if any, is recogni:
in the consolidated statements of comprehensivanircas the difference between the net sales preeaetithe carrying amount of the
underlying asset.

Intangible assets, net and unfavorable lease

Intangible assets consist primarily of brand nane#-compete agreements, franchise agreements and ffid&deases acquired in busin
combinations and purchased software. Intangibletassquired through business combinations argynéoed as assets separate from goodwi
if they satisfy either the “contractual-legal” aeparability” criterion. Intangible assets, inchiglbrand name, non-compete agreements,
franchise agreements and favorable lease agreemsqiged from business combination are recograzetimeasured at fair value upon
acquisition. Non-compete agreements, franchiseeaggats and favorable lease agreements are amaotieedhe expected useful life,
remaining franchise contract terms and remainirgrating lease terms. Unfavorable lease agreemmmstfusiness combination transactions
are recognized as other long-term liabilities aredaanortized over the remaining operating leasa.tBurchased software is stated at cost les:
accumulated amortization.

Brand name is considered to have an indefinite Tifee Group evaluates the brand name each repqirigd to determine whether eve
and circumstances continue to support an indefustdul life. Impairment is tested annually or miregjuently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that it might be impaireae Group measures the impairment by comparingainedlue of brand name with its
carrying amount. If the carrying amount of brandheaexceeds its fair value, an impairment loss di@becognized in an amount equal to that
excess. The Group measured the fair value of thedoname under the relief-from-royalty method. Mpmaent performs its annual brand
name impairment test on November 30.

Long-term investments

Long-term investments include cost-method investmemguity-method investment and available-for-sa#eurities.

The Group accounts for the investment in an ineestavhich the Group owns less than 20% of thengtecurities and does not have
ability to exercise significant influence over opimg and financial policies of the entity as costthod investment. The Group’s cost-method
investment is carried at historical cost in its snlidated financial statements and measured atdhile on a nonrecurring basis when there are
events or changes in circumstances that may haigndicant adverse effect. An impairment lossesagnized in the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income equal to the excess ahthestment’s cost over its fair value when the impant is deemed other-than-temporary.
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2012 and 2@L
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

The Group accounts for the investment in joint uemtunder equity-method accounting. Under this wdtthe Group’s pro rata share of
income (loss) from investment is recognized indbesolidated statements of comprehensive incoméd®ids received reduce the carrying
amount of the investment. Equity-method investnienéviewed for impairment by assessing if the idecin market value of the investment
below the carrying value is other-than-temporamymiaking this determination, factors are evalu@edetermining whether a loss in value
should be recognized. These include considerafitimeantent and ability of the Group to hold intreent and the ability of the investee to
sustain an earnings capacity, justifying the cagyamount of the investment. Impairment lossesegegnized in other expense when a de«
in value is deemed to be other-than-temporary.

Investments in securities that have readily deteaflie fair values are classified as available-tde-securities and reported at fair value,
with unrealized gains and losses recorded as a@oemp of other comprehensive income or loss. Re@dlgains or losses are recognized in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive incomaglthie period in which the gains or losses artized If the Group determines that a
decline in the fair value of the individual availkedfor-sale security is other-than-temporary, tbetdasis of the security is written down to the
fair value as a new cost basis and the amounteoltite-down is accounted for as a realized lob& fdew cost basis will not be changed for
subsequent recoveries in fair value. The Grouperesiseveral factors to determine whether a losther-than-temporary. These factors
include, but are not limited to: (1) the naturahaf investment; (2) the cause and duration ofriigairment; (3) the extent to which fair value is
less than cost; (4) financial conditions and neentprospects of the issuers; and (5) the Grouplgyato hold the security for a period of time
sufficient to allow for any anticipated recoveryitsf amortized cost or fair value. Available-f@le securities not expected to be realized in
cash or sold in the next normal operating cyclthefbusiness are classified as long-term invessnent

No event had occurred that indicated that an dtien-temporary impairment existed and therefore&hmip did not record any
impairment charges for these investments durin@ 201 2013.

Impairment of long-lived assets

The Group evaluates its long-lived assets ancefinied intangibles for impairment whenever evantshanges in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not baverable. When these events occur, the Group mesgupairment by comparing the
carrying amount of the assets to future undiscaling cash flows expected to result from the ugaehssets and their eventual disposition. |
the sum of the expected undiscounted cash flovesssthan the carrying amount of the assets, thasrecognizes an impairment loss equi
the difference between the carrying amount andvidine of these assets. There was no impairmengehlacognized during the year ended
December 31, 2011.

The Group performed a recoverability test of itsgdived assets associated with certain hotelstaltiee continue underperformance
relative to the projected operating results, ofahiithe carrying amount of the property and equigregoeed the future undiscounted net cash
flows, and recognized an impairment loss of RMBS,84d RMB 7,965 during the year ended Decembe2@12 and 2013, respectively.

Fair value of the property and equipment was detexdhby the Group based on the income approacly tisendiscounted cash flow
associated with the underlying assets, which inm@fed certain assumptions including projectedlsotevenue, growth rates and projected
operating costs based on current economic condigqymectation of management and projected trendaroént operating results.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of guiaition over the fair value of the identifiablesats less liabilities acquired.
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2012 and 2@L
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or mérequently if events or changes in circumstancdgate that it might be impaired. The
Group completes a two-step goodwill impairment.t€ke first step compares the fair values of eagonting unit to its carrying amount,
including goodwill. If the fair value of a reportrunit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill is catsidered to be impaired and the second
step will not be required. If the carrying amouhtaeporting unit exceeds its fair value, the sekstep compares the implied fair value of
goodwill to the carrying value of a reporting usigjoodwill. The implied fair value of goodwill itermined in a manner similar to accounting
for a business combination with the allocationhaf assessed fair value determined in the firsttstéipe assets and liabilities of the reporting
unit. The excess of the fair value of the reporting over the amounts assigned to the assetsaitities is the implied fair value of goodwill.
This allocation process is only performed for pwgmof evaluating goodwill impairment and doesrastilt in an entry to adjust the value of
any assets or liabilities. An impairment loss isogmnized for any excess in the carrying value afdydll over the implied fair value of
goodwill. Management performs its annual goodwilpairment test on November 30.

The Group recognized goodwill impairment of RMB7&0,and nil for years ended December 31, 2011220d 2013, respectively.
Accruals for customer loyalty program

The Group invites its customers to participate austomer loyalty program. The membership has &imiiad life. Members enjoy
favorable treatment such as more convenient chatkrocedures and late check-out, discounts on mabes and accumulate membership
points for their paid stays, which can be redeefoedoom night awards and other gifts within tway® after the points are earned. The
estimated incremental costs to provide room nigi@rds and other gifts are accrued and recordedaieals for customer loyalty program as
members accumulate points and are recognized aambexpense in the accompanying consolidatedrsatts of comprehensive income. As
members redeem awards or their entittements expiegyrovision is reduced correspondingly. As o€&maber 31, 2012 and 2013, the accrual
for estimated liabilities under the customer loygitogram amounted to RMB12,963 and RMB15,061,aetyely.

Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue generally consists of mefundable advances received from customers faarehrooms, cash received for members
fees and initial franchise fees received prioht Group fulfilling its commitments to the franobés.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from leased hotels is derived from hotetatpons, mainly including the rental of rooms,da@nd beverage sales and souvenir
sales from leased hotels. Revenue is recognized vdwens are occupied and food and beverages anérsiosiare sold.

Revenues from manachised and franchised hotelieareed from franchise agreements where the fraeelsi are primarily required to pay
() an initial one-time franchise fee, and (ii) ¢timwing franchise fees, which mainly consist of da)going management and service fees me
based on a certain percentage of the room reveriuks franchised hotels, and (b) system maintemaspport fees and central reservation
system usage fees. The one-time franchise feedgnized when the manachised and franchised hpégisofor business, the fee becomes nor
refundable, and the Group has fulfilled all its eoitments and obligations, including the assistand@e franchisees in property design,
leasehold improvement construction project managemsgstems installation and personnel recruitimg) @®aining. The ongoing management
and service fees are recognized when the underggngce revenue is recognized by the franchisgesfations. The system maintenance,
support fee and central reservation system usags fecognized when services are provided.

In addition, the Group accounts for hotel managesfrelated to the manachised hotels under thehissprogram as revenues. Pursuant
to the franchise agreements, the Group chargefsahehisees fixed hotel manager fees to cover theathised hotel managers’ payroll, social
welfare benefits and certain other out-of-pocketemses that the Group incurs on behalf of the ntased hotels. The hotel manager fee is
recognized as revenue monthly. During the years@fmecember 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013, the hotel gearfees that were recognized as
revenue were RMB43,021, RMB72,061 and RMB116,888pectively.
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Membership fees from the Group’s customer loyattygpam are earned and recognized on a straighbése over the expected
membership duration of the different membershiglevSuch duration is estimated based on the Gsaupl management’s experience and is
adjusted on a periodic basis to reflect chang@seémbership retention. Effective October 1, 2018,@noup prospectively revised the estim.
membership duration from three to five years to tavéive years to more closely reflect the expectembership retention. Revenues
recognized from the customer loyalty program wekéBR5,623, RMB51,132 and RMB74,715 for the yearseeh@ecember 31, 2011, 2012
and 2013, respectively.

Business tax and related taxes

The Group is subject to business tax, educatiomsand urban maintenance and construction tath@services provided in the PRC.
Such taxes are primarily levied based on revenaglicable rates and are recorded as a reductiGvenues.

Advertising and promotional expenses

Advertising related expenses, including promotigpenses and production costs of marketing mateaadscharged to the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income as incurredaamminted to RMB28,445, RMB30,053 and RMB43,807leryears ended December
2011, 2012 and 2013, respectively.

Government grants

Unrestricted government subsidies from local gonmmtal agencies allowing the Group full discretiomtilize the funds were
RMB7,491, RMB6,723 and RMB17,016 for the years endecember 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013, respectivédichwvere recorded as other
operating income. The prior period amounts have lbeelassified from an offset to general and adstiative expenses to conform to the
current year presentation. These reclassificatiave no effect on the Group’s previously reporesliits of operations and financial position.

Leases

A lease of which substantially all the benefits aistls incidental to ownership remain with the tess classified as an operating lease. All
leases of the Group are currently classified asatipg leases. When a lease contains rent holidagesquires fixed escalations of the minimum
lease payments, the Group records the total rermEnse on a straight-line basis over the inidiasé term and the difference between the
straight-line rental expense and cash payment uhddease is recorded as deferred rent. As ofiDbee31, 2012 and 2013, deferred rent of
RMB11,882 and RMB15,704 were recorded as otheeatifiabilities and RMB470,438 and RMB653,831 wereorded as long-term
liabilities, respectively.

Capitalization of interest
Interest cost incurred on funds used to constaagdhold improvements during the active constmigi@riod is capitalized. The interest
capitalized is determined by applying the borrowiimgrest rate to the average amount of accumutzapial expenditures for the assets undel
construction during the period. The interest expansurred for the years ended December 31, 201112 and 2013 was RMB882, RMB859
and RMB1,084, of which nil, RMB37 and RMB271 wagpitalized as additions to assets under constructaspectively.
Income taxes

Current income taxes are provided for in accordavittethe relevant statutory tax laws and regufaio
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Deferred income taxes are recognized for tempatdfgrences between the tax basis of assets abitltles and their reported amounts in
the financial statements. Net operating lossesamied forward and credited by applying enactatusbry tax rates applicable to future years.
Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuatiowatioe when, in the opinion of the Group, it is mlikely-than-not that some portion or all of
the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Tdmpmonents of the deferred tax assets and liaiilitre individually classified as current and
non-current based on the characteristics of thenyidg assets and liabilities, or the expectedrgrof their use when they do not relate to a
specific asset or liability.

Foreign currency translation

The reporting currency of the Group is the Renm{tiRMB”). The functional currency of the Companytie United States dollar (“US
dollar”). Monetary assets and liabilities denomathin currencies other than the US dollar are taéed into US dollar at the rates of exchange
ruling at the balance sheet date. Transactionarireiscies other than the US dollar during the yearconverted into the US dollar at the
applicable rates of exchange prevailing on thetdaysactions occurred. Transaction gains and l@®sa®cognized in the statements of
comprehensive income. Assets and liabilities amedliated into RMB at the exchange rates at thabalsheet date, equity accounts are
translated at historical exchange rates and reemx@enses, gains and losses are translatedthsiagerage rate for the year. Translation
adjustments are reported as cumulative translaiifustments and are shown as a separate compdra@heocomprehensive loss in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

The financial records of the Group’s subsidiariesraaintained in local currencies, RMB, which is flinctional currency.
Comprehensive income

Comprehensive income includes all changes in eguitept for those resulting from investments by essrand distributions to owners
is comprised of net income and foreign-currencydtation adjustments. The consolidated financatkeshents have been adjusted for the
retrospective application of the authoritative guide regarding presentation of comprehensive incarieh was adopted by the Group on
January 1, 2012.

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose theup to concentration of credit risk consist priityanf cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, short-term investments and acsoeotivable.

All of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents astticted cash are held with financial institutidhat Group management believes to be
high credit quality. In addition, the Group’s in@&nt policy limits its exposure to concentratiofigredit risk and the Group’s short-term
investments consist of corporate debt securiti¢ls high credit quality. The Group conducts cregtleations on its group and agency
customers and generally does not require collaterather security from such customers. The Graenogically evaluates the creditworthine
of the existing customers in determining an allogeafor doubtful accounts primarily based upon the af the receivables and factors
surrounding the credit risk of specific customers.

Fair value
The Group defines fair value as the price that @dnd received from selling an asset or paid tosfeara liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement\déten determining the fair value measurementsgsets and liabilities required or
permitted to be recorded at fair value, the Gromupsiders the principal or most advantageous mamnke&hich it would transact and it considers
assumptions that market participants would use vgiemg the asset or liability.
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The established fair value hierarchy requires dityeto maximize the use of observable inputs andinmize the use of unobservable ing
when measuring fair value. A financial instrumendegorization within the fair value hierarchyp@sed upon the lowest level of input that is
significant to the fair value measurement. ThedHewels of inputs may be used to measure faireviclude:

Level 1 applies to assets or liabilities for whtblere are quoted prices in active markets for idehassets or liabilities.

Level 2 applies to assets or liabilities for whtblere are inputs other than quoted prices inclwdéun Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability such as quoted prices fanilar assets or liabilities in active markets; aqgbprices for identical assets or liabilities in
markets with insufficient volume or infrequent tsations (less active markets); or modefived valuations in which significant inputs
observable or can be derived principally from, emaborated by, observable market data.

Level 3 applies to assets or liabilities for whtblere are unobservable inputs to the valuation atetlogy that are significant to the
measurement of the fair value of the assets oilitiab.

The estimated fair value of the Group’s finanamgtiuments, including cash, restricted cash, dleont-investments, receivables, payable:
and accruals, approximates their carrying valuetddbkeir short-term nature.

When available, the Group uses quoted market pticdstermine the fair value of an asset or ligpilif quoted market prices are not
available, the Group measures fair value usingatalo techniques that use, when possible, curranket-based or independently sourced
market parameters, such as interest rates.

As of December 31, 2013, information about inpate the fair value measurements of the Group’stass®l liabilities that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis in periods sgbeat to their initial recognition is as follows:

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Usin
Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Year Ended Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
Description 2013 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Available-for-sale securities 50,00( — 50,00( —

The following table presents the Group’s assetssorea at fair value on a non-recurring basis fenytkar ended December 31, 2012 and
2013:

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Usint

Quoted
Prices
in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Year Ended Assets Inputs Inputs
December 31, Description Fair value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total loss
2012 Property and equipme 4,991 — — 4,991 5,34¢
2013 Property and equipme 5,38 — — 5,38 7,96¢

As a result of reduced expectations of future dests from certain leased hotels, the Group deteedhithat the hotels property and
equipment with a carrying amount of RMB10,340 aMB3.3,347 was not fully recoverable and consequemttprded an impairment charge
of RMB5,349 and RMB7,965 for the years ended Deearlh, 2012 and 2013, respectively.

F-16




CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2012 and 2@L
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Fair value of the property and equipment was detexchby the Group based on the income approacly tisesndiscounted cash flow
associated with the underlying assets, which inm@ed certain assumptions including projectedisotevenue, growth rates and projected
operating costs based on current economic congdigiqgmectation of management and projected trendaroént operating results. As a result,
the Group has determined that the majority of tipeiis used to value its long-lived assets heldused are unobservable inputs that fall withir
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The revenuevgh rate and the discount rate were the significaobservable input used in the fair value
measurement, which are 4% and 15%, and 4% and @0thd year ended December 31, 2012 and 2013, atbsglg.

Share-based compensation

The Group recognizes share-based compensatioe otisolidated statements of comprehensive inc@sedoon the fair value of equity
awards on the date of the grant, with compensatiprenses recognized over the period in which thatge is required to provide service to
Group in exchange for the equity award. The shaset compensation expenses have been categorigtdeashotel operating costs, general
and administrative expenses or selling and mangetkpenses, depending on the job functions of thetges. For the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013, the Group rezedrshare-based compensation expenses of RMB1R4A#320,837 and RMB30,468,
respectively, which was classified as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Hotel operating cos! 2,11¢ 2,592 4,94¢
Selling and marketing expens 78¢ 1,031 972
General and administrative expen 12,58¢ 17,21¢ 24,54
Total 15,48: 20,831 30,46¢

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividiegrme attributable to holders of ordinary sharetheyweighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Dil@arnings per share reflects the potential dituti@at could occur if securities or other
contracts to issue ordinary shares were exercisedrverted into ordinary shares and is calculatadg the treasury stock method for stock
options and nonvested restricted stocks.
Segment reporting

The Group operates and manages its business agl@a segment. The Group primarily generates itemaes from customers in the PRC.
Accordingly, no geographical segments are prese®glistantially all of the Group’s long-lived assate located in the PRC.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements
On February 28, 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013aMch is based on a consensus reached by the Brgdsgiues Task Force

(“EITF"). ASU 2013-04 requires entities to “measutaigations resulting from joint and several ligggiarrangements for which the total
amount of the obligation within the scope of thisdgance is fixed at the reporting date, as the sfithe following:

*  The amount the reporting entity agreed to pay erbsis of its arrangement among its co-obligors
* Any additional amount the reporting entity expdotpay on behalf of its co-obligors.
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Required disclosures include a description of tetjand-several arrangement and the total outstgrainount of the obligation for all
joint parties. ASU 201-04 permits entities to aggregate disclosures ffae®ed to providing separate disclosures for ezalrnd-several
obligation). These disclosure requirements areemental to the existing related-party disclosuguiements in ASC 850. ASU 2013-04 is
effective for all prior periods in fiscal years liging on or after December 15, 2013 and interiporéng periods within those years. The
Group is required to adopted ASU 2013-04 as ofdgnii, 2014, and does not expect any significapaithon its consolidated results of
operations, financial position or cash flows.

On March 4, 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-05, wimiclicates that the entire amount of a cumulatiaeslation adjustment (CTA)
related to an entity’s investment in a foreign gnghould be released when there has been a:

»  Sale of a subsidiary or group of net assets wihioreign entity and the sale represents the satisiit complete liquidation of the
investment in the foreign entity.

» Loss of a controlling financial interest in an istrment in a foreign entity (i.e., the foreign gntg deconsolidated).

e  Step acquisition for a foreign entity (i.e., whanemtity has changed from applying the equity méttoo an investment in a foreign
entity to consolidating the foreign entity).

ASU 201365 does not change the requirement to release @argortion of the CTA of the foreign entity irdarnings for a partial sale
an equity method investment in a foreign entity UAZ013-05 is effective for fiscal years (and imteiperiods within those fiscal years)
beginning on or after December 15, 2013 and shioelldpplied prospectively. The Group is requireddopted ASU 2013-05 as of January 1,
2014, and does not expect any significant impadtoconsolidated results of operations, finanpidition or cash flows.

On July 18, 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-11 gpoase to a consensus reached at the EITF's Ju2013, meeting. ASU 2013-11
provides guidance on financial statement presemtatf an unrecognized tax benefit (“UTB”) when & operating loss (“NOL”) carryforward,
a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforwardséx Under ASU 2013-11, an entity must presenT8 br a portion of a UTB, in the financial
statements as a reduction to a deferred tax a&¥EA() for an NOL carryforward, a similar tax losey a tax credit carryforward except when:

 An NOL carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tardit carryforward is not available as of the rejpgr date under the governing tax
law to settle taxes that would result from the iiisgance of the tax position.

e The entity does not intend to use the DTA for fluspose (provided that the tax law permits a choice

If either of these conditions exists, an entityuddgresent a UTB in the financial statements kabélity and should not net the UTB with
a DTA. New recurring disclosures are not requireddnse ASU2013-11 does not affect the recognitioneasurement of uncertain tax
positions under ASC 740. This amendment does ettahe amounts public entities disclose in thikar reconciliation of the total amounts
of UTBs because the tabular reconciliation presdmgyross amounts of UTBs. ASU 2013-11 is effector public entities for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2013, and interimgasriwithin those years. ASU 2013-11 should be afpgh all UTBs that exist as of the
effective date. Entities may choose to apply ASW32Q1 retrospectively to each prior reporting pgnwesented. The Group is required to
adopt ASU 20131 as of January 1, 2014, and does not expectignifisant impact on its consolidated results oémgions, financial positio
or cash flows.

Translation into United States Dollars
The financial statements of the Group are statdRIMiB. Translations of amounts from RMB into UnitBthtes dollars are solely for the
convenience of the reader and were calculateccattie of US$1.00 = RMB6.0537, on December 31, 284 3et forth in H.10 statistical
release of the Federal Reserve Board. The tramslainot intended to imply that the RMB amountslddave been, or could be, converted,
realized or settled into United States dollardat tate on December 31, 2013, or at any other rate
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3. ACQUISITIONS

(i) During the year ended December 31, 2012, tackrihe Group’s brand and accelerate the Groupsiesion in the mid-scale market,
the Group acquired 51% equity interest of Starwayel$ (Hong Kong) Limited (“Starway”), a franchiskdtel chain from C-Travel
International Limited (“C-Travel”), a wholly ownezlibsidiary of Ctrip.com International, Ltd. forabtash consideration of RMB17,292. C-
Travel granted the Group a purchase right to aeghie remaining 49% equity interest of Starwaynadmount in US$ equal to RMB16,460
within one year. The right may be exercised byG@neup in its sole discretion. The business acdarsivas accounted for under purchase
accounting.

The following is a summary of the fair values of tissets acquired and liabilities assumed:

2012 Amortization period
Current assel 954
Intangible asset 29¢ 5 year:
Property and equipme 667 5-10 year
Brand namg 28,60( indefinite
Non-compete agreeme 40C 10 year
Franchise agreemer 7,70C remaining contract terr
Goodwill 21,49
Current liabilities (19,430
Deferred tax liabilities (9,179
Noncontrolling interes (14,21Y
Total 17,29:

Brand name represents the registered trademarntanf&y which is well recognized brand in mid-sdad¢el market in PRC. The useful
life of brand name is indefinite. The Group meaduhe fair value of the brand name under the rétah-royalty method.

Goodwill was recognized as a result of expecte@yias from combining operations of the Group atahv&ay and other intangible assets
that do not qualify for separate recognition. Goitlde&/not amortized and is not deductible for faxpose.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Gacgpired the remaining 49% equity interest of Stgrvor cash consideration of
RMB16,460. RMB4,210 has been paid in 2013 and RMBAR will be paid in six equal installments indaryears. The purchase of the
remaining 49% noncontrolling interest is treatedagquity transaction. The difference betweerptirehase consideration and the related
carrying value of the noncontrolling interests dfiIB2,514 was recorded as a reduction of additioa&d{in capital during the years ended
December 31, 2013.

(ii) During the years ended December 31, 2011, 20122013, the Group acquired four, one and nidiwisiual hotels in the form of
leased hotel for total cash consideration of RMBRQ0, RMB7,000 and RMB33,423, respectively. The bess acquisitions were accounted
under purchase accounting.
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The following is a summary of the fair values of tissets acquired and liabilities assumed:

2011 2012 2013 Amortization period
Current assetl 2,19¢ 127 5,552
Intangible asset 63 — —
Property and equipme 10,98( 4,66¢ 29,80¢ 5-10 year
Favorable lease 5,84 2,47( 6,422 remaining lease terr
Deferred tax asse — — 6,62¢
Franchise agreemer 90C 20C — remaining contracts terr
Goodwill 1,87: 15z 662
Current liabilities — — (2,509
Deferred tax liabilities (1,462) (61€) (13,145
Total 20,40( 7,00( 33,42:

4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment, net consist of the follawin

As of December 31

2012 2013
Cost:
Buildings 11,86( 12,11t
Leasehold improvemen 3,220,48. 4,190,69
Furniture, fixtures and equipme 479,80t 619,20(
Motor vehicles 83< 82(
3,712,98: 4,822,82
Less: Accumulated depreciati (1,013,69,) (1,463,54)
2,699,28 3,359,28
Construction in progres 252,22! 274,75!
Property and equipment, r 2,951,50 3,634,03

Depreciation expense was RMB229,742, RMB337,511Ri&453,637 for the years ended December 31, 22012 and 2013,
respectively.

In 2011, the Group demolished one leased hotetaligcal government zoning requirements. As a tethué Group wrote off property and
equipment of RMB2,411 associated with this hotel eetognized a gain of RMB89 as other operatingrime, which is net of RMB2,500 cash
received.

In 2012, the Group demolished one leased hotetaligeal government zoning requirements. As a tethg Group wrote off property and
equipment of RMB3,042 associated with this hotdliclv has been recorded as receivable in othermuassets as of December 31, 2012 and
2013. No gain or loss was recognized. RMB4,5530s&s received in February 2014.

In 2013, the Group demolished three leased hotedga local government zoning requirements. Assaltethe Group wrote off property
and equipment of RMB7,296 associated with theselfi@ind recognized a gain of RMB10,734 as otherabipg income, which is net of
RMB15,030 cash received and RMB3,000 receivablerdsdl in other current assets as of December 318.20
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As of December 31, 2013, the Group has been foymalified by local government authorities that tadditional leased hotels of the
Group will likely be demolished due to local governt zoning requirements. The aggregate carryirguatof property and equipment at the
associated hotels was RMB10,981 as of Decemb&®1. Neither of the associated hotels has recdrdadgible assets or goodwill. The
Group has not recognized any impairment as expeeteld flows from the hotels’ operations prior tondéition and expected amounts to be
received as a result of the demolition will likelyceed the carrying value of such assets. The Gestipated amounts to be received based o
the relevant PRC laws and regulations, terms ofgage agreements, and the prevailing market peacti

5.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET AND UNFAVORABLE LEAS E

Intangible assets, net consist of the following:

As of December 31
2012 2013
Brand namg 28,60( 28,60(
Franchise agreemer 7,90( 7,70(
Non-compete agreeme 40C 40C
Favorable lease agreeme 69,62¢ 76,04¢
Purchased softwal 20,49( 24,83t
Total 127,01t 137,58:
Less: Accumulated amortizatic (26,03¢) (35,739
Total 100,98( 101,84!
Unfavorable lease
As of December 31
2012 2013
Unfavorable lease agreeme 3,92¢ 3,92
Less: Accumulated amortizatic (1,969 (2,307)
Unfavorable lease agreements, 1,95¢ 1,61

The values of favorable lease agreements wererdigied based on the estimated present value ofntiogiat the Group has avoided
paying as a result of entering into the lease ages¢s. Unfavorable lease agreements were deterrbamtl on the estimated present value of
the acquired lease that exceeded market pricearanecognized as other long-term liabilities. Vakie of favorable and unfavorable lease
agreements is amortized using the straight-linehotebver the remaining lease term.

Amortization expense of intangible assets for tharg ended December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 andaion®VB6,652, RMB10,501
and RMB9,846, respectively.
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The annual estimated amortization expense forhbgeaintangible assets and unfavorable lease éofolfowing years is as follows:

Amortization for Amortization for
Intangible Assets Unfavorable Lease Net Amortization
2014 9,55¢ (297) 9,257
2015 9,43¢ (289) 9,14¢
2016 9,07¢ (209) 8,87(
2017 8,721 (130) 8,597
2018 7,622 (130 7,49:
Thereaftel 28,82¢ (562) 28,26
73,24t (1,617%) 71,62¢

6. LONG TERM INVESTMENTS

The long term investments as of December 31, 2682813 were as follows:

As of December 31

2012 2013
UBOX 28,12¢ 40,517
Kangdu — 50,00(
Yibang — —
Total 28,125 90,51-1

In June 2012, the Group purchased 46,200,000 S&npesferred shares of UBOX International Holdirgs., Limited (“UBOX"), a
privately-held company, for the consideration of B28,129.

In December 2012, the Group purchased convertiomigsory note of RMB8,074 from UBOX. In Decemb®d 2, the Group converted
the principal of the promissory note to 8,530, 78dirary shares of UBOX. In August 2013, the Groupcpased another convertible
promissory note of RMB4,314 from UBOX. The inveshtseewere accounted for using the cost method shme&roup does not have the ab
to exert significant influence over UBOX. As of [auber 31, 2013, there had been no identified exv®nthanges in circumstances that had &
significant adverse effect on the investments beoindicates of impairment.

In November 2013, the Group entered into an investragreement to inject RMB100,000 to Suzhou Kariyayperty Co., Limited
(“Kangdu™), a real estate company, for 50% equitgtest of Kangdu. According to the investmentagrent, the Group will not participate in
the operation of Kangdu, nor share the earningac@uently the Group entered into the agreemert W&ngdu to acquire the property
developed by Kangdu for a purchase price of RMBAG® and the property is scheduled to be completddransferred to the Group in
October 2015. In addition, the Group was grantpdtaoption to require the other investors of Kangmlrepurchase its equity interest for
RMB100,000 plus 8% interest at such time the prtyderscheduled to be transferred to the Groupdtoer 2015. The Group had injected
RMB50,000 in November 2013 and RMB30,000 in Jan2&xd4. The Group accounted for the investment adadble-for-sale securities. In
April 2014, the Group entered into an agreemeitaiosfer its investment in Kangdu to a relatedypantwhich the Group owns minority
interest, for consideration of RMB80,000 plus 8%eiast, and its rights and obligations associatiétd tve property purchase agreement was
transferred to the related party contemporarily.
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In May 2013, the Group acquired 30% equity inteiredtijiang Yibang Changchunteng Hotel Co., Limitgibang”) for consideration ¢
RMB 430. The Group accounted the investment ungeityemethod. The Group recognized its share ofavidgis loss of RMB430 for the year
ended December 31, 2013.

7. GOODWILL

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwilltfa years ended December 31, 2011, 2012 and 203asdollows:

Gross Accumulated Net
Amount Impairment Loss Amount
Balance at January 1, 20 42,47 (1,09¢) 41,37:
Increase in goodwill related to acquisitic 1,87: — 1,87:
Impairment losses recogniz — (710) (710
Balance at December 31, 20 44,344 (1,809 42,53t
Increase in goodwill related to acquisitic 21,64 — 21,64«
Balance at December 31, 20 65,98¢ (1,809 64,18(
Increase in goodwill related to acquisitic 662 — 662
Balance at December 31, 20 66,65( (1,809 64,84:

8. DEBT

In March 2012, the Group entered into a five-yearkbcredit facility under which the Group can barnep to RMB 500,000 by May 21,
2015, which is subject to bank’s reevaluation fitimme to time. The credit facility has a specifiegbigation schedule for draw down. The
interest rate for each draw down is establishetherdraw-down date and is adjusted annually, basatie loan interest rate stipulated by the
People’s Bank of China for the corresponding perfslof December, 31, 2012, the Group had drawnnditve credit facility of RMB1,000,
repaid RMB1,000, and RMB100,000 of the credit facthas expired. As of December, 31, 2013, the @road drawn down nil. As of
December 31, 2013, credit facility of RMB399,000svevailable for future borrowing, which will expiom May 21, 2015. The weighted
average interest rate for borrowings drawn undeh suedit facility was 6.9% for the year ended Deber 31, 2012. The credit facility is
restricted to certain hotels’ renovation and treitrfacility was not collateralized.

In September 2012, the Group entered into a theaeevolving bank credit facility under which tGeoup can draw-down up to
RMB300,000 by October 9, 2015. As of December 81,22and 2013, the Group has drawn down the crediiitf of nil and RMB104,540 ar
repaid nil and RMB104,540, respectively. The wedghdverage interest rate for borrowings drawn usdeh credit facility was 6.0% for the
year ended December 31, 2013. In December 201&rap renewed the bank credit facility under whieh Group can borrow up to RNV
500,000 by December 11, 2016. The interest ratthfercredit facility was determined on the drawwdodate and the credit facility was not
collateralized. As of December 31, 2013, a letfeguarantee of RMB700 was issued under this cfadility, and RMB499,300 was available
for future borrowing.

In December 2012, the Group entered into a thiryi bank credit facility under which the Group caaw down up to US$10 million
by April 5, 2013. The interest rate for each draawd is based on the twelve-month London Interbaffer@d Rate (“Libor”) on draw-down
date plus 2.7%. Each draw down will be guarantsekbtter of guarantee or stand-by letter of credis of December 31, 2013, the Group has
drawn down US$200 thousand and repaid US$200 thdusad the facility has expired. The weighted ayeraterest rate for borrowings
drawn under such credit facility was 3.54% for yiear ended December 31, 2013.

In December 2013, the Group signed a one-yearstrtidoan contract with a subsidiary of Ctrip.cortetnational, Ltd. under which the
Group can borrow up to RMB 300,000 for the periaihf January 6, 2014 to January 5, 2015. The irttesits of this borrowing is 5.4%.
According to the agreement, the Group shall séteunpaid principal and interest with its ordinahares if the loan is in default.
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9. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILIT IES

As of December 31

2012 2013
Payable for business acquisitic 7,62 6,39¢
Business taxes and other surcharge pay: 41,17¢ 48,55
Accrual for customer loyalty progra 12,96: 15,06:
Payable to noncontrolling interest hold 11,75 7,112
Other payable 16,58¢ 51,38t
Accrued renta 35,98¢ 41,51°
Accrued utilities 28,33: 38,33¢
Other accrued expens 32,95¢ 40,81¢
Total 187,38( 249,18!

From time to time, the Group receives cash advafioes noncontrolling interest holders of hotelstthge not wholly owned by the
Group. Such advances are non-interest bearingrarubgable within one year.

10. HOTEL OPERATING COSTS

Hotel operating costs include all direct costs med in the operation of the leased hotels, masadhand franchised hotels and consist o
the following:

Year Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Rents 655,24" 916,35 1,255,66:
Utilities 150,86! 215,76¢ 273,31
Personnel cos 329,07¢ 505,77 638,51:
Depreciation and amortizatic 227,93t 337,16: 453,06:
Consumable, food and bevere 228,24 333,24! 391,71!
Others 111,96! 145,59 169,40:
Total 1,703,33 2,453,90: 3,181,66!

11. PRE-OPENING EXPENSES

The Group expenses all costs incurred in conneegtitmstart-up activities, including pre-operatiogsts associated with new hotel
facilities and costs incurred with the formationtloé subsidiaries, such as organization costsopeaing expenses primarily include rental
expenses and employee costs incurred during thed fi@-opening period.

Year Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Rents 153,22¢ 191,53¢ 186,65t
Personnel cos! 13,27: 15,48¢ 8,70(
Others 17,79¢ 23,66¢ 15,92¢
Total 184,29¢ 230,69( 211,28
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12. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

In February 2007, the Group adopted the 2007 Gl8hate Plan which allows the Group to offer incemawards to employees, officers,
directors and consultants or advisors (the “Padicis”). Under the 2007 Global Share Plan, the @roay issue incentive awards to the
Participants to purchase not more than 10,000,8@@ary shares. In June 2007, the Group adopted@i8 Global Share Plan which allows
the Group to offer incentive awards to Participabtsder the 2008 Global Share Plan, the Group s&yei incentive awards to purchase up to
3,000,000 ordinary shares. In October 2008, thai®nocreased the maximum number of incentive awavd#lable under the 2008 Global
Share Plan to 7,000,000. In September 2009, thagzadopted the 2009 Share Incentive Plan whichvalthe Group to offer incentive awai
to Participants. Under the 2009 Share Incentive,Rke Group may issue incentive awards to purctpgde 3,000,000 ordinary shares. In
July 2010, the Group increased the maximum numbigicentive awards available under the 2009 Shaeeritive Plan to 15,000,000. The
2007 and 2008 Global Share Plans and 2009 Shazatine Plan (collectively, the “Incentive Award R$d) contain the same terms and
conditions. All incentive awards granted underltieentive Award Plans have a maximum life of teargeand vest 50% on the second
anniversary of the stated vesting commencementvd#tiehe remaining 50% vesting ratably over théofeing two years. As of December 31,
2013, the Group had granted 24,743,043 optiongladtR,416 nonvested restricted stocks.

Share options

In July 2012, the Group granted 1,475,366 optionsxecutive officers that will vest 50% on the setanniversary of the stated vesting
commencement date with the remaining 50% vestitalbhaover the following two years and will becoeercisable if the Group satisfies
certain performance conditions for the three-yeaion ending December 31, 2014. The number of lyidgrshares that may become
exercisable will range from 0% to 200% dependingrughether the performance conditions are achiewel if achieved, to what level. The
Group recognizes compensation expenses for thedawath performance conditions based upon the Gsgudgment of likely future
performance and may be adjusted in future periegending on actual performance.

The weighted-average grant date fair value foramgtigranted during the years ended December 31,&@d 2012 was RMB14.37
(US$2.23) and RMB8.52 (US$1.35), respectively, categ using the binomial option pricing model. Thedmial model requires the input of
subjective assumptions including the expected spoicle volatility and the expected price multiptendnich employees are likely to exercise
stock options. The Group uses historical data timese forfeiture rate. Expected volatilities agsbed on the average volatility of the Group
comparable companies. The risk-free rate for pengithin the contractual life of the option is bds® the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect
at the time of grant.

The fair value of stock options was estimated u#iiregfollowing significant assumptions:

2011 2012
Suboptimal exercise fact 3.83 t0 8.9:¢ 7.45 to 7.6¢
Risk-free interest rat 1.88 to 2.66Y% 0.81t0 1.19%
Volatility 50.61 to 50.69% 51.35 to 51.89%
Dividend yield — —
Life of option 6 years 6 years
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The following table summarized the Group’s shargoopactivity under the option plans:

Weighted Average
Number of Weighted Average Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic
Options Exercise Price Contractual Life Value
uss Years US¢ 000

Share options outstanding at January 1, 2 9,804,82! 2.0z
Grantec — —
Forfeited (176,559 3.0t
Exercisec (2,802,48) 1.6¢
Share options outstanding at December 31, : 6,825,78. 2.1z 4.7t 37,50(
Share options vested or expected to vest at

December 31, 201 6,713,89 2.0¢ 4.7¢ 37,10(
Share options exercisable at December 31, 3,950,511 1.61 4.91 23,71¢

As of December 31, 2013, there was RMB16,177 ial imtrecognized compensation expense related testen shareased compensati
arrangements, which is expected to be recognized@weighted-average period of 2.37 years.

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012018, 1,452,468, 1,889,872 and 2,802,488 optioms @xercised having an
aggregate intrinsic value of RMB37,700, RMB32,562 &\VIB74,321, respectively.

Nonvested restricted stock

The fair value of nonvested restricted stock wéhvie conditions or performance conditions is dase the fair market value of the
underlying ordinary shares on the date of grant.

In July 2012, the Group granted 1,059,977 nonvestsiicted stocks to executive officers which Wwilcome exercisable if the Group
satisfies certain performance conditions for threehyear period ending December 31, 2014, and 223)@nvested restricted stocks to
executive officers which will become exercisablénigé Group satisfies certain market condition far three-year period ending December 31,
2014. These awards vest 50% on the second anniyerfsthe stated vesting commencement date withigh&ining 50% vesting ratably over
the following two years. The number of underlysitares that may become exercisable will range 6%to 200% depending upon whether
the performance conditions and market conditioraateéeved and, if achieved, to what level. The @recognizes compensation expense for
the awards with performance conditions based uper@roup’s judgment of likely future performancel anay be adjusted in future periods
depending on actual performance. The Group estihtheegrant date fair value of the awards with raadonditions using a Monte Carlo
simulation. Compensation expenses for the awarttsmarket conditions are recognized during the isstguservice period, even if the market
condition is never satisfied. The significant asptions of the Monte Carlo simulation are the foliog:

2012
Expected dividend —
Risk-free interest rat 0.2¢%
Expected volatility 48.41%
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The following table summarized the Group’s nonvasestricted stock activity in 2013.

Weighted average grant date

Number of restricted stocks fair value
uss$
Nonvested restricted stocks outstanding at Jan&2913 3,034,04. 3.12
Grantec 979,95( 4.2¢
Forfeited (120,62() 3.4:
Vested (255,416 4.1¢
Nonvested restricted stocks outstanding at DeceBhe2017 3,637,95! 3.3t

As of December 31, 2013, there was RMB49,858 ircwgnized compensation costs, net of estimatediforés, related to unvested
restricted stocks, which is expected to be recagh@er a weighted-average period of 2.77 years.

The total fair value of nonvested restricted stogsted in 2013 was RMB7,089.
13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The following table sets forth the computation aiz and diluted earnings per share for the yealisated:

Year Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Net income attributable to ordinary sharehol— basic 114,83. 174,88 279,85¢
Net income attributable to ordinary sharehol— diluted 114,83. 174,88 279,85t
Weighted average ordinary shares outstan— basic 241,928,28 243,284,33 245,187,34
Incremental weighted-average ordinary shares fresnraed exercise of share

options and nonvested restricted stocks usingré@stiry stock methc 4,252 91 3,696,66! 4,298,93
Weighted average ordinary shares outstan— diluted 246,181,20 246,981,00 249,486,28
Basic earnings per she 0.47 0.72 1.14
Diluted earnings per sha 0.47 0.71 1.1z

For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012 ar®] #8 Group had securities which could potentidilyte basic earnings per share in
the future, but which were excluded from the corapat of diluted earnings per share as their effeciuld have been anti-dilutive. Such
outstanding securities consist of the following:

Year Ended December 31
2011 2012 2013

Outstanding employee options and nonvested resdritocks 1,486,53: 797,98 =
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14. INCOME TAXES
Cayman Islands
Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, th@any is not subject to tax on income or capiééhg

Hong Kong

China Lodging Holdings (HK) Limited and Starway ldist (HongKong) Limited are subject to Hong Kongfjirtax at a rate of 16.5% in
2011, 2012 and 2013. No Hong Kong profit tax haangerovided as the Group has not had assessalfitetipao was earned in or derived from
Hong Kong during the years presented.

Singapore
China Lodging Holdings Singapore Pte. Ltd. is sabfe Singapore corporate income tax at a rate/éf in 2011, 2012 and 2013. No
Singapore profit tax has been provided as the Ghagmnot had assessable profit that was earneddi@rived from Singapore during the years
presented.

PRC

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of Chinggmterprise Income Tax (“EIT Law”), which was effeet from January 1, 2008,
domestically-owned enterprises and foreign-investaérprises are subject to a uniform tax rate5862

Hanting Technology (Suzhou) Co., Ltd, as a recagghioftware development entity located at Suzhdudtrial Park in Suzhou of PRC,
entitled to a two-year exemption and three-year 588tiction starting from the first profit makingayeafter absorbing all prior years’ tax
losses. Hanting Suzhou has entered into the #ixsptofitable year for the year ended Decembef811.

Tax expense (benefit) is comprised of the following

As of December 31

2011 2012 2013
Current Tax 60,53( 72,39t 127,43
Deferred Ta (35,719 (18,22€) (22,619
Total 24,81¢ 54,16¢ 104,82

A reconciliation between the effective income taterand the PRC statutory income tax rate is ésael

Year Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013

PRC statutory tax ra 25% 25% 25%
Tax effect of other expenses that are not dedectibtietermining taxable

profit 3% 3% 3%
Effect of different tax rate of group entities ogmg in other jurisdiction )% 1% (1)%
Effect of change in valuation allowan 9% 6% 3%
Effect of tax holiday (17)% (12)% (3)%
Effective tax rate 17% 23% 27%
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The aggregate amount and per share effect of ¥heoladays are as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Aggregate amount 24,15¢ 28,13¢ 12,72:
Per share effe—basic 0.1C 0.12 0.0t
Per share effe—diluted 0.1C 0.11 0.0t

The principal components of the Group’s deferreme tax assets and liabilities as of Decembe2@12 and 2013 are as follows:

As of December 31

2012 2013
Deferred tax assets
Net loss carryforwar 71,56¢ 90,98:
Pre-opening expense¢ 1,40¢ 39:¢
Deferred revenu 37,68¢ 48,96(
Deferred ren 4,20( 5,45(
Unfavorable leas 2,704 3,69¢
Bad debt provisiol 79€ 1,892
Accrual for customer loyalty progra 3,241 3,76
Accrued payrol 3,24¢ 2,001
Shar+based compensati 10,42: 12,267
Others 19z 1,35¢
Valuation allowanct (36,287) (51,596
Total deferred tax asse 99,17¢ 119,16
Deferred tax liabilities:
Favorable leas 18,67( 24,34(
Capitalized interes 1,83¢ 1,601
Others 1,82¢ 281
Total deferred tax liabilitie 22,33t 26,22
Deferred tax assets are analyzed a
Current 44,23 51,75¢
Non-Current 54,94 67,40¢
99,17¢ 119,16
Deferred tax liabilities are analyzed as
Current — 151
Non-current 22,33t 26,07
22,33t 26,22

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 201&tiai allowance of RMB18,792 and RMB22,158 wemvjited, respectively, and
RMB5,658 and RMB9,984 were reversed, respectivighg additional valuation allowance of RMB1,597 &dB3,139 were due to the
acquisitions for the year ended December 31, 2082813, respectively. The Group considers pos#ive negative evidence to determine
whether some portion or all of the deferred taxetsswill more likely than not be realized. Thisessment considers, among other matters, th
nature, frequency and severity of recent losseecésts of future profitability, the duration ofitsttory carryforward periods, the Group’s
experience with tax attributes expiring unused @xdolanning alternatives. Valuation allowancesehbgen established for deferred tax asset:
based on a more likely than not threshold. The @moability to realize deferred tax assets depamdis ability to generate sufficient taxable
income within the carryforward periods provided ifothe tax law.
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As of December 31, 2013, the Group had tax losyfmawards of RMB363,931 which will expire betwe2814 and 2018 if not used.

The Group determines whether or not a tax posiidmore-likely-than-not” of being sustained upardé based solely on the technical
merits of the position. At December 31, 2012 anti?@he Group had recorded uncertain tax bendfigpproximately RMB4,148 and
RMB7,122 associated with the interests on interaamydoans, respectively. No interest or penaltyemse was recorded for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013.The Group doeantictpate any significant changes to its liaifiir unrecognized tax benefits within -
next 12 months.

The following table is a roll-forward of the unrepuzed tax benefits:

As of December 31

2011 2012 2013
Balance at January 79¢ 1,49¢ 4,14¢
Addition for tax position: 69E 2,654 2,97¢
Balance at December : 1,49/ 4,14¢ 7,122

In accordance with the EIT Law, dividends, whiclsarfrom profits of foreign invested enterpriseSIEs”) earned after January 1, 2008,
are subject to a 10% withholding income tax. A lowé&hholding tax rate may be applied if there i&@orable tax treaty between mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign holdirmmpany. For example, holding companies in Hong Kibiag are also tax residents in Hong
Kong are eligible for a 5% withholding tax on dieittdls under the Tax Memorandum between China anddhg Kong Special Administrati
Region if the holding company is the beneficial ewaf the dividends. Under applicable accountiriggiples, a deferred tax liability should
recorded for taxable temporary differences attebléd to the excess of financial reporting basig tae basis in a domestic subsidiary. The
Group intends to indefinitely reinvest the unditstited earnings of the Group’s PRC subsidiariesethee, no provision for PRC dividend
withholding tax was provided.

According to the PRC Tax Administration and CollestLaw, the statute of limitations is three yeifithe underpayment of income taxes
is due to computational errors made by the taxpayes statute of limitations will be extended tesfiyears under special circumstances, whicl
are not clearly defined, but an underpayment adrime tax liability exceeding RMB100 is specificdliigted as a special circumstance. In the
case of a transfer pricing related adjustmentsthtute of limitations is ten years. There is raige of limitations in the case of tax evasion.
The Group’s PRC subsidiaries are therefore subjegkamination by the PRC tax authorities from 2808ugh 2013 on non-transfer pricing
matters, and from the inception of the Group thto§13 on transfer pricing matters.

15. MAINLAND CHINA CONTRIBUTION PLAN

Full time employees of the Group in the PRC partité in a government-mandated defined contribyglan pursuant to which certain
pension benefits, medical care, unemployment ima&raemployee housing fund and other welfare benafe provided to employees. PRC
labor regulations require the Group to accrueliesé benefits based on a certain percentage ehtpyees’ salaries. The total contribution
for such employee benefits were RMB57,295, RMB98,4iid RMB119,015 for the years ended December(il1,2012 and 2013,
respectively. The Group has no ongoing obligat®mitd employees subsequent to its contributiorieed®RC plan.
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16. RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

Pursuant to laws applicable to entities incorpatatethe PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group inRR&E must make appropriations from
after-tax profit to non-distributable reserve fun@leese reserve funds include one or more of thewing: (i) a general reserve, (ii) an
enterprise expansion fund and (iii) a staff bomus welfare fund. Subject to certain cumulative tanthe general reserve fund requires annua
appropriation of 10% of after tax profit (as detered under accounting principles generally acceptebde PRC at each year-end) until the
accumulative amount of such reserve fund reach#sdiQheir registered capital; the other fund appiations are at the subsidiaries’
discretion. These reserve funds can only be usespfecific purposes of offsetting future lossesemrise expansion and staff bonus and
welfare and are not distributable as cash dividemtsamounted to RMB26,915, RMB49,626 and RMB64&58f December 31 2011, 2012
and 2013, respectively. In addition, due to resitnits on the distribution of share capital from @empany’s PRC subsidiaries, the PRC
subsidiaries share capital of RMB2,075,975 at Ddmar1, 2013 is considered restricted. As a reduliese PRC laws and regulations, as of
December 31, 2013, approximately RMB2,140,932 tsawailable for distribution to the Company byRRC subsidiaries in the form of
dividends, loans or advances.

17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Parties are considered to be related if one pasytie ability, directly or indirectly, to contritle other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making finaneiatl operational decisions. Parties are also coregide be related if they are subject to
common control or common significant influence.&etl parties may be individuals or corporate estiti

The following entities are considered to be relgiadies to the Group. The related parties onlyaacervice providers, service recipients
and lessors to the Group and there is no othetiae$hip wherein the Group has the ability to eigrsignificant influence over the operating
and financial policies of these parties. The Grizupot obligated to provide any type of financiapport to these related parties.

Related Party Nature of the Party Relationship with the Group
Lishan Property (Suzhou) Co., Lt Suzhou Proper”) Commercial leasing busine Controlled by Qi J
Ctrip.com International, Ltd“ Ctrip") Online travel services provid Qi Jiis a directo

UBOX International Holdings Co Limite¢*UBOX") Vending machine operat Qi Jiis a directo

Lijiang Yibang Changchunteng Hotel Co Limite* Yibang”) Hotel Joint venture of the Grot

In August 2011, Mr. Qi Ji sold all the ownershipeirests in Powerhill to third parties and sincentRewerhill and its wholly owned
subsidiary Suzhou Property have been no longetert|zarties to the Group.
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(a) Related party balances

Amounts due from related parties were comprisetti®@interest receivables derived from convertildads purchased in August, 2013 anc
service fee receivables from UBOX and advance taig.

As of December 31
2012 2013
UBOX — 25€
Yibang — 40z
Total — 65¢

Amounts due to a related party were comprised nfragssions payable for reservation services andvataacquisition payable to Ctrip.
The amounts due to a related party were interestdnd payable upon demand.

As of December 31
2012 2013

Ctrip 801 13,76(

(b) Related party transactions

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012@18, related party transactions consisted ofaHeving:

Year Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Rental expens— Suzhou Propert 2,27¢ — —
Commission expens«— Ctrip 7,96% 10,94¢ 17,12¢
Service fe—UBOX — 847
Interest incom—UBOX — — 1,37
Service fe—Yibang — — 19¢

In May 2012, the Group acquired a 51% equity irdeof Starway Hotels (Hong Kong) Limited from C-VehInternational Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Ctrip. The acquisitiorige was RMB17,292 in cash. In December 2013, ttmi@acquired the remaining 49%
equity interest at the consideration of RMB16,460.

In December 2012, the Group purchased convertitimissory note of RMB8,074 from UBOX. In Decemb@d.3, the Group converted
the principal of promissory note to 8,530,731ordjnshares of UBOX. In August 2013, the Group puselthanother convertible promissory
note of RMB4,314 from UBOX.
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18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
(a) Operating lease commitments
The Group has entered into lease agreements faircéiotels which it operates. Such leases arsifiles as operating leases.

Future minimum lease payments under non-canceltgi#eating lease agreements at December 31, 20E3asdollows:

Year ending December 31

2014 1,518,97
2015 1,668,91.
2016 1,669,64'
2017 1,656,52!
2018 1,604,29
Thereaftel 10,695,224
Total 18,813,59

(b) Purchase Commitments

As of December 31, 2013, the Group’s commitmeritgad to leasehold improvements and installatioacpfipment for hotel operations
was RMB77,578, which is expected to be incurredhiwibne year.

(c) Contingencies

The Group is subject to periodic legal or admiiste proceedings in the ordinary course of ouiiass. The Group does not believe thal
any currently pending legal or administrative pextiag to which the Group is a party will have a enall adverse effect on the financial
statements.
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Assets
Current asset:

Cash and cash equivalel

Other current assets

Total current assets

Other asset

Investment in subsidiaries
Total assets

Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities:

Deferred revenu

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Deferred revenue
Total liabilities
Equity:

Ordinary shares(US$0.0001 par value per sharep00,000 shares
authorized; 244,494,095 and 247,551,999 sharesdsand outstanding a
of December 31, 2012 and 2013, respectiv

Additional paic-in capital

Retained earning

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total equity
Total liabilities and equity
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As of December 31

2012 2013 2013

US¢$ 000

(Note 2)
22,95: 61,18: 10,10"
3,374 3,63¢ 601
26,32} 64,82 10,70¢
471 314 52
2,442 59 2,760,33! 455,97
2,469,39! 2,825,46! 466,73:
1,49¢ 1,451 24C
84( 7,89¢ 1,30¢
2,33€ 9,34¢ 1,54¢
1,87( 362 6C
4,20¢ 9,712 1,60¢
18C 182 3C
2,243,40:. 2,315,08: 382,42.
260,01 539,87 89,18:
(38,409 (39,38/) (6,506
2,465,18! 2,815,75: 465,12¢
2,469,39! 2,825,46! 466,73:
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR PARENT COMPANY

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Year Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013 2013

US¢ 000

(Note 2)
Operating costs and expens
Selling and marketing expens 157 157 157 26
General and administrative expenses 16,441 24,90: 33,30¢ 5,50z
Total operating costs and expenses 16,60¢ 25,05¢ 33,46¢ 5,52¢
Loss from operations (16,604 (25,059 (33,46%) (5,52¢)
Interest incom 452 131 6 1
Foreign exchange gain (los 1,08¢ (147) — —
Other income 2,64¢ 2,20¢ 2,43¢ 40z
Income in investment in subsidiaries 127,24¢ 197,74¢ 310,87! 51,35¢
Net income attributable to China Lodging Group, Ltéd 114,83. 174,88 279,85¢ 46,22¢
Other comprehensive incor
Foreign currency translation adjustments, netxbfenil for 2011,

2012 and 201 (16,469) 75¢ (976) (167)

Comprehensive income 98,36¢ 175,64! 278,88. 46,06¢
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ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION — FINANCIAL STATEM ENTS SCHEDULE |
CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR PARENT COMPANY

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Year Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013 2013
US$ 000
(Note 2)
Operating activities:
Net income 114,83: 174,88° 279,85t 46,22¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskl is@perating
activities:
Shar+based compensatic 15,48: 20,831 30,46¢ 5,03:
Income in investment in subsidiari (127,249 (197,749 (310,879 (51,359
Changes in operating assets and liabilii
Deferred revenu (1,829 (1,509) (1,557) (25€)
Other current asse 12,26¢ (2,417 91t 151
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (81¢) 84C 7,05¢ 1,16¢
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi 12,69: (5,104 5,86¢ 96¢
Investing activities:
Investment in subsidiarie — (35,227 — —
Receipt of investment in subsidiaries — — 12,32( 2,03¢
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi — (35,227 12,32( 2,03¢
Financing activities:
Net proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares egertise of
option 7,28¢ 18,52( 28,12: 4,64~
Net cash provided by financing activiti 7,28t 18,52( 28,12. 4,64~
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casbasnts (14,80¢) (30%) (8,080 (1,33%)
Net increase in cash and cash equival 5,171 (22,11¢) 38,22¢ 6,31t
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning ofdhe y 39,89¢ 45,06¢ 22,95: 3,792
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 45,06¢ 22,95 61,18: 10,10:
Supplemental schedule of r-cash investing and financing activitie
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares uportisresf option
included in receivabl 49¢ 29C 1,31¢ 21¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part obthessolidated financial statements
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ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION — FINANCIAL STATEM ENTS SCHEDULE |
CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR PARENT COMPANY

Note to Schedule |

Schedule | has been provided pursuant to the remeints of Rule 12-04(a) and 5-04-(c) of RegulaBex, which require condensed
financial information as to the financial positia@mange in financial position and results of ogeret of a parent company as of the same date
and for the same periods for which audited conatdid financial statements have been presented tuheestricted net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries exceed 25 percent of consolidatedsssits as of the end of the most recently compfistesl year.

The condensed financial information has been peghasing the same accounting policies as set dhtiaccompanying consolidated
financial statements except that the equity metiaxibeen used to account for investments in itsidiabies. Such investments in subsidiaries
are presented on the balance sheets as investmautisidiaries and the profit of the subsidiarsegresented as income in investment in
subsidiaries.

Certain information and footnote disclosures nolyniakcluded in financial statements prepared inoadance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Amenaae been condensed or omitted. The footnote digids contain supplemental information
relating to the operations of the Company anduahk,shese statements should be read in conjungitbrthe notes to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

As of December 31, 2013, there are no materialicgancies, mandatory dividend, significant provisaf long-term obligation or
guarantee of the Company, except for those whivke Baparately disclosed in the consolidated firdrstatements.
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This financial information has been prepared infoomity with accounting principles generally acaggbin the United States.

Allowance for doubtful
accounts of accounts
receivables and other
receivables

December 31, 201

December 31, 201

December 31, 201

Valuation allowance for
deferred tax asse

December 31, 201

December 31, 201

December 31, 201

ADDITION INFORMATION — FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SCHEDUL E Il

CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance at
Beginning of Charge to Costs anc Addition due to Charge Taken Balance at
Year Expenses acquisition Against Allowance Write off end of Year
(Renminbi in thousands)
2,27¢ 667 — — — 2,94t
2,94¢ 1,23¢ — — (1,000 3,187
3,18: 4,57: — — — 7,75€
8,24 17,35( — (4,045 — 21,552
21,55: 18,79: 1,59i (5,65%) — 36,28
36,28: 22,15¢ 3,13¢ (9,989 — 51,59¢

*kkkkk

F-38




Exhibit 4.12
Entrusted Loan Contract

Contract No.: 506195013005
Loan Type: Entrusted loan

Borrower (Party A): Hanting Xingkong (Shanghai) Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

Telephone: 6195201
Domicile: No. 2226 Honggiao Road, Shang Fax: 6195952:
Legal Representative (Principal Officer): Hui Zip Code: 20033!

Entrusting Lender (Party B): Ctrip Computer Technol ogy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
Telephone: 360448¢

Domicile: No. 99 Fuguan Road, Shang Fax:
Legal Representative (Principal Officer): Min F Zip Code: 20033!

Agent (Party C): China Construction Bank Corporation, Shanghai Minhang Subbranch

Telephone: 6412641
Domicile: No. 6555 Humin Road, Shang| Fax:
Principal: Yunkang Ding Zip Code: 20119

In accordance with the application of Party A, P&tentrusts Party C with the disbursement of anusted loan to Party A. After having
reached agreement through negotiation, the pdréieto enter into this contract for joint obsernaaad performance.

ARTICLE 1 LOAN AMOUNT

Party B entrusts Party C with the disbursementlofa in an amount of RMB (currency) Three Hundvétlion only (in words) (the
“Entrusted Loan”).

ARTICLE 2 PURPOSE OF THE LOAN

Party A shall use the loan to satisfy its workimagital requirements (the “Purpose”). Party A watséehat the Purpose complies with relevant
laws, regulations, rules and policies of the PesgRepublic of China (the “PRC” or “China"Party A may not use any amount of the Entru
Loan proceeds for any purpose other than the Panpiihout Party B’'s consent and a written notic@#oty C.

ARTICLE 3 TERM OF THE LOAN

The term of the Entrusted Loan under this conishatl be one year commencing on Janudbfy 6 , 20d4xspiring on January® , 2015 (the
“Loan Term”).




In the event that the date of commencement of tienlTerm hereunder is not consistent with the tloadeposit certificate (or borrowing
certificate, meaning the same hereinafter), itldf@bkubject to the actual date of disbursemerfostt in the loan-to-deposit certificate in
relation to the initial disbursement. And the Igaaturity date set forth in the first paragraphho$ tarticle shall be adjusted accordingly. The
loan-to-deposit certificate shall constitute aregral part of this contract and have the equall liegee and effect as this contract.

ARTICLE 4 INTEREST RATE, INTEREST CALCULATION AND SETTLEMENT
The rate of interest on the Entrusted Loan herausitgl be 5.4% per annum.

The interest calculation and settlement hereuntal@t be done in the following way: The interestéhender shall be settled on thes21 day of
March, June, September, and December each yedr gedinterest Settlement Date”).

ARTICLE 5 DELIVERY OF THE ENTRUSTED FUNDS AND DISBURSEMENT OF THE ENTRUSTED LOAN

51 Prior to each date of disbursement set forth in\tbece of Disbursement of the Entrusted Loan, yBrshall deliver the
entrusted funds to Party C in full in a lump sum.

The entrusted loan fund account hereunder shatb@akeemed as Party B’s deposit account with Ragpd any balance
therein shall not be deemed as Party B’s depokihba kept at Party C. That account shall be pébuParty C’s internal
accounting treatment only. No interest shall acanany balance in that account.

5.2 Preconditions to Disbursement of the Entrusted Loan
(1) Party C shall have received the entrusted funasffoem seizing, freezing or debiting;
(2) Party C shall have received a “Notice of Disbursenod the Entrusted Loan”;
3) If any amount of the Entrusted Loan to be disbutssr@under is denominated in foreign currency yParhall

have opened a foreign exchange deposit account;

(4) Neither Party A nor Party B has breached any piowvikerein; and
(5) Other conditions: (intentionally left blank).
5.3 Party C shall be entitled to refuse to make thbudsement where the actual amount of the entrdstets delivered by Party

B is less than the agreed amount to be disbursed.
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5.4

55

ARTICLE 6

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

The Entrusted Loan should be delivered in accoreavith the schedule set forth in ltem 1 below:
(1) the Entrusted Loan shall be disbursed as follows:

RMB150,000,000 on 8 January, 2014; and
RMB150,000,000 on 18 January, 2014;

RMB on , ;
RMB on , ;
RMB on , ;
RMB on , ;
RMB on , ;and
RMB on , ;

(2) (intentionally left blank).

In the event that Party C is rendered unable toudge the Entrusted Loan as agreed hereunderyaeason attributable to
Party B, Party B shall be solely liable to Partyaxd Party C shall not be liable for that in anywa

SECURITY FOR THE LOAN

It is intended that the Entrusted Loan hereundall ble secured in the manners set forth in ltenbélyw:

(1) Party B shall execute a security contract in it amame.
(2) Party C shall execute a security contract in itm@ander the entrustment of Party C.
3) (intentionally left blank).

Where the security hereunder is required to bestexgd, Party B shall complete it by itself. P&tynay complete the
registration on behalf of Party B where Party Ceagrto do that.

Even if the security contract is executed in themeaf Party C and Party C is registered as beneficf the security intere:
Party C shall be an agent only. All the securitgiiast and related liabilities and risks in respéd¢he security for the
Entrusted Loan shall be vested in Party B.

Both the guarantor and the collateral shall be suged by Party B alone unless Party B and Partgh@rwise agree in
writing.




6.5

ARTICLE 7

7.1

7.2

7.3

In the event that Party B is rendered to lose #ueisty interest and suffer losses due to any fafuRarty C, Party C
indemnify Party B against the direct losses ofyPBrto the extent of Party C's fault; provided, hexer, that the indemnity
liability of Party C shall not exceed the valuetthauld have been realized with certainty from s$keurity interest had the
security interest not been lost.

REPAYMENT

Principles of Repayment

Unless otherwise agreed in writing between Pargnd Party B and Party C is naotified in writing oth agreement, Party A
shall make repayment in accordance with the priaapfirst interest then principal, and final $ettent of interest
simultaneously with the final repayment of the pijral.

Interest Payment

Party A should pay the interest due to Party BubloParty C on an Interest Settlement Date. The afdirst payment of
interest shall be the first Interest Settlementelxter the disbursement of the Entrusted Loany amd all the interest
accrued on the Entrusted Loan shall be paid oftikaneously with the final repayment of the priradip

Repayment of Principal

Party A should repay the loan principal in accomawith the following schedule:

RMB300,000,000 on% January, 2015;

RMB on , ;
RMB on , ;
RMB on , ;
RMB on , ;
RMB on , ;
RMB on , ;and
RMB on , ;

If any adjustment is made to the above princippayenent schedule, Party A and Party B should émteran additional
written agreement and notify Party C in writing.




7.4

7.5

7.6

Manners of Loan Repayment

Prior to each payment date and Interest SettleDat#, Party A should set aside in its account raaetd with Party C as
discussed above an amount sufficient for paymetiiepayables for the then current term and tranafel Party C shall also
have the right to debit, the necessary amount ool account to pay such payables, or Party A nsaytansfer the
necessary amount from any of its other accounpayathe payables.

Prepayment

Subject to consent of both Party A and Party Brawtite to Party C, Party A may prepay all or angt pathe principal and
interest of the Entrusted Loan.

Where Party A prepays any amount of the princithel,interest accrued thereon should be calculatedéordance with
actual number of days during which such amount mesnautstanding and the interest rate agreed herein

Where Party A repays the Entrusted Loan by ins&itsiand prepays the principal of the Entrustedlingart, the prepaid
amount shall be applied against the outstandincipal that falls due last on the repayment scheeduhich means that
prepayment shall be applied in an inverse chroncégrder. After such prepayment, interest sbalfitinue to accrue on a
amount of the Entrusted Loan that remains outstaai the interest rate agreed herein.

With respect to any amount of the Entrusted Loai las been prepaid, Party C shall not refund theukted Loan handling
charges that has been received.

Payment through Party C

(1) Party A shall repay any amount of the EntrustednLioaParty B through Party C instead of directlytrty B. Part
C shall notify Party B promptly after its receigtrepayment from Party A.

In the event that Party B receives any repaymemt fParty A directly, Party B shall notify Party @mediately and
deliver such repayment to Party C for it to cradith repayment to the accounts in accordance wital
repayment procedures.




7.7

ARTICLE 8

8.1

(2 Any business tax or other taxes that Party B isiiredq to pay in accordance with applicable lawstl@r entrustmer
of the loan disbursement contemplated hereunddrtshpaid solely by Party B, and Party C shall inate any
withholding obligation therefor. Where Party C éndered unable to conduct accounting treatmeirnia and
accurately or suffers losses due to any actioreotfyPA or Party B, Party A and Party B shall assyonet and
several legal liabilities towards Party C.

Principles of Repayment in the case of Multiple he@®ecoming Due Simultaneously

Where any amount of the Entrusted Loan becomesaddgayable at the same time as any other loandedeto Party A by
Party C for its own account (such loan a “Self-@ped Loan”) and Party A fails to indicate whichdaany repayment made
by Party A shall be applied to, such repaymentl sfeahpplied to such Self-operated on a prioritsisaParty C shall also

have the right to debit an appropriate amount femy of Party A’s accounts with Party C to repayts8elfoperated Loan ¢

a priority basis.

Where more than one entrusted loan disbursed tg Ry Party C under entrustment of Party B becochge and Party A
fails to indicate which loan any repayment madéhyty A shall be applied to, it shall be Party Govghall decide which
entrusted loan such repayment shall be applied to.

HANDLING CHARGES AND OTHER FEES

The handling charges hereunder shall be paid iardaace with the provisions set forth in ltem (&)dw :

(1) by Party A.
(2) by Party B.
3) % by Party Aand % by Party B.




8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

8.6

The party obligated to pay the handling charges ‘{tandling charges payer”) shall pay the Entrustegn handling charges
to Party C in full and on time in accordance whistarticle regardless of whether Party A has ki@ principal and interest
of the Entrusted Loan on time or committed any otlefault. In the event that the lender-borrovedationship between
Party A and Party B or the entrustor-agent relatigm between Party B and Party C becomes invalig handling charges
received by Party C shall not be refunded and &melling charges payer shall have the obligatigpatpany handling charg
that are payable but remain unpaid.

Rate, schedule and manners of payment of handfiagges:
0.1% of the Entrusted Loan to be disbursed andigaya a lump sum on the date of disbursement@thtrusted Loan.

If the handling charges payer fails to pay any liagatharges as agreed above, for each day suclihgrcharges remains
overdue, Party C shall be entitled to charge ligted damages equal to 1/10000 of such handlinggeba@and may debit such
handling charges and liquidated damages from tt@vezed principal and interest of the Entrustedn_oaany account of
Party A or Party B in any currency maintained witlrty C.

Any and all the attorney fees, insurance fees,apalfees, registration fees, custody fees, atittaion fees and
notarization fees and the like related to this m@wttand the security hereunder shall be bornedty A (insert “Party A” or
“Party B” as applicable).

Party C shall not bear any expense under this @cntin the event that Party C advances any feegm@nses (including but
not limited to legal costs, attorney fees, regtgirafee, notarization fees and announcement fdeesapenses, Party A (insert
“Party A” or “Party B” as applicable) shall reimtzgr Party C therefor within ten working days asafty?C’s written notice,
otherwise, Party C may debit the same from anywatcof Party A or Party B maintained with Party C.

Party A and Party B shall bear joint and severéalglity for the obligations towards Party C setth in this article.
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ARTICLE 9

9.1

9.2

PARTY A’'S RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS

Party A’s rights

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

()

Party A shall be entitled to require Party B taiinst Party C to disburse the Entrusted Loan aseabin this
contract.

Party A shall be entitled to utilize the Entrustexhn proceeds for the Purpose.

Subject to requirements of Party B, Party A shalkhtitled to apply to Party B for an extensionhaf Loan Term
and execute an extension agreement with Party BPartg C after its application is accepted by Hedinty B and
Party C.

Party A shall be entitled to require both Partyri8l #arty C to keep confidential the relevant infation furnished
by Party A unless otherwise provided by law, regioles, rules or this contract.

Party A shall be entitled to reject Party B or P&tor any of their employees asking for bribe, botthe complaint
with the competent authority about such misconduact any other act of Party B or Party C that majaté any PRI
laws and regulations.

Party A’s Obligations

1)

(2)

Party A shall utilize the Entrusted Loan proceedadcordance with the Purpose and may not misagpteghe
same. Party A shall support and cooperate wittyBam Party B’s inspection of Party A’s utilizati of the
Entrusted Loan proceeds hereunder. Party A sinadish Party B with its financial and accountinfpmmation as
well as production and operation information asiesgied by Party B, and shall ensure the accuraoypleteness
and validity of any information it provides.

Party A shall promptly notify Party B in writing op the occurrence of any of the following eventP oty A:

0] contracting, trustee(receiver) appointed, leasarettolding restructuring, investment, joint opemati
mergers and acquisitions, acquisition and restringudivision, joint venture, filing for temporagessatiot
of operation or dissolution, revocation, filing f@r subject to a filing for) bankruptcy, changecohtrolling
shareholders/actual controllers, transfer of sutbistitassets, suspension of business activity jfsgignt
penalty imposed by regulatory authorities, cantielteof registration, revocation of business liens
involvement in material legal proceedings, seveteribration in operation and financial condititegal
representative/principal officer being unable tofqan their duties; or
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ARTICLE 10

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

(i) any change to Party A’s name, legal representéivprincipal officer), registered address, busingsope,
registered capital, or articles of associationror ather items registered with the industrial anchmercial
authority;

(€)) Party A shall perform any other obligation providestein.
PARTY B’'S RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS

As the lender hereunder, Party B shall enjoy &lrights and interests as a lender and assunteeadhtigations,
responsibilities and risks as a lender.

Party B shall conduct an independent review ofiélasibility and legality of the project for whiche Entrusted Loan is
granted hereunder, and of the creditworthinessyment ability, and performance ability of PartyaAd/or the security
provider, and shall make an independent judgmeshbasume any risks that may arise from the fatiurecover the
Entrusted Loan on time and in full.

After a disbursement of the Entrusted Loan, Parsh&ll continuously supervise Party A’s utilizatioithe Entrusted Loan
proceeds and pay close attention to Party A’s dipgrand financial condition and solvency, and spedmptly take
appropriate measures upon occurrence of any ewdtdarty A that may adversely affect the realizabbParty B’s creditor’s
rights. Party B understands and agrees that Ealnys no obligation in this respect.

Party B's obligations to Party C hereunder shall not becadfd by any failure of Party A to repay any priatior interest, nc
by any breach of this contract or any violatiorasf, nor by the invalidity of the lender-borrowetationship hereunder.

Party B has the right to inspect and superviseyPeg utilization of the Entrusted Loan proceeds am request Party A to
provide Party A’s financial and accounting inforinatas well as production and operation informatiad shall keep the

above information confidential, unless otherwisevited by applicable laws, regulations or rulestherwise required by
competent authorities.

Upon maturity of the Entrusted Loan, Party B spatimptly conduct collection, bring lawsuits agaiRsirty A and/or the
security provider, apply for enforcement, declaed@or’s rights in bankruptcy proceedings, ancetaky other remedies
permitted by law, as the case may be. Party @ sbabe held liable in any way even though itlidigated to assist Party B
in the recovery of the Entrusted Loan.




10.7

10.8

10.9
ARTICLE 11

111

11.2

11.3

114

115

Any instruction issued by Party B to Party C shalltimely, clear, complete, consistent and complith laws and this
contract, otherwise, Party C may refuse to follawtsinstruction. In the case of such refusal,yPRrshall be liable for any
and all consequences arising therefrom. Partydl bb liable for any and all legal consequenceésray from any act by
Party C pursuant to instructions of Party B.

Party B shall not request Party C to issue any siepertificate with respect to any entrusted funBsen if Party C issues a
deposit certificate in any form with respect to amgrusted funds, Party B shall not transfer, géedr otherwise dispose of
such deposit certificate, instead it shall retaito iParty C prior to Party C’s disbursement totyPArof the Entrusted Loan.
Party B shall not request Party C to make any paymehold Party C liable by invoking such depasittificate.

Party B shall have other rights and obligationsadrherein.
PARTY C'S RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS
Party C shall assist Party B in the supervisiothefuse by Party A of the Entrusted Loan for thepBse.

“Party C shall assist Party B in the supervisidmdlsmean that, in respect of each amount of theusted Loan disbursed
hereunder, Party C shall provide to Party B with $katements of Party A’s deposit account withyP@rto which such
amount has been credited for the period commerfoimg the date of such amount being credited taitte that falls one
month thereafter.

Party C shall have the right to provide Party Bwahy information about Party A relating to therdated Loan or to Party
A’s deposits, loans and settlement activities Wwitity C.

Party C shall not be liable for any dispute betwearty B and Party A or for any act of Party A artly B that violates laws
or regulations.

Where Party A fails to punctually repay any amanfrthe Entrusted Loan in full and Party C indenesfParty B
thereagainst in accordance with a court judgmeatloitral award, any and all the rights of Partgdainst Party A and the
security provider shall be promptly assigned tayP&r In such case, Party A shall not raise arjgailon to such assignment
and shall undertake that it shall perform the dailians and liabilities to Party C immediately afteceipt of a written notice
from Party C.

Party C shall assist Party B in the recovery offh&rusted Loan in accordance with the followingvisions:
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1)

(2)

(3)

prior to maturity of the principal of the Entrustedan (including the principal payable by installm® meaning the
same hereinafter)

Party C shall calculate and settle the interesherEntrusted Loan in accordance with the relepamtisions herein
After each installment repayment by Party A, P&tghall complete appropriate accounting treatmedtraport to
Party B about the amount and time of such repaymetithe amount of the outstanding principal aneré@st.
Following its receipt of the above financial infaation reported by Party C, Party B shall promptigak such
information and raise any question about or disagent to such information to Party C within 5 warkidays.
Party C shall not be liable for any loss suffergdParty A or Party B arising from failure of PaByto raise such
disagreement as required above. If on any inteetiement date Party A fails to pay the relevatarest on the
Entrusted Loan, Party C shall notify Party B théiaawriting.

after maturity of the principal of the Entrustedano

0] If Party A makes repayment punctually and in fydbn the maturity of the principal of the Entrusteshn,
Party C shall credit the appropriate account foll@wnormal procedures and notify Party B theredd in
timely manner. If Party A fails to make any repampunctually and in full, Party C shall notifyrBeB in
writing of such failure and shall demand Party A¢ce and only once, for repayment within one month.
Party C shall be deemed to have fulfilled its oflign of assistance in overdue loan recovery ag &
Party C has issued a written demand in accordartbetve name, address and telephone (fax) number
provided by Party A or Party B, or there is prdudttParty C has demanded Party A for repaymenhpy a
other means.

(i) If Party B desires to entrust Party C to contirheedssistance in the Entrusted Loan recovery alftdre
principal matures, it shall execute a separatdewriéntrustment agreement with Party C in respecedf.
Where Party B and Party C fail to reach such agestmvithin one month after such maturity dateta
obligations of Party C hereunder shall automatycatminate forthwith and Party C shall have thgtito
write off the accounts relating to the Entrustecuh.o

Party C's obligations to assist Party B in the xexy of the Entrusted Loan shall be limited to #hepecified in this
section.
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11.6 Party C shall have no obligation to participataiy litigation, arbitration, bankruptcy proceedimgkating to the Entrusted
Loan and the security related thereto, nor shhlhite any obligation towards Party B to disposanyf debt-offsetting assets.

ARTICLE 12 EVENT OF DEFAULT AND LIABILITIES

121 Party A’s Events of Default and Liabilities

(1) Any of the following events shall constitute an ewvef default of Party A:
0] any breach by Party A of any provision of this caat; and
(i) any event that in the opinion of Party B may adelraffect the realization of its creditor’s rights
hereunder.
(2) Party A’s liabilities for default:

Upon occurrence of any of the above events, ParaR take any one or more of the following remediabsures:

0] request Party A to remedy its default within a et time limit;
(i) notify Party C to suspend the part of the Entaidtean yet to be disbursed;
(iii) charge default interest (if any) as provided herein

(iv) declare all the principal and interest to be dwe @ayable by Party A immediately; and
(v) any other remedial measures permitted by law.
12.2 Party B's Events of Default and Liabilities
(1) Any of the following events shall constitute an etvef default of Party B:

0] failure of Party B to deliver the entrusted fund$?arty C in full and in time, or failure to diskerthe
Entrusted Loan as provided herein for any othesarattributable to Party B;

(i) the source of entrusted funds being incompliant Vetvs or regulations, or any representation oravay
of Party B being false, inaccurate or incomplete;
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(2)

(iii) failure of Party B to pay Party C punctually antiyf@any Entrusted Loan handling charges; and
(iv) any breach by Party B of any other provision hereof
Party B'’s liabilities for default:

(@ Upon occurrence of an event of default of PartP&ity A shall have the right to request Party Betnedy
such default within a specified time limit and mngpensate losses and/or take any other remediauresa

(i) Party C shall have the right to take any one oramdithe following remedial measures upon occumesfc
any event of default of Party B:

(A) request Party B to remedy its default within a fpettime limit;

(B) refuse to provide entrustment loan service to PBrty

© directly debit any account of Party B for handltitarges;

(D) request Party B to compensate losses;

(E) terminate the entrustment relationship betweerymagnd Party C; and
(3] any other remedial measures permitted by law.

12.3 Party C's Events of Default and Liabilities

(1)

(2)

If Party C delays without any justifiable reasordisbursing any amount of the Entrusted Loan tayPamfter Part
B delivers the necessary entrusted funds to Paitya€cordance with this contract, Party B shallehthe right to
request Party C to disburse such amount immediately

If Party C fails to perform its obligations to astdParty B in the recovery of the Entrusted Loaadnordance with
this contract, which results in Party B being uealbl punctually recover the principal of and thetiest on the
Entrusted Loan, Party C shall be liable for angdiloss suffered by Party B in proportion to P&ty fault only if
Party B is not at fault.
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ARTICLE 13

131

13.2

ARTICLE 14

141

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Party A hereby represents and warrants as follows:

1) it has read all the provisions in this contract fuly knows and understands the meaning and legasequences
thereof;
(2) the execution and performance of this contractdnyyPA is in compliance with laws, administrativegulations,

rules and Party A’s articles of association (owifser internal constitutional documents) and heenbapproved by
Party A’s internal competent organization and/@r ¢bmpetent government authorities; and

) the Purpose of the Entrusted Loan hereunder isrmptiance with laws and regulations, and the pitdj@cwhich
the Entrusted Loan proceeds are to be used hasabpeoved by the competent authorities if necessary

Party B hereby represents and warrants as follows:
(1) it has the legal qualification to entrust any otperson to disburse the Entrusted Loan;

(2 the entrusted funds are from legal sources anftmot bank financing, nor from company or public dsrdeposited
in the name of an individual, nor from any fundatthre prohibited from being used for entrusted lparpose under

applicable laws, regulations or rules;
3) it has the lawful right and has been approved bypmtent authorities to dispose of the entrustedsuand

(4) the handling of the Entrusted Loan is not for theppse of violating or circumventing any PRC laregulations,
rules or regulatory measures, and does not cayseasmage to any lawful interests of the State,@ilective

organization or any third party.
MISCELLANEOUS

Direct Debiting Right

Party C shall be entitled to debit, without priatine to either Party A or Party B, any accounPafty A or Party B at China
Construction Bank in RMB or any other currency &y ll amounts payable to Party C by Party A otyPRrunder this
contract. Party A or Party B shall assist Party Complete any procedures for foreign exchangéesstnt or sale, and Party

A or Party B shall bear the risk of exchange rhtetfiation.
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14.2

14.3

14.4

Party C's Records as Evidence

Unless there is any reliable and definitive evidettcthe contrary, Party C’s internal records afigpal, interest, expenses
and repayment, receipts, vouchers made or retép&hrty C during the course of drawdown, repaymaterest payment,
and records and vouchers relating to collectionPdty C shall constitute valid evidence of thedim-debtor relationship
between Party A and Party B and the performanablifations by Party C. Party A and Party B herafsee that they shall
not raise any objection thereto.

Assignment and Assumption

(1) Any assignment by Party A of any of its rights bligations hereunder shall be subject to writtensemt of both
Party B and Party C.

(2) Any assignment by Party B of any of its rights bligations hereunder shall be subject to writtensemt of Party (

3 Any assignment by Party C of any of its rights bligations hereunder shall be subject to writtensemt of Party E

provided, however, that, in case of any mergeiisidin, setting up subsidiaries or organizationdbasiness function
restructuring of China Construction Bank CorponatiBarty C’s rights and obligations hereunder maadsigned to
or assumed by a third party with legal qualificatto operate entrustment loan business as longrég € issues a
notice to Party A and Party B through correspondgetelephone or press release.

Consequences of Invalidity or Rescission

In case the entrustment relationship and/or lehderewer relationship hereunder are/or is invalidescinded pursuant to
any law,

(1) If the entrustment relationship between Party B Rady C is valid while the lender-borrower relasbip between
Party A and Party B is invalid or rescinded, P&tghall not be held liable, and

() where Party C has not delivered the entrusted ftmésarty A by then, it shall return the entrusiends to
Party B without any interest;
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(i) where Party C has delivered the entrusted fun@atty A by then, Party B shall directly requesttiPérto
return the entrusted funds and Party C shall ndiabée for any losses suffered by Party B arising
therefrom; and

(iii) where any third party has suffered losses as dt @fssuch invalidity or rescission, Party A andtyaB
shall be liable in proportion to their respectiaelf and Party C shall not be liable.
(2 If the entrustment relationship is held invalidrescinded while the lender-borrower relationshipakd,
0] where Party C has not delivered the entrusted ftmé&sarty A by then, it shall return the entrudiguds to

Party B without any interest; and

(i) where Party C has delivered the entrusted funéatty A by then, Party A and Party B shall resdhe
issues relating to the entrusted funds throughutaifons in accordance with applicable laws andyPa
shall not be liable in any way.

3) If both the entrustment relationship and the lerls@rower relationship are invalid or rescinded,

0] where Party C has not delivered the entrusted ftmé&sarty A by then, it shall return the entrudiguds to
Party B without any interest;

(i) where Party C has delivered the entrusted fun@atty A by then, Party B shall directly requesttiPérto
return the entrusted funds and Party C shall ndibée for any losses suffered by Party B; and

(iii) where any third party has suffered losses as é r@fssuch invalidity or rescission, Party A andtya
shall be liable in proportion to their respectia@lf and Party C shall not be liable.

14.5 Party B shall supervise and inspect Party A, andintinformation about Party A through other chdsrad shall not rely ¢
Party C in this respect. Party C may at its s@erdtion, report to Party B the information it pesses; provided, however,
that, Party C shall not be liable for the prompsésithfulness, completeness, accuracy and walidiany such information.
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14.6

14.7

14.8

14.9

14.10

14.11

In the event of any change to the address or ath@act information of any party set forth herainch party shall promptly
notify the other parties of such change in writiguch party shall be liable for any loss causedsbfailure of giving prompt
notice of such change.

Any rights that Party C has under law or this cacitishall not be interpreted as obligations ofyP@rt In case Party C fails
exercise or waives any of such rights, neitheryPamor Party B may hold Party C legally liable Wiytue of that.

Notice to Disburse the Entrusted Loan, acknowledgemand other documents and certificates relatitigis contract shall
constitute integral parts of this contract.

This contract shall be executed in three countéspar

Additional Provisions

(1) Inthe event that by agreement between Party APamty B, Party B waives its rights to the Entrudtedn as a creditor
under this contract, each of Party A and Party & $ésue to Party C an official letter and docutsezvidencing
corporate decisions with legal force, includingrefh@lder meeting resolutions and board resolutidnsuch case, Party
C'’s obligations hereunder shall be extinguishedtwithstanding the foregoing, the obligations aiatiilities of Party A
or Party B accrued hereunder, including those &ynpent, shall not be affected thereby.

(2) (intentionally left blank).

Dispute Resolution

Any dispute arising from the performance of thisttact may be settled by consultation. If any disgrannot be resolved
through consultation, such dispute shall be resbineaccordance with the procedures set forthamlfi) below:

0] such dispute shall be submitted to a court dondaiéhin the jurisdiction where Party C is located,;
(i) such dispute shall be submitted to (intentionadfy Iblank) Arbitration Commission for arbitratioh @tentionally
left blank) [place of arbitration] in accordancealwihe arbitration rules of the Commission theefiiect. The arbitr:

award shall be final and binding upon the partieeto.
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Provisions of this contract that are irrelevanth® dispute shall continue to be performed wherdibgute is under litigation
or arbitration.

14.12 Effectiveness of This Contract
This contract shall become effective upon beingeigby the legal representative/(principal officarputhorized
representative of, and affixed with the company egaach of Party A and Party B (in case Partgn/or Party B are/is
natural person(s), only the signature is requiradlf being signed by the principal officer or avited representative of, and
affixed with the company seal of, Party C.
Party A (company seal): HANTING XINGKONG (SHANGHAI) HOTEL MANAGEMENT CO., LTD.

Legal Representative (principal officer) or Autteadl Representative (signature): /s/Hui He

December 19, 20:
Party B (company seal): CTRIP COMPUTER TECHNOLOGY (SHANGHAI) CO., LTD.

Legal Representative (principal officer) or Autteadl Representative (signature): /sIMin Fan

December 19, 20:
Party C (company seal): CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORPORATION, SHANGHAI MINHANG SUBBRANCH

Legal Representative (principal officer) or Autteadl Representative (signature): /s/Fenghua Wan

December 19, 20:
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Exhibit 4.13
Letter of Guarantee
Party A: CTRIP.COM INTERNATIONAL, LTD.
Party B: China Lodging Group, Limited

Whereas, Party A caused Ctrip Computer Technol8gnitghai) Co., Ltd. to lend an amount in RMB (tBerrowing”) to Hanting Xingkong
(Shanghai) Hotel Management Co., Ltd., a compamrobied by Party B, in the form of bank’s entrustean, and Ctrip Computer
Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. and Hanting Xingik¢8hanghai) Hotel Management Co., Ltd. entereslant Entrusted Loan Contract with
China Construction Bank Corporation, Shanghai Mimgh&ubbranch on December 19, 2013.

In order to secure due repayment of the principdlgayment of the accrued interest of the Borrowiteyty B hereby undertakes and warrants
that where Hanting Xingkong (Shanghai) Hotel Mamaget Co., Ltd. defaults on repayment or paymermingfamount of the Borrowing or tl
accrued interest for whatever reason, Party B shithin 15 days as from the date on which sucladéccurs, grant Party A a certain num

of its tradable shares which shall be equivaleing offset against the total amount of the Borngnoutstanding and any and all the accrued
interest, including the interest accrued from thgedn which such default occurs to the date orhwvbich tradable shares are granted. The
value of such tradable shares shall be calculatedéordance with the following formula: share erfce., the market price on the date of gran
or the average price over the past 90 days, whahewer) x number of granted shares = total arhofithe Borrowing outstanding + accrued
interest, where, such tradable shares so grantdidoghnew shares issued by Party B.

Party B further warrants that (a) Party B will take initiative in completing any and all the rega@ns, reviews, disclosures, filings,
submissions and other formalities that may be reguio ensure the effectiveness of this Letter wdu@ntee, and (b) where Ctrip Computer
Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. suffers any lossesh as traveling expenses, attorney fees andlfeediincurred in connection with the
collection of the Borrowing, even if Party B grantstain tradable sharesRarty A, Party A shall have the right to demand additigredable
shares from Party B till any and all the losse$esatl by Party A are indemnified in full.
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Party A: CTRIP.COM INTERNATIONAL, LTD.
Authorized Representativ
For and on behalf ¢
Signed by (seal’ CTRIP.COM INTERNATIONAL, LTD.

/s/Jie Su

Authorized Signatures(:

Party B: China Lodging Group, Limited

Authorized Representativ
For and on behalf ¢

Signed by (seal China Lodging Group, Limite

/SIQi J

Authorized Signatures(:
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List of Subsidiaries

Directly-Owned Subsidiaries:

Shanghai HanTing Hotel Management Group, LPRC)
HanTing Xingkong (Shanghai) Hotel Management Cid, (PRC)
Yiju (Shanghai) Hotel Management Co., LttPRC)

HanTing (Tianjin) Investment Consulting Co., Lt(PRC)

China Lodging Holdings (HK) Limited Hong Kong)

China Lodging Holdings Singapore Pte. LtSingapore)

Indirectly -Owned Subsidiaries:

1. 100% Owned Subsidiaries

1.1 Shanghai HanTing Decoration and Engineering Cal,
1.2 Shanghai Yiju Hotel Management Co., L

1.3 Shanghai Aiting Hotel Management Co., L

1.4 Shanghai Senting Hotel Management Co.,
15 Shanghai Yuanting Hotel Management Co., |
1.6 Shanghai Ningting Hotel Management Co., |
1.7 Shanghai Guiting Hotel Management Co., |

1.8 Shanghai Yiting Hotel Management Co., L

1.9 Shanghai Songting Hotel Management Co.,
1.10 Shanghai Xiting Hotel Management Co., L

1.11 Shanghai Jiating Hotel Management Co., |

1.12 Shanghai Hanhao Hotel Management Co.,

1.13 Shanghai Yuanting Hotel Management Co., |
1.14 Shanghai Yangting Hotel Management Co., |
1.15 Shanghai Baoting Hotel Management Co., |
1.16 Shanghai Yaogu Shangwu Hotel Management Co.,
1.17 Shanghai Yanting Hotel Management Co., |
1.18 Shanghai Changting Hotel Management Co.,
1.19 Shanghai Changting Hotel Management Co.,
1.20 Shanghai Qinting Hotel Management Co., |
1.21 Suzhou Lishan Senbao Hotel Management Co.,
1.22 Suzhou HanTing Hotel Management Co., |

1.23 Suzhou Lishan Yatai Hotel Management Co., |
1.24 Suzhou Yiting Hotel Management Co., L

1.25 Beijing Beixie Hongyun Hotel Management Co., L
1.26 Beijing Jiating Hotel Management Co., L

1.27 Beijing Dongting Hotel Management Co., L
1.28 Beijing Anting Hotel Management Co., Lt

1.29 Beijing Yueting Hotel Management Co., L
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1.30 Hangzhou Senting Hotel Management Co.,

1.31 Hangzhou Yishitan Investment and Management Cd.,
1.32 Hangzhou Qiuting Hotel Management Co., L

1.33 Guangzhou Mengting Hotel Management Co.,

1.34 Guangzhou Meiting Hotel Management Co., |

1.35 Guangzhou Huiting Hotel Management Co., |

1.36 Tianjin Xingting Hotel Management Co., Lt

1.37 Tianjin HanTing Xingkong Hotel Management Co., L
1.38 Tianjin Yiting Hotel Management Co., Lt

1.39 Shenyang Maruika Hotel Management Co., |

1.40 Shenyang Futing Hotel Management Co., |

1.41 Wuhan HanTing Hotel Management Co., L

1.42 Wuhan Changting Hotel Management Co., |

1.43 Shenzhen HanTing Hotel Management Co.,

1.44 Shenzhen Shenting Hotel Management Co.,

1.45 Kunshan Lishan Hotel Management Co., |

1.46 Ningbo Jiangdong Meijia City Hotel Co., Lt

1.47 Yiwu HanTing Hotel Management Co., Li

1.48 Nanning HanTing Hotel Management Co., L

1.49 Shanghai Hegao Hotel Management Co.,

1.50 Xiamen Xiating Hotel Management Co., L

1.51 Zibo HanTing Hotel Management Co., L

1.52 Beijing HanTing Jiamei Hotel Management Co., L
1.53 Xi'an HanTing Fukai Hotel Management Co., L

1.54 Qingdao HanTing Hotel Management Co., L

1.55 Shanghai Lanting Hotel Management Co., |

1.56 Shanghai baiting Hotel Management Co., |

1.57 Shanghai Jiangting Hotel Management Co.,

1.58 Shanghai Zhenting Hotel Management Co.,

1.59 Shanghai HanTing Guancheng Hotel Management Ca.
1.60 Chengdu HanTing Hotel Management Co., |

1.61 Shanghai Yiju Hotel Management Co., L

1.62 Wuxi Yiju Hotel Management Co., Lt

1.63 Hangzhou HanTing Kuaijie Hotel Management Co., |
1.64 Beijing Yaoting Hotel Management Co., L

1.65 Beijing Xiting Hotel Management Co., Lt

1.66 Shanghai HanTing Service Apartment Hotel Manager@ent Ltd.
1.67 Shanghai Meiting Hotel Management Co., L

1.68 Beijing HanTing Hotel Management Co., L

1.69 Beijing HanTing Ruijing Hotel Management Co., L
1.70 Shanghai Yuyi Hotel Management Co., L

1.71 Shanghai Liansheng Hotel Management Co.,

1.72 Shanghai Yate Zhongtan Hotel Management Co.,




1.73 Shanghai Haoting Hotel Management Co., |

1.74 Shanghai Luting Hotel Management Co., L

1.75 Beijing Zhongting Hotel Management Co., L
1.76 Taiyuan Xinting Hotel Management Co., L

1.77 Nanchang Yinting Hotel Management Co., L
1.78 Nantong Botong Hotel Management Co., L

1.79 Taiyuan Ruiting Yingze Hotel Management Co., |
1.80 Shanghai Yate Hotel Management Co., |

1.81 Shanghai Rongting Hotel Management Co.,

1.82 Shanghai Minting Hotel Management Co., L

1.83 HanTing Technology (Suzhou) Co., L

1.84 Hanting (Shanghai) Enterprise Management Co.,
1.85 Xiamen Tingju Hotel Co., Ltc

1.86 Shanghai Pengting Hotel Management Co.,

1.87 Nanjing Futing Hotel Management Co., L

1.88 Suzhou Yongchangjiahe Hotel Management Co.,
1.89 Hangzhou Anting Hotel Management Co., L

1.90 Dalian Yuanyang Sikelai Hotel Co., Lt

1.91 Guangzhou Chengting Hotel Management Co.,
1.92 Guangzhou Xiuting Hotel Management Co., L
1.93 Hangzhou Muting Hotel Management Co., L
1.94 Shanghai Xinting Hotel Management Co., L

1.95 Xiamen Jiangting Hotel Co., Lt

1.96 Hanting Hesheng (Suzhou) Hotel Management Co.,
1.97 Guangzhou Shangbin Hotel Co., L

1.98 Baotoushi Anting Hotel Management Co., L

1.99 Huazhu Hotel Management Co., L

1.100 Starway Hotels (Hong Kong) Co., Lt

1.101  Starway Hotels (Shanghai) Co., L

1.102  Shanghai Yinting Hotel Management Co., L
1.103  Xi'an Fengting Hotel Management Co., L

1.104  Shanghai Lingting Hotel Management Co., L
1.105 Xiamen Wuting Hotel Co., Ltc

1.106  Nanjing Ningru Hotel Management Co., L

1.107  Beijing Duoting Hotel Management Co., L'

1.108  Wuhu Yinting Hotel Management Co., Li

1.109 Jiangsu Zhuke Information and Technology Co.,
1.110 Mengguang Information and Technology (Shanghai) Otol.
1.111  Shanghai Huiting Hotel Management Co., L
1.112  Shanghai Xinting Hotel Management Co., L
1.113 Shanghai Fanting Hotel Management Co.,

1.114  Shanghai Qinting Hotel Management Co., |
1.115 Shanghai Keting Hotel Management Co., |




1.116
1.117
1.118
1.119
1.120
1.121
1.122
1.123
1.124
1.125
1.126
1.127
2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5
2.6
2.7
2.8
29
2.10
2.11
2.12
2.13
2.14

2.15

Shanghai Hongting Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai Shangting Hotel Management Co.,
Wuxi Meixin Hotel Co., Ltd.

Hangzhou Yilai Hotel Chain Co., Lt
Hangzhou Maolu Yilai Club Co., Lt
Hangzhou Yuejuan Yilai Hotel Co., Lt
Hangzhou Yueli Yilai Hotel Co., Ltc
Hangzhou Yueting Yilai Hotel Co., Lt
Hangzhou Qiandaohu Yilai Resort Co., L
Hangzhou Yuexiu Yilai Hotel Co., Lt

Jinan Hanting Hotel Management Co., L
Kunming Xiting Hotel Management Co., L1

Majority-Owned Subsidiaries (all PRC companies)

Beijing HanTing Shengshi Hotel Management Co.,

- 80% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTingeHdanagement Group, Lt
Beijing HanTing Dongfang Hotel Management Co., |

- 99% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTinggHdanagement Group, Lt
Hangzhou Hemei HanTing Hotel Management Co.,

- 65% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTinggHdanagement Group, Lt
Hangzhou Heju HanTing Hotel Management Co.,

- 65% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTingeHdanagement Group, Lt
Hangzhou Heting Hotel Management Co., |

- 65% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTingeHdanagement Group, Lt
Shanghai Kailin Hotel Management Co., L

- 65% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTinggHdanagement Group, Lt
Nantong HanTing Zhongcheng Hotel Co., L

- 95% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTinggHdanagement Group, Lt
Chengdu HanTing Yangchen Hotel Management Co.,

- 51% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTingeHdanagement Group, Lt
Shenyang HanTing Yonglun Hotel Management Co.,

- 60% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTingeHdanagement Group, Lt
Suzhou Kangjia Shangwu Hotel Management Co.,

- 51% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTinggHdanagement Group, Lt
Wuxi HanTing Hotel Management Co., L

- 55% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTinggHdanagement Group, Lt
Taiyuan HanTing Jiangnan Hotel Management Co.,

- 55% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTingeHdanagement Group, Lt
Shenzhen HanTing Shiji Hotel Management Co.,

- 90% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTingeHdanagement Group, Lt
Changsha Changting Hotel Management Co.,

- 51% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTinggHdanagement Group, Lt
Guilin Lishan Huiming Hotel Management Co., L




- 79% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTingeHdanagement Group, Lt
2.16 Shanghai HuiGu GangWan Hotel Management Co.,

- 65% equity interests owned by HanTing Xingkongai®hai) Hotel Management Co., L
2.17 Shanghai Huiting Hotel Management Co., L

- 55.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTioggHVanagement Group, Lt
2.18 Shanghai Yuanting Hotel Management Co., |

- 95.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTioggHManagement Group, Lt
2.19 Xi’an Shengting Hotel Management Co., |

- 99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTioggHManagement Group, Lt
2.20 Chongging Yiting Hotel Management Co., L

- 99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTiogHVanagement Group, Lt
2.21 Xi’an Bangting Hotel Management Co., L

- 99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTiogHVanagement Group, Lt
2.22 Nanjing Leting Hotel Management Co., L

- 80% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTing Hdésmagement Group, Lt
2.23 Shanghai Suting Hotel Management Co., |

- 99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTioggHManagement Group, Lt
2.24 Xianyang Dingcheng Hanting Hotel Co., L

- 60.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTotgl Management Group, Lt
2.25 Urumgi Qiting Hotel management Co., L

- 99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTotgl Management Group, Lt
2.26 Urumgi Luting Hotel management Co., L

- 99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanHotgl Management Group, Lt
2.27 Chengdu Changting Hotel management Co.,

- 80.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanHotgl Management Group, Lt
2.28 Chengdu Yvting Hotel management Co., L

- 60.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTotgl Management Group, Lt
2.29 Baoding Lianting Hotel management Co., L

- 99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTotgl Management Group, Lt
2.30 Wuhushi Ronghe Hotel management Co.,

- 99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanHotgl Management Group, Lt
2.31 Wuhu Jiangting Hotel management Co., |

- 98.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanHotgl Management Group, Lt
2.32 Nanjing Yangting Hotel Management Co., L

- 99.00% equity interests owned by Huazhu Hotel Manzent Co., Ltd
2.33 Nanjing Chunting Hotel Management Co., L

- 95.00% equity interests owned by Huazhu Hotel Manzent Co., Ltd
2.34 Changzhi Huating Hotel Management Co., |

- 99.00% equity interests owned by Huazhu Hotel Manant Co., Ltd
2.35 Xi'an Jvting Hotel Management Co., L

- 90.00% equity interests owned by Huazhu Hotel Manant Co., Ltd




Exhibit 12.1

Certification Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

[, Qi Ji, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-F of China Lodging Group, Limite

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtéde a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the company as of, andffierperiods presented in this rep:

4. The company'’s other certifying officer(s) and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disaie controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the company and hay

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the company, including its consolidatetisidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipg; or caused such internal control over finaha@aorting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadiang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s d&oi® controls and procedures and presented ingghist our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyaport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the compsinternal control over financial reporting thatorred during the period cover
by the annual report that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, th@negpany’s internal control over
financial reporting; an

5. The company’s other certifying officer(s) and | balisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorteyhal control over financial
reporting, to the company’s auditors and the acmlitmittee of the company’s board of directors (@nspns performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesethe design or operation of internal contra¢iofinancial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the comy’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpzanhcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the company’s
internal control over financial reportin
Date: April 17, 2014
By: /s/ Qi Ji

Name: Qi J
Title: Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 12.2

Certification Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley-Act of 2002

I, Min (Jenny) Zhang, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-F of China Lodging Group, Limitec

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtéde a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts under which such statements were made, nktadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsofimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of opgerstand cash flows of the company as of, andier periods presented in this rep

4. The company’s other certifying officer(s) and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining discie controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%({d internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the company and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the company, including its consolidatebsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrie period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr;, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargaadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the compardisclosure controls and procedures and pres@antbs report our conclusions about-
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proms] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the compainternal control over financial reporting thatomed during the period covered
by the annual report that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, th@mpany’s internal control over
financial reporting; an

5. The company’s other certifying officer(s) and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationtexhal control over financial
reporting, to the company’s auditors and the acmitmittee of the company’s board of directors @nspns performing the equivalent
functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal contratiofimancial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the comy’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpzanhcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the company’s
internal control over financial reportin
Date: April 17, 2014
By: /s/ Min (Jenny) Zhan

Name: Min (Jenny) Zhan
Title: Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 13.1

Certification Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

April 17, 201«

The certification set forth below is being subndtte the Securities and Exchange Commission in ection with the Annual Report on
Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2013Rbeort”) of China Lodging Group, Limited (the “Cqrany”) for the purpose of
complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b}lué Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchafgl) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63
of Title 18 of the United States Code.

Qi Ji, the Chief Executive Officer of the Compaapnd Min (Jenny) Zhang, the Chief Financial Offioéthe Company, each certifies
that, to the best of his or her knowledge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act;
2. the information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of the

Company.

/s/ Qi Ji
Name: Qi J
Title: Chief Executive Office

/s/ Min (Jenny) Zhan
Name: Min (Jenny) Zhan
Title: Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegjion Statement No. 333-192295 on Form S-8uwfreports dated April 17, 2014,
relating to the financial statements and finansiatement schedules of China Lodging Group, Limitedl the effectiveness of China Lodging
Group, Limited’s internal control over financialp@ting , appearing in this Annual Report on Foi®aR20f China Lodging Group, Limited for
the year ended December 31, 2013.

/s/ Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Acetaunts LLP
Shanghai, Chin
April 17, 2014




